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Financements

Les encours de crédit aux PME ont progressé 
de 3,27 % du fait notamment de la faiblesse de 
la demande en matière de crédit de fonctionne-
ment (- 1,07 %) et de la nécessaire sélectivité 
des risques dans une période difficile.

 



3President’s Statement 

espite strong turbulence in the financial markets since July 2007, 
CIC and its majority shareholder Crédit Mutuel have continued to 

expand their banking, insurance and services businesses both in 
France and abroad.

Their financial strength has been validated by the ratings agencies. 
Tier-1 capital has reached €9.5 billion for CIC alone and €24.4 billion 
for the CM-CIC group. On that basis, CM-CIC ranks as the 3rd largest 
bank in France, 14th in Europe and 25th worldwide (The Banker - July 
2007).

In France, CIC has more than 4 million retail banking clients and a total of 2,055 branches spread 
across five regional divisions. The network is supported by the subsidiaries - one for each business - 
and by a single IT system providing real-time access to a high-powered financial and technological 
logistics platform. This organization enables the sales teams to listen to client needs and to take 
decisions at a regional level, which in turn enables quicker and more targeted responses in both the 
banking and insurance businesses.

CIC’s main ambition is to partner its clients – self-employed professionals, entrepreneurs, small, 
medium and large businesses – in their development both in France and abroad. In 2007 the bank set 
up close to €9 billion of new loans for self-employed professionals and business clients, representing  
a 16% increase on 2006.  As a result, the bank increased its market share in both loans to individual 
entrepreneurs (up 0.74 points to 9.21%) and loans to non-financial companies (up 0.33 points to 8.46%).

The group has specialized teams and platforms for each of its businesses, notably asset management 
(CM-CIC AM), lease financing (CM-CIC Bail and CM-CIC Lease), brokerage (CM-CIC Securities), 
receivables purchasing (Factocic and CM-CIC Laviolette Financement) and employee savings plans 
(CM-CIC ES).

In private equity, CIC actively supports the stabilization and non-relocation of medium and large 
enterprises. 

The group is also a major player in private banking, with more than €85 billion of assets under 
management.

At the international level, CIC has fostered partnerships in banking, insurance and technologies in 
Belgium, Italy, Spain, Switzerland, Tunisia, Luxembourg, Morocco (after recently increasing its stake 
in BMCE) and Canada. In addition, it has a direct presence in Germany, the UK, the US, Hong Kong 
and Singapore and representation offices in around forty other countries.

By drawing on its achievements and on the benefits of the extensive employee training program - an 
essential investment for giving employees access to value-added positions - CIC is now ready to seize 
any opportunity that arises either in France or abroad.

Michel Lucas
President of the Executive Board

D
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CIC, the group holding company and network bank serving the Paris region, 
comprises five regional banks and specialist entities covering all areas of 
finance - both in France and abroad - and insurance.

22,866 employees

2,055 branches  in France 

3 foreign branches and 

35 foreign   
representation offices

3,988,325 clients, including:

3,314,827 individuals   
566,241 self-employed 
professionals  

104,573 corporates

CIC group profile 

CIC has been part of Crédit Mutuel since 1998.

Figures as of December 31, 2007
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2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007

IN MILLIONS OF EUROS

2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007

2007 2006

Net banking income 4,193 4,354

Operating income 1,389 1,659

Net income 1,139 1,274

Cost/income ratio 64% 60% 

 

Source: consolidated financial statements.

Key consolidated figures
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Review of 
operations
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The CIC group is made up of:

•  CIC (Crédit Industriel et Commercial), the holding 
company and head of the CIC group’s bank network. 
It is also the network’s bank serving the Paris region 
and houses the group’s investment, financing and 
capital markets activities;

• 5 regional banks, each of which serves a clearly-
defined region;

• specialist entities and service companies serving the 
whole group.

On December 31, 2007, CIC’s ownership structure was 
as follows:

- BFCM (Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel): 70.78% 
and Ventadour Investissement: 20.66%, representing 
a total interest of 91.44% for Crédit Mutuel Centre Est 
Europe; 

- Caisse Centrale de Crédit Mutuel: 0.99%;

- Banca Popolare di Milano: 0.98%;

- Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe: 0.84%;

- Compagnie Financière de Crédit Mutuel: 0.75%; 

- Crédit Mutuel Maine-Anjou, Basse-Normandie: 0.69%;

- Crédit Mutuel Océan: 0.69%;

- Crédit Mutuel Centre: 0.56%;

- Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique Centre-Ouest: 0.35%;

- Crédit Mutuel de Normandie: 0.07%;

- Treasury stock: 0.66%;

- Employees: 0.44%;

The remaining 1.54% of shares are held by the public.

Private banking
Banque Transatlantique de Luxembourg: 40%
Banque de Luxembourg: 28.9%

Private equity
IPO: 10.2 %
CIC Banque de Vizille: 3.7%

Specialized businesses
CM-CIC Asset Management: 76.4%
CM-CIC Bail: 1.1%
CM-CIC Lease: 45.9%
Factocic: 15%
CM-CIC Agence immobilière: 51.3%
CM-CIC Participations immobilières: 51.7%

Insurance
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel: 79.5%

Shared services companies
Euro Information: 87.1%

Crédit Mutuel shareholdings by business

*  private banking activities are also conducted by 
the CIC Singapore branch (in situ and via CIC 
Investor Services Limited in Hong Kong)

The percentages indicate the portion of the entity controlled by 
CIC as defined under article L.233-3 of the French Commercial 
Code (Code de commerce).  
The companies not controlled by CIC, i.e. where ownership is less 
than 50%, are jointly owned by Crédit Mutuel, as indicated 
opposite. They are therefore controlled by the Crédit Mutuel-CIC 
group in accordance with the terms of the same article of the 
French Commercial Code.
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Retail banking activities continued to expand 
in 2007.

The number of clients increased by 185,000 
(up 4.9%) and passed the symbolic four 
million mark in early January 2008.

2007

 2,897)

 (2,079)

 818)

 (105)

 820)

 574)

Outstanding loans grew 19% thanks notably to strong growth in 
new consumer loans (up 19%) and equipment loans (up 16%). 
Meanwhile, the number of new home loans granted began to 
decline in the summer following the rise in interest rates associ-
ated with the subprime crisis.

Savings deposits grew by 14%.

Service activities, including electronic payment systems, 
managed savings and insurance (property and casualty insur-
ance business grew by 20.4%) turned in a healthy performance 
and generated a 10% increase in commissions.

As a result, CIC continued to gain market share in 2007: up 0.52 
points in savings deposits (4.56% market share) and 0.51 points 
in loans (6.65% market share).

Lastly, a tight rein on overheads and the low level of new loss 
provisions enabled retail banking to post operating income of 
€713 million.

Network

> Network development

2,055 branches
CIC stepped up its branch modernization efforts and expanded 
its network, bringing the total number of branches to 2,055. The 
group continues to open new branches (65 in 2007), particu-
larly in the southwest and southeast of France and in the greater 
Paris region. Almost 400 new branches have been opened in 
the last seven years.

Online banking
The group’s single website cic.fr registered 93 million connections 
in 2007 and more than 9 million visits were recorded in January 
2008.

The site has been updated with a number of new functions, 
including:

•  auto insurance estimates;

• consultation of health insurance contracts;

•  prepaid CESU (chèque emploi service universel - multi-purpose 
employment service checks);

• consultation of international guarantees;

• online statements;

• subscription to online services.

3,015 ATMs
In 2007 the number of ATMs increased by 333 to reach 3,015. 
New functions were added and the transaction process was made 
easier. This network helps to boost productivity and attract non-
clients, both French and foreign.

Retail 
banking

 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

2006

 2,809)

 (2,004)

 805)

 (105)

 789)

 537)

Change

 +3.1%

 +3.7%

 +1.6%

 0%

 +3.9%

 +6.9%

Retail banking: 
key figures
(in € millions)

Net banking income

General operating expenses

Operating income before provisions

Change in provisions

Income before tax

Net income

Source: consolidated financial statements.
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> Personal banking clients

New clients 
In 2007, CIC won 160,333 new personal banking clients, bringing 
the total to 3,263,011, an increase of 5.2% on 2006.

This is the result of:

•  a vigorous client acquisition drive through real estate loans, 
savings products and property/casualty insurance;

•  the policy of opening new branches and modernizing existing 
branches;

•  a sustained focus on young people through the Starts Jeunes 
Actifs line geared to the market segment of the under-28 
population entering working life. The offering has won 93,053 
subscribers, an increase of 48% over one year.

Client deposits
Client deposits reached €26.3 billion, with growth of 6.5% in demand 
deposits and 7.5% in savings accounts. This performance mainly 
reflects the success of the operation focusing on CIC 5.25% pass-
book savings accounts. Growth in passbook accounts (up 9.8%) 
and term deposits (up 73.1%) offset drops in home savings accounts 
(down 6.9%) and PEP individual savings plans (down 8.3%).

Managed savings
The performances achieved in the marketing of guaranteed 
funds, FIP local investment funds and FCPI innovation funds and 
especially the growing momentum of Stratigestion profiled funds, 
fueled a net 9.4% (€358 million) increase in the total amount 
invested in diversified and equity mutual funds.

Life insurance inflows totaled €2.48 billion (down 3.2%).

Lending
After registering strong growth in the first six months of the year, 
the amount of new home loans granted slowed significantly, 
coming in at €12.3 billion by the end of the year (an increase of 
11% compared with the 28% rise in 2006).

In consumer loans, the Crédits Maîtrisés campaign to promote 
the new reserve facility, which provides clients with advance credit, 
generated €1.94 billion of new loan business (up 17% versus an 
11% increase in 2006).

Service contracts
Efforts directed at new clients and underactive accounts resulted 
in 153,467 new Contrats Personnels, bringing the total number to 
738,352, an increase of 26% over the year.

Online banking
145,128 new clients signed up for a Filbanque contract, bringing 
the total number of subscribers to 1,019,877.

This increase in personal banking subscribers went hand in hand 
with a sharp acceleration in the number of visits made to the cic.fr 
website.

RETAIl BAnKInG 
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Cards
In a mature French market, the 9.5% growth in the number of bank 
cards reflects cards issued to new clients.  Meanwhile, successful 
campaigns to encourage clients to move upmarket led to the 
increased uptake of high-end cards: Premier, up 14.6% and Infinite, 
up 33%.

Mobile telephony
The initial NRJ Mobile offering which targeted the youth market 
was complemented at the end of the year by the C le mobile retail 
offering. 20,204 mobile telephony packages were sold in 2007.

Commissions
Against a backdrop of price stabilization, commissions from 
services grew by nearly 7%, thanks to an increase in the number of 
clients, greater product uptake and the sustained vigor of financial 
markets until the end of the year.

> Self-employed professionals

Sales forces
The 1,938-strong team of relationship managers for self-
employed professionals, a 16% increase on the previous year, 
demonstrates the group’s commitment to applying a qualitative 
approach to the needs of the various market segments.

Winning new clients
The new client acquisition program led to an accelerated increase 
in new clients: 65,613 in 2007 versus 58,631 in 2006 (up 11.9%).

Lending
The bank registered healthy growth in new loan business:

•  investment loans: up 23.1% to  €2,763 million;

•  lease financing: up 23.7% to €456 million;

•  long-term leasing contracts: 1,544 compared with 779 in 2006.

The group’s share of the business start-up loan market rose from 
12.26% to 13.44%.

The self-employed professionals market accounted for 18.2% of 
total new home loans, an increase of 0.2 points.

Customer loyalty and commissions
Efforts to promote products and services resulted in:

•  a net increase of 28,339 in online banking contracts versus 
23,183 in 2006, which brings the total number of contracts to 
156,460;

•  a net increase of 33,496 Contrats Professionnels packages 
designed to meet daily transaction needs. This brought the total 
number of contracts to 74,466;

•  an 11% rise in electronic payments thanks to both an increase in 
the number of payment terminals and strong business recorded 
by clients equipped with the terminals. As a result, commissions 
increased by 9.42%.

Employee savings management
By updating the packages offered to self-employed professionals 
and running a targeted marketing campaign, the bank was able to 
register a 128% increase in new contracts, from 3,523 in 2006 to 
8,034 in 2007.

Life insurance
Self-employed professional clients accounted for €2,887 million, 
or 13.5%, of total life insurance inflows.

Partnerships
2007 saw the strengthening of partnerships with franchise networks 
and professional representative bodies.

Agriculture
Initiated in 2002, relations with the agricultural sector were 
enhanced. Specialist relationship managers won 2,451 new clients 
in 2007 and €189 million of equipment loans were set up. New 
partnerships were established with equipment distributors. The 
offering for the agricultural market also includes products and 
services in the areas of real estate and asset management .

Associations
Mirroring the targeted approach applied for many years to 
management bodies in the field of private education, CIC rein-
forced the cash management and loan offering for large 
management associations in the healthcare and social domains.

Communication
A radio campaign was added to the considerable marketing 
efforts focusing on the self-employed professional market. 

 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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> Corporates
Efforts to attract companies and their directors are based on 
values of proximity, responsiveness, expertise and decentralized 
commercial structures that enable shorter decision-making 
times. Relationship managers are the cornerstone of this busi-
ness, ensuring quality, efficiency and long-term client relations.

2007 saw the opening of 7,876 new corporate accounts, bringing 
the total to 75,500 clients.

Lending
The bank continued to apply a proactive approach in corporate 
finance. Synergies between the corporate banking networks, the 
specialized finance department, equity finance units and CIC 
Banque Privée enabled an effective approach in the takeover 
and transfer market.

New medium- and long-term loans reached €5,656 million  
(up 14.2%). Total outstanding loans increased by 10.4%.

New equipment lease financing grew by 8.6% to €1,988 million 
and the repositioning of Auto Confort, the long-term lease 
offering, at the start of the year, boosted the number of vehicles 
financed by 98%. Meanwhile, new real estate lease financing 
amounted to €381 million.

Treasury management and financial investment
Deposits increased by 14.2% to €22,594 million, while bank 
savings products climbed 55.5%.

The automated cash management tool CIC Acti-trésorerie 
recorded an 18.4% rise in managed assets.

Cash management
The introduction of SWIFTNet Plug and Play helped to reinforce 
CIC’s leadership in new bank connection services. This simple 
solution, which also works between different banks and different 
countries, enables companies to standardize and secure their 
banking transactions by connecting to Swiftnet.

Several new functions were added to the online banking package:

•  card activities – a list of bank cards held by the company and details 
of operations carried out over the current and previous month, 
transactions made with a card over the last 12 months, etc;

•  online requests for prepaid CESU;

•  double approval (service whereby a transaction is approved by 
two different parties before it is executed);

•  delegation of financial market transactions by type of security;

•  management of guarantees with EPSDNet.

International operations
International transactions are handled by a single business unit 
located over five sites (Cergy-Pontoise, Lille, Lyons, Nantes and 
Strasbourg). Operating alone or in association with the branch 
network, the unit processes international transfers and debits, 
checks and bills of exchange, documentary credit and drafts, and 
international guarantees. In 2007, this business unit obtained 
AFAQ AFNOR certification for ISO 9001 – 2000.

Employee savings plans and pension solutions
For the SME market, CIC launched Force 3 Entreprises to enable 
company managers to reconcile development and employee 
incentive objectives with wage cost control targets (profit-sharing 
agreements, PEI inter-company savings schemes and PERCOI 
inter-company retirement savings schemes). 

The number of corporate client accounts increased by 36.6%.

With regards to managing social liabilities, the number of statutory 
retirement bonus policies taken out rose by 31.6%.
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Support services

Insurance

Personal insurance and property/casualty insurance registered 
growth in 2007, while life insurance posted a slight decline in line 
with the rest of the French life insurance market. Commissions 
came in at €231 million.

Property/casualty offerings
The total number of automobile and home insurance policies 
reached 626,400, representing 17% growth over the year.

Automobile-related services were rounded out with a new repair 
contract, an intermediate offering between the breakdown option 
in the insurance contract and the repair and maintenance 
contract.

A advantageous new price package was introduced to help young 
people obtain car insurance. The package promotes learning 
alongside an experienced driver, accident prevention through 
driving classes and client loyalty to CIC Assurances. Also for the 
benefit of the young, the home insurance offering was enriched 
with a new Accès J formula which offers highly competitive rates 
to students renting a room or studio.

All home insurance contracts now give free access to a platform 
providing links to the support services provided for by the Borloo 
social cohesion plan: childcare, support for the elderly, house-
work, gardening etc.

In addition, the new Protection bailleur contract guarantees the 
rental revenues and assets of owners who personally manage 
individual housing which they have rented out.

Lastly, access to online calculations of auto or home insurance 
has been provided to Filbanque subscribers, who now can obtain 
an immediate estimate and be put in touch with a branch advisor 
to finalize the operation.

Personal insurance offerings
111,000 new personal risk policies were written in 2007, bringing 
the total portfolio to 490,000.

The new Plans Autonomie offering provides a complete response 
to partial, total or temporary loss of independence along with an 
assistance package for policyholders and their dependents.

In addition, the new Assurance Santé CIC policy is based on a 
unique formula which enables guarantees and coverage to be 
tailored to individual needs. This can be combined with a policy 
dedicated to natural medicines which are not reimbursed by 
French social security: Réflexe Prévention Santé. The supple-
mental health care portfolio grew by 48% in 2007, reaching a 
total of 58,600 active policies.

 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Life insurance
Life premium income decreased by 3.2% to €2,487 million. Unit-
linked policies represented 76% of this amount, excluding 
non-unit-linked to unit-linked policy conversions made in connec-
tion with the Breton law, which totaled €692 million.

The customized Sérénis Vie life insurance and endowment policies 
offered by CIC Banque Privée generated income of €156.4 million.

A total of 79,300 people have signed up for CIC’s flagship Plan 
Assur Horizons multi-product insurance policies. Since the start of 
2007, product investments in units of this contract are executed 
three working days after the effective date. The choice of under-
lying investments in the Liberté package has been extended to 40 
multi-manager funds. Improvements have also been made to 
Assur Horizons Pro, the version of the package designed to allow 
the self-employed to qualify for the tax benefits offered by the 
Madelin law. Assur Horizons Pro has attracted 2,000 new policy-
holders.

Policies and funds denominated in euros benefitted from a slight 
rise in net returns: from 3.90% for Livret Assurance Retraite retire-
ment savings plans to 4.30% for Plan Patrimonio policies.

In the area of employee benefits planning, the time interval for the 
execution of investments was reduced to three working days for 
unit-linked versions of the Retraite Entreprise company retirement 
schemes offering new annuity options. 

Lastly, life insurance policyholders now have access to Filbanque, 
which enables them to set up or modify regularly scheduled 
payments as well as make additional contributions.

Investment funds

CM-CIC Asset Management, the core of Crédit Mutuel-CIC’s asset 
management business, was reorganized in 2007 with a new exec-
utive board which has adopted a 3-year development plan.

Assets under management reached €53.4 billion at the end of 
December 2007, including €4.2 billion in employee savings 
plans.

CM-CIC AM provides accounting services for 50 other asset 
management companies with managed assets of more than €10 
billion split up among 185 mutual funds

Financial management
In France the liquidity crisis affected mutual fund management as 
much as inflows in 2007. For the first time in 10 years, inflows 
declined.

Through cautious risk management, CM-CIC AM was able to obtain 
solid performances from the three mutual fund categories (which 
frequently encountered difficulties in the market place): regular, 
dynamic, and absolute performance funds. Their achievements 
won the group a number of new awards including Investir maga-
zine’s Laurier de Bronze, five Trophées from Revenu magazine, 
three Trophées d’Or and inclusion in the EDHEC-Europerformance 
Alpha League Table.

The money market funds, which had minimal exposure to the 
crisis, did not suffer withdrawals and continued to deliver steady 
results.

The bond funds registered solid performances as shown by their 
rankings. Nevertheless, downward pressure on corporate spreads 
automatically hurt their results relative to the benchmark indexes 
consisting mainly of sovereign bonds.

The range of multi-management diversified funds was simplified 
to increase visibility and a new CM-CIC prefix was added to the 
retail line. Positive performances were recorded by all profiles with 
little differentiation due to disappointing equity market perfor-
mances.

Equity funds registered varying performances with funds of funds 
specializing in emerging markets or commodities doing particularly 
well. By contrast, funds of funds focusing on Japan or the US were 
negatively impacted by currency fluctuations. 2007 underlined the 
importance of direct European, rather than specifically French, 
equities management and the advantage of stock picking in this 
type of universe, particularly in terms of absolute performance.

Lastly, the commitment to governance principles led to strong 
participation at the various shareholder meetings and specific 
dialog with the listed companies.

2007 saw the launch of a large number of structured products, 
both guaranteed funds for wide distribution and CPPI funds for a 
more specialized clientele.

Commercial development
CM-CIC Asset Management continued to record inflows in the 
three fund management categories despite widespread distrust 
of vehicles exposed to securitization and the credit markets.

Commercial success was achieved in all client segments:

•  Retail: good placement of structured funds, recovery in accu-
mulation (Crédit Mutuel), buoyant inflows for the Stratigestion 
range (CIC);

•  corporate: success with dynamic money market funds and CPPI 
funds (BECM and CIC);

•  private banking: uptake of absolute performance funds, often 
through life insurance.

In order to implement its development plan, CM-CIC AM has 
restructured its organization as follows:

•  (to support the networks): creation of specific management and 
reporting tools by the group IT department, streamlining of 
diversified fund and employee savings plan offerings and 
merging of CM and CIC funds;

•  (to boost growth): creation of a team dedicated to external 
distribution and aimed at investment product selectors, asset 
management companies, private banks and external subscribers;

•  launch of a marketing campaign focused on the Union product 
range with the slogan “enhance performance and manage risks”;

•  the integration of the new MIF directive.

2007 revenues reached €329.5 million, an 11.5% increase over 
the €295.5 million reported in 2006, and net income came to 
€6.7 million.
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Employee savings management

The year was marked by a number of high points which won recog-
nition in the network and in the market for the business’s dynamic 
and professional approach:

•  the launch of the Force 3 range for CIC’s self-employed profes-
sional clientele, with 8,000 new PEI and PERCOI contracts 
signed in 2007;

•  ISO 9001-2000 certification for the logistical division in Cergy 
(north-west of Paris, 80 employees), underscoring the quality 
of its service;

•  an exclusive partnership in employee savings with the certified 
public accountants social policy committee, a true measure of 
professional credibility;

•  a 79% increase in commissions paid to the CIC network, resulting 
from productivity gains and the increase in net fund inflows and 
savings deposits.

At December 31, 2007, CM-CIC Epargne Salariale represented:

•  €4,146 billion of managed assets (up 5.1%);

•  36,500 client companies (up 34.1%);

•  1,486,000 individual employee plans (up 12.8%);

•  120 employees.

The goal is to make employee savings plans a key component of 
the products and services offered to professional and corporate 
clients by the end of 2009.

Factoring

In a continuously growing market, Factocic reached a volume of 
€8.9 billion in receivables purchased in 2007, up 14.6% compared 
to 2006. 

It also registered €2.6 billion worth of new contracts thanks to 
efforts to develop in the large- and medium-sized company 
market. The performance was bolstered by a new sales drive 
focusing on the networks, an increase in export business and the 
increased uptake of the Crédit Mutuel Factor product within the 
Crédit Mutuel network.

The Orféo range, which provides tailored receivables financing 
and management solutions to medium- and large-sized compa-
nies, was enhanced by an offering combining factoring and 
securitization.

At the international level, Factocic offers a wide array of products, 
ranging from classic export factoring to the financing of foreign 
subsidiaries and even the financing of imports from the Far East.

These new offerings and the strong performance achieved on the 
traditional SME market provided the CIC group with a growth 
vehicle in short-term financing for corporates and self-employed 
professionals.

2007 also saw an increase in the number of clients equipped with 
imaging tools for invoices and payments. Surveys carried out with 
clients and business referral partners indicated a high level of 
satisfaction and service quality.

Against a backdrop of intense competition, operating revenues 
rose by 9.6% to €80.5 million, boosted by the rise in short-term 
interest rates. Net income reached €17.2 million, even though the 
cost of risk was impacted by provisions set aside for a major 
claim.

2008 will see the launch of Factoflash, an online product for self-
employed professionals.

Receivables purchasing

CM-CIC Laviolette Financement, the group’s specialized center of 
expertise for the purchasing of assigned business receivables, 
continued to grow in 2007. 

Three new partnerships were set up in 2007 – CIC Société 
Bordelaise, Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe and Crédit Mutuel de 
Normandie – resulting in:

•  a 12.6% increase in assignments, with the processing of more 
than 248,000 invoices representing inflows of €1,418 million;

•  an 11% increase in gross NBI to €22 million;

•  18% growth in overall profitability to €11.4 million before payment 
of fees to partner banks;

•  a 7% rise in fees paid to partner banks to €8.5 million, i.e., 75% of 
overall profitability. 

Net income reached €1.87 million compared to €1.03 million in 
2006.

 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Real estate financing

CM-CIC real estate interests
Working with real estate developers through the acquisition of 
interests in SCI (non-trading real estate company) consortia for 
the financing of residential real estate throughout France, in 
2007 CM-CIC Participations Immobilières invested €1.9 million in 
10 new projects (roughly 600 housing units), with a market value 
of €118 million. 

Net income was €2.7 million.

CM-CIC realty
CM-CIC Afedim, which is licensed to do business as a realtor under 
the Hoguet law, sells new residential properties on behalf of the 
Crédit Mutuel and CIC networks including CIC Banque Privée. Its 
primary targets are investors and first-time buyers. The proposed 
programs are approved in advance by a committee composed of 
representatives of the banks’ lending, asset management and 
sales teams.

In 2007, 2,603 homes were sold, representing total business 
volumes of €447 million and generating €18.4 million in fees 
before tax, of which €17.4 million passed back to the network. Net 
income for the year reached €352,000.

CM-CIC Lease
Following two years of stability, in 2007 the volume of new real 
estate financing in France grew by 13.5% in terms of the amount 
of signed contracts (€4.9 billion). However, in the sector as a 
whole total financial inflows fell as a result of options being exer-
cised early due to the substantial volume of property transactions 
made over the year. The market continued to be characterized by 
heightened competition and tighter margins.

Against this backdrop, CM-CIC Lease recorded a 39% increase in 
revenues and an 18% increase in the number of transactions 
financed, while striving to maintain the quality of risks on new 
transactions and to keep margin levels close to those registered 
the previous year.

The level of contracts remained stable. Control of structural costs 
and a few exceptional transactions enabled the unit to generate 
net income of €19.2 million after paying out €7.6 million in busi-
ness referral commissions.

The composition of the leasing portfolio remained almost iden-
tical to the previous year: 53% warehouses and industrial 
premises, 24% retail premises, 13% offices and 10% other (hotels, 
clinics or retirement homes).

Equipment leasing

In 2007 CM-CIC Bail continued to expand, adding over €2.4 billion 
worth of new contracts to its portfolio (a 15.6% increase), of which 
88% were set up by CM-CIC banking networks and subsidiaries.

More than 63,000 files were processed.

Over the year, the Auto confort (up 67%) and Bail marine (up 
15%) ranges enjoyed a good deal of commercial success and 
support offered to builders in the financing of their sales 
accounted for an increasingly large portion of the overall result.

A new offering dedicated to healthcare professionals was 
launched in the second half of the year.

A new branch, CM-CIC Bail Belgium, was set up in Brussels in 2007 
to assist clients with investments in Belgium. A second branch is 
to be opened in Germany in the first half of 2008.

As part of the action plan for 2008-2010, new offerings are to be 
introduced from 2008 and tools and processes are to be 
improved.
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Financing  
and capital 
markets

In 2007, CIC maintained its strategy of 
diversification and selectivity with regard  
to large risks and support for its clients’ 
international operations.

The year was marked by the impact of the 
subprime crisis on financial markets and, in 
parallel, the increase in commitments to large 
corporates and institutional investors and the 
growth in specialized financing.

Large corporates and institutional investors

Business was buoyant in 2007. Excluding counter guarantees 
received, CIC’s commitments grew by close to 17% from an average 
annual amount of €17.2 billion at end-2006 to €20.1 billion at 
December 31, 2007, including €6.6 billion in balance sheet loans 
(up €2.2 billion) and €13.5 billion in off-balance sheet commit-
ments, comprising undrawn credit lines, guarantees and other 
signature commitments (up €0.7 billion). 

CIC continued to ensure the necessary risk diversification as 
evidenced by the spread in year-end outstanding loans across a 
wide range of sectors:  publishing: 17.73%; construction: 12.32%; 
automobile/auto parts: 11.59%; arms/defense: 7.34%; steel/
chemical: 6.88%; transport/construction materials: 6.87%; IT/
mechanical engineering: 6.76%; institutional: 4.90%; hotel 
management/tourism: 4.55%; retail: 3.26%; telecoms/media: 
2.70%; other: 1.63%; outside OECD: 13.47%.

CIC also remained selective, as illustrated by the fact that, at 
December 31, 2007, 94.3% of outstanding loans were rated 
between A+ and C- (investment grade), compared to 92.3% at 
the end of 2006, and that D and E-rated loans were limited to 5% 
and 0.7% respectively.

Due to the reversal of some small provisions and a very low loss 
experience, there was a €2.8 million net reversal of provisions 
(versus a net addition to provisions of €1 million in 2006).

Net banking income increased by 43.8% from €98.2 million to 
€141.2 million, of which €116 million represented the net interest 
margin on loans and €17.9 million represented commissions. In a 
less liquid market, this rise in net banking income was due to the 
growth in both outstanding loans and the conditions accepted by 
the clients.

On the back of a resurgence of syndicated corporate loan activity, 
CIC took part in 42 transactions (compared to around 30 in 
2006), often as mandated lead arranger (MLA) with large initial 
commitments and final takes.

In terms of cash management services, CIC was chosen in 13 out 
of 24 formalized tender bids. In addition, some ten informal tender 
bids enabled the Group to acquire four new clients.  

In 2007, CIC’s technical strength enabled it to provide its clients 
with recognized expertise (particularly in electronic payment 
systems, check imaging, processing of interbank payment slips 
[TIP], Swiftnet and SEPA) and to expand and diversify its client 
base with such companies as Carlo Tassara International, Coca 
Cola, Creatis, Danone, Dover, Enel, Evialis, FAFS, Fongecif, Réunica, 
Ginger, Glon-Sanders, Heidelberg Cement, FFP, Ikea, Nestle-
Waters, Pages Jaunes, PGS, Panhard, Poweo, and Transavia.com.  
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Capital markets

Crédit Mutuel-CIC’s market activities are grouped together in 
France within a single entity, CM-CIC Marchés, and are carried out 
within CIC, except for medium- and long-term refinancing, which 
is handled by BFCM, CIC’s parent company, as it offers the group’s 
best refinancing conditions.

CM-CIC Marchés serves both as a vehicle for refinancing its own 
business development and a trading room for its various client 
segments, including large corporates, other companies, local 
governments, and private banking and institutional clients inter-
ested in the innovative capital markets products developed by 
CIC proprietary trading teams.

Business development
Supported by three sales teams – network, large corporates and 
local government bodies – the trading room offers its domestic 
and European clients a broad range of advisory services and 
quotations on forex and interest-rate products, investment 
offerings, either standardized or structured.

Based in Paris and the major regional metropolitan areas, the 
sales teams are available to offer competitive products to the 
network and its clients.

Refinancing
For CM-CIC Marchés, 2007 was characterized by growth in the 
volume of funds raised on the markets and the continued diversi-
fication of financing sources.

Amounts raised on the markets leapt by more than 30%, while the 
breakdown between short- and medium-term refinancing 
remained unchanged, at 57% and 43%, respectively. Outstanding 
negotiable certificates of deposit totaled €28 billion. This year-
on-year surge was a reaction to the monetary crisis which, as 
from August, spurred a flight to safety among many investors. 

In 2007 CM-CIC Covered Bonds was set up for the purpose of 
issuing AAA-rated bonds backed by CM-CIC group home loans 
and aimed at international investors. The company’s creation 
provided the group with new refinancing resources that are vital 
to the network’s continued business development. 

Proprietary trading
The trading teams within CM-CIC Marchés implemented new 
strategies in alternative asset management and tools for moni-
toring performance and risks were improved. 

In 2007, the focus was on financial performance in hybrid arbitrage 
(convertible bonds), fixed-income arbitrage, and event-driven 
arbitrage (M&A, etc.).

Alternative asset management strategies which are now being 
broadly distributed through standardized products provide the 
entire group with an alternative and structured investment 
offering.

Overall net banking income from capital market operations for 
the year was €113 million compared to €351 million in 2006. This 
decrease was essentially due to the American real estate crisis 
which impacted the New York branch’s activity (see page 23).  
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Brokerage and custodial activities

Acting as a broker-dealer, clearing agent and custodian, CM-CIC 
Securities meets all the needs of institutional investors, private 
asset management companies and issuers. 

As a member of ESN LLP, a “multi-local” network of 10 brokers 
operating in 15 European equity markets (Germany, Netherlands, 
Belgium, United Kingdom, Ireland, Italy, Spain, Denmark, Sweden, 
Norway, Finland, Portugal, Greece, Cyprus and France) and major-
ity shareholder (54%) of ESN North America (United States, 
Canada), CM-CIC Securities trades for its clients on all the 
European and American equity markets.

Covering 1,000 European companies, the research team com-
prises 130 analysts and strategists, 25 of whom are based in Paris. 
The equity sales force consists of 140 salespeople, including 49 in 
Paris and five in New York.  In 2007, ESN equity research was 
rated number three in Europe by the brokerage rating firm 
StarMine for the quality of its market recommendations on the 
FTSE 100.

CM-CIC Securities continued its advances in value research and 
sustainable development in 2007 and was awarded the Mid-Cap 
Specialist label by Euronext. It has a five-person index and equity 
derivatives sales team and seven salespeople and dealers work-
ing with traditional and convertible bonds.

CM-CIC Securities organizes over 250 events a year, including 
company presentations, roadshows and seminars in France and 
abroad. The most widely attended are:

•  Seminaire Perspective, at which the research team presents its 
selection of the best investment ideas for the coming year;

•  La Bourse rencontre l’informatique, which focuses on IT and 
software companies;

•  European Small- & Mid-Cap Seminar, an event which is held 
twice a year in London and once a year in New York and brings 
together 40 mid-cap companies from 15 European countries. 
The companies are selected by ESN on the basis of their qual-
ity.

As a securities custodian, CM-CIC Securities serves 103 asset 
management companies, including seven new mandates won in 
2007. It administers approximately 40,000 personal investor 
accounts and 225 mutual funds representing €11.9 billion in 
assets.

Net banking income for the year was €79.1 million and net income 
€6.8 million.

Financial transactions

In 2007, the CM-CIC group enhanced its competitiveness and 
performance in the field of financial transactions by bringing 
together the expertise of its various entities specialized in equity 
financing (CIC Banque de Vizille, CIC Finance, IPO), brokerage 
(CM-CIC Securities) and specialized financing. The strength of 
the branch network also contributed to this success.

CM-CIC was instrumental in the successful IPO of Rexel on Eurolist 
through its role as co-lead manager for placement with individual 
investors, aided by its branch network, and as co-manager for 
placement with institutional investors all over Europe via the 
“multi-local” ESN network, acting through the intermediary of 
CM-CIC Securities.

CM-CIC Securities also managed the IPOs of Foncière des 6e et 7e 
arrondissements de Paris and Metabolic Explorer on Eurolist and 
Mindscape on Alternext. It was bookrunner for GL Events’ capital 
raising (a transaction co-managed with CIC Banque de Vizille) 
and managed the capital issues for Thermocompact (again with 
CIC Banque de Vizille) and Paref. 

In addition, CM-CIC Securities managed a mandatory convertible 
issue for Foncière Atland, presented Weinberg Capital’s tender 
offer for the shares of Sasa, Bridgeport’s public buy-out offer for 
MB Electronique, Foncière des Régions’ tender offer for Foncière 
Europe Logistique, and was involved in the placement of a major 
block of  Belvédère shares.

Lastly, issuer services (IPOs and all subsequent share issues, cor-
porate analysis and valuation, financial communication, liquidity 
contracts and stock buybacks, financial secretarial and securities 
services) are provided by the CM-CIC Emetteur teams.  
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Specialized financing

Revenues increased in 2007, particularly from transactions reg-
istered in mainland France and in asset financing. Net banking 
income in France increased to €82 million, from €68 million in 
2006, while operating income increased by more than 14%. 
Inasmuch as  the reversal of specific provisions was greater than 
new provisions, there was a net decrease in provisions for  
the second year running. In 2007 this net reversal amounted to 
€3 million. The business increased its contribution to group 
income, despite lower provision reversals than in the previous 
year. 

Acquisition financing
The CM-CIC group assists its clients with the transfer of their busi-
nesses by contributing its expertise in advisory services, equity 
and debt financing for sale transactions, wealth management for 
sellers, market transactions and commercial banking.

The deterioration in the market for financing major LBO transac-
tions did not affect the group thanks to its cautious risk 
management policy.  In particular, it did not have any outstanding 
loans awaiting syndication when the market changed course in 
2007.

In addition, asset quality remained high and provisions were  
kept under tight control to the extent that the activity reported 
€3.9 million in reversals in 2007.

Business remained buoyant, as a result of balanced positioning 
on the various business succession markets (corporate acquisi-
tion, transactions with a financial sponsor, wealth transfers), but 
also thanks to diversification among the various market seg-
ments, both in terms of the size of transactions and their national 
and international location.

Income before tax totaled €37.5 million.

Asset financing
In 2007, CIC won a significant and increasing number of arranger 
mandates in all business sectors, in particular with respect to 
maritime, aeronautic and tax enhancement-driven transactions. 

The New York and Singapore offices continued to expand their 
activity and their new transactions now represent a major share 
of business.

Income before tax increased year-on-year from €6.9 million to 
€15.8 million.

Project financing
In 2007 new projects broke down as follows:

•  electricity: 48.7%, with a growing presence in renewable ener-
gies (wind farms, solar projects); 

•  infrastructures (concessions and public-private partnerships): 
25.6%;

•  natural resources: 17.9%;

•  telecom operators: 7.8%.

In terms of geographic area, the breakdown was as follows:

•  18% in North America (United States, Canada and Mexico); 

•  48.7% in Europe; 

•  15.4% in the Middle East;

•  17.9% in Asia and Australia.

Bids submitted in response to formal and informal calls for tender 
served to strengthen the CM-CIC group’s relations with sponsors. 
The project financing business line continued to be central to 
marketing activities and CIC offices outside France played an 
increasingly crucial role. Cross-sales were emphasized in the form 
of interest rate swaps, and equipment and real estate leasing 
products. An equity partnership aimed at expanding the sphere of 
activity was set up via an infrastructures investment fund.

As in 2006, there was a net reversal of provisions which in 2007 
came to €1.4 million. Income before tax totaled €9.4 million.
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International operations
In 2007 the main focus of CIC’s international strategy was to 
support clients in their international development, with diverse 
offerings tailored to companies’ changing needs.

Through CIC Développement International, CIC provides a wide 
variety of innovative services to SMEs such as conducting market 
surveys, organizing visits to target countries to test local reac-
tions to clients’ products and services, or sounding out potential 
local partners and the viability of greenfield operations. These 
services are delivered with the backing of the group’s specialist 
international consulting subsidiary Aidexport, and of the group’s 
foreign branches and representation offices. They are promoted 
on an ongoing basis by the branch network and at special events 
such as one-day seminars and country-specific discussion 
forums.

CIC also offers its investment clients a research service that ana-
lyzes the credit risk of major French and international bond issuers 
and the main sectors of the European and global economies.

In 2007, import and export financing, documentary credit and 
guarantees were diversified geographically, particularly in 
Indonesia, Brazil, Egypt, Central Europe and French-speaking 
Africa. Business also continued to be buoyant in Asia and North 
Africa.

Having finalized agreements with partner banks, CIC boasts 
competitive offerings in the area of international transaction 
processing, particularly cash management and opening accounts 
abroad.

CIC also makes available a varied mix of services to its clientele of 
French and foreign banks.

International transactions are managed by a single business unit 
composed of five regional centers that, alongside the corporate 
banking branches, provide specialized services close to home. 
This business unit has been ISO 9001 certified.

The group is better able to support its clients abroad as a result 
of strategic partnerships established in China with the Bank of 
East Asia, in North Africa with Banque Marocaine du Commerce 
Extérieur and Banque de Tunisie, and in Italy with Banca Popolare 
di Milano.

International branches and representation 
offices spanning the globe 

London
The branch’s main activities are financing companies (particu-
larly UK-based subsidiaries of French groups), specialized 
financing and providing advisory services concerning entry into 
the British market to client French SMEs and temporary inter-
company partnerships. 

As CIC’s representative on Europe’s leading financial market, the 
branch takes part in the exchange’s main banking transactions, 
while keeping to a rigorous risk selection strategy.  The branch 
also contributes to the group’s refinancing.

Despite the liquidity crisis, the branch reported increased net 
banking income, a continuing low level of provisions and income 
before tax of €29.2 million. 

 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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Singapore and Hong Kong
In 2007, the Asia-Pacific economies continued to boom, thanks 
in particular to the dynamism of China and India. The branch 
hewed to its policy of controlled growth on the most stable mar-
kets (Singapore, South Korea, Taiwan and Australia), drawing on 
the group’s internationally-oriented businesses (specialized 
financing and products dedicated to private and institutional 
investors).

Specialized financing activity increased on these markets. The 
opening of a representative office in Sydney in 2007 provides 
improved coverage of the Australian market for this type of 
financing.

Taking advantage of the favorable market conditions, the private 
banking teams in Singapore and Hong Kong have expanded their 
client base and increased profitability. In addition, the Singapore 
office of Banque Transatlantique offers a full range of private 
banking products and services to its French expatriate clients.

Net income before tax for the branch came in at €17.7 million.

Representation offices
In addition to its branches, CIC has a network of 35 representation 
offices around the world that provide their expertise and knowl-
edge of regional markets to the group’s clients and specialized 
businesses, thus contributing to the international development 
of its businesses.

New York
2007 was marked by the subprime crisis which shook all financial 
markets and gave rise to an unprecedented crisis of confidence. 
After showing stubborn resistance, the American economy slowed 
considerably during the last quarter, despite the Federal Reserve’s 
accommodating monetary policy. 

Against this backdrop, the New York branch faced a mixed situation.

The branch holds a €3.9 billion portfolio of RMBS and ABS, 91% of 
which are AAA rated, including €142 million of subprime mort-
gages, of which €67 million are AAA rated. Given the discounting 
and low liquidity of the markets, this portfolio registered a net 
banking loss of €180 million as of December 31, 2007. The entire 
portfolio was marked to market on the basis of the external data 
provided by the main American brokers or, when no price was 
available, on the basis of comparable listed securities.  Given the 
quality of the securities, CIC does not presently anticipate signifi-
cant risk of loss at maturity.

In contrast, corporate and asset financing reported record oper-
ating income thanks to a very selective lending policy which was 
reflected in a near-zero level of provisions. 

Net loss before tax totaled €164 million.
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Amidst financial markets gripped by an  
acute confidence crisis, wealth management 
operations continued to deliver sustained 
organic growth in 2007, bolstered by 
acquisitions of specialized companies.

In France, two major actors drive the development  
of private banking: 

•  CIC Banque Privée is the group’s private banking arm and 
provides the organizational structure and coordination  
of a nation-wide offering; integrated into the CIC network, 
the CIC Banque Privée branches mainly gear their services 
to company executives;

•  CIC Banque Transatlantique, which is focused on French 
nationals living abroad, private banking and stock options, 
offers customized services.

Outside France, the group has offices in key countries and 
regions where private banking offers significant growth 
potential: luxembourg, Switzerland, Belgium and Asia. 
These entities within the CIC Private Banking network provide 
their own clients as well as group clients with a range of 
specific high value-added services.

The private banking  
business at CIC
With more than 340 employees and a presence throughout 
France thanks to its 59 branches, CIC Banque Privée is equipped 
to provide each region with quality service, and serves as a 
benchmark for the private banking sector. 

Supported by the resources of the CM-CIC group, CIC Banque 
Privée, targets heads of companies, offering them private banking 
services to assist them with the key stages in the life of their 
companies: enlarging their capital base, external growth, transfer 
of the business and succession.

In 2007 CIC Banque Privée continued to expand and increase 
fund inflows by offering close to home, high value added services 
(tax, legal and wealth engineering), selecting the best banking, 
financial and real estate offerings on the market (open architec-
ture approach) and developing tools adapted to client require-
ments (confidential analysis charts of their assets from a global 
“private banking” perspective). 

With the help of financial and wealth engineers, its 185 private 
banking managers define the appropriate strategy for their clients 
and draw on internal expertise (specific banking arms and 
subsidiaries of the CM-CIC group, particularly CM-CIC Gestion, 
which is specialized in multi-management) as well as external, 
national and international resources in order to provide optimal 
solutions. 

At the end of 2007, CIC Banque Privée’s outstanding savings 
exceeded €10 billion, while net banking income for the year 
reached €95 million and recurring income €44.4 million.

Private  
banking
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Major capital flows were tapped following the sales of companies 
or through the transfer of portfolios from competing institutions.

On a consolidated basis, the bank increased net banking income 
by 13% to €81.6 million and net income by 21% to €21.3 million. 

Banque Transatlantique Belgium, a subsidiary created in 2005, 
continued to grow, increasing net banking income to €3.54 million 
(up 27%) and net income to €0.86 million (up 187%). 

Banque Transatlantique Luxembourg, a 60%-held subsidiary, 
reported net banking income of €7.2 million (up 2%) and net 
income of €2.8 million (down 15.5%).

Banque Transatlantique Jersey’s net income was non-material.

The three asset management companies, which are wholly owned, 
also had a good year: 

BLC Gestion reported a 40% increase in net banking income to 
€7.4 million and a 133% rise net income to €2.8 million. 

•  Transatlantique Finance registered net income of €1.6 million 
(up 73%);

•  GPK Finance generated net banking income of €4.7 million 
(down 6%) and net income of €1.4 million (up 8%).

Dubly-Douilhet
Dubly-Douilhet is an investment company which provides discre-
tionary management services to high-net-worth individuals in 
northern and eastern France and enjoys a solid financial position 
(€10 million in equity). 

In 2007, business expanded with managed assets reaching nearly 
€970 million and net income €2.8 million.

Specialized entities

> France

CIC Banque Transatlantique
2007 was a good year for CIC Banque Transatlantique and its 
subsidiaries, both in terms of financial income and business 
development.

In Paris the bank is active in four businesses areas:

•  wealth management;

•  stock options;

•  private asset management for French expatriates;

•  coordination of management companies: Transatlantique 
Finance, BLC Gestion et GPK Finance (acquired in the summer 
of 2007).

The increase in assets under management and the increase in the 
number of clients generated net income of €19.5 million (up 
17.2%) and net banking income of  €62.1 million (up 7.5%).

Net reversals of provisions for loan losses amounted to €0.9 million, 
while overheads rose by 7%.

Growth in net banking income was mainly due to the increase in 
commissions, despite a disappointing year for the financial 
markets, and the impact of rising prices on client savings under 
management (including life insurance). In addition, the signing of 
several notable  stock option plans boosted business volumes. 

At year-end, CIC Banque Transatlantique and its subsidiaries had 
64,922 clients and €8.9 billion in assets under management.
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> CIC Private Banking network

Banque de Luxembourg
Against a highly volatile market backdrop largely due to the 
subprime crisis, Banque de Luxembourg managed to boost net 
income in 2007. The growth in its two main businesses, private 
banking and services for asset management professionals, 
increased client deposits by 8.8% to €66.1 billion. Net banking 
income rose 14.8% to €235.5 million while net income came in at 
€71.7 million (up 3.6%).

Capital protection and steady, long-term performance continued 
to be the bank’s top priorities. The approach paid off in 2007, as 
witnessed by its funds’ performances which once again earned 
market recognition. Responding to the change in the market 
environment from that of the last two decades, Banque de 
Luxembourg provided investors with innovative solutions in the 
form of three new funds: BL-Emerging Markets, a mixed fund 
which gives access to the growth potential of emerging markets, 
BL-Equities Dividend, an equity fund investing in high-dividend 
paying companies and BL-Optinvest, a tax efficient fund targeting 
German clients.

Tax and estate planning issues remained of central importance to 
clients. To meet these concerns, the bank analyzed the struc-
turing of private assets and international investments through 
specialized investment vehicles, assisted with company acquisi-
tions and disposals, and supported clients’ transfer of equipment 
and real estate assets. It also provided them with ongoing assis-
tance in their philanthropic projects and advised them on the 
transfer, valuation and protection of precious objects, art works 
and collections.

Banque de Luxembourg continued to expand its range of services 
to asset management professionals (investment fund devel-
opers, independent asset managers and insurance companies). 
In 2007, it bolstered its expertise in specialized investment funds 
(SIF) and SICARs (venture capital investment companies), in line 
with its strategy of focusing on high value added services.

CIC Private Banking – Banque Pasche
In 2007, CIC Private Banking – Banque Pasche continued its 
expansion and acquired Swissfirst Bank AG with offices in Zurich, 
Lucerne and Zug, and Swissfirst AG (Liechtenstein) in Vaduz, as 
well as smaller asset management companies in Geneva.

These external growth transactions boosted assets under 
management to €8.8 billion.

To best meet client requirements, the bank enhanced its wealth 
management offering with an expanded range, encompassing 
wealth engineering and Family Office services. Its Geneva-based 
subsidiary Serficom Family Office reinforced its structure through 
the opening of offices in Marrakech and Rio de Janeiro and the 
acquisition of a recognized player in the family office field, Agefor 
SA, with offices in Geneva and Istanbul. 

In the event of a relocation, clients can have access to high-level 
asset management and succession planning expertise, help in 
purchasing property, and an analytical and comparative review of 
their portfolios carried out by independent experts.

 REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
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CIC Suisse
At the end of 2007, CIC Banque CIAL Suisse changed its name to 
CIC Suisse, underscoring its integration within the CIC group. 
2009 will mark its centenary year.

In 2007 the bank expanded its business activities and opened a 
new branch in Neuchatel. Headquartered in Basel, the bank has 
274 employees and branches in Geneva, Lausanne, Neuchatel, 
Locarno, Lugano and Zurich. Additional branch openings in 2008 
and 2009 will strengthen CIC Suisse’s presence in Switzerland’s 
main economic regions.

Outstanding client loans rose 21.6% year-on-year to CHF 2,095 million 
at the end of 2007. Client assets also rose, attaining  
CHF 8,267 million.

All sectors of activity contributed to the 10% increase in net 
banking income. Interest margins increased by 6.4%, commis-
sions by 5% and market transactions by 40%.

Net income for the year remained stable at CHF 18.9 million, due 
to the rise in overheads resulting from various investments.

CIC Branch – Singapore and  
CICIS Private Limited Hong Kong
Since 2002, CIC’s Singapore and Hong Kong teams have been 
developing a private banking activity for clients in China and 
South-East Asia.

Singapore has become a major center for private banking, aided 
by government encouragement of wealth management services 
for private and institutional investors.  

In 2007, gross assets under management increased by 48.8%  
to USD 1.8 billion while net banking income was up 82% to  
USD 20.9 million.

CIC’s objective is to develop a business in Asia dedicated to a 
sophisticated and demanding clientele, while drawing on the group’s 
resources in Europe, both in terms of products and logistics.
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2007 was a dynamic year for private equity 
and confirmed CIC’s place among France’s 
leading regional players.  

CIC’s three entities, which separately or 
jointly carry out proprietary transactions 
covering all of France, made €413 million  
in investments.

The total portfolio of managed equity holdings 
was worth more than €2,040 million as of 
December 31, 2007.

Private  
equity

Paris and Northeastern France
CIC Finance 

A wholly-owned subsidiary of CIC with 50 employees in Paris and 
the regions, CIC Finance is active in both private equity and M&A 
advisory services. Proprietary transactions are carried out 
through the wholly-owned subsidiaries CIC Investissement, CIC 
Investissement Nord, CIC Investissement Est and CIC 
Investissement Alsace while third party investments are executed 
through the funds managed by the subsidiaries CM-CIC Capital 
Privé (18 FIP investment funds/FCPI innovation funds) and CIC 
LBO Partners (the mid-cap CIC LBO Fund dedicated to majority 
LBOs).

Bolstered by the revaluation of its portfolios and new capital rais-
ings, CIC Finance now manages €1,268 million in estimated net 
assets, including €441 million in third-party investments.  

The year was one of heightened development and profitability, 
particularly in investment. The proprietary investments unit  
(€827 million in managed assets) made €250 million in new invest-
ments (Business, Lafarge Roofing, Impact Médecine, Devianne and 
Sogefa), with an increase in the unit amounts and enhanced inter-
national diversification (United States, Spain, eastern Europe and 
Asia). Portfolio rotation picked up with €347 million in disposals 
(Vivarte, Saur, Coteba, Financière Derby, Cadum and Elis) and  
€228 million in realized capital gains.

In third-party management, a FCPI innovation fund and two FIP 
investment funds were successfully launched for €80 million in 
collaboration with CM-CIC networks, increasing managed assets 
to €306 million. With four new investments (Sinéquanone, 
Emeraude, Armatis and Alti), CIC LBO Fund is now 73% invested; 
both of the year’s two disposals (Sateco and Carré Blanc) gener-
ated capital gains.

Several important advisory assignments were carried out such as 
the disposal of Sedaf and consulting services for Sud Ouest 
regarding the acquisition of Midi Libre. 

Consolidated net income came to €198 million based on French 
GAAP and €185 million based on IFRS. Shareholders’ equity 
totaled €438 million and unrealized capital gains amounted to 
€123 million.
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2007

 381)

 (42)

 339)

 0)

 339)

 310)

2006

 272)

 (33)

 239)

 (1)

 237)

 224)

Change

 +40.1%

 +27.3%

 +41.8%

n.m.

 +43.0%

 +38.4%

Private equity: 
key figures
(in € millions)

Net banking income

General operating expenses

Operating income before provisions

Change in provisions

Income before tax

Net income

Source: consolidated financial statements.
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Western France
IPO

IPO, a 76.9%-owned subsidiary of CIC, has been present in the 
Loire, Brittany, Normandy, Central France and Poitou-Charentes 
regions for more than 25 years, and in 2006 extended its 
coverage to southwestern France. Its 15-strong team based in 
Nantes manages a portfolio worth €277.6 million (€205.2 million 
at cost), invested in 135 regional companies.

IPO had a very active year in 2007, investing €55.6 million in 27 
projects involving 17 companies. Disposals and redemptions 
totaling €43.1 million generated €19.9 million in gains and 
redemption premiums. Net income came to €53.5 million based 
on IFRS (and €30.6 million based on French GAAP).

As a long-term investor, IPO frequently partners its clients 
through the key stages of their corporate life, from development 
to changes in ownership structure and succession. This was the 
case in 2007 with Armor Factory (the holding company of Armor 
Lux), Financière Auxitec (engineering), Emeraude Participations 
(thermo-lacquering), Evolis (plastic card printers), Groupe Berger 
(Lampes Berger’s intermediate holding company), Financière de 
Batz (lifting and handling equipment and special transport), 
Financière TDP (online sale of books and coins & medals) and 
Sofinfor (bathroom fixtures and heating equipment). IPO also 
formed new partnerships, for example with Alouette (regional 
radio), Artemondo (ceramics retailing), Astellia (cell phone equip-
ment), Barciet (technical lift cables), Financière Bel’m 
(manufacture and sale of entry doors), Caviarcachon (caviar 
production and sale), Goûters Magiques (pastry production), 
Holding du Tariquet (wine trading), Financière des Eparses 
(textiles, clothing manufacture), Financière de l’Ouest (adver-
tising bags and objects), Financière des Pétroles (oil distribution), 
Groupe Hiidéna Finances (animal nutrition), and Explinvest 
(manufacture and sale of explosives).

IPO Ingénierie is in charge of discretionary management of the 
portfolios of Financière Ar Men and Financière Voltaire, in prep-
aration for winding up these two subsidiaries of CIC Banque 
CIO-BRO. The 35 companies that they encompass represent a 
net asset value of €31.2 million. In 2007, the two companies 
generated cumulated net income of €5.2 million based on 
French GAAP.

Southern France
CIC Banque de Vizille

In 2007, CIC Banque de Vizille enjoyed buoyant activity in all of its 
businesses.

Through some thirty transactions, €106.9 million was invested in 
private equity (68%), LBO (24%) and venture capital (8%). The 
overall portfolio reached €465.3 million at cost, for a value of 
€613.1 million, with €194.7 million in unrealized capital gains. 

The total value of divestments was €41 million for roughly ten 
business lines whose average length of investment was six years 
and average return on investment (ROI) was 38.9%. Two of the 
divested companies had been part of the portfolio for more than 
ten years.

Advisory services generated €5 million in billings with nine 
mandates resulting in mergers and acquisitions and five market 
transactions (two capital raisings, one buyout and two valuation 
advisory assignments).

Net banking income reached €93.9 million, and consolidated net 
income was €79.2 million, up from €66.7 million in 2006. The port-
folio performance rate thus improved to 17.2% (14.4% in 2006). 
Consolidated shareholders’ equity stood at €545.2 million.

With 42 employees, its strategy of long-term support of family 
businesses and the strength and synergies of the CM-CIC group, 
CIC Banque de Vizille is now one of the leading players in private 
equity in southeast France.



30

Regional and  
international directory

CIC

6 avenue de Provence
75009 Paris
Tel: +33 1 45 96 96 96
www.cic.fr

Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board: Etienne Pflimlin
President of the Executive Board: 
Michel Lucas
Vice-President of the Executive 
Board: Alain Fradin
Members of the Executive Board: 
Michel Michenko 
Jean-Jacques Tamburini, 
Philippe Vidal, Rémy Weber

CIC Banque BSD-CIN 

33 avenue Le Corbusier
59800 Lille
Tel: +33 3 20 12 64 64
www.cic.fr
E-mail: 44contactbanque@cic.fr

Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer: Gérard Romedenne
Chief Operating Officer:  
Stelli Prémaor

CIC Lyonnaise de Banque  

8 rue de la République
69001 Lyon
Tel: +33 4 78 92 02 12
www.cic.fr

Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer: Rémy Weber
Deputy Chief Operating Officers: 
Michel Bodoy, Isabelle 
Bourgade, Yves Manet

CIC Est

31 rue Jean Wenger-Valentin
67000 Strasbourg
Tel: +33 3 88 37 61 23
www.cic.fr

Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer: Philippe Vidal
Chief Operating Officers:  
Luc Dymarski, Pierre Jachez
Deputy Chief Operating Officer: 
Thierry Marois

CIC Société Bordelaise

Cité Mondiale
20 quai des Chartrons
33058 Bordeaux Cedex
Tel: +33 5 57 85 55 00
www.cic.fr

Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer: Jean-Jacques Tamburini
Chief Operating Officer: 
Jean-Philippe Brinet

CIC Banque CIO-BRO

2 avenue Jean-Claude 
Bonduelle
44000 Nantes
Tel: +33 2 40 12 91 91
www.cic.fr

Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer: Michel Michenko
Chief Operating Officer: 
Jean-Pierre Bichon
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Contact details  
for the CIC group’s 
international network

Europe

Germany

Wilhelm-Leuschner  
Strasse 9-11 
D 60329 Frankfurt am Main 
Tel: +49 69 97 14 61 01 
E-mail: infofra@frankfurt.cic.fr

Christoph Platz-Baudin

Belgium and the Netherlands

41 avenue A. Milcamps 
1030 Brussels 
Tel: +32 2 511 23 58 
E-mail :  
cicbruxelles@cicbanques.be  

Yolande van der Bruggen

Spain

Calle Marquès de la Ensenada 
no. 2-3 
28004 Madrid 
Tel: +349 1 308 32 81/82 
E-mail :  
cicmadrid@cicmadrid.com  

Rafael Gonzalez-Ubeda

United Kingdom

Veritas House
125 Finsbury Pavement
London EC2A IHX
Tel: +44 20 74 54 54 00

Ubaldo Bezoari

Greece

Vassileos Alexandrou 5-7 
11528 Athens 
Tel: +30 210 72 22 531/541
E-mail: cicgrece@otenet.gr

Georges Anagnostopoulos

Hungary

Budapesti képviseleti Iroda Fö 
ucta 10 
H-1011 Budapest 
Tel: +36 1 489 03 40
E-mail: 
cicbudapest@cicbudapest.hu

Kalman Marton

Italy

Corso di Porta Vittoria, 29
20122 Milan
Tel: +39 02 55 19 62 42
E-mail: cicmilano@cicmilano.it   

Hubert de Saint-Paul

Poland

Ul Stawki 2
Warsaw 00-193
Tel: +48 22 860 65 01/02/03
E-mail: 
cicvarsovie@cicvarsovie.pl 

Barbara Kucharczyk

Portugal

Avenida de Berna no. 30, 3° A
1050-042 Lisbon 
Tel: +351 21 790 68 43/44
E-mail: 
ciclisboa@mail.telepac.pt 

Henrique Real

Czech Republic

Mala Stepanska 9
12000 Prague CZ 
Tel: +420 2 24 91 93 98
E-mail: cicprague@cicprague.cz

Zdenka Stibalova

Romania

Str. Cpt. Av. Gheorghe Marasoiu no. 3 
Sector 1 
011907 Bucharest 
Tel: +40 21 203 80 83
E-mail: cic@cicbucarest.ro

Adela Bota

Russian Federation - CIS

9, k.2A 
Kutuzovskiy prospect
Office 93-94
121248 Moscow
Russian Federation 
Tel: +7 495 974 12 44
E-mail: cic@mail.tcnet.ru  

Laurence Dagreou

Sweden, and the Baltic   
and Nordic States

Grev Magnigatan 6
SE - 114.55 Stockholm
Tel: +46 8 611 47 11
E-mail: cicstockholm@cic.pp.se 

Martine Wahlström

Switzerland

29 avenue de Champel
1211 Geneva 12 
Tel: +41 22 839 35 06
E-mail: nadine.johnson@cic.ch  

Nadine Johnson

Turkey

INONU Cad. 
Miralay Sefik Bey Sok. no. 5-8 
80090 Gumussuyu Istanbul 
Tel: +90 212 251 35 41
E-mail: bazyarme@cicturkey.com 

Mehmet Bazyar

Africa

Algeria

36 rue des Frères Benali 
Hydra
16000 Algiers 
Tel: +213 21 60 15 55
E-mail:  
cicbalg@cicalgeria.com.dz

Ahmed Mostefaoui

Egypt

28 rue Cherif
Cairo 11-111 
Tel: +20 2 393 60 45
E-mail: cicegypt@soficom.net

Hussein M. Lotfy

Morocco

12 boulevard Brahim Roudani
Résidence Zeïna 
1er étage appartement 102
20000 Casablanca
Tel: +212 22 20 67 67/68 16
E-mail: cicbbm@wanadoopro.ma

Mahmoud Belhoucine

Tunisia

Immeuble Carthage Center
Rue du Lac de Constance
2045 Les Berges du Lac – Tunis
Tel: +216 71 96 23 33/96 30 78
E-mail: 
bureau.tunis@cic-tunis.com 

Emna Ben Amor - Dimassi

Middle East

Israel

Y.S. Consulting
Beit Hatasiya (Industry House)
29, Hamered Street, Suite 
1028
POB 50156
Tel-Aviv 61500 
Tel: +972 3 517 22 71
E-mail: cic-il@zahav.net.il  

Jacob Shtofman

Lebanon and Middle East

Achrafieh
Rue de La Sagesse
Sagesse Building 754
8th foor
Beirut 
Tel: +961 1 56 04 50
E-mail: cicba@cyberia.net.lb

Blanche Ammoun

Americas

Argentina

Av. Callao 1870 - Piso 4
1024 Buenos Aires 
Tel: +54 11 48 06 88 77
E-mail: cicbuenosaires@mrio
delaplata.com.ar 

Miguel de Larminat

Brazil

Avenida Paulista 2073
Horsa I
11° Andar-cj.1116
01311 940 - Sao Paulo SP
Tel: +55 11 3251 14 21
E-mail: 
cicbrasil@brasil-cic.com.br 

Luiz Mendes de Almeida

Chile

Edificio World Trade Center 
Santiago
Av. Nueva Tajamar 481
Torre Norte - Oficina 1401
Las Condes - Santiago de Chile 
Tel: +56 2 203 67 90
E-mail: 
cicbanqueschili@cicsantiago.cl

Sylvie Le Ny

United States

CIC
520 Madison Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Tel: +1 212 715 44 00
E-mail: sbellanger@cicny.com

Serge Bellanger

Mexico

Andrés Bello no. 45
Piso 13A
Col. Polanco 11560
Mexico D.F.
Tel: +52 55 52 80 83 73
E-mail: 
cicmexico@prodigy.net.mx

Santiago de Leon Trevino

REGIOnAl AnD InTERnATIOnAl DIRECTORy 

International network and specialist network
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Venezuela

Centro Plaza - Torre A - Piso 12
Oficina 1
Avenida Francisco de Miranda
Caracas
Postal address: 
Apartado Postal 60583 
Caracas 1060 
Tel: + 58 212 285 45 85/ 

286 25 03
E-mail: insercom@cantv.net

Pierre Roger

Asia

Eastern China/Shanghai

Room 2005
Shanghai Overseas Chinese 
Mansion
no. 129 Yan An Xi Road (w)
Shanghai 200040 
Tel: +86 21 62 49 66 90/69 27
E-mail: cicshg@online.sh.cn 

Shan Hu

Northern China/Beijing

Room 310, Tower 1, Bright China
Chang An Building
no. 7 Jianguomennei Dajie
Dong Cheng District
Beijing 100005 P.R.
Tel: +86 10 65 10 21 67/68
E-mail: cicbj@public.bta.net.cn

Wenlong Bian

Southern China/Hong Kong

22nd Floor, Central Tower 
28 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong
Tel: +85 2 25 21 61 51
E-mail:  
cicbanks@netvigator.com 
David Ting

Korea

Samsug Marchen House 601
Il-San-Dong-Ku
Jang-Hang-Dong-2-Dong 752
Goyang 410-837 
South Korea
Tel: +82 31 901 1225
E-mail: koreacic@hanmail.net

Isabelle Hahn

India

A-31 Lajpat Nagar Part 2
New Delhi 110 024
Tel: +91 11 40 54 82 13
E-mail: cicindia@fwacziarg.com  

Francis Wacziarg

Japan

Sun Mall Crest 301
1-19-10 Shinkuku
Shinjuku-ku
Tokyo 160 – 0022
Tel: +81 3 32 26 42 11
Telex: +072 22728 NORBANK J
E-mail: cictokyo@cic-banks.jp

Frédéric Laurent

Singapore

63 Market Street 
#15-01
Singapore 048942
Tel: +65 65 36 60 08
www.cic.com.sg
E-mail: 
angladje@singapore.cic.fr 

Jean-Luc Anglada

Taiwan

380 Lin-shen North Road
10 F (101 room)
Taipei
Tel: +886 2 2543 26 62/63
E-mail: autech01@ms71.hinet.net

Henri Wen

Thailand

622, Emporium Tower, 
14th floor
Sukhumvit 24 Road
Klongton, Klongtoey 
Bangkok 10110 
Tel: +662 6649270
E-mail: cicthai@loxinfo.co.th

Abhawadee Devakula

Vietnam

c/o Openasia Group
6B Ton Duc Thang Street 
1st Floor
District 1
Hô Chi Minh City 
Tel: +848 910 50 29
E-mail: thu.nguyenkimthanh@
openasiagroup.com

Daitu Doan Viet

Oceania

Australia

Level 31 ABN Amro Tower
88 Philip street
Sydney
2000 Australia
Tel: +612 8211 27 25
E-mail: ahujaat@australia.cic.fr

Atul Ahuja
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Specialist network

France

Private banking

CIC Banque Transatlantique 
226 avenue Franklin D. Roosevelt
75008 Paris
Tel: +33 1 56 88 77 77
www.banquetransatlantique.com

Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer: Bruno Julien-Laferrière
Chief Executive Officer:  
Hubert Veltz

Private equity

CIC Banque de vizille 
Espace Cordeliers
2 rue Président Carnot
69293 Lyon cedex 2
Tel: +33 4 72 56 91 00
E-mail:  
contact@banquedevizille.fr

Antoine Jarmak

CIC Finance
4 rue Gaillon
75107 Paris Cedex 02
Tel: +33 1 42 66 76 63
E-mail: cabesssi@cic.fr

Sidney Cabessa

IPO
32 avenue Camus
44000 Nantes
Tel: +33 2 40 35 75 31
E-mail: ipo@ipo.fr

Pierre Tiers

Belgium

Private banking

Banque Transatlantique 
Belgium 
Rue de Crayer, 14
1000 Brussels
Tel: +32 2 626 02 80
E-mail: devillmi@
banquetransatlantique.be

Michel de Villenfagne

Luxembourg

Private banking

Banque de luxembourg 
114 boulevard Royal
L 2449 Luxembourg
Tel: +352 49 92 41
E-mail: 
banque.de.luxembourg@bdl.lu

Pierre Ahlborn
Robert Reckinger

Banque Transatlantique 
luxembourg 
17 Côte d’Eich - BP 884
L 2018 Luxembourg
Tel: +352 46 99 891
E-mail: 
btl@banquetransatlantique.com

Thierry de Pascal

Switzerland

Private banking

CIC Private Banking- 
Banque Pasche 
10 rue de Hollande
PO Box 5760
1211 Geneva 11 
Tel: +41 22 818 82 22
E-mail: pasche@pasche.ch

Christophe Mazurier

CIC Suisse 
11-13 place du Marché
4001 Basel
Tel: +41 61 264 12 00
E-mail: info@cial.ch

Hans Brunner 
Philippe Vidal

Hong Kong

Private banking

CIC Investor Services limited 
22nd Floor, Central Tower 
28 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong
Tel: +85 2 21 06 03 88
E-mail: loti@hongkong.cic.fr

Timothy Lo

Singapore

Private banking

CIC Banque Transatlantique
63 Market Street #15-01
Singapore 048942
Tel: +65 62 31 98 80
www.banquetransatlantique.com

Hervé Guinebert

CIC  Singapore
63 Market Street #15-01
Singapore 048942
Tel: +65 62 31 98 80 
www.cic.com.sg  
E-mail: kwekpa@singapore.cic.fr

Paul Kwek 
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Supervisory Board

Members of the Supervisory Board elected at the AGM:

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel  

Gérard Bontoux  

Luc Chambaud

Maurice Corgini

François Duret 

Pierre Filliger

Jean-Louis Girodot

Daniel Leroyer

Roberto Mazzotta

Jean-Luc Menet

André Meyer

Albert Peccoux

Paul Schwartz

Alain Têtedoie

Philippe Vasseur

Jean-Claude Martinez 

represented by Christian Klein - Manager

Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique 

CEO of Crédit Mutuel de Normandie

Director of Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 

Chairman of Crédit Mutuel du Centre

Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen

Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France

Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Maine-Anjou, Basse-Normandie

Chairman of Banca Popolare di Milano

CEO of Crédit Mutuel Océan

Director of Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe

Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc

Director of Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel

Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique Centre-Ouest

Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe

Employee of CIC Est, representing employee-shareholders

Michel Cornu

Patrick Demblans

Manager, CIC Banque BSD-CIN

Account Manager, CIC Société Bordelaise

Stéphane Marché

François de Lacoste Lareymondie

Representing CIC’s Works Council

CIC Company Secretary, Secretary to the Supervisory Board

Members of the Supervisory Board elected by employees:

The following persons also attend Supervisory Board meetings:

Etienne Pflimlin   
Chairman

Gérard Cormorèche  
Vice-Chairman

Chairman of Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel, Crédit Mutuel  
Centre Est Europe, and Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel

Chairman of Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est



 SuperviSory Board 

Members of the Supervisory Board
The composition of the Supervisory Board is governed by article 
12 of CIC’s bylaws.

The Supervisory Board is made up of between 15 and 18 members 
elected at the AGM, and employee representatives.

Three members of the Supervisory Board are elected by 
the employees and one member is elected at the AGM from 
amongst the employee-shareholders or the employees on the 
Supervisory Board of a company mutual fund (FCPE) holding CIC 
shares (article 12 of the bylaws, § I B). The third seat reserved for 
employees remains vacant after a member resigned in 2006.

“Independent” members within the meaning of the applicable 
regulations must meet various corporate governance recommen-
dations. To the extent that the corporate governance procedures 
adopted by companies must be in keeping with each company’s 
situation, CIC must consider, first, that Banque Fédérative du 
Crédit Mutuel directly and indirectly holds 91.44% of the company 
and, secondly, that most Supervisory Board members are repre-
sentatives, often Chairmen, of various Crédit Mutuel federations. 
These members have all worked in the economic sector and are 
legitimately “independent”, if not within the strictest sense of the 
term, at least in accordance with recommendations on corporate 
governance.

Supervisory Board members must hold one CIC share each, 
either directly, or through a company mutual fund (article 12 of 
the bylaws, § VIII).

The dates on which the members were first appointed and the 
dates on which their terms of office expire are summarized in the 
table on page 39.

In 2007, the changes to the membership of the Supervisory 
Board were as follows:

•  François Duret was appointed by the Supervisory Board at its 
meeting of February, 22, 2007 to replace Roland Truche, who 
had resigned;

•  Jean-Luc Menet was appointed by the Supervisory Board at its 
meeting of December 13, 2007 to replace Bernard Daurensan, 
who had resigned.

Further to an exchange of letters of intent, signed on December 
20, 2002, which established the basis for the projected part-
nership between the CM-CIC group and Banca Popolare di 
Milano, followed by another exchange of letters on April 11, 2003 
regarding the scope of application of the project, the Chairman of 
Banca Popolare di Milano was appointed as a member of the CIC 
Supervisory Board at the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of May 
15, 2003. Jean-Jacques Tamburini, a member of the CIC Executive 
Board, was appointed as Director of Banca Popolare di Milano.

The age limit for Supervisory Board members is 70 and is applied 
in the following manner: no person over the age of 70 may be 
appointed if his appointment would result in more than one third 
of Board members being over the age of 70.

Members of the Supervisory Board are elected for a period of 5 
years. 

Work of the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board’s work is governed by articles 13 to 18 of 
the company’s bylaws, though the bylaws do not contain any 
stipulations additional to those provided for by law.

The Supervisory Board has set up a special three-member 
Remunerations Committee (Etienne Pflimlin, André Meyer and 
Paul Schwartz), which meets at least once a year to review the 
situation and compensation of the members of the Executive 
Board and make any relevant recommendations to the Board. 
The Committee recommends the variable portion of compen-
sation to be granted to each member of the Executive Board 
at the Supervisory Board meeting following the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the year 
in respect of which the variable compensation is paid. The vari-
able portion is determined at the Board’s discretion based on a 
specific percentage.

The following audit, internal control and risk monitoring bodies 
were set up in the CMCEE(1)-CIC group in 2007:

•  a group Audit Committee under the authority of the Board of 
Directors of BFCM, whose members are representatives of the 
group’s various decision-making bodies to which the Committee 
must report;

•  a group Risk Committee that will meet every three months to 
review strategic risks, which comprises one director of each of 
the four CMCEE(2) federations and two CIC Supervisory Board 
members.

At its meeting of December 13, 2007, the Board elected the 
following persons to represent it on these two Committees:

•  Pierre Filliger and Daniel Leroyer on the group’s Audit Committee;

•  Gérard Bontoux and François Duret on the group’s Risk 
Committee.

These representatives must report to the Board on their work.

The Supervisory Board has not drawn up any internal regulations. 
The assessment of its work is documented in the general report it 
presents every year to the Shareholders’ Meeting (page 145) and 
in the report of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board on the 
preparation and organization of the Board’s work (page 145).

The Supervisory Board met four times in 2007. The attendance 
rate at these meetings was between 55% and 85%.

In accordance with a decision of the Shareholders’ Meeting, 
no fees were paid to the members of the Supervisory Board in 
2007.
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(1) Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe.
(2) Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe, Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est, Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France, Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc.
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Executive Board members 
The Executive Board has between 3 and 7 members in accor-
dance with article 10 of CIC’s bylaws.

Members of the Executive Board are elected for a period of 5 
years.

The age limit for Executive Board members has been set at 70; 
however, this age limit may be extended to 72 by the Supervisory 
Board.

The dates on which the members were first appointed and the 
dates on which their terms of office expire are summarized in the 
table on page 39.

As the appointments of Michel Lucas, Alain Fradin, Jean-Jacques 
Tamburini, Philippe Vidal and Rémy Weber expired, these five 
Executive Board members were reappointed by the Supervisory 
Board at its meeting of May 31, 2007. The Board also appointed 
Michel Michenko as the sixth member of the Board. Their terms 
of office will expire at the close of the Supervisory Board meeting 
held after the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2011.

At its meeting of May 31, 2007, the Supervisory Board also reap-
pointed Michel Lucas as President of the Executive Board. Alain 
Fradin retained his position as Vice-President.

In accordance with recent case law according to which the notion 
of executive officer can be dissociated from the notion of corpo-
rate officer, as mentioned in its 2004 annual report and statement 
of September 19, 2005, CECEI reappointed the 5 Executive Board 
members as executive officers with the task of determining the 

From left to right:  Alain Fradin, Vice-President - Rémy Weber, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of CIC Lyonnaise de Banque   
Michel Lucas, President  - Philippe Vidal, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of CIC Est - Michel Michenko, Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of CIO Banque CIO-BRO - Jean-Jacques Tamburini, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of CIC Société Bordelaise.

From left to right: René Dangel, head of the CIC greater 
Paris region network - Gérard Romedenne, Chairman  
and Chief Executive Officer of CIC Banque BSD-CIN.

Executive Board members
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overall business strategy of the bank and the CIC group within the 
meaning of Article 17 of French Act No. 84-46 of January 24, 1984 
governing the activity and supervision of credit institutions. This 
decision will not affect the composition of the Board, which now 
has 6 members, or the way in which the Board operates in accor-
dance with French company law. 

Executive Board meetings are also attended by Gérard 
Romedenne, managing executive of an important subsidiary of 
the group, CIC Banque BSD-CIN, and René Dangel, head of the 
CIC greater Paris region network. Mr. Romedenne and Mr. Dangel 
are therefore “members of the key management personnel” of 
the group within the meaning of IAS 24 and the current wording 
of Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code (Code de 
commerce).

Work of the Executive Board 
The Executive Board is vested with the broadest authority. 

Details of the transactions that require the authorization of the 
Supervisory Board are set out in article 11 of the bylaws, which 
stipulates that the Executive Board does not need to obtain the 
Supervisory Board’s consent to acquire or dispose of proper-
ties or interests valued at €8 million or €16 million, respectively 
(as applicable), or to grant security interests valued at up to  
€16 million to guarantee commitments other than those relating 
to banking activities.

The Executive Board meets in principle twice a month.

CIC’s Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Executive 
Board.
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Relations with CIC 
CIC complies with the regulations in force relating to corporate 
governance.

To the best of CIC’s knowledge, there are no conflicts of interest 
between the obligations of the members of the Supervisory Board 
or the Executive Board towards CIC and their personal interests or 
other obligations.

Apart from regulated agreements and the exception referred to 
on page 35 relating to the reciprocal representation of CIC and 
Banca Popolare di Milano on each other’s Boards, no arrange-
ments or agreements have been entered into with the main 
shareholders, clients, suppliers or others pursuant to which a 
member of the Executive Board or a member of the Supervisory 
Board has been appointed.

No service agreement exists binding the members of the Executive 
Board or Supervisory Board to one of the group’s companies. In 
particular, Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel, which controls 
CIC and holds a seat on the company’s Supervisory Board, does 
not receive a management fee.

To the best of CIC’s knowledge, there are no family relationships 
between Executive Board and Supervisory Board members.

Supervisory Board and Executive Board members are reminded, 
on a regular basis, of the rules applicable to persons holding privi-
leged information. They are also informed that they must disclose 
any trading in CIC shares on the stock exchange by themselves 
or persons closely related to them to the Autorité des marchés 
financiers and to CIC. No such transactions were reported in 
2007.

Executive Board  
and Supervisory Board 
members

The Executive Board and Supervisory Board members have each 
declared that:

1°.   during the last five years they have not been:

•  found guilty of fraud;

•  associated with the bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation 
of a legal entity in which they were a member of an admin-
istrative, management or supervisory body or of which they 
were the chief executive officer;

•  subject to disciplinary sanctions imposed by the adminis-
trative bodies responsible for supervising CIC;

•  subject to an administrative or court order which prevents 
them from acting as members of an administrative, 
management or supervisory body or from participating in 
the management or operations of a company;

2°.   there are no potential conflicts of interest between their obli-
gations towards CIC and their personal interests;

3°.   they have not, either directly or through the intermediary of 
a third party, entered into an arrangement or agreement with 
any of the main shareholders, clients, suppliers or subsidiaries 
of CIC pursuant to which they are granted special benefits as 
a result of the duties they perform for CIC.

The original copies of these declarations are held at the Corporate 
Secretary’s office.
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Main directorships and positions held by the management team members

First
appointment

expiration of current 
term of office 

main directorships  
and positions held  

within the company 
main directorships and positions  

held outside the company (1)

Executive Board members 

Michel Lucas June 17, 
1998

Supervisory Board 
meeting held after the 
AGM called to approve 

the financial statements 
for 2011

President  
of the Executive Board

Chief Executive Officer  
of Confédération Nationale du CM

Alain Fradin June 17, 
1998

Vice-President  
of the Executive Board Chief Executive Officer of CM Sud-Est

Michel Michenko May 31, 
2007 Executive Board member

Jean-Jacques Tamburini June 17, 
1998 Executive Board member

Philippe Vidal May 30, 
2002 Executive Board member

Rémy Weber May 30, 
2002 Executive Board member

Supervisory Board members 

Etienne Pflimlin June 17, 
1998

AGM called to approve   
the financial statements  

for 2007

Chairman  
of the Supervisory Board Chairman of Confédération Nationale du CM 

Gérard Cormorèche June 17, 
1998

Vice-Chairman  
of the Supervisory Board Chairman of CM du Sud-Est

Gérard Bontoux March 7, 
2002 Supervisory Board member Chairman of CM Midi-Atlantique

Luc Chambaud December 16, 
2004 Supervisory Board member Chief Executive Officer of CM de Normandie

Maurice Corgini June 17, 
1998 Supervisory Board member Director of BFCM

François Duret February 22, 
2007 Supervisory Board member Chairman of CM du Centre

Pierre Filliger June 17, 
1998 Supervisory Board member Chairman of CM Méditerranéen

Jean-Louis Girodot December 19, 
2001 Supervisory Board member Chairman of CM Ile-de-France

Christian Klein 
(representing BFCM)

June 17, 
1998 Supervisory Board member Manager, BFCM

Daniel Leroyer May 19, 
2005 Supervisory Board member Chairman of CM Maine-Anjou Basse Normandie

Roberto Mazzotta May 15, 
2003 Supervisory Board member Chairman of Banca Popolare di Milano

Jean-Luc Menet December 13, 
2007 Supervisory Board member Chief Executive Officer of CM Océan

André Meyer June 17, 
1998 Supervisory Board member Director of Confédération Nationale du CM

Paul Schwartz June 17, 
1998 Supervisory Board member Director of Confédération Nationale du CM

Alain Têtedoie September 7, 
2006 Supervisory Board member Chairman of CM Loire-Atlantique Centre-Ouest

Philippe Vasseur May 30, 
2001 Supervisory Board member Chairman of CM Nord-Europe

Albert Peccoux May 11, 
2006

AGM called to approve  the 
financial statements for 2010 Supervisory Board member Chairman of CM Savoie-Mont Blanc

Jean-Claude Martinez April 28, 
2004

AGM called to approve  the 
financial statements for 2008 CIC Est employee -

Michel Cornu September 30, 
1998 September 30, 2008 CIC Banque BSD-CIN 

employee -

Patrick Demblans September 30, 
1998 September 30, 2008 CIC Société Bordelaise 

employee -

CM: Crédit Mutuel.
(1) See pages 41 to 50 for the other directorships and positions held.
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R e m u n e r a t i o n  p a i d  t o  t h e  g r o u p ’ s  k e y  e x e c u t i v e s  i n  2 0 0 7  ( a )

in respect of 
crédit mutuel

in respect of cic
Benefits- 

in-kind (b)
Total
2007

total
2006Fixed variable

Etienne Pflimlin 
Chairman of the  
Supervisory Board

834,405 - - - 834,405 720,079

executive Board 

Michel Lucas 743,507 432,079 200,000 - 1,375,586 965,562

Alain Fradin - 316,365 70,000 5,123 391,488 388,606

Michel Michenko - 283,814 100,000 14,407 398,221 334,502

Jean-Jacques Tamburini - 303,504 70,000 3,000 376,504 376,399

Philippe Vidal - 303,734 120,000 - 423,734 373,949

Rémy Weber - 303,185 70,000 3,654 376,839 377,035

other managers

René Dangel 230,452 - - - 230,452 194,816

Gérard Romedenne - 253,045 100,000 9,600 362,645 348,609

(a) Gross amount (before tax).
(b)  Company cars only, except in the case of Gérard Romedenne, who benefits solely from a company apartment and Michel Michenko, who benefits from both  

a company car and apartment.

Executive remuneration
Remuneration received by the group’s key executives is detailed 
in the table below.

Part of the remuneration received by some of the group’s key 
executives relates to their duties as employees or corporate offi-
cers of Crédit Mutuel. Remuneration accruing to other executives 
relates exclusively to their activities within the CIC group.

Executive cremuneration is set by the Supervisory Board based on 
recommendations made by a special three-member committee 
(see page 35). Remuneration comprises a fixed and a variable 
component. The fixed portion is determined in light of market 
rates of pay for positions carrying equivalent responsibilities. The 
variable portion is determined on a discretionary basis based on a 
specific percentage and approved by the meeting of the 
Supervisory Board following the Shareholders’ Meeting called to 
approve the financial statements for the year in respect of which 
the variable compensation is paid.

Most of the group’s key executives are also entitled to the same 
welfare and top-up pension benefits as all employees, in respect 
of either Crédit Mutuel (for those carrying out part of their activi-
ties therein) or in respect of CIC. However, those who receive 
compensation for their work but who are not eligible for a share in 
the company’s profit, incentive bonuses or a retirement package 

due to their status will be allocated a bonus upon their departure, 
in accordance with a decision of BFCM’s Board of Directors of July 
2007. This bonus is determined using the same formulae as for 
profit-sharing, incentive bonuses and retirement packages allo-
cated to employees who are not corporate officers under the 
same conditions. In this respect, BFCM has set aside the sum of 
€998,960 in its accounts for Étienne Pflimlin and €1,652,458 for 
Michel Lucas.

However, the group’s key executives do not have any other specific 
benefits. They have not been awarded any CIC shares or share 
equivalents. Furthermore, they are entitled to attendance fees in 
consideration for their functions within the group, but not for the 
offices they hold within group companies or other entities.

The group’s key executives may have been granted credit notes 
or loans by group banks, subject to the same terms and condi-
tions as those offered to all of the group’s employees. The 
outstanding principal on loans taken out by the group’s key exec-
utives amounted to €509,106 at December 31, 2007.

In accordance with a decision of the Shareholders’ Meeting, no 
fees were paid to the members of the Supervisory Board in 2007.
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Executive Board members

Michel Lucas
Born May 4, 1939 in Lorient, France  
Business address: 
Crédit Industriel et Commercial
6 avenue de Provence, 75009 Paris appointment office expires

President of the Executive Board   June 17, 1998   2012

other positions held

Chief Executive Officer:
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel January 21, 1998  unlimited term

Chairman of the Board:
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel  February 24, 1993  2011
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SA  June 29, 1993  2011
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel IARD SA  March 19, 1993  2011
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SFM June 13, 1991  2009
Banque du Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France November 17, 2003  2009

Chairman:
Crédit Mutuel Cartes de Paiements May 7, 2003  2009

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
Euro Information Production (GIE) May 19, 1994  2012

Vice-Chairman:
Europay France  May 28, 2002  2008
Mastercard Europe Région (Brussels)   August 30, 1992  2008
Banque de Luxembourg (Luxembourg) March 25, 2003  2009

Director and Chief Executive Officer:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre
Est Europe  April 6, 2001  unlimited term
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre
Est Europe  April 6, 2001 2008
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel June 14, 2002  2010

Member of the Board of Directors:
ACMN IARD  July 25, 1997  2009
ASTREE (Tunis)  March 4, 2005  2008
Assurances Générales des Caisses Desjardins (Quebec) May 12, 1993  2008
Banque de Tunisie (Tunis)  March 30, 2004  2010
Banque Marocaine du Commerce Extérieur 
(Casablanca)  September 17, 2004 2008
CIC Banque Transatlantique  December 19, 2000  2008
Banque Transatlantique Belgium (Brussels)  March 21, 2005  2010
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel “Grand Cronenbourg”  May 11, 1985  2009
Crédit Mutuel Paiements Électroniques  March 19, 2003  2009
CIC Investissements  December 20, 2000  2011
CIC Finance  December 20, 2000  2010
CIC Lyonnaise de Banque  July 6, 1999  2009
SOFEDIS June 5, 2000  2012

Member of the Supervisory Board:
Fonds de Garantie des Dépôts  September 9, 1999  unlimited term
Banque de l’Économie du Commerce
et de la Monétique  May 15, 1992  2010
CM-CIC Asset Management  September 28, 1992  2008
Manufacture Beauvillé  February 14, 2000  2012
SAFRAN October 30, 2002  2011

Member of the Management Committee:
Euro Information June 14, 2002 2008
Euro Information Développement  June 14, 2002 2008
EBRA February 24, 2006 2013

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years 

Chief Executive Officer:
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel February 18, 1998 2006

Member of the Board of Directors:
Suravenir June 18, 1996 2005
CIC Capital Développement December 20, 2000 2006
CIC Information April 2, 2001 2006
CIC Banque SNVB December 20, 2007 2007
CIC Banque BRO August 1, 1999 2006

Member of the Supervisory Board:
Société Alsacienne de Publications “L’Alsace” June 2, 2004 2007
Fiducia Cash November 5, 1990 2004
GIE CIC Production July 28, 1999 2006

Alain Fradin  
Born May 16, 1947 in Alençon, France  
Business address: 
Crédit Industriel et Commercial
6 avenue de Provence, 75009 Paris appointment office expires

Vice-President of the Executive Board   June 17, 1998  2012

other positions held

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer:
CM-CIC Bail   July 20, 1999  2011
CIC Migrations  November 26, 1999  2008

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
Le Républicain Lorrain  April 12, 2007  2010
Groupe Républicain Lorrain Communication  May 4, 2007  unlimited term
SOLODIF June 1, 2007  unlimited term

Committee member:
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel  September 12, 2001  2010

Chief Executive Officer:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Antilles-Guyane  May 30, 1998  unlimited term
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel
Antilles-Guyane  May 30, 1998  unlimited term
Fédération des Caisses du Crédit Mutuel
du Sud-Est  June 21, 2001  unlimited term
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est  June 21, 2001 unlimited term

Chief Operating Officer:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe  February 14, 1998  unlimited term
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre
Est Europe (CFCMCEE)  February 14, 1998  unlimited term

Member of the Board of Directors:
Boréal  October 14, 2002 2013
CM-CIC Titres  February 18, 1994  2012
Groupe Sofémo  May 30, 1997  2008
Banque du Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France  November 17, 2003 2009

Member of the Management Committee:
Euro Information  May 3, 2006  2013
Bischenberg  September 30, 2004  2011

Permanent representative:
CFCMCEE (Vice-Chairman of Caisse  
Centrale du Crédit Mutuel) January 3, 2001 2012
CCM Sud-Est (director of ACM Vie) May 4, 2005 2011 
CIC Participations
(director of CIC Banque BSD-CIN) May 15, 2003 2009 
CIC Participations
(director of CIC Banque CIO-BRO) December 26, 1990 2009 
Groupement des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel
(director of Sérénis Vie) July 16, 2002 2012 

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer:
Bail Equipement  (*) July 20, 1999 2003

Chairman:
Fédébail (*) November 25, 1996 2003

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
GIE Pégase January 7, 1997 2002

Permanent representative:
CIC (director of CIC Information) April 2, 2001 2006
CIC (director of BMS Développement) NA NA
CIC Participations 
(director of CIC Banque CIN) December 26, 1990 2006

*  Takeover of Fédébail by Bail Equipement, which became CM-CIC Bail  
on December 1, 2003.

Directorships and positions held by the Executive Board and Supervisory Board members
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Jean-Jacques Tamburini  
Born December 9, 1947 in Chambéry, France  
Business address: 
Crédit Industriel et Commercial
6 avenue de Provence, 75009 Paris appointment office expires

Member of the Executive Board   June 17, 1998  2012

other positions held

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer: 
CIC Société Bordelaise May 12, 2004  2009
CIC Participations SAS  June 3, 2002  2008
Adepi SAS  May 30, 2002  2008
Valimar 3 SAS  June 1, 2007  2013

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
CM-CIC Capital Privé  June 29, 2001  2010

Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
CM-CIC Asset Management  December 31, 2004  2008

Director:
CIC Investissement   June 30, 2000  2012
CIC Finance   December 20, 2000  2011
Banca Popolare di Milano (Milan)  December 20, 2002 NA 
Banca di Legnano (Milan)  June 27, 2004  2008
IPO (Institut de Participation de l’Ouest)  April 12, 2005  2008

Member of the Audit Committee: 
Banque Marocaine du Commerce Extérieur 
(Casablanca)  September 17, 2004  2008

Permanent representative:
CIC (director of Banque de Tunisie - Tunis) March 31, 2000 2009
CIC Participations (director of CIC Est) June 5, 1989 2009
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 
(director of ACM IARD SA) May 4, 2005 2011
CIC Société Bordelaise (director of SFAP) August 3, 1999 2009

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Permanent representative: 
CIC (director of CM-CIC Asset Management) NA 2004
CIC (director of SOLYDE) December 26, 1990 2002
CIC (director of CIC Banque de Vizille) September 11, 2002 2007
CIC Participations 
(director of CIC Société Bordelaise) July 5, 1994 2004
CIC Participations 
(director of CIC Lyonnaise de Banque) July 1, 1989 2007
CIC Participations
(director of CIC Banque SNVB) June 5, 1989 2007
CIC Participations
(director of CIC Banque CIAL) January 1, 1990 2007

Michel Michenko  
Born November 18, 1947 in Nancy, France  
Business address: 
Crédit Industriel et Commercial
6 avenue de Provence, 75009 Paris appointment office expires

Member of the Executive Board   May 31, 2007 2012

other positions held

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer:
CIC Banque CIO-BRO  April 22, 2004  2009

Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board:

CM-CIC Lease  January 12, 2005 2011

Member of the Supervisory Board:
CM-CIC Asset Management  December 31, 2004 NA
Ouest Pierre Investissement  June 6, 2005  NA

Director:
IPO (Institut de Participation de l’Ouest)  April 12, 2005 2008

Permanent representative:
CIC 
(director of CM-CIC Participations Immobilières) January 12, 2001 2012
CIC Banque CIO-BRO 
(director of Financière Ar Men) April 22, 2004 2009
CIC Banque CIO-BRO 
(director of Financière Voltaire) April 22, 2004 2010
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 
(director of ACM Vie) May 4, 2005 NA

Member of the Management Committee:
CM-CIC Agence Immobilière (SAS)  March 7, 2002  2008

Associate member:
Chambre de Commerce et d’Industrie de Nantes  December 10, 2004  NA

Treasurer:
Fondation de Thérapie Génique  May 10, 2004 NA

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer:
CIC Banque BRO February 24, 1998 2006

Permanent representative:
CIC Banque CIO (director of Bail Ouest) April 22, 2004 2006
CIC Banque BRO (director of BRO Gestion) April 21, 1998 2003
CIC Banque BRO 
(member of the Supervisory Board  
of Centre Capital Développement) September 20, 2001 2004

Member of the Management Committee:
Euro Information SAS July 27, 1999 2006
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Philippe Vidal  
Born August 26, 1954 in Millau, France  
Business address: 
Crédit Industriel et Commercial
6 avenue de Provence, 75009 Paris appointment office expires

Member of the Executive Board   May 30, 2002  2012

other positions held

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer:
CIC Est  December 5, 2007  2009

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
CM-CIC Gestion  February 24, 2006  2013
CIC Banque Suisse  May 7, 2007  2010

Chairman: 
Fund Market France SAS  July 4, 2001  2008

Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors:
CM-CIC Bail  July 20, 1999  2009
Banque de Luxembourg (Luxembourg)  March 28, 2000  2011

Director:
Saint-Gobain PAM  March 17, 1994  2013
Cigogne Management (Luxembourg)  July 6, 2004 2009
Banque Transatlantique Belgium (Brussels)  March 21, 2005 2010
CM-CIC Titres  May 4, 2004 2010
SNVB Financements  December 28, 1993 2012
CM-CIC Covered Bonds  April 16, 2007 2013

Member of the Supervisory Board:
Foncière des Régions April 2, 2001 2013

Permanent representative:
CIC (director of Dubly-Douilhet) October 24, 2003 2009
ADEPI (director of ACM Vie) May 4, 2005 2011

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer:
CIC Banque CIAL April 29, 1999 2007

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
CIC Banque SNVB (now CIC Est) January 7, 1994 2007
CIAL Invest May 28, 2004 2007

Director:
Lorbail SA May 28, 2001 2004

Member of the Supervisory Board:
Est Gestion (now CM-CIC Gestion) April 30, 2002 2006

Permanent representative:
CIC Banque SNVB (member of the Management  
Committee of CIC Information SAS) July 15, 2002 2006
CIAL Invest (director of CIAL Equipement)  May 10, 1999 2006
CIC Banque CIAL (member of the Supervisory  
Board of CM-CIC Asset Management) December 31, 2004 2007

Member of the Management Committee:
Fédébail SAS May 22, 2002 2003
SNVB Participations SAS August 26, 2002 2006
Finances et Stratégies SAS August 27, 2002 2006

Rémy Weber  
Born November 18, 1957 in Strasbourg, France
Business address: 
Crédit Industriel et Commercial
6 avenue de Provence, 75009 Paris appointment office expires

Member of the Executive Board   May 30, 2002  2012

other positions held

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer: 
CIC Lyonnaise de Banque  July 17, 2002 2008

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
CIC Bonnasse Lyonnaise de Banque  May 11, 2007 2012

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
CIC Banque de Vizille  2002 2012

Chairman:
Gesteurop SAS  June 30, 2006 2008

Vice-Chairman:
CIC Banque Pasche (Geneva)  November 16, 2001 NA

Director:
Euro P3C  May 16, 2001 NA

Member of the Executive Committee:
Danifos SAS  July 17, 2002 NA

Member of the Management Committee:
Euro Information  May 17, 2000 2009

Permanent representative:
CIC (director of Sofemo Group) 07.05.2003 2009
CIC Lyonnaise de Banque (member of the Supervisory
Board of CM-CIC Asset Management) December 31, 2004 2008
CIC Lyonnaise de Banque 
(member of the EIG CIC Production) June 24, 2002 NA
CIC Banque de Vizille 
(director of Descours et Cabaud)  September 18, 2002 NA
Sérénis (director of Télévie) October 5, 2004 NA
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 
(director of ACM IARD SA) May 4, 2005 NA
Gesteurop (director of Factocic) August 26, 1992 2010

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Member of the Management Committee:
LYCACE July 17, 2002 2005

Permanent representative:
CIC Lyonnaise de Banque (member of the  
Management Committee of CIC Information) May 24, 2002 2006
CIC Lyonnaise de Banque (director of CIC  
Bonnasse Lyonnaise de Banque) September 13, 2002 2007
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Supervisory Board members

Etienne Pflimlin  
Born October 16, 1941 in Thonon-les-Bains, France 
Business address: 
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel
88-90 rue Cardinet, 75017 Paris appointment office expires

Chairman of the Supervisory Board   June 17, 1998  2008

other positions held

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel  December 16, 1987 2013
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel  May 18, 1988 2012
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe  June 25, 1985 unlimited term
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre 
Est Europe  September 29, 1992 2008
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel  September 29, 1992 2009
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel “Strasbourg Esplanade”  May 16, 1991 2009
Le Monde Entreprises  June 23, 1988 2008

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
Banque de l’Économie du Commerce 
et de la Monétique  September 29, 1992 2008
Éditions Coprur  July 2, 1987 2010
Société Alsacienne de Publications “L’Alsace” June 15, 1987 2010

Director:  
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel  February 24, 1993 2011
Société d’Études et de Réalisation 
pour les Équipements Collectifs (SODEREC)  June 20, 1988 2012
Société Française d’Édition de Journaux 
et d’Imprimés Commerciaux  “L’Alsace”  June 2, 2004 2010
FIMALAC  May 30, 2006 2010

Member of the Supervisory Board:
Le Monde S.A.  November 5, 2001 2013
Le Monde et Partenaires associés  May 31, 1995 2013
Société éditrice du Monde  November 5, 2001 2013

Permanent representative:
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel 
(member of the Supervisory Board
of CM-CIC Asset Management) December 31, 2004 2008
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe 
(director of SOFEDIS) November 24, 1994 2012
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe 
(member of the Management Committee
of Euro-Information) June 14, 2002 2008
CIC (director of CIC Est) December 20, 2007 2009
CIC (director of CIC Banque BSD-CIN) June 13, 1990 2009
CIC (director of CIC Banque CIO-BRO) December 26, 1990 2009
CIC (director of CIC Société Bordelaise) July 5, 1994 2009

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Member of the Board of Directors:
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel IARD SA March 19, 1993 2004
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SA June 29, 1993 2005
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SFM June 2, 1992 2005

Permanent representative:
 Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 
(director of CM-CIC Asset Management) August 24, 1998  2004
CIC (director of CIC Banque CIAL) January 1, 1999 2007

Member of the Management Committee:
EBRA February 24, 2006 2007

Gérard Cormorèche   
Born July 03, 1957 in Lyon, France  
Business address:
Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est   
8-10 Rue Rhin et Danube, 69266 Lyon cedex 09 appointment office expires

Vice-Chairman and member 
of the Supervisory Board   June 17, 1998  2008

other positions held

Chairman:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est  1995 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est  1995 NA
CECAMUSE  December 2, 1991 NA
Caisse Agricole du Crédit Mutuel  2004 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Neuville-sur-Saône  April 15, 1993 NA

Vice-Chairman:
CMAR  1997 NA

Member of the Board of Directors:
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel  October 5, 1995 NA
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel  1995 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe  1995 NA
Société des Agriculteurs de France  NA  NA

Non-voting director:
ACM IARD 1995 NA
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel IARD SA 1995 NA

Legal manager:
SCEA Cormorèche Jean-Gérard  July 1, 1982 NA
SARL Cormorèche  January 1, 2002 NA

Permanent representative:
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est 
(director of ACM Vie) 1995 NA
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Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel  
   
34 rue du Wacken, 67000 Strasbourg, France appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board  June 17, 1998  2008

other positions held

Chairman:
Bischenberg  September 30, 2004 2010
CM-CIC Agence Immobilière  April 17, 2001 2012

Vice-Chairman:
Crédit Mutuel Paiements Électroniques  March 19, 2003 2009

Director:
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel SFM May 4, 2005 2009
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Vie SA May 4, 2005 2011
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel IARD SA  May 4, 2005 2011
Boréal  January 25, 1991 2012
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel September 17, 1969 2011
Caisse de Refinancement de l’Habitat October 12, 2007 2013
CM-CIC Covered Bonds April 16, 2007 2013
CM-CIC Securities December 31, 1999 2011
CM-CIC Participations Immobilières September 17, 1981 2009
CM-CIC SCPI Gestion January 30, 1990 2008
Crédit Mutuel Cartes de Paiements March 17, 1983 2009
Crédit Mutuel Habitat Gestion March 20, 1990 2008
Critel November 24, 1989 2008
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe September 29, 1992 unlimited term
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel February 4, 1994 2011
Sofemo Group November 19, 1986 2008
Institut Lorrain de Participations May 30, 1997 2010
Sarest April 23, 1981 2009
SEM Action 70 October 1, 1990 2008
SEM CAEB-Bischheim November 27, 1997 2009
SEM CALEO – Guebwiller June 24, 2005 2013
SEM Euro Moselle Développement March 15, 1991 2008
SEM Micropolis July 24, 1997 2012
SEM Nautiland May 25, 1987 2009
SEM Patinoire Les Pins October 1, 1990 2011
SEM pour la promotion de la ZAC Forbach Sud 
(banking pool) February 24, 1989 2010
SEM Semibi Biesheim November 14 1984 2009
SIBAR May 27, 1999 2010
Société Fermière de la Maison de L’Alsace January 1, 1977 2011
Société Française d’Édition de Journaux 
et d’Imprimés Commerciaux “L’Alsace” June 2, 2004 2010
Sofedis November 24, 1994 2012
UES PACT ARIM November 17, 1994 2012
Ventadour Investissement May 24, 1991 2013

Member of the Management Committee:
Euro Information June 14, 2002 2008
Euro Protection Surveillance June 27, 1992 2012
Euro TVS November 27, 1979 2008
Euro Information Direct Service June 14, 2002 2008

Member of the Supervisory Board:
Batigère  March 22, 1996 2012
CM-CIC Asset Management December 31, 2004 2008
SAEM Mulhouse Expo February 16, 2005 2012
SCPI Crédit Mutuel Habitat 2 September 13, 1990 2008
SCPI Crédit Mutuel Habitat 3 September 18, 1991 2008
SCPI Crédit Mutuel Habitat 4 October 13, 1993 2009
SCPI Finance Habitat 1 April 29, 1998 2010
SCPI Finance Habitat 2 June 18, 1997 2009
Société d’Etudes et de Réalisation pour 
les Equipements Collectifs (SODEREC) May 30, 1978 2012
STET - Systèmes Technologiques 
d’Échanges et de Traitement December 8, 2004 2008

Non-voting director:
SEM E Puissance 3 Schiltigheim  March 7, 1991 2008

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Director:
Crédit Mutuel Participations September 10, 1988 2007
SEMDEA (banking pool) January 2, 1976 2006
CIC Banque de Vizille March 12, 1991 2006
Parcus (banking pool) May 26, 1982 2006
SEM Destination 70 (banking pool) November 19, 2002 2004

Christian Klein 
Born January 9, 1951 in Metz, France
Business address:
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel   
34 rue du Wacken, 67000 Strasbourg appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board, 
representing Banque Fédérative 
du Crédit Mutuel  June 17, 1998   2008

other positions held

Chairman of the Board of Directors:

CM-CIC Covered Bonds April 16, 2007 2013

Member of the Board of Directors:
Cigogne Management SA (Luxembourg) July 6, 2004 2009
ESN North America (New York) NA NA
Investessor October 15, 2004 2008

Permanent representative:
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 
(director of CM-CIC Securities) May 25, 2005 2011
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 
(director of SAREST) May 27, 1998 2009
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 
(director of the Sofemo Group) April 29, 1997 2008
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 
(director of Boréal) June 8, 2004 2012
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 
(member of the Supervisory Board  
Board of CM-CIC Asset Management) April 12, 2004 2008
Sofinaction (director of CM-CIC Bail) April 13, 2004 2010
Sofinaction (director of CM-CIC Lease) January 12, 2005 2011
Cicoval 
(director of CIC Lyonnaise de Banque) December 9, 1998 2009

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Member of the Board of Directors:
CIC Banque Transatlantique Luxembourg 
(Luxembourg) July 24, 1998 2003
Sicav Gestion 365 June 26, 1984 2006

Permanent representative:
BFCM (director of Fédébail) November 13, 1992 2003
BFCM (director of Sofébail) April 22, 1999 2004

Gérard Bontoux 
Born March 7, 1950 in Toulouse, France
Business address:
Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique  
6 rue de la Tuilerie, 31132 Balma cedex  appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board     March 7, 2002   2008

other positions held

Chairman:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique 1994 2008
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Midi-Atlantique 1994 2008

Director:
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel 1994 NA
Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel 1999 NA
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 2005 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Toulouse St Cyprien 1979 NA
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Luc Chambaud 
Born March 24, 1956 in Angoulême, France
Business address:
Crédit Mutuel de Normandie   
17 rue du 11 Novembre, 14052 Caen cedex appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board     December 16, 2004  2008

other positions held

Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors:
NORFI  June 25, 2004 NA

Chief Executive Officer:
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel de Normandie  January 1, 2003 NA
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel de Normandie January 1, 2003 NA

Director:
SA Euro-P3C June 16, 2003 2010
SAS CLOE January 1, 2003 NA

Member of the Supervisory Board:
Banque de l’Economie du Commerce 
et de la Monétique May 3, 2006 2009
Euro Information Production (GIE) May 7, 2003 2009

Permanent representative:
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel de Normandie 
(director of the EIG Cloé Services) January 1, 2003 2008
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel de Normandie 
(director of Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 
Vie SA) January 29, 2003 2011
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel de Normandie
(member of the Management Board of Euro
Information SA) May 7, 2003 2008
SAS CLOE 
(member of the Management Board of Euro GDS) December 31, 2003 2010

Maurice Corgini 
Born September 27, 1942 in Baume-Les-Dames, France 
Business address:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe  
34 rue du Wacken, 67000 Strasbourg appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board    June 17, 1998  2008

other positions held

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel 
de Baume-Valdahon-Rougemont May 10, 1981 2008
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel 
du District de Franche-Comté Sud April 20, 1995 2010

Director:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe April 20, 1995 2010
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel June 22, 1995 2009
Caisse Agricole Crédit Mutuel February 20, 2004 2008

Co-Manager:
Cogit’Hommes Franche-Comté  March 1, 2005 unlimited term

François Duret 
Born March 18, 1946 in Chambéry, France
Business address:
Crédit Mutuel du Centre - Place de l’Europe  
105 rue du Faubourg Madeleine, 45920 Orléans cedex 9 appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board    February 22, 2007   2008

other positions held

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel du Centre 1999 NA

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
Fédération Régionale des Caisses de Crédit 
Mutuel du Centre 2000 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Agricole du Centre 1998 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Agricole d’Auneau 1997 NA

Vice-Chairman:
Syndicat Agricole du Dunois 2006 NA

Director:
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel 2000 NA
Centre International du Crédit Mutuel 2007 NA

Permanent representative:
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel du Centre 
(director of Caisse Centrale de Crédit Mutuel) 2000 NA
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel du Centre 
(director of Assurances du Crédit Mutuel
Vie SAM) 2005 NA
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel du Centre 
(member of the Supervisory Board of Soderec) 2000 NA
Caisse Fédérale de Crédit Mutuel du Centre 
(member of the Supervisory Board of Sodelem) 2005 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Agricole du Centre 
(director of Fédération 
du Crédit Mutuel Agricole et Rural) 1997 NA

Legal manager:
EARL de la Marée de Sermonville  2000  NA

Pierre Filliger
Born November 27, 1943 in Rixheim, France
Business address:
Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen   
494 avenue du Prado, 13267 Marseille cedex 08 appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board   June 17, 1998  2008

other positions held

Chairman:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen 1995 NA
Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen 1996 NA
Caisse Interfédérale du Crédit Mutuel Sud 
Europe Méditerranée 2006 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Marseille-Prado 1981 NA

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
Actimut SA  1997 NA
Camefi Banque 2002 NA

Chairman of the Executive Board:
Caisse Méditerranéenne de Financement (CAMEFI)  1987  NA

Vice-Chairman:
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Agricole 
et Rural Provence-Languedoc  2001  NA

Director:
France Luxembourg Invest Advisory (Luxembourg)  1989  NA
Crédit Mutuel Evasion S.A.  2007  NA
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Jean-Louis Girodot
Born February 10, 1944 in Saintes, France
Business address:
Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France   
1 rue de la Tour des Dames, 75009 Paris appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board     December 19, 2001  2008

other positions held

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France 1995 NA
Caisse Régionale de Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France 1995 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel 
“Paris-Montmartre Grands Boulevards” 1975 NA
Various local branches of Crédit Mutuel 
during their creation  2002 - 2007 NA

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer: 
CODLES  1980 NA

Chairman:
Chambre Régionale de l’Économie Sociale-CRES 1986 NA
Audiens 2002 NA
PEMEP 1997 NA

Vice-Chairman:
Conseil économique et social d’Ile-de-France 1989 NA
Fédération Nationale de la Presse Spécialisée (FNPS) 1979 NA

Director:
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 2002 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe 2002 NA
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel 1995 NA
Coopérative d’information et d’édition mutualiste 1985 NA
Mediafor 1995 NA

Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
Cosmedias  2000 NA

Member of the Supervisory Board:
GTOCM  1995 NA

Permanent representative:
Caisse Régionale de Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France 
(director of GACM) 1995 NA
Caisse Régionale de Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France 
(director of GACM, Commission paritaire  
des publications et agences de presse) 1994 NA

Daniel Leroyer
Born April 15, 1951 in Saint-Siméon, France 
Business address:
Crédit Mutuel Maine-Anjou, Basse-Normandie   
43 boulevard Volney, 53083 Laval cedex 9 appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board  May 19, 2005   2008

other positions held

Chairman of the Board of Directors: 
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Maine-Anjou, 
Basse-Normandie 2003 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Maine-Anjou, 
Basse-Normandie 2003 NA
Caisse Générale de Financement (CAGEFI) 2003 NA
Créavenir (Association) 2004 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel du Pays Fertois 1998 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Enseignant Saint-Lô 2007 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Solidaire de Maine-Anjou, 
Basse-Normandie 2007 NA
Crédit Mutuel Solidaire de Maine-Anjou, 
Basse-Normandie (Association) 2007 NA

Director: 
Cloé SAS 2003 NA
Volney Développement SAS 1999 NA
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 
Maine-Anjou-Normandie (ACMAN) SAS 2002 NA
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel 2003 NA

Member of the Supervisory Board:
Société de Réassurance Lavalloise (SOCREAL) SA  1998 NA

Permanent representative:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Maine-Anjou, 
Basse-Normandie (director of the Cloé
Services EIG)  2003 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Maine-Anjou, 
Basse-Normandie (director of Groupe 
des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel) 2005 NA

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Enseignant 
Maine-Anjou, Basse-Normandie 2006 2007

Permanent representative:
Société de Réassurance Lavalloise 
(director of Groupe des Assurances 
du Crédit Mutuel) 2003 2005

Roberto Mazzotta 
Born November 3, 1940 in Milan, Italy
Business address:
Banca Popolare di Milano   
Piazza Meda 4, 20121 Milan (Italy) appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board   May 15, 2003   2008

other positions held

Chairman:
Banca Popolare di Milano (Milan)  April 30, 2001 2009

Member of the Executive Committee:
ABI (Italian Banking Association)  April 30, 2001 2009
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Jean-Luc Menet 
Born February 2, 1951 in Nantes, France
Business address:
Crédit Mutuel Océan   
34 rue Léandre-Merlet, 85001 La Roche-sur-Yon cedex 27 appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board     December 13, 2007  2008

other positions held

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
Sodelem SA September 26, 2007 NA

Chief Executive Officer:
SA Coopérative Caisse Fédérale 
du Crédit Mutuel Océan November 1, 2007 NA
Société Coopérative de Crédit C.M.A.R. Océan November 1, 2007 NA

Director:
Océan Participations SAS October 26, 2007 NA

Permanent representative:
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(director of Tourisme Océan SA) October 24, 2007 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(director of Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 
IARD SA) October 11, 2007 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(director of Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel) December 19, 2007 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(director of Financo SA) November 30, 2000 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(director of Bail Entreprises SAS) March 6, 2006 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(director of Crédit Mutuel 
Cartes de Paiements SAS) November 1, 2007 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(director of SAS Crédit Mutuel 
Paiements Electroniques ) November 1, 2007 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(director of SAEM SEMIS) March 14, 2002 NA
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(member of the Supervisory Board 
of CIC Asset Management) March 22, 2007 NA

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer:
SA Tourisme Océan NA October 24, 2007

Permanent representative :
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(director of CMO Gestion  SAS) September 25, 2005 June 22, 2007
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Océan 
(director of Vendée Logement SAS) June 23, 2005 April 25, 2007

André Meyer 
Born March 31, 1934 in Stotzheim, France 
Business address: 
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe
34 rue du Wacken, 67000 Strasbourg appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board     June 17, 1998  2008

other positions held

Honorary Chairman of the Board of Directors:
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de l’Ungersberg  March 4, 2005 NA

Director:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe 2002 2010
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel 1998 2008

Honorary Chairman and committee member:
Union des Caisses de Crédit Mutuel du district 
de Sélestat  October 8, 2002 2010

Legal manager:
SCI Binnweg  November 6, 2003 NA

Albert Peccoux 
Born November 2, 1939 in St. Martin-Bellevue, France
Business address: 
Crédit Mutuel de Savoie-Mont Blanc
99 avenue de Genève, 74054 Annecy cedex appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board     May 11, 2006  2011

other positions held

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc June 2, 1998 2009
Caisse Régionale du Crédit Mutuel 
Savoie-Mont Blanc January 1, 2000 2009
SICA Haute-Savoie (Société Civile Coopérative 
d’Intérêt Collectif Agricole) November 29, 1989 2009

Director:
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel June 17, 1998 2009
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel January 1, 2006 2009
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre 
Est  Europe January 1, 2006 2009
Centre International du Crédit Mutuel 2003 2009
Crédit Mutuel d’Annecy-les-Fins March 17, 1973 2009
ACM Vie SAM 2003 2008

Paul Schwartz 
Born January 29, 1937 in Bitche, France 
Business address:  
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe
34 rue du Wacken, 67000 Strasbourg appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board     June 17, 1998  2008

other positions held

Honorary Chairman:
Union des Caisses de Crédit Mutuel du district 
de Sarreguemines  2007  2010

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Bitche  May 22, 1971 2008

Director:
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel October 6, 1999 2008
Banque Transatlantique Luxembourg
(Luxembourg) July 24, 1998 2008

Non-voting director:
Banque de l’Économie du Commerce 
et de la Monétique  December 15, 2006 2009

Permanent representative:
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (director 
of Société de Participations Immobilières) September 8, 1993 2008
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (director 
of Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel) November 9, 1999 2011
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre 
Est Europe (director of Groupe des 
Assurances du Crédit Mutuel) February 4, 1994 2011
Banque de l’Economie du Commerce et 
de la Monétique (director of Fédération  
du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe) December 8, 2006 unlimited term

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Chairman:
Union des Caisses de Crédit Mutuel 
du District de Sarreguemines November 24, 1984 2006

Permanent representative:
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 
(director of Assurances du Crédit  Mutuel Vie SA) June 29, 1993 2005
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 
(director of Assurances du Crédit Mutuel  
IARD SA) February 4, 1994 2005
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Alain Têtedoie 
Born May 16, 1964 in Loroux-Bottereau, France
Business address: 
Crédit Mutuel de Loire Atlantique et du Centre-Ouest
46 rue du Port Boyer, 44326 Nantes cedex 3 appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board September 7, 2006  2008

other positions held

Chairman of the Board of Directors:
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel de 
Loire-Atlantique et du Centre-Ouest  May 23, 2006 NA
Fédération du Crédit Mutuel de 
Loire-Atlantique et du Centre-Ouest  May 23, 2006  NA

Chairman:

Fitega (SAS) December 9, 1994 NA

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:

Pfalzeurop GMBH (Harthausen) August 31, 2007  NA

Chief Executive Officer:
Nanteurop (SAS)  July 31, 2007 NA

Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors: 
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel de Saint-Julien de Concelles 2003 NA

Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board:

Banque Commerciale pour le Marché de l’Entreprise 2006 NA

Director:
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel 2004 NA
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 2006 NA
Ataraxia (SAS) May 3, 2004 NA

Member of the Supervisory Board:
Suravenir October 27, 2004 NA
Infolis (SAS) October 26, 2006 NA

Non-voting director:
Suravenir Assurances Holding (SAS) October 26, 2004 NA

Permanent representative:  
Caisse Fédérale CMLACO (member of the  
Supervisory Board of SODELEM) 2006 NA
Caisse Fédérale CMLACO (director of Groupe  
des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel)  2006 NA
Fédération du CMLACO 
(Chairman of Investlaco SAS)  2006 NA
Suravenir Assurances Holding 
(director of SURAVENIR Assurances) 2006 NA
EFSA (director of CIC Banque CIO-BRO) 2006 NA

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Permanent representative:
Caisse Fédérale CMLACO (director  
of Swiss Life Prévoyance et Santé)  2005 July 31, 2006

Philippe Vasseur  
Born August 31, 1943 in Le Touquet, France 
Business address: 
Crédit Mutuel du Nord
4 place Richebé, 59011 Lille cedex appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board     May 30, 2001  2008

other positions held

Chairman:
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe May 26, 2000 NA
Caisse de Crédit Mutuel Lille Liberté March 29, 2005 NA
Société de Développement Régional 
de Normandie (SA) May 29, 2001 NA
Nord Europe Assurances (SAS) June 1, 2006 NA
Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe Belgium 
(SA, Belgium) September 11, 2000 NA
BKCP Brabant (SCRL, Belgium) December 21, 2001 NA
Crédit Professionnel Interfédéral 
(SCRL, Belgium) November 22, 2000 NA

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
Banque Commerciale du Marché Nord 
Europe (SA) May 26, 2000 NA
Groupe UFG (SA) May 29, 2006 NA

Director:
Groupe Eurotunnel (SA) June 20, 2007 NA
Holder (SAS) 2005 NA
BKCP NOORD (SCRL, Belgium) June 30, 2006 NA
BKCP Securities (SA, Belgium) March 31, 2005 NA
Crédit Professionnel (SA, Belgium)) May 11, 2000 NA
Nord Europe Private Bank (SA, Luxembourg) July 10, 2003 NA

Non-voting director:
LOSC Lille Métropole (SA) 2005 NA

Permanent representative:
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe 
(director of Groupe des Assurances 
du Crédit Mutuel) October 11, 2007 NA
Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe Belgium SA 
(Vice-Chairman of BKCP NOORD  
SCRL, Belgium) June 30, 2006 NA
Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe Belgium SA 
(Vice-Chairman of Federal Kas Voor 
Het Beroeskrediet SCRL-Belgium) March 25, 2004 NA
Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe Belgium SA 
(Vice-Chairman of CP Bank-SCRL, Belgium)  November 23, 2007 NA
Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe Belgium SA 
(director of Crédit Professionnel 
Interfédéral-SCRL, Belgium) April 20, 2006 NA
Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe Belgium SA 
(director of BKCP Brabant-SCRL, Belgium)  May 29, 2007 NA

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Chairman:
Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe France December 18, 1999 2007

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
Saint Louis Sucre NA 2007

Director:
Heineken France NA 2006
Middenstands Deposito En Kredietkantoor 
(SCRL, Belgium) 2005 2006

Non-voting director:
Crédit Mutuel Nord Immobilier March 28, 2002 2006

Permanent representative:
Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe 
(director of Batiroc Normandie) May 29, 2001 2005
Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe France 
(director of Groupe des Assurances  
du Crédit Mutuel) May 4, 2005 2007



50  Corporate governanCe

Composition
(summary of articles 20 to 27 of the bylaws)

All shareholders are entitled to attend Shareholders’ Meetings.

There are no double voting rights.

Except as stipulated in the section below on disclosure thresh-
olds, access to Shareholders’ Meetings is not restricted and 
shareholders are not required to hold a minimum number of CIC 
shares to exercise the rights conferred upon them by law.

The Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meeting of 
shareholders and holders of voting rights certificates of June 17, 
1998:

•  authorized shareholders to hold their “A” series ordinary shares 
in either bearer or registered form (Article 7 (1) of the bylaws); 

•  authorized the bank to obtain details of identifiable holders 
of shares and securities from Sicovam (Article 7 (3) of the 
bylaws);

•  decided to add an article to the bylaws setting disclosure 
thresholds in addition to those prescribed by law (Article 9 (6) 
of the bylaws).

Disclosure thresholds
(summary of article 9 of the bylaws)

In addition to statutory requirements, the bylaws require disclo-
sure of any changes in ownership that result in shareholdings 
exceeding or falling below 0.5% of the share capital or any 
multiple thereof. If a shareholder fails to comply with this require-
ment, the shares held in excess of the disclosure threshold may 
be stripped of voting rights for a period of 2 years following noti-
fication on a motion tabled by one or more shareholders holding 
shares or voting rights at least equal to the smallest proportion 
of share capital or voting rights requiring disclosure, duly noted in 
the minutes of the Shareholders’ Meeting. 

Shareholders’ Meetings

Jean-Claude Martinez 
Born November 6, 1949 in Oran, Algeria  
Business address: 
Banque CIC Est
7 avenue Foch, 90000 Belfort appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board 
representing employee-shareholders April 28, 2004  2009

other positions held

Chairman of the Supervisory Board:
FCPE Acticic  March 19, 2004  NA

Vice-Chairman:
CIC group pension plan  September 21, 2001 NA

Michel Cornu
Born July 2, 1947 in Marcq-en-Barœul, France 
Business address: 
CIC Banque BSD-CIN
32 avenue de la Marne, 59447 Wasquehal appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board  
representing employees September 30, 1998  2008

other positions held

Director:
CIC Banque BSD-CIN 
(representing employees) April 30, 1986 2008

Patrick Demblans 
Born March 30, 1950 in Blagnac, France 
Business address: 
CIC Société Bordelaise
1 rue de la Résistance, 31170 Toulouse appointment office expires

Member of the Supervisory Board  
representing employees September 30, 1998  2008

other positions held

Director:  
CIC Société Bordelaise 
(representing employees)  September 16, 1982 2008
ASSEDIC Midi-Pyrénées  2004 NA

directorships and positions held over the last 5 years

Co-Manager:
SCI EM DA MA NA 2006
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Ethics and compliance

Code of ethics
A new code of ethics was drafted in 2007, to take effect in 2008. 
It takes into account new regulatory requirements and is to be 
used as a point of reference for the CMCEE-CIC group.  

This code of ethics outlines the rules of good conduct to be 
adhered to by all employees, especially with respect to client 
relations, and is based on the following general principles:

• the client’s interests are our priority;

• the rules of confidentiality must be followed rigorously; 

•  duties should be performed to the highest standard of profes-
sionalism; 

• integrity is at the core of our business operations.  

Specific provisions are also laid down for employees working in 
“sensitive” areas who may be faced with a potential conflict of 
interest or who have access to confidential or privileged infor-
mation. Specific ethics rules are developed for capital markets 
activities, financial transactions, the management of securities 
portfolios and financial analysis. 

Management is responsible for ensuring compliance with these 
rules, which must be verified through regular controls. 

Combating money laundering  
and the financing of terrorism
The drive to combat money laundering and the financing of 
terrorism has been considerably stepped up across the CMCEE-CIC 
group in recent years. Measures have been taken to detect any 
suspicious transactions to enable the group to learn more about 
clients concerned and, when necessary, to ensure that the group 
does not enter into any relationship with a client whose identity 
or activities cannot be adequately determined. These measures 
fall within the scope of recommendations issued by the Financial 
Action Task Force, applicable legal and regulatory requirements, 
in particular from the French Monetary and Financial Code, and 
European directives and regulations that have been transposed 
into French law.  

CIC focuses on:

•  knowing its clients and their transactions;

•  exercising watchfulness in relation to the origin of funds depos-
ited and/or account movements to detect any unusual or 
irregular transactions;

•  complying with legal requirements and internal standards by 
carrying out the necessary controls and establishing standard 
procedures;

•  making all employees part of the effort to combat money 
laundering through regular training and awareness-raising 
initiatives.

The various components of the control processes (periodic, 
permanent and compliance controls) are designed to ensure 
that procedures are consistently implemented and properly 
applied. The control processes rely in particular on inspectors 
from TRACFIN, the French Finance Ministry division tasked with 
combating money laundering. These inspectors provide over-
sight for transactions, handle necessary filings, and work to make 
all those involved more watchful.  

 SuStainable development

The employees and control departments involved in this work 
have a wide range of group-wide tools that enable them to 
detect transactions or situations requiring their attention, record 
their observations and inform their management teams and 
the TRACFIN inspectors. The tools are frequently upgraded and 
adapted to keep pace with regulatory changes. In 2007, new 
automated filters and controls were implemented, for instance, 
to monitor transactions with countries that are subject to embar-
goes and must be carefully reviewed, ensure compliance with 
legal requirements in relation to originators and beneficiaries in 
international transactions, and detect risky operations.  

Work to be completed in 2008 will focus on four areas: imple-
menting legislation from the third EU money laundering directive, 
enhancing the range of tools, updating procedures, and contin-
uing training efforts.

Internal control

CIC’s internal control processes, which have been incorporated 
into the organization implemented at CMCEE-CIC group level, 
include the functions for periodic controls, permanent controls 
and compliance verification in accordance with regulatory 
requirements. Control functions have been split into two struc-
tures, one dealing with the retail banking network and the other 
with the business lines of corporate clients, capital markets activ-
ities, asset management, financial services, cash management, 
etc. 

In 2007, new tools made it possible to carry out more targeted 
and more effective controls, both for inspections within the 
network and for remote permanent controls. Specialized control 
portals were developed based on the type of business line. By 
making control procedures more uniform and more systematic, 
these tools provide tighter monitoring while ensuring consist-
ency. 

In addition to compliance tools dedicated to monitoring opera-
tional risks and combating money laundering, new tools have 
been developed to monitor the application of regulatory require-
ments. The changes in this area with respect to procedures, tools 
or even reports and documents, are taken into account on a 
regular basis. 

The control departments took part in the project concerning 
the November 2007 implementation of legislation based on 
the European Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID). 
This directive, which is aimed at creating a true European capital 
market while at the same time improving investor protection, has 
significant consequences in terms of organization and controls. 

The main focuses in 2008 will include formalizing a certain 
number of requirements, strengthening the monitoring of their 
implementation through dedicated control portals and, more 
generally, upgrading the system as a whole.



53

Report of the Chairman  
of the Supervisory Board  
on internal control procedures

As stated in Article L.225-68 of the French Commercial Code   
(Code de commerce), “The Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
shall submit to the annual general meeting a report, attached to 
the report mentioned in the previous paragraph and in Article 
L.233-26, ... concerning the internal control procedures imple-
mented by the Company.”

CIC’s internal control processes have been integrated into those 
of the CM4(1)-CIC group.  

The CM4-CIC group is led by entities governed by a single collec-
tive banking license – the mutual banks Crédit Mutuel Centre Est 
Europe, Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France, Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est and 
Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc – and includes all subsidiaries 
and fully consolidated companies, including CIC Ile-de-France and 
the CIC regional banks.

The purpose of internal control work is to ensure compliance with 
all rules defined by regulatory authorities for the conduct of the 
group’s operations, by using all the tools, guidelines and proce-
dures implemented to that end. Within this scope, this report has 
been compiled in conjunction with internal control teams, based 
on the procedures deemed useful and on the framework and 
guidelines recommended by the Autorité des marchés financiers. 
A review has been performed of the main internal control work 
carried out in 2007.  

Group-level internal control and risk  
monitoring process of the CM4-CIC group

General framework
Internal control is an integral part of the group’s life, and an 
internal control system has been implemented at Company and 
group level with the aim of complying with legal requirements 
and ensuring proper risk control and operational security, as 
well as improved performance.  

a shared process

The group ensures that the organization it has set up matches its 
size, the nature of its operations and the scale of risks to which it 
is exposed.

Internal control and risk measurement systems rely on common 
methods and tools to:

•   completely cover the full range of the group’s operations;

•   list, identify, assess and track risks at both Company and group 
levels, in a consistent manner;

•   ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, internal 
standards, and instructions and imperatives established by 
executive management;

report oF tHe cHairman oF tHe SuperviSory Board on internal control procedureS 

•   ensure that in-house processes are running satisfactorily, 
assets are secure and financial information is reliable.

The processes in place help ensure oversight of operations while 
working towards improving the effectiveness of control work 
carried out.

a structured process

One of the key purposes of the organization set up at group level 
is to verify the quality, reliability and completeness of the internal 
control system. For both itself and its subsidiaries, the CM4-CIC 
group ensures that the internal control system is underpinned by 
a set of procedures and operational limits that match regulatory 
requirements and applicable internal standards. Its work is based 
on methods and tools defined at group level, and on generally 
applied rules in the area of internal control audits. 

All group internal control teams are constantly working towards 
successfully identifying key risks through the use of guidelines or 
process mapping, then tracking them using appropriate exposure 
limits, formal procedures and dedicated tools. In addition to their 
work on detecting and reducing risks, these teams are involved in 
enhancing the means of managing them. At the same time, 
analytical tools and tracking dashboards make it possible to 
regularly review the various risks to which the group is exposed 
through its operations, including counterparty, market, asset-
liability management or operational risks. In accordance with 
regulatory requirements, the group issues each year, alongside 
the internal control report, a report on risk measurement and 
monitoring that presents a detailed review of risk control 
processes. 

The group constantly seeks to strike an appropriate balance 
between the objectives assigned to internal control and the 
resources at its disposal.

an independent process

To ensure the necessary independence of controls, those who 
perform them work in dedicated internal control structures, have 
no operational responsibilities and report to a level of manage-
ment that preserves their freedom of judgment and analysis.  

Internal control processes  
The internal control processes of the CM4-CIC group were reor-
ganized in 2006, with a twofold objective:

•   separating the periodic, permanent and compliance controls into 
distinct functions as required by new regulatory requirements;

•   harmonizing internal control work across the group by creating 
a common organization relying on standardized methods and 
tools.

(1) Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe, Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France, Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est and Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc.
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•  helping ensure that the various teams apply consistent 
methods;

•  designing the reporting systems needed to follow up on control 
operations and engagements, and to inform group leadership 
bodies. 

oversight of internal control processes

Group Control and Compliance Committee
Chaired by the Vice-Chairman of the Executive Board of CIC, the 
Compliance Committee regularly brings together group leaders 
in charge of periodic controls, permanent controls, compliance 
and risk management, with the following objectives:

•  coordinating the entire control process;

•  ensuring that the work and assignments of the various players 
are complementary;

•  reviewing the outcomes of internal and external control assign-
ments;

•  following up on the implementation of the recommendations 
given to the various group entities following these controls.

The Control and Compliance Committee is also called upon to 
review a certain number of activities and documents that will 
serve as points of reference for the group. In 2007, the committee 
gave its opinion on the CM4-CIC group’s new code of ethics. 

 SuStainable development

organization of controls

Breakdown by type of control
In addition to the controls performed by management teams as 
part of their daily work, controls are now performed by:

•  periodic controls staff, for in-depth, audit-style assignments, 
carried out in control cycles spanning several years;

•  permanent controls staff, for all work of a recurring nature, 
particularly that which uses remote control applications;

•  compliance staff, for all work relating to the implementation of 
regulations and internal standards.

Periodic controls staff are in charge of monitoring the overall quality 
of the internal control processes as a whole, as well as ensuring the 
effectiveness of risk management and monitoring and the satisfac-
tory running of permanent controls and compliance.

Breakdown into retail banking and other business lines
Control functions have been split into two structures, one dealing 
with the retail banking network and the other with the business lines 
of corporate clients, capital markets operations, asset manage-
ment, financial services and cash management. Each structure is 
overseen by a leader at the level of the CM4-CIC group.  

A shared support center for the different types of control
The internal control support center is charged with:

•  developing and updating the tools needed for effective 
controls;

overall framework of internal control organization

control and compliance committee

cm4-cic internal control processes
periodic controls - permanent controls - compliance

Business lines
Subsidiaries - Divisions - ToolsSupport

Control tools
Methods

Reporting

corporate banking
Large corporates - Corporate loans   

Subsidiaries outside France

real estate financing
Various real estate financing subsidiaries

capital markets
Banking (BFCM - CIC)

Brokerage services (CM-CIC Securities)
Subsidiaries outside France

Financial services and cash management
Leasing - Consumer lending

Specialized financing - Private equity
Means of payment

insurance
ACM Vie - Télévie - ACM Vie Mutuelle

ACM IARD - Assurances du Sud
Sérénis - ACMN IARD

technical and logistical functions
Euro Information group

Support functions
Finance - Accounting - Legal

Human resources - Organization
Facilities management

Retail banking network

eastern France
CMCEE and CIC Est

ile-de-France region
CMIDF and CIC Ile-de-France 

Southeastern France
CMSE – CMSMB 

and CIC Lyonnaise de Banque

northwestern France
CIC Banque BSD-CIN

Western France
CIC Banque CIO-BRO

Southwestern France
CIC Société Bordelaise
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risk monitoring

Credit risk management involves two processes: one focuses on 
loan granting, while the other deals with risk measurement and 
commitment monitoring. Credit risk management draws on a 
common set of standards that define the rules and procedures 
applicable throughout the CIC group. Dedicated teams handle risk 
monitoring using a set of tools designed to assess commitments in 
a complete and comprehensive manner and to ensure continuous 
monitoring of risks through an advanced detection system for 
problems that may arise. These tools also ensure that limits have 
been complied with and that changes in internal credit ratings are 
monitored.

Information that could be used to assess changes in credit, market, 
asset-liability and operational risks are provided to the relevant 
leadership bodies and managers on a regular basis.

Control procedures
Control procedures are carried out in all areas in which the bank 
operates, drawing on group level tools, methods and formal 
procedures. The results of these controls are used to generate 
recommendations that are then implemented and monitored.

Controls carried out in 2007 notably included the ongoing work 
on the Basel II project at group level and the application of the 
regulatory requirements set out in MiFID, both of which strength-
ened the risk control and monitoring process. 

common methods and tools

The harmonization of internal control and risk management 
methods and tools within the group has been stepped up with the 
new organization implemented in 2006. For its internal control 
work, CIC is able to benefit from the shared tools developed by 
the support center. These include functions dedicated to over-
sight and reporting.  
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Changes in progress
Measures were taken at the end of 2007 to further strengthen 
the monitoring of controls and risks at group level. 

the group-wide audit committee

A decision was made to create a group-wide Audit Committee, 
which will be set up during the first half of 2008. This committee 
will be made up of members from BFCM and CIC deliberative 
bodies and meet at least twice a year. Reports will be submitted to 
the Audit Committee on:

•  the outcome of assignments carried out by periodic controls staff as 
well as the results from permanent and compliance controls;

•  the outcome of external controls, in particular any changes recom-
mended by regulatory authorities;

•  initiatives implemented to apply the key recommendations issued in 
the internal and external control reports.

The Audit Committee will also review the draft versions of the 
annual and half-yearly financial statements to assess how they 
were drawn up as well as the relevance and consistency of the 
accounting principles and methods used.

enhancing the process for monitoring group risks

The group Risk Department  
The Risk Department is responsible for analyzing and reviewing all 
types of risks on a regular basis, as regards their relation to the 
return on allocated regulatory capital. The Department’s role is to 
help the group expand and improve its profitability while moni-
toring the quality of its risk control procedures.

New risk committees
Two new risk committees have been set up: a group risk committee 
consisting of operational managers, which meets once a month, 
and a group risk monitoring committee made up of members 
from the deliberative bodies, which will meet four times a year to 
review the group’s strategic risk issues. The head of the group Risk 
Department will be on both of these committees.

CIC’s risk control and monitoring procedure

This section mentions only CIC’s in-house oversight bodies, but 
CIC must also report on its operations to supervisory authorities, 
which regularly conduct on-site audits.  

General structure

the Supervisory Board

In accordance with regulatory requirements, internal control 
reports – and in particular CIC’s annual internal control report – 
are submitted to the Supervisory Board of CIC twice a year. 

levels of control

The various levels of controls are identical to those set up at 
group level. Leaders were appointed to head periodic controls, 
permanent controls and compliance verification at CIC. 

CIC teams perform controls within the bank, but also take part in 
work and assignments at the level of the CM4-CIC group.
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Periodic control tools
Guidelines for periodic network control assignments for the retail 
market have been used throughout the group since early 2007. 
They set out formal rules for conducting such assignments, across 
six risk areas: regulatory compliance, credit, financial, security, 
processing and organization. Control guidelines for new branches 
and corporate clients were also established. The guidelines are 
designed to be tailored to the various markets. They enable a stan-
dardization of control practices and lead to increased efficiency in 
the way the work is performed.

All data needed to conduct the controls are available in a perma-
nent electronic file.

Permanent control tools
The tools for loans make it possible to detect files subject to 
alerts and at-risk entities. They are also used to assess how 
network-wide tools such as the internal control portal are being 
used. In the same spirit, several dedicated internal portals 
focusing on specific business lines or activities were implemented 
in 2007.

Compliance tools
Further improvements were made in 2007 to the tools to combat 
money laundering and monitor operational risks. The group also 
worked on setting up portals to carry out controls involving the 
application of regulations set out by the Autorité des marchés 
financiers, as well as a tool for monitoring legal and regulatory 
compliance risks.

procedures

The procedures applicable within the CIC group, particularly with 
regard to risk control, are posted on the corporate intranet and 
may be accessed at all times by employees with the help of search 
engines. Access is facilitated by the tools in place and links have 
been created to make it easier to look up and apply the proce-
dures. 

Framework procedures have been established at group level in a 
number of areas that relate to compliance in particular. These 
procedures were taken from CIC. 

Accounting data and control at CIC  
and group levels

CM4-CIC’s group Finance Department, which is responsible for 
producing and validating the financial statements, is organized 
into two functional sections – networks and specialized busi-
nesses. The specialized businesses section deals with financial 
accounting and consolidation, as well as accounting controls.

The information used for financial reporting is produced and vali-
dated by this Department.

Controls on the bank’s financial statements

accounting system

System architecture
CIC’s accounting system architecture is based on an IT platform 
shared throughout 13 Crédit Mutuel networks and the CIC group’s 
regional banks and includes accounting and regulatory features, 
in particular, for:

•  the chart of accounts, whose structure is identical for all institu-
tions of the same type managed through this platform;

•  automated templates and procedures shared by all the banks 
(means of payment, deposits and credits, day-to-day transac-
tions, etc.);

•  reporting tools (BAFI, consolidation software input, etc.) and 
oversight tools (management control).

Administration of the shared accounting information system is 
handled by dedicated divisions, the “accounting procedures and 
templates” divisions that form independent units, either within 
the “network” Finance Department or the “specialized busi-
nesses” Finance Department.

More specifically, these dedicated divisions are responsible for:

•  managing the shared chart of accounts (creating accounts, defining 
the characteristics of the accounts, etc.);

•  defining shared accounting procedures and templates, in accor-
dance with tax and regulatory requirements. If necessary, the 
division concerned consults the Tax Department, and templates are 
validated by various operational managers.

The “accounting procedures and templates” divisions do not report 
to, nor are they linked to, the departments that handle the actual 
accounting production. As such, the divisions involved in designing 
and administering the system architecture are separate from the 
other operational departments.

All accounts within CIC must be allocated to an operational depart-
ment, which is responsible for maintaining and verifying the accounts. 
Therefore, an account cannot be “unallocated,” and responsibility 
for monitoring must be clearly determined.

The organization and the procedures in place provide compliance 
with Article 12 of CRBF 97-02 of the French Banking and Financial 
Regulations Committee and ensure that there is an audit trail.

Chart of accounts
The chart of accounts is divided into two major types of captions: 
third-party captions showing payables and receivables for individual 
third parties, and the financial accounting captions. 

The chart of accounts for all the credit institutions using the shared 
IT platform contains unique identifiers and is managed by the 
“accounting procedures and templates” divisions. 

The chart of accounts defines the following account properties:

•  regulatory characteristics (link to the official chart of accounts 
of credit institutions (PCEC), link to the item in the publishable 
financial statements, etc.);

•  certain tax characteristics (VAT position, etc.);

•  management characteristics (whether presence is required or 
not, link with the consolidated chart of accounts, length of time 
online transactions are stored, presence at headquarters/
branch, etc.).

 SuStainable development
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Processing tools
The accounting information processing tools rely primarily on 
internal applications designed by the group’s IT companies. These 
tools also include a number of specialized internal and external 
applications, particularly production software for management 
reporting, balances or reports, a file query processing utility, 
consolidation software, regulatory report processing software, 
property and equipment management software and tax filing 
software.

Procedure for data aggregation
In accordance with the model defined by CM4, accounting data 
are aggregated for the following entities:

•  a group (e.g., the CIC group);

•  a federation made up of one or more banks or other legal entities;

•  a bank belonging to a federation.

All bank operations (head office and field operations) are broken 
down into branches, which represent the base unit of the 
accounting system. Accounting entries are recorded at the level 
of the branch.

Accounting consistency of management accounting data
Each branch includes an external section that records financial 
accounting data and an internal section that records cost 
accounting data. At the individual branch level, the figures used 
for management accounting purposes are obtained by combining 
the internal and external data. Final outputs are derived by adding 
together the resulting balances for the various branches.

Links are established between financial accounting captions and 
the codes attributed to the products marketed by the bank.

Cost accounting data are used to determine the results by busi-
ness segment that are needed to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements.

control methods

Automated controls
A series of automated controls are carried out when accounting 
records are processed and before transactions are allocated to 
ensure that records are balanced and valid, and to update the 
audit trail of the captions affected by the transaction. 

In-house tools are used to control accounting transactions on a 
daily basis and detect any discrepancies.

Closing process controls
At each closing date, financial accounting results are compared 
with forecast cost accounting data and data from the previous 
year, for purposes of validation. The forecast cost accounting 
data are generated by the Management Accounting Department 
and the Budget Control Department, both of which are indepen-
dent from the production of financial statements.

This reconciliation of financial accounting data to cost accounting 
forecasts particularly concerns:

•  interest margins: for interest-rate instruments, including 
deposits, loans and off-balance-sheet transactions, the 
Management Accounting Department calculates expected 
yields and costs based on average historical data. These are 
then compared to the actual recorded interest rates, for valida-
tion business segment by business segment;

•  commission levels: based on business volume indicators, the 
Management Accounting Department estimates the volume of 
commissions received and payable, compared to recorded data;

•  overheads (personnel costs and other general operating 
expenses);

•  net additions to provisions for loan losses (provisioning levels 
and recorded losses).

Procedures put in place  
Accounting procedures and templates are documented. For the 
network, procedures are posted on the bank’s Intranet.

Levels of control 
Daily accounting controls are performed by the appropriate staff 
within each branch.

The Accounting Control Departments (controls/procedures and 
“specialized businesses” management accounting) are also 
responsible for more general controls, including mandatory 
controls for regulatory purposes, verification of the supporting 
evidence for internal accounting data, monitoring of branch-
related data, control of the foreign exchange position, control of 
net banking income by business segment, agreement of 
accounting procedures and templates with CMC4, and assurance 
of the interface between back offices and the auditors for the 
half-yearly and annual closes.

Furthermore, the Control Departments (periodic, permanent, 
compliance) are called on to perform accounting work. A dedi-
cated accounting control portal is being established.



58  SuStainable development

performing controls  

Automated accounting controls
An automated daily control procedure based on the bank’s daily 
balance allows the verification of balance sheet and off-balance 
sheet positions, asset/liability balances by branch and by 
currency, and the monitoring of technical accounts. 

This control procedure is also applied to the general ledger at the 
end of each month.

Evidencing the accounts
All the balance sheet accounts are either evidenced either by 
means of an automated control or by the department responsible 
for the account. The data reported by each of the teams in charge 
of evidencing the accounts are checked against control findings.  

Controls on the consolidated financial statements

accounting principles and methods

Adapting to changes in regulations
The system is periodically upgraded in response to changes in 
regulations (IFRS) or to improve the reliability of financial state-
ment preparation. For instance, in 2006, the calculation of deferred 
taxes using data from the tax reporting packages and the prepara-
tion of cash flow statements under IFRS were automated.

IFRS compliance
IFRS compliance took effect within group entities on January 1, 2005. 
The consolidated financial statements include a summary of key 
IFRS principles. 

CIC and CM4 jointly define the French and international accounting 
principles and methods (issued by the CNC and IASB respectively) 
to be applied by all group entities in their statutory financial 
statements. Foreign subsidiaries use this information to restate 
their local accounts in accordance with French GAAP and inter-
national accounting standards in their consolidation packages 
and for financial reporting purposes. The accounting principles 
used to consolidate the accounts comply with the group 
accounting principles of the Crédit Mutuel’s central body, the 
Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel.

The accounting managers of the various CM4-CIC group entities 
meet twice a year to prepare the half-yearly and annual closes. 

The statutory financial statements under international account-
ing standards (IFRS) are prepared for the entities using the central 
IT platform. The closing process for the IFRS statutory financial 
statements uses the same organization and team as those for 
the statutory financial statements under French GAAP (as formu-
lated by the CNC).

reporting and consolidation

Consolidation process
The CM4-CIC group has a consolidation chart of accounts. Within 
the shared information system, each caption within the shared 
chart of accounts is linked into the consolidation chart of accounts, 
in an identical way for all companies using the shared chart. 

The consolidated accounts are prepared in accordance with a 
timetable distributed to all the subsidiaries and the Statutory 
Auditors, which includes, where applicable, changes in procedures 
and standards to be incorporated. Each consolidated subsidiary 
has a person in charge of its closing process and a person in 
charge of the reporting with respect to intercompany transac-
tions of fully consolidated companies. 

The auditors in charge of consolidation also give the Statutory 
Auditors of the consolidated companies audit instructions, which 
help ensure that the subsidiary complies with various standards, 
in accordance with their business standards. 

A dedicated software package, one of the main standard tools on 
the market, is used to consolidate the accounts. Reporting for 
the consolidation software (consolidation package) is partially 
automated, using an interface developed on the accounting 
information system. This system makes it possible to automati-
cally retrieve balances, thus ensuring that statutory data and 
consolidated data are consistent.

Reporting and data control
Companies cannot submit their consolidation package until a 
number of consistency checks that are directly programmed into 
the entry software have been carried out. These rules for controls 
(currently more than 600) are established by the consolidation 
departments and involve a wide variety of items (changes in 
shareholders’ equity, provisions, fixed assets, cash flows, etc.). 
The outcome of controls can result in “blocking,” which prevents 
a package from being transmitted by the subsidiary and can only 
be overridden by the central consolidation departments.

Consistency checks with statutory data are also performed by the 
Consolidation Department upon receipt of the consolidation 
packages (level of results, profit and loss account intermediate 
balances, etc.).

Finally, automatic reconciliation statements for statutory and 
consolidated data are generated for shareholders’ equity and 
profit or loss. This process, which illustrates the consistency of the 
transition between the statutory and consolidated checks, is 
carried out without using the consolidation software, making it 
possible to validate consolidated data.

analysis of financial and accounting data

The consolidated financial statements are analyzed in relation to 
the previous year, to the budget and to quarterly accounting and 
financial reporting. Each analysis covers a specific area, such as 
provisions for loan losses and outstanding loans and deposits. 
Observed trends are corroborated by the departments concerned, 
such as the Lending Department and the Management Accounting 
Department. Each entity’s contribution to the consolidated 
financial statements is also analyzed.

Each time a closing involves the publication of financial data, this 
information is presented to CIC’s Executive Board and Supervisory 
Board by the Finance Department, which explains the breakdown of 
income, the balance sheet position and CIC’s current business situ-
ation, including the reconciliation of non-accounting data (rates, 
average capital, etc.). 

Conclusion

Based on common principles and tools, CIC’s internal control and 
risk monitoring mechanism fits into the new organization of 
controls within the CMC4-CIC group. We remain committed to 
reinforcing processes and enhancing internal control efficiency, 
and will be implementing measures to further these goals in 
2008.   

Etienne Pflimlin
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Employee profit sharing and incentive bonuses  
CIC’s employee profit sharing and incentive bonus agreements 
ended in 2007 with a total payment (for 2006) of over €108 million,  
i.e. more than 13.5% of payroll.

Employees also took advantage of employee savings options. 
CIC offered top-up payments totaling €8 million to those who 
deposited all or part of their profit sharing into a corporate 
savings plan.

Profit sharing for 2007 stood at 10.59% of total payroll, as calcu-
lated based on the agreements.

Given the overall business climate and its continued strong 
results, the group decided to grant a special additional 1% in profit 
sharing in accordance with a law passed in December 2006, thus 
bringing the rate of total profit sharing distributed in 2008 to 
11.59%. 

The rate relative to incentive bonuses was 2.95%.

A total (for profit sharing, additional payments and incentive 
bonuses) of more than 14.5% of payroll will be paid to employees, 
which is considerably higher than in 2007.

No management or employee stock option plans have been 
established.

Human resources

Training
Employee training once again remained a high priority, with 
expenditure for 2007 representing 6.2% of payroll.

A significant amount of training was dedicated to courses on 
mastering development tools.

Most of the other types of training focused on enhancing 
employee skill-sets and professionalism, and the redeployment 
of headquarters functions to the branch networks.

Staff levels
In 2007, CIC continued to develop its network – a priority over the 
last several years – while keeping staff numbers under control.

Total headcount in regional banks decreased from 21,131 at the 
end of 2006 to 20,643 at the end of 2007. This 2.31% decline 
is mainly a result of the 345 employees that left under the early 
retirement plan.

Consolidated FTE (full-time equivalent) headcount fell 0.3% 
worldwide, from 22,938 at the end of 2006 to 22,866 at the end 
of 2007.

Employee relations  
Two addenda were signed in 2007, allowing the CIC group to 
take part in CMCEE’s agreements on employee profit sharing and 
incentive bonuses. 

All CMCEE-CIC employees now benefit from the same agree-
ments, and as such, the same conditions apply for employee 
profit sharing and incentive bonuses.

Another agreement was signed on the implementation and use of 
time savings accounts within the CIC group.
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Technological capabilities

Euro information

Since 2007, after the merger of the divisions at the Strasbourg, 
Lille and Nantes sites, the CMCEE-CIC group has five “cloned” IT 
production sites. Each site brings together, within a single divi-
sion that can handle 15 million accounts, the fund and branch 
processing for banking income and insurance policies. 

As such, the overall management of the IT system is simpler, costs 
are contained, and the quality of customer service is better. 

IT security was strengthened, in particular, by:

•  implementing an overall organization for security monitoring;

•  setting up a committee including the head of information 
system security and the security contacts of the members; 

•  expanding the scope of the Disaster Recovery Plans;

•  expanding remote mirroring to all the production divisions;

•  using PCI/DSS (payment card industry data security standard) 
certification, which required the development of technical infra-
structure and user guidelines. 

A person in charge of data protection was appointed at group 
level.

In order to bring the greatest value to the services offered to 
customers, 15 permanent working groups now include, in each 
area, users and IT specialists.

Production
Transaction and processing volumes continued to rise in 2007, 
and the central sites upped their technical resources significantly, 
as follows:

•  installed capacity across all sites increased 20%, to 34,833 
MIPS (million instructions per second);

•  disk storage capacity grew 46%, to 2,181,000 gigabytes.

Printing was stable with 585 million pages printed and 178 million 
letters mailed. Electronic document management has been 
ramped up, with over 100,000 pages processed every day. Euro 
GDS received Z42-013 certification. 

The ISO 9001 certification of all production sites was renewed.

Over 90% of client contact takes place via electronic means, and 
the Internet has become a major tool for online transactions: 
31 million transfers, 1.7 million stock exchange orders and over 
130,000 insurance estimates were handled via the group’s sites.

The amount of printing and the number of letters sent should 
decrease considerably with the recent launch of the information 
contract and the increased use of electronic statements (ten 
years of storage included with the Filbanque subscription).

 SuStainable development

Equipment  

network infrastructure

Each month, 350 new branches are being connected to the new 
telecommunication network that offers greater bandwidth and 
better security, and 175 branches are accessing their voice-over-
IP telephony functionalities.  

Systems in branches

The installation of new branch servers (with 300 gigabytes of disk 
storage capacity) will be completed in 2008, as will the rollout of 
Windows XP for all workstations at headquarters/branches.

Vista should be installed starting in mid-2008 for laptops and 
end-2009 for desktop computers. Individual scanners will be set 
up at workstations as part of the rollout of the electronic docu-
ment management plan.

Self-service banking

The changeover to Windows XP for ATMs has made it faster to 
withdraw money. New security measures (staining of banknotes 
and anti-skimming) are still being implemented.

Branch alarms  

Rationalized management and standardization of alarm equip-
ment allow substantial savings on acquisition operating costs 
with nearly 400 projects completed in 2007 and 500 planned for 
2008. 

New developments

main achievements 

•  completing the Basel II project;

•  merging the IT services of CIC Banque CIAL and CIC Banque 
SNVB to create CIC Est;

•  taking over CM-CIC Securities’ trading/clearing processing 
internally;

•  third-party management via the intranet and new tools to facil-
itate commercial development for account managers:
- sales and marketing tool,
- portfolio analysis tool,
- sales assistance,
- management and monitoring of account managers’ targets,
-  automation of client e-mail processing through integration of 

this channel into account managers’ workstation tools,
-  subscription of life insurance with optimization functions; 

•  introducing electronic document management to branches:
-  scanning supporting documents and signatures when a new 

client relationship is established, 
-  scanning supporting documents and agreements for home 

loans;

•  handling transactions in branches in a manner that accommo-
dates clients;

•  using “smart client” technology to manage customer accounts 
in debit;

•  adding the Google search engine for Intranet document searches.
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Key directions
The project on administrative streamlining and paperless 
management will continue to be ramped up. 

More bancassurance products and services will be made avail-
able via Internet.

A wider offering of contract-free payment services will be avail-
able for mobile phone service and cards. 

Loan applications will be completely revised.

The Eastern Paris and Lyon divisions will be merged.

A second machine room will be built at the Verlinghem site.  

Remote mirroring will be used for decision-making tools and Unix 
and Windows systems.

A second electronic document management production site will 
be established in Laval to ensure reciprocal backup with the Lyon 
site.

GIE CT6

This subsidiary’s operations continued to grow in 2007, against 
the backdrop of the gradual establishment of the Single Euro 
Payment Area (SEPA).

With 130,162 retailer contracts and €17.9 billion in sales (up 
14.8%), CIC increased its market share considerably in 2007. 
End-of-year volumes were particularly high and the record for 
the number of authorizations processed, reaching an average 
of nearly 4,000 transactions per minute, beat the record on the 
Saturday before Christmas.

CIC managed 2,229,453 cards at December 31, 2007, thanks to 
9.5% year-on-year growth which bolstered its position on the 
bank card market.

Highlights of the year included:

•  completion of the migration to the new EMV global standard for 
smart cards: by the end of 2007, 80% of the group’s cards had 
the most up-to-date security features (DDA – dynamic data 
authentication); 

•  international fraud remained stable and, as a result of regu-
lations in place, overall losses continued to decline. The only 
setback was that the 3D Secure solution for bank cards issued 
will not be available until mid-2008; 

•  rollout of new sales offering including the DSL credit-card 
terminal that speeds up processing time for retailers, the flat-fee 
terminal for MDs, gift cards, and payment by mobile phone; 

•  renewal of ISO 9001/2000 certification;

•  implementation of a new organization to optimize electronic 
payment processing with respect to CMCEE-CIC.

Client relations

Ease of access, client relationship tools  
and quality assurance
The ongoing drive to raise quality and provide greater ease of 
access in client relations led to several measures being imple-
mented in 2007.

Firstly, CIC continued to strengthen its network and opened more 
new branches with its proactive development plan: 

•  64 new branches (28% more than 2006).

The group also continued to invest in upgrading its branches to 
offer clients a more pleasant experience and more personalized 
service with:

•  38 expansions;

• 41 transfers;

• 101 major renovations;

New options that meet client needs were added to the secure 
sales and transaction portal at www.cic.fr. For instance, clients 
can now: 

•  subscribe online to a wide range of products and services, such 
as savings accounts, bank cards, mobile phone payment, etc.;

•  consult account statements electronically via Web relevé (offering 
ten years of online storage).

With a view to providing quality service with streamlined, rapid 
response to clients, the new applications available to CIC’s 
account managers now automatically include electronic docu-
ment management to:

•  speed up the circulation of documents and, as a consequence, 
decisions;

•  make it easier to view all documents sent to and from clients 
on screen, thus streamlining searches and helping reduce paper 
consumption.

Finally, a withdrawal service for visually-impaired people was 
launched at pilot ATMs in Bordeaux and Strasbourg. The ATMs are 
equipped with headphone jacks and speakers that guide users 
in French and English. This service was expanded to over 1,000 
CM-CIC ATMs in May 2008.

Ombudsman
The ombudsman can be called upon by clients to examine any 
problems that fall within his remit. Any opinions issued by the 
ombudsman are considered binding by the group. This resource 
is in addition to processes set up within each group entity to 
ensure attention to client needs.  
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Shareholder relations  

Financial communication
The Executive Board of CIC is scheduled to meet on August 4, 
2008 to approve the financial statements for the first six months 
of 2008 and submit them to the Supervisory Board for approval. 
A press release will be published at that time in the financial press. 
The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008 
are due to be approved in February 2009.

Once a year, the Executive Board organizes a meeting with the 
press and financial analysts specializing in the banking sector in 
order to present the group’s results and answer their questions. 
This ensures coverage of the CIC group’s results in specialized 
publications and in the main national daily newspapers.

CIC publishes a shareholders’ letter every six months, keeping 
investors informed about the group’s results and the latest 
developments. Over 25,000 copies are distributed to indi-
vidual shareholders and employee shareholders, including those  
who have elected to place their shares in a company mutual fund. 
The shareholders’ letter is also available on request by calling  
+33 (0)1 45 96 77 40.

CIC shareholders are thus kept regularly informed of the compa-
ny’s results and of key events.

The CIC website, www.cic.fr, presents all the group’s publica-
tions in two sections: Institutionnel (Institutional investors) and 
Actionnaires et investisseurs (Shareholders and investors). The 
Actionnaires et investisseurs section brings together the group’s 
financial data, i.e. general information (financial calendar, the 

group’s ratings by ratings agencies, stock market performance 
and publications such as the CIC shareholders’ letter and the 
annual report), the information required under the European 
Transparency Directive and the share issue prospectuses required 
by the Prospectus Directive. 

This information is also available on the Autorité des marchés 
financiers website (www.amf-france.org) by accessing the 
“Decisions and Financial Information” page and clicking on the 
various search links.

documents available to the public    

While this registration document remains current, the following 
documents are available for consultation:

•  the issuer’s articles of incorporation and bylaws (see General 
information, page 162);

•  all reports (see above, URLs of CIC and AMF websites);

•  historical financial information (see above, URLs of CIC and AMF 
websites).

Stock market performance  

The CIC share price decreased from €284.90 at the end of 2006 
to €250 at December 31, 2007. 

The share price initially increased during the first half of the year, 
reaching €294.95 euros at the end of June 2007.

It then dropped as a result of the crisis in the financial markets, 
ending the year at €250, 12% lower than a year earlier.

In 2007, 539,133 CIC shares were traded on the Paris Bourse, 
representing €149.32 million. 

Regular listing and constant liquidity meant that shareholders 
were always able to find a buyer on the market.
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Consolidated
financial 
statements

Executive Board report  
on the consolidated 
financial statements

>  A yeAr of stArk contrAsts: implicAtions 
for two interconnected world economies

The	subprime	crisis:		
cool	winds	blowing	across	the	Atlantic
2007 will go down in history as the year in which the US subprime 
crisis spread to financial markets across the globe, sparking a 
credit crunch and a return to risk inversion. The year that had 
started with bullish economic sentiment buoyed by vigorous 
world growth ended on a sharp downturn with growth forecasts 
slashed, particularly in the US which is bordering on a recession.

The European economy rebounded strongly in 2007 powered by 
growth of almost 2.6%. However, in 2008 Europe will have to 
contend with a sluggish global economy, a stronger euro, and a 
tightening of monetary policy.

Emerging countries, which were largely spared any subprime fall-
out, reported a record year, with emerging markets showing their 
resilience and unprecedented promise. Yet this new driver of 
worldwide growth also depends heavily on external markets and is 
therefore no longer entirely safe from the downbeat mood 
emanating from the US.

Countdown	to	the	market	liquidity	crisis
The subprime crisis revealed the heady excesses of the credit 
bubble over the last few years, fuelled by a combination of abun-
dant liquidity in apparently non-inflationary world markets. In an 
increasingly global financial arena facing frequent regulatory 
upheavals, highly complex products using increasingly sophisti-
cated technologies have enabled debt to be spread massively 
throughout the entire credit chain. Unprecedented use of secu-
ritization, lax lending criteria and the growing complexity of 
investment products have pulled in high returns at the expense 
of liquidity. The murky origins of these products, along with the 
difficulty of determining their net asset values in markets hit by 
tighter credit conditions, has since prompted cautious investors 
to hold on to their funds and has highlighted the exposure of 
financial markets to structured products. Since the onset of the 
crisis in summer 2007, we have witnessed debt securitizations 
being put on hold, funds being raised to bail out insolvent struc-
tured investment vehicles with a large subprime exposure, and a 
wave of write-downs against subprime assets. The crisis has 
directly affected interbank markets, and uncertainties persist as 
to when exactly the full extent of the losses will be revealed and 
accounted for.
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Strictly speaking, the subprime crisis is a result of home loans 
having been granted to low-income households in the US based 
on unverified (and in some cases incorrect) information on their 
solvency, on the belief that the prices of mortgaged properties 
would continue to rise indefinitely. The slump in property prices 
and rise in interest rates marked a turn in the credit cycle. With 
the economy slowing and the repricing of floating-rate mort-
gages, a wave of defaults brought numerous mortgage lenders to 
their knees and provoked severe financial after-shocks which, 
because of the wide dispersion of subprime debt, spread rapidly 
across the globe. 

Central banks found that they were largely helpless to counter 
these mounting concerns: at the outset, financial markets were 
able to continue transforming credit without a glance at interest 
rate hikes by monetary authorities or the flattening of the yield 
curve. By using securitization and transformation (short-term 
borrowings match-funded with miscellaneous receivables and 
long-term loans match-funded with structured products offering 
little or no liquidity), the banking system pressed ahead with its 
monetary creation policy. Since the start of the crisis, central 
banks – led by the ECB and the Federal Reserve – intervened 
both to guarantee market liquidity and head off the impacts of 
the US economic slowdown. However, their measures had no 
immediate impact on the real economy, with the usual mortgage 
channels blocked. Monthly surveys carried out by central banks 
reveal that credit is more expensive and in increasingly short 
supply for both private individuals and corporates.

Subprime	woes	–	an	essentially	US	crisis
In terms of scale as well as financial implications, the current 
subprime crisis is essentially a US problem, and it will be across 
the Atlantic that the consequences will be the most severe. 
Housing prices have declined across the country. US financial 
institutions are likely to face major capital constraints, and look 
set to continue cutting their supply of credit over the next few 
months, irrespective of measures taken by the Fed. Since the 
beginning of the year, investors have been concerned about the 
consequences of a fresh wave of defaults, which would spark 
further significant write-downs.

There are no longer any doubts about a marked slowdown across 
the Atlantic. However, consumption appears to have held up well 
amid continually low unemployment figures, and the US balance 
of trade has improved, with a weak dollar boosting US exports and 
growing worldwide demand – especially for agricultural produce.

Signs	of	credit	tensions	in	Europe
Europe rebounded strongly in the third quarter of 2007 only to 
slow again at the end of the year. Tighter credit conditions and a 
strong euro have prompted the ECB to abandon any further rises 
in interest rates since the summer. In this context, two markets 
seem particularly vulnerable: Spain and the UK, which over recent 
years have enjoyed a property boom fuelled by floating-rate 
credit mechanisms. The UK could also be hit by a slowdown in its 
financial services sector. The resurgence of inflationary pressures 
in the euro zone could also disrupt any measures taken by the 
monetary authorities.

Emerging	countries:		
bystanders	for	how	much	longer?
Growth in emerging countries remained robust in 2007, with GDP 
expanding more than 11% throughout the year in China and 
commodity and energy prices continuing on an upward trend. China 
and India accounted for 40% of worldwide growth in 2007. However, 
these countries account for less than 10% in the global economy 
and do not yet offset the performance of the United States, which 
represents around 25%. Faced with a slowdown in their biggest export 
market, emerging countries now face a two-fold challenge:

•  to rechannel production to domestic demand;

•  to boost domestic demand by focusing on increasing revenues, 
reducing savings and narrowing the significant inequalities 
which have emerged over the past few years.

The challenge is considerable, but with rising food prices over 
recent months squeezing purchasing power, it has become more 
pressing than ever.

Flattening	commodity	and	energy	prices?
The perspective of a soft landing for the global economy should 
have stemmed the rise in commodity and energy prices. However, 
prices held firm amid continuing robust demand from emerging 
countries and ongoing constraints on production (geopolitical, 
technical, quota restrictions, etc.).

The global economy has also witnessed a steady rise in the price 
of agricultural raw materials, with the impact on end prices for 
consumers beginning to filter through. The upward price trend is 
powered by a combination of economic and structural factors:

•  a rise in world food demand on the back of higher living standards 
in emerging countries and a certain westernization of eating 
habits;

•  a temporary decline in production due to inclement weather 
conditions (droughts in Australia, floods in the US);

• a reduction in arable land due to urbanization;

• use of part of agricultural production for biofuels.

Across the globe, the rise in agricultural prices should help spark 
a debate on how to increase purchasing power after several years 
of downward pressure on salaries.

ExECutIvE BoaRd REpoRt on thE ConsolIdatEd FInanCIal statEmEnts 
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Sovereign	funds:	new	players		
in	the	global	economy
The large quantities of foreign exchange reserves from trade 
surpluses accumulated mainly by Asia and the Middle East on 
exports of manufactured goods, energy or commodities, has 
enabled countries in these regions to extend their influence on 
the global economic and financial arena. The creation of a sover-
eign fund allows state authorities to diversify their assets beyond 
treasury bonds, usually with US dollar investments. Sovereign 
funds have acquired direct and indirect interests in a number of 
sectors, taking advantage of the financial market crisis to invest 
in major US banks in particular. This financial activism furthers the 
development strategies of the countries concerned, by boosting 
foreign exchange reserves and providing expertise. However, 
although these funds are able to meet market liquidity needs, 
their overall lack of transparency and close link with public 
authorities have proved a cause of concern for the countries in 
which they have chosen to invest.

2008:	the	end	of	free	credit
2008 began on a severely downbeat note, with several stock 
markets reporting their worst-ever January trading. Investor senti-
ment regarding business prospects and earnings outlook has 
become far more pessimistic.

The financial crisis will restrict credit supply irrespective of measures 
taken by central banks. Although central banks continue to monitor 
market liquidity very closely, the interbank market will only get back 
to normal once all credit operations have been unwound and 
investors are certain that all subprime-related losses have been 
reported.

The IMF has cut its worldwide growth forecasts to 4.1% from an esti-
mated 4.9% in 2007. Although the weight of the US economy 
means that developments across the Atlantic continue to have 
ramifications for markets throughout the world, Europe and 
emerging countries should hold up well thanks to:

•  an improvement in purchasing power, through a rise in salaries 
and a fall in unemployment;

•  public authorities’ determination to boost domestic demand and 
infrastructure investment (particularly in Asia) to compensate for 
the slowdown in exports.

Faced with concerns about declining growth triggered by a cut in 
the credit supply, countries have adopted a Keynesian take on the 
situation, paving the way for state intervention via both regulatory 
measures and concrete action, such as more flexible budgetary 
policies. Nevertheless, persistent inflationary pressures risk damp-
ening any rebound in bond yields.

>  Group business performAnce And results

Pursuant to regulation (EC) 1606/2002 on the application of 
international accounting standards and regulation (EC) 
1725/2003 on the adoption of said standards, the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007 have 
been drawn up in accordance with IFRS as adopted for use by the 
European Union at the balance sheet date. These standards 
include IAS 1 to 41, IFRS 1 to 7 and any SIC and IFRIC interpreta-
tions adopted at that date. The financial statements are presented 
in accordance with CNC recommendation 2004-R.03.

Significant accounting policies and presentation methods 
prescribed by international accounting standards are detailed in 
Note 1 to the financial statements.

The disclosures relating to risk management required by IFRS 7 
are set out in a separate section of this report.

Change in scope of consolidation

A number of holding companies were consolidated for the first 
time in 2007 under the full consolidation method. These include:

•  CM-CIC Bail Belgium in the equipment leasing business;

•  GPK Finance, SwissFirst Bank Zurich and SwissFirst Bank 
Liechtenstein in the private banking business;

• CM-CIC Gestion in the banking network.

The following entities changed their corporate name:

•  CIC Epargne Salariale was renamed CM-CIC Epargne Salariale;

• CIAL Suisse was renamed CIC Suisse;

•  Mutuel Bank Luxembourg was renamed Banque Transatlantique 
Luxembourg;

•  CIC Lyonnaise de Participations was renamed CIC Vizille 
Participation.

CIC Banque CIAL was merged into CIC Banque SNVB to form CIC Est. 
Crédit Fécampois was merged into CIC.

Cigogne Fund, Imofinance and Valimar 3 were deconsolidated in 
2007.

analysis of the consolidated balance sheet

The main changes in consolidated balance sheet items can be 
analyzed as follows:

•  Customer loans, including lease financing and excluding resale 
agreements, amounted to €109.8 billion at December 31, 2007, 
up 21.6% on the year-earlier figure. This increase reflects:

- a year-on-year rise of 24.9% in home loans;

- a sharp 38% rise in loans to corporate customers compared 
with December 31, 2006.

•  Customer deposits (excluding repurchase agreements) advanced 
by 11% to €64.8 billion, and customer funds invested in savings 
products reached €220.4 billion, up 5% on December 31, 2006.

Tier 1 capital used to calculate the capital adequacy ratio totaled €9.5 
billion, up 11.3% on the €8.5 billion recorded at December 31, 2006. 
After factoring in certain additional items, total regulatory capital 
stood at €10.9 billion at year-end. The capital adequacy ratio  
for Europe was 9.5% at December 31, 2007, of which Tier 1 capital 
was 8.2%. 
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analysis of the consolidated income statement

In 2007, the CIC group reported net income of €1,139 million, 
down from €1,274 million a year earlier following a fall in net 
banking income from capital markets and holding company 
activities.

Net banking income retreated 3.7% to €4,193 million. This reflects 
a year-on-year rise in net banking income for the retail banking 
business (up 3.1%), private banking segment (up 12.3%) and 
private equity division (up 40.1%), but a decline in the financing 
and capital markets segment hit by a 54.6% drop in net banking 
income from capital markets activities, and in headquarters and 
holding company activities.

General operating expenses edged up 2.6% year-on-year,  
to €2,684 million.

The cost/income ratio came in at 64% versus 60% in 2006.

Net additions to provisions for loan losses moved up to 0.11% of 
total outstanding loans from 0.09% in 2006, or €120 million 
(€80 million in 2006).

The coverage ratio of non-performing and litigious loans was 
63.6% at end-2007.

Income before tax came in at €1,500 million compared with 
€1,779 million in 2006.

Return on equity (attributable to the group) was 15.6% and earn-
ings per share was €32.16 for the year.

>  business performAnce 

description of business segments

The CIC group’s reportable business segments reflect its organi-
zational structure (see chart on page 8).

CIC’s retail banking core business comprises the regional bank 
network, the CIC network in the greater Paris region (Ile-de-
France) and all specialist activities whose products are distributed 
via the network. These include life insurance and property-casu-
alty insurance, equipment leasing, real estate leasing, factoring, 
fund management, employee savings plan management and real 
estate. 

Financing and capital markets encompasses two core business 
lines:

•  credit facilities for large corporates and institutional clients, 
specialized financing (project and asset financing, export 
financing, etc.), international operations and foreign branches;

•  capital markets operations in general, spanning customer and 
proprietary transactions involving interest rate instruments, 
foreign currencies and equities, including brokerage services.

private banking encompasses all banks engaged in wealth manage-
ment, both in France (CIC Banque Transatlantique, Dubly-Douilhet 
SA) and internationally (Banque de Luxembourg, CIC Suisse, Banque 
Transatlantique Luxembourg, CIC Private Banking-Banque Pasche, 
Banque Transatlantique Belgium).

private equity, conducted on a proprietary basis, is a major contrib-
utor to group earnings. The business has a three-pronged structure 
organized around CIC Finance, CIC Banque de Vizille and IPO.

headquarters and holding company services include all unal-
located activities and units that provide solely logistical support, 
whose expenses are billed in their entirety to user entities. They 
include intermediate holding companies and business premises 
held by specific companies.
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Net banking income for the financing and capital markets busi-
ness in 2007 retreated 23.7% on the year-earlier figure. These 
results concern the capital markets division, which saw a 54.6% 
slump in net banking income due to the impact of the US subprime 
crisis on the New York branch.

The bank’s New York branch holds a portfolio of residential 
mortgage-backed branch (RMBS) and asset-backed securities 
(ABS) worth €3.9 billion. 91% of the portfolio is rated triple-A, of 
which 33% by rating agencies and 58% by non-rating agencies.

The portfolio’s exposure to subprime debt is €142 million, of which 
€67 million is rated triple-A.

At December 31, 2007, these instruments were trading at a deep 
discount in an illiquid market, resulting in a net banking loss of 
€180 million.

The entire portfolio was marked to market based on external data 
obtained from major US brokerage firms, or on comparable secu-
rities listed on the market where no such price was available.

The Statutory Auditors performed specific tests on the valuation 
of the portfolio. As the portfolio consists chiefly of gilt-edged 
securities (91% are rated triple-A), the CIC group does not 
currently believe that it is exposed to a material risk of loss at 

maturity. The group has no exposure arising from collateralized 
debt obligations (CDOs), structured investment vehicles (SIVs) or 
asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP).

In light of difficult market conditions and a strong comparative 
period (net banking income of €320 million in 2006), CM-CIC’s 
proprietary and commercial activities held up well over the year, 
delivering net banking income of €278 million.

Aggregate net banking income for capital markets and brokerage 
activities came in at €192 million in 2007, versus €423 million in 
2006.

Net banking income for the financing segment surged 27.2% to 
€327 million in 2007 from €257 million a year earlier.

The financing segment reported a 38% rise in outstandings, inclu-
ding a 68% rise in large corporates.

Net banking income for the corporate division of the group’s 
international branches jumped 19.8%.

Net income for the financing and capital markets business came 
in at €191 million.

F inanc ing 	and 	 cap i ta l 	marke t s

(in € millions) 2007 2006
Change

2007/2006

Net banking income 519 680 -23.7%

Operating income before provisions 263 379 -30.6%

Income before tax 256 434 -41.0%

Net income 191 295 -35.3%
 

In 2007, the group’s efforts to modernize its network continued 
apace.

The heightened focus on the commercial development of retail 
banking operations resulted in:

•  185,000 new customers (private individuals, self-employed 
professionals and corporates), representing a rise of 4.9% to 
3,988,325 at December 31, 2007 (including 673,498 self-
employed professionals and corporate customers);

•  an 8% increase in new customer loans granted, particularly 
consumer loans (up 19%) and investment and operating loans 
to corporates (up 16%), leading to a rise of 19% in outstan-
dings;

• 14% growth in deposits and 7% growth in managed savings;

•  increased momentum in the insurance business (20% rise in the 
number of multi-risk housing and car insurance policies);

• further advances in services businesses.

Net banking income for the retail banking business advanced 
3.1% and represents 69% of group net banking income.

General operating expenses climbed 3.7%, while the cost/income 
ratio edged up from 71.3% in 2006 to 71.8% in 2007.

Operating income before provisions climbed 1.6%.

Income before tax moved up 3.9%, from €789 million to €820 million. 
Net income for the retail banking business came in at €574 
million, or 50.4% of group net income.

>  results by business seGment 

Reta i l 	 bank ing	

(in € millions) 2007 2006
Change

2007/2006

Net banking income 2,897 2,809 +3.1%

Operating income before provisions 818 805 +1.6%

Income before tax 820 789 +3.9%

Net income 574 537 +6.9%
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Net banking income for the private equity business, representing 
9% of net banking income for the group as a whole, surged 40.1% 
in 2007 to €381 million.

At December 31, 2007, the revalued private equity portfolio 
amounted to €1,592 million.

Net income for the private equity business jumped 38.4% to  
€310 million in 2007.

Net banking loss reported for 2007 includes:

•  capital gains on sales of held-for-sale securities and valuations 
of securities amounting to €11 million;

•  the cost of negative working capital for this business as well as 
holding company expenses amounting to €87 million;

•   dividends from equity interests totaling €23 million.

ExECutIvE BoaRd REpoRt on thE ConsolIdatEd FInanCIal statEmEnts 

Pr i va te 	 equ i t y

(in € millions) 2007 2006
Change

2007/2006

Net banking income 381 272 +40.1%

Operating income before provisions 339 239 +41.8%

Income before tax 339 237 +43.0%

Net income 310 224 +38.4%
 

Headquar te r s 	 and 	ho ld i ng 	 company 	 se r v i ces

(in € millions) 2007 2006
Change

2007/2006

Net banking income/(loss) (53) 193 -246

Operating income/(loss) before provisions (99) 148 -247

Income/(loss) before tax (96) 155 -251

Net income/(loss) (43) 119 -162
 

The fall in net banking income reflects mainly the valuation of the 
conversion option embedded in Banca Popolare di Milano 
convertible bonds, at a negative €93 million in 2007 versus a 
positive €115 million in 2006. 

Net banking income for the private banking business, representing 
11% of net banking income for the group as a whole, rose 12.3% to 
€449 million. Operating income before provisions climbed 11.3% to 
€187 million, from €168 million a year earlier.

Net income for the private banking business came in at €107 million.

Pr i va te 	 bank ing

(in € millions) 2007 2006
Change

2007/2006

Net banking income 449 400 +12.3%

Operating income before provisions 187 168 +11.3%

Income before tax 181 163 +11.0%

Net income 107 99 +8.1%
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Remuneration received by the group’s key executives is detailed 
in the table below. 

Part of the remuneration received by some of the group’s key 
executives relates to their duties as employees or corporate offi-
cers of Crédit Mutuel. Remuneration accruing to other executives 
relates exclusively to their activities within the CIC group.

Executive remuneration is set by the Supervisory Board based on 
recommendations made by a special three-member committee 
(see page 35). Remuneration comprises a fixed and a variable 

component. The fixed portion is determined in light of market 
rates of pay for positions carrying equivalent responsibilities. The 
variable portion is determined on a discretionary basis by applying 
a specific percentage and is approved by the meeting of the 
Supervisory Board following the Shareholders’ Meeting called to 
approve the financial statements for the year in respect of which 
the variable remuneration is paid.

Most of the group’s key executives are also entitled to the same 
welfare and top-up pension benefits as all employees, in respect 
of either Crédit Mutuel (for those carrying out part of their activi-
ties therein) or in respect of CIC. However, executives who are 
paid for exercising their corporate office but who are not eligible 
for statutory profit-sharing bonuses, incentive payments and 
retirement bonuses on account of their position, will be awarded 
compensation upon their departure from the group (indemnité 
compensatrice) pursuant to a decision of BFCM’s Board of 
Directors in July 2007. This compensation is determined by 
analogy with the provisions applicable to profit-sharing bonuses, 
incentive payments and retirement bonuses accruing to 
employees who do not hold a corporate office and are subject to 
the same conditions. In accordance with these arrangements, a 
provision has been booked in an amount of €998,960 for Étienne 
Pflimlin and €1,652,458 for Michel Lucas.

However, the group’s key executives do not have any other specific 
benefits. They have not been awarded any CIC shares or share 
equivalents. Furthermore, they are entitled to attendance fees in 
consideration for their functions within the group, but not for the 
offices they hold within group companies or other entities.

The group’s key executives may have been granted credit notes 
or loans by group banks, subject to the same terms and condi-
tions as those offered to all of the group’s employees. The 
outstanding principal on loans taken out by the group’s key 
executives amounted to €509,106 at December 31, 2007.

In accordance with a decision of the Shareholders’ Meeting, no 
attendance fees were paid to the members of the Supervisory 
Board in 2007.

Executive  
remuneration 

Recent	developments
CIC Banque CIAL and CIC Banque SNVB merged in 2007 to form 
CIC Est. The merger had retroactive effect from January 1, 2007.

At the end of March 2008, CIC expanded its footprint in Morocco, 
increasing its interest in Banque Marocaine du Commerce 
Extérieur (BMCE) from 10% to 15%.

Outlook	for	2008
Uncertainties regarding economic activity and financial markets 
going forward should not change CIC’s objectives, which include:

• continuing to expand the business base of its network;

• broadening product and service offerings in all of its markets.

Recent developments  
and outlook

Remunera t i on 	 pa id 	 t o 	 t he 	 g roup ’ s 	 key 	 execu t i ves 	 i n 	 2007 	 (a )

In respect of
Crédit mutuel

In respect of CIC        
Benefits-

in-kind (b)
Total
2007

total
2006Fixed        variable

Etienne Pflimlin 
Chairman of the
Supervisory Board 

834,405 - - - 834,405 720,079

Executive Board members

Michel Lucas 743,507 432,079 200,000 - 1,375,586 965,562

Alain Fradin - 316,365 70,000 5,123 391,488 388,606

Michel Michenko - 283,814 100,000 14,407 398,221 334,502

Jean-Jacques Tamburini - 303,504 70,000 3,000 376,504 376,399

Philippe Vidal - 303,734 120,000 - 423,734 373,949

Rémy Weber - 303,185 70,000 3,654 376,839 377,035

other executives

René Dangel 230,452 - - - 230,452 194,816

Gérard Romedenne - 253,045 100,000 9,600 362,645 348,609

(a)  Gross amount (before tax).
(b)  Company cars only, except in the case of Gérard Romedenne, who benefits solely from a company apartment and Michel Michenko, who benefits  

from both a company car and apartment.
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Risk management

This section sets out the information required by IFRS 7 regarding 
risk exposures arising from financial instruments. IFRS 7 was early 
adopted in 2006.

The figures provided here have been audited, unless expressly 
indicated otherwise by an asterisk (*).

The organizational changes made in 2006 to meet regulatory 
requirements in terms of periodic and ongoing controls became 
operational in 2007, and led to stricter oversight of processes 
across all business activities.

A risk management department was created in the last quarter of 
2007 and will allow the bank to consolidate its risk oversight 
policy and optimize risk management as regards the regulatory 
capital allocated to each business and return on equity.

Credit	risk

a - organization of the lending unit

In accordance with applicable regulations, the lending unit is 
organized around (i) loan origination procedures and (ii) risk 
monitoring and control. Lending commitments are managed 
using groupwide risk standards, which prescribe the applicable 
rules and procedures.

loan origination procedures

These draw on customer knowledge, risk assessment and credit 
approval procedures.

Customer	knowledge
The banks within the CIC group leverage the close ties that they 
have formed in their respective regional economies to obtain 
information about existing and prospective customers. Customer 
segments have been defined and risk-profiled, allowing marketing 
efforts to be targeted more effectively. Information on borrowers 
and risk analyses are kept in the loan file. A software application 
(“collecte de bilans”) checks that the banks hold the latest avail-
able accounting documentation. 

Risk	assessment
Risk assessment draws on various analyses performed at different 
stages in the lending cycle and is based on:

• customer ratings;

• risk groups;

•  the weighting of products in accordance with the type of risk 
involved and collateral and guarantees pledged.

Employees concerned receive regular refresher training on risk 
supervision and oversight.

Customer ratings
An internal system for rating customers has been defined and set 
up across all group entities. The ratings are determined based on 
either automatic algorithms for the retail banking business, or 
manual ratings grids for the financing and investment banking 
business. 

The ratings are adapted to each customer segment and are 
awarded based on the following general principles:

•  uniformity: a single method is used to determine credit ratings 
across all of the group’s French banks;

•  exhaustiveness: credit ratings are calculated for each counter-
party identified in the information system;

•  automation: credit ratings for the retail banking network are 
automatically created by the information system;

•  market-based ratings: external customers are rated using an 
algorithm specific to their particular market (private individuals, 
self-employed professionals and corporates, etc.) based on the 
category in which they are classified within the information 
system;

•  counterparty groups: the calculation of a “group” rating enables 
the individual rating for each of the group’s components to be 
weighted by the overall risk represented by the group;

•  standard reporting procedures: the same 12 ratings are used for 
all markets, comprising 9 categories of performing customer 
loans and 3 categories of customer loans in default;

•  adjustments: credit ratings are recalculated every month (initial 
rating) and adjusted on a daily basis to reflect any risk occur-
rences (final rating).

Risk groups
The creation of risk groups together with any updates are moni-
tored as appropriate by customer relationship managers, and 
periodically by a dedicated team at the level of the CIC group. 
Rules for defining risk groups are set out in a procedure incorpo-
rating the requirements of Article 1 of CRBF 93-05.

Risk weighting
Calculations of commitments take into account:

•  risks inherent to the type of credit extended: certain credit is 
weighted (discounted bills, some signature commitments);

•  guarantees and collateral pledged: a weighting is applied to all 
or part of the commitment covered by eligible collateral.
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Credit	approval	procedure
The credit approval procedure varies according to the counter-
party’s market and credit rating, and seeks to best align customer 
needs with the group’s risk appetite. The procedure is based on:

•  clearly defined signature powers;

• the principle of dual verification;

•  rules for setting maximum discretionary lending limits in propor-
tion to the lending bank’s equity;

•  remuneration adapted to the risk profile and capital consumption.

signature powers 
In the banking network, rules for signing off on loans and other 
advances are defined in a procedure which takes account of 
Basel II requirements and fundamentals for all banks. Each person 
involved in the credit approval procedure is assigned specific 
signatory powers. These are defined on the basis of:

•  the total amount of commitments within a given risk group (risk 
family, SIREN code, CRD, etc.);

• ratings for the customer or customer group;

• any exclusions.

Signatory powers are automatically assigned by a risk software 
application.

For the financing and investment banking business and for loan 
applications from the retail banking network which exceed the 
discretionary lending limits, the file is referred to the central deci-
sion-making bodies responsible for approving loans within the 
scope of clearly defined signatory powers. The CM4-CIC Credit 
Approval committee has ultimate authority and power to approve 
all loan applications in accordance with regulatory requirements.

the role of lending departments
Each regional division has a lending department which reports to 
Executive Management and is independent of operational 
management. The department has two key roles and is therefore 
split into two independent teams. One of the teams is responsible 
for checking that the loan origination decisions are appropriate 
based on the dual verification principle and that the risk taken is 
commensurate with the expected return. The other team is 
responsible for prudential oversight and credit risk assessment 
arrangements, and also performs ongoing controls.

Risk assessment and commitment  
monitoring procedures

Commitments are monitored by national and regional entities 
using Basel II-compliant tools.

Consolidated	risk	measurement	tools
The consolidated risk report provides accurate, real-time knowl-
edge of authorizations and utilizations (actual and weighted), 
and credit extended to an external customer or external customer 
group broken down by product, entity and third party (for groups). 
The tables generated each month by the consolidated risk report 
makes it possible to identify commitments:

•  by group of external customers;

•  by business line (network, large corporates, specialized financing, 
real estate professionals, international business);

• by group of external customers placed on credit watch;

• by industry sector.

The centralization of monthly lending reports sent to the Banque 
de France’s central risk division provides details of outstandings 
reported per external customer or group of external customers.

The credit risk module from the risk monitoring application 
provides an overview of total commitments as well as commit-
ments by network, subsidiary and business line. It also gives an 
overview of concentration risk, interbank risk and country risks.

Commitment	monitoring		
and	identification	of	sensitive	risks

monitoring procedures
Overruns and abnormal movements in accounts are monitored by 
the banks using advanced risk detection tools (management of 
debtors/sensitive risks/automatic reports on amounts subject to 
collection procedures), based on external and internal criteria, in 
particular ratings and account histories. These criteria help to 
systematically flag up all potential problem loans in the system so 
that the risks can be dealt with before payment incidents arise.

Regulatory and internal corporate lending limits are monitored 
independently from the loan origination process. Regulatory limits 
are determined twice a year based on the bank’s capital under 
regulation CRBF 93-05, while internal limits are defined based on 
capital and internal counterparty ratings.

Major risks arising on corporate loans are monitored on a quarterly 
basis independently from the loan origination process. In moni-
toring major risks, any commitments that exceed a number of 
warning thresholds (change in amount, investment in market 
commitments, rating downgrades) are identified.

Arrangements for monitoring lending limits for counterparties in 
the capital markets business are designed to identify overruns as 
well as any decline in the risk profile of a given counterparty.

Portfolios held by the financing and investment banking business 
and the associated risks are monitored on an ongoing basis and 
analyzed every quarter. The analysis uses risk tools to determine 
whether any loans should be classified as “sensitive”, classified in a 
different category or provisioned. Commitments undertaken by 
the network are monitored within the scope of quarterly reporting 
on loan files placed on credit watch. Quarterly monitoring proce-
dures result in an exhaustive review of internal ratings for external 
customers or groups of external customers in each portfolio.

Identification of sensitive risks, reclassification  
of loans as non-performing, and provisioning
The bank seeks to identify high-risk situations as early as possible 
using specific criteria for each customer segment, either through 
software applications or through persons in charge of the rele-
vant operations and commitments. Counterparties detected as 
high-risk are assigned an indicator to this effect.
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At-risk loans are identified, reclassified and provisioned by the risk 
software. For the network banks, the amount of the provision is 
determined by authorized managers based on the system’s recom-
mendations. For the financing and investment banking segment, 
recommendations regarding reclassification and provisioning must 
be validated.

Collection procedures
Specialist units are in charge of the collection process, which is 
organized into three separate phases: settlement in the ordinary 
course of business, out-of-court settlement and court-ordered 
settlement.

ongoing controls
Each month, a second-tier control performed by dedicated 
teams independent from the lending function identifies and 
analyzes at-risk loans based on specific criteria and decides the 
remedial action to be taken.

An automatic analysis of some twenty ratios allows the bank to 
identify branches experiencing difficulties in managing their 
commitments and to take the appropriate timely action.

This adds an additional layer of security to the credit risk manage-
ment mechanism.

Reporting	procedures

Quarterly Risk Committee
The Quarterly Risk Committee examines information concerning 
the four regulatory banking risks, namely credit, market, asset-
liability management, and operational risks.

The Committee receives the following information on credit risk:

•  key figures;

•  quarterly summary risk report, containing a quantitative and 
qualitative account of outstanding and new loans, and details of 
risk dispersion, at-risk outstandings, cost of risk and the main 
risk-related concerns;

• quantified data taken from risk monitoring reports;

•  for at-risk outstandings, a breakdown of cost of risk, loan files 
placed on credit watch, and the main additions to and reversals 
from the provision for loan losses;

• reports tracking major risks arising on corporate lending;

•  report on loan files exceeding internal or regulatory exposure 
limits;

• risk report drawn up by the CM-CIC Marchés Risk Committee.

b - Quantified data

Customer loans

Against a broadly favorable economic backdrop, customer 
outstandings grew significantly in 2007, testifying to the quality 
of the loan book and a continuing tight rein on the cost of risk.

Significant	growth	in	customer	outstandings
Total commitments with customers jumped 16.5% to €144 billion. 
This amount breaks down into €111 billion of loans and receivables 
due from customers (up 20%), €10 billion of guarantee commit-
ments reported off balance sheet (up 10%), and €23 billion of 
off-balance sheet financing commitments (up 3%).

Customer loans can be analyzed as follows:

(in € billions)
(principal amount 
at month-end)

Dec.	31,	
2007

dec. 31,
2006

Change  
2007/2006 Weighting

Short-term	loans 32.8	 26.3	 24.7% 31%

Current accounts  
in debit 4.7 4.1 15.5% 4%

Commercial loans 4.1 4.3 -4.6% 4%

Treasury facilities 23.7 17.6 34.8% 22%

Export credit 0.2 0.3 -23.5% 0%

Medium-	and	
long-term	loans 74.4	 62.1	 19.7% 69%

Capital asset financing 14.8 12.8 15.4% 14%

Home loans 49.1 39.5 24.2% 46%

Finance leases 6.3 5.8 8.3% 6%

Other 4.2 4.0 5.8% 4%

Total	customer		
loans	(1)	 107.1	 88.4	 21.2% 100%

(1) Excluding non-performing items, related accrued interest and resale agreements.

Exposure

(in € millions)
(principal amount at month-end) Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Loans	and	receivables   

Credit institutions 23,530 17,135

Customers 110,598 91,946

Gross	exposure 134,128 109,081

Provisions	for	impairment

Credit institutions (8) (9)

Customers (2,090) (2,219)

Net	exposure 132,030 106,853

(in € millions)
(principal amount at month-end) Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Financing		
commitments	given   

Credit institutions 1,069 1,308

Customers 23,080 22,321

Guarantee		
commitments	given

Credit institutions 1,033 795

Customers 10,339 9,384

Provision	for	risks	on	
commitments	given 87 110
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A	high-quality	loan	book
•  The bank focuses on counterparties with a high credit standing: 

based on the group’s 12 internal credit ratings, customers rated 
in the eight best categories represent 97% of outstandings for 
the private individuals segment, 91% of outstandings for the 
self-employed professional/corporates segment, and 98% of 
outstandings for the financing and investment banking segment. 
These data represent an improvement on 2006 with regard to 
private individuals (95%) and self-employed professionals/
corporates (90%).

• The portfolio’s country risk is not significant: with a few minor 
exceptions, the loan book is essentially exposed to risks arising 
in France and other OECD countries.

Guarantees and collateral received on home loans can be 
analyzed as follows:

(in € millions)
(principal amount at month-end) Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Home	loans 49,178 39,489

Secured by Crédit Logement 
guarantees 14,800 11,177

Secured by mortgage guarantees 
or other first-lien guarantees 23,606 25,101

Other (1) 10,772 3,211

(1) Junior mortgages, pledges, etc.

A	diversified	portfolio
•  The group’s counterparty risks are well diversified, with the 10 

largest customer groups accounting for less than 4% of the 
group’s balance sheet and off-balance sheet outstandings at 
December 31, 2007. CIC complied with regulatory requirements 
concerning large exposures at this date.

•  The group also seeks to diversify its industry commitments, and 
has no concentration of commitments in a given sector. This 
results from close risk monitoring of cyclical industries (prop-
erty, aeronautics, etc.) and industries hit by unforeseen adverse 
events (poultry farming, automotive parts manufacturers, 
freight industries, etc.).

Breakdown of loans by customer type

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Public 62% 63%

Corporates 26% 28%

Large corporates 8% 6%

Specialized financing 4% 3%

The breakdown of loans by customer type is based on all of the 
CIC group’s French entities.

geographic breakdown of risks on customer items

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

France 90% 92%

Europe excluding France 7% 6%

Other countries 3% 2%

Concentration of customer risk*

Principal amount in € millions Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Commitments	(1)	exceeding	
€300m

Number of counterparty groups 25 25

Total commitments 15,849 15,467

Balance sheet 6,670 6,189

Off-balance sheet (guarantee 
and financing commitments) 9,179 9,278

Total credit notes  
(current account, securities) 2,931 10,305

Commitments	(1)	exceeding	
€100m

Number of counterparty groups 78 88

Total commitments 25,454 26,338

Balance sheet 10,303 10,070

Off-balance sheet (guarantee 
and financing commitments) 15,151 16,268

Total credit notes (current 
account, securities) 4,607 12,163

(1)  Commitments= risk-weighted balance sheet utilizations + off-balance sheet 
guarantee and financing commitments.

Change in methodology in 2007 regarding the recognition of current account 
receivables: at the end of 2007, current accounts are offset using the regula-
tory method described in report no. 4003 on major risks.

No major risk represents more than 25% of regulatory capital.

Industry breakdown

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Business services 21.1% 21.9%

Real estate 18.9% 18.4%

Manufacturing 15.9% 16.2%

Commerce 13.1% 13.5%

Finance 10.6% 9.0%

Construction 6.7% 6.8%

Transport and communications 3.4% 3.7%

Hotels and restaurants 3.0% 3.2%

Social and personal service 
activities 1.4% 1.3%

Agriculture, hunting and forestry 1.2% 1.2%

Health and social work 1.2% 1.3%

This breakdown was based on balance sheet and off-balance sheet 
outstandings reported in information systems and classified using 
the French industry classification codes (NAF). NAF codes are 
based on the segmentation prescribed by INSEE. 
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Country risks

Principal 
amount in  
€ millions

Outstanding	
amount	at	
Dec.	31,	
2007

2007	
provisions

outstanding 
amount at 

dec. 31, 
2006

2006 
provisions

Argentina 0.1  

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina 0.1 0.1  

Congo  2.5 2.4

Côte d’Ivoire 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Gabon 4.9 4.5 3.3 2.8

Lebanon 0.1 0.1 0.1

Niger 0.4 0.2

Somalia 0.3 0.3

Venezuela 1.5 1.0 2.7 1.1

Total 6.7 5.6 9.6 7.0

The provisions set aside only concern non-performing and litigious 
loans granted to public bodies located in high-risk countries. 

Breakdown of performing customer loans by internal rating

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

A+ and A- 24.6% 25.8%

B+ and B- 34.5% 35.5%

C+ and C- 27.5% 24.3%

D+ and D- 10.9% 11.4%

E+ 2.6% 3.0%

Tight	rein	on	cost	of	risk
Non-performing loans fell 5% year-on-year to €3,161 million  
at December 31, 2007 compared with €3,339 million at  
December 31, 2006, representing 2.9% of total outstandings 
(3.7% at December 31, 2006).

The coverage ratio of non-performing loans (excluding provi-
sions for country risks and portfolio-based impairment provisions) 
was 63.6% at December 31, 2007, compared with 64.3% at 
December 31, 2006.

Net additions to provisions for loan losses (excluding portfolio-
based provisions) totaled €107 million in 2007, representing 
0.10% of total outstandings at December 31, 2007.

Quality of risks arising on customer items

(in € millions)
(principal amount at month-end) Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Individually-impaired loans  
and receivables 3,161 3,339

Provision for individual 
impairment (2,013) (2,146)

Provision for collective 
impairment (77) (69)

Coverage	ratio 66.1% 66.3%

Coverage	ratio	(individual	
impairment	provision	only) 63.7% 64.3%

unpaid loans and receivables
Unpaid installments on customer loans that were not classified as non-performing can be analyzed as follows by maturity:

		
Dec.	31,	2007

(in € millions)
less than  
3 months

more than  
3 months  

and less than 
6 months

more than  
6 months  

and less than  
1 year

more than  
1 year Total

Debt	instruments 0 0 0 0 0

Loans	and	receivables 1,923 9 0 0 1,932

Central banks 12 0 0 0 12

Credit institutions 14 0 0 0 14

Non-financial institutions 0 0 0 0 0

Large corporates 304 0 0 0 304

Retail customers 1,593 9 0 0 1,602

Other financial assets 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 1,923 9 0 0 1,932
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Interbank loans

Interbank loans by geographic area*

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

France 18% 15%

Europe excluding France 52% 49%

Other countries 30% 36%

The breakdown of interbank loans is based on the country of the 
parent company. The entities concerned are mainly European 
and US banks.

Interbank loans by internal rating*

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

A+ 5.1% 5.0%

A- 54.6% 55.3%

B+ 27.3% 27.7%

B- 10.4% 9.5%

C and below 2.2% 2.0%

Not rated 0.4% 0.5%

debt securities

The securities portfolio relates primarily to capital markets activ-
ities and to a lesser extent, asset-liability management.

(in € millions)
(principal amount at month-end)

Dec.	31,	2007	
Carrying	
amount

dec. 31, 2006 
Carrying 
amount

Government securities 23,105 22,748

Bonds 38,878 33,795

Derivative instruments 7,010 3,759

Repurchase agreements  
and securities lending 27,773 22,937

Gross	exposure 96,766 83,239

Provisions	for	impairment		
of	securities (12) (2)

Net	exposure 96,754 83,237

Asset-liability	management	(ALM)	risk

organization

CIC’s asset-liability management functions, which were previously 
organized on a decentralized basis, are being gradually centralized.

BFCM is responsible for managing liquidity risk and refinancing 
transactions for the entire group. In 2008, a central unit will be 
given responsibility for managing interest rate risk according to the 
same approach.

The roles and responsibilities of ALM departments in each of the 
regional banks and CIC are clearly defined:

•  Asset-liability management is identified as a function separate 
from trading room operations and has its own budget and 
teams.

•  Its objectives are to shelter lending margins from the effects of 
interest and exchange rate fluctuations and to ensure that the 
bank has sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations and protect 
it from a liquidity crisis.

• ALM does not operate as a profit center.

ALM teams, which are in constant contact with sales teams 
throughout the network, contribute actively to defining the bank’s 
sales and marketing policy in terms of lending criteria and rules 
governing internal transfer rates.

Pending the move towards centralization, ALM teams also pool 
data from the regional banks in order to determine the group’s 
overall position and ensure compliance with regulatory ratios.

Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risks incurred in commercial operations stem from 
interest rate differentials and differences in benchmark lending 
and borrowing rates captured using a prospective analysis that 
takes into account trends in outstanding loans and embedded 
options (early repayment and roll-over options for loans and 
confirmed credit line drawdowns, etc.).

Macro-hedging transactions are set up to protect the bank 
against overall interest rate risk. However, specific hedges may 
also be set up for customer items involving a material amount or 
a specific structure.

Exposure limits are determined by central teams in relation to the 
projected net banking income of each group entity. The limits 
defined apply to all of the group’s banks.

Interest rate risk is monitored chiefly using (i) fixed-rate gaps and 
(ii) calculations of the sensitivity of net banking income to 
changes in interest rates.

At December 31, 2007, CIC’s statutory net interest income was 
exposed to rising interest rates. The gross sensitivity of CIC’s statu-
tory net assets (change in net banking income triggered by a rise of 
1 point in interest rates and 0.33 point in inflation) is a negative 
€17.5 million in year 1 and a negative €11.9 million in year 2, corre-
sponding respectively to 2.4% and 1.56% of projected net banking 
income for each year.

liquidity risk management

The CIC group attaches great importance to managing liquidity 
risks in conjunction with its shareholder BFCM, which handles the 
group’s long-term refinancing. Various liquidity risk indicators are 
monitored:

•  the static liquidity gap, based on contractual and agreed matur-
ities, which enables the group to identify any liquidity gaps on 
future maturities of loans and borrowings;

•  percentages of loans over different maturities match-funded 
by deposits with the same maturity. This allows the group to 
factor in new loans granted on a prospective basis;

•  the regulatory liquidity ratio, which compares deposits maturing 
in less than one month to loans with the same maturity.
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At December 31, 2007, the liquidity ratio was 150% (compared to a 
regulatory minimum of 100%) and the five-year coverage ratio was 
63%.

Thanks to its prudent management of liquidity risk, CIC maintained a 
comfortable level of liquidity throughout 2007, including in the more 
strained second half of the year.

The group regularly turns to institutional lenders such as the 
European Investment Bank or Caisse de Refinancement de l’Habitat 
in order to finance its expansion. It also borrows on the financial 
markets through BFCM.

Breakdown of certain assets and liabilities by residual maturity of contractual cash inflows (principal amount)

Contractual	residual	
maturity

(in € millions)

Dec.	31,	2007

(a)  
1 month 
or less

more than 
1 month 
and less 

than  
3 months

more than 
3 months 
and less 

than 1 year

more than 
1 year and 
less than  
2 years

more than 
2 years 
and less 

than  
5 years

more than  
5 years

(b)  
no fixed 
maturity total

Assets 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

Financial assets held for 
trading 1,768 1,297 3,691 3,901 15,848 21,980 4,503 52,990

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 12,741 10,961 2,283 303 1,263 39 770 28,360

Available-for-sale financial 
assets 252 214 1,337 2,150 4,137 5,333 2,073 15,495

Loans and receivables 27,679 11,808 10,576 10,305 23,910 44,613 5,402 134,292

Held-to-maturity 
investments 40 6 41 225 228 2 36 578

Liabilities         

Central bank deposits 34 25 59

Financial liabilities held  
for trading 1,006 21 204 1,018 3,100 6,969 4,995 17,314

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss 18,155 18,316 7,963 115 42 44,591

Derivatives used for hedging 
purposes 1,027 4 5 15 44 64 1,485 2,644

Financial	liabilities	
carried	at	amortized	cost 81,907 36,000 18,394 3,371 7,952 17,278 3,502 168,406

Of which debt securities, 
including bonds 13,016 19,823 4,593 561 751 2,155 62 40,961

Of which subordinated debt 47 174 44 353 1,170 1,747 3,535
(a) Including accrued interest and securities given/received under repurchase/resale agreements.
(b)  Including undated debt securities, equities, non-performing and litigious loans and impairment losses. For financial instruments marked to market, this figure also 

includes differences between fair value and redemption value.

Currency risk

Customer transactions in foreign currency are hedged by the 
various group banks. The residual exposure is very limited. CIC 
does not have any long-term or recurring positions in foreign 
currencies, except for capital contributions to foreign branches.

Equity	risk
CIC is exposed to various types of equity risks.

Equities held in the trading portfolio amounted to €2,023 million 
at December 31, 2007 (€2,374 million at December 31, 2006), 
and solely concerned CIC’s capital markets business (see Note 5b 
to the consolidated financial statements).

Equities accounted for under the fair value option related primar-
ily to the private equity business for €1,627 million (see Note 5a 
to the consolidated financial statements).

Equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets and various 
outstanding investments in companies amounted to €141 million 
and €1,828 million, respectively (see Note 7 to the consolidated 
financial statements).
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private equity

The group’s private equity business comprises dedicated private 
equity firms whose portfolios are all accounted for under the fair 
value option.

The portfolios comprise some 600 investment projects, relating 
mainly to small- and medium-sized enterprises. Investments in 
unlisted companies represent 75% of the value of the private 
equity portfolio.

Amount	invested Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Number of listed investment 
projects 71 94

Number of active unlisted 
investment projects 478 498

Number of funds 31 24

Proprietary portfolio (€ millions) 1,592 1,369

Funds managed on behalf of 
third parties (€ millions) 451 385

Market	risk

general structure

Since 2006, the capital markets activities of BFCM and CIC have 
been combined within CM-CIC Marchés, which falls under the 
responsibility of a single management team. 

At December 31, 2007, CM-CIC Marchés accounted for 82% of the 
CIC group’s overall market risks, as determined for the purpose of 
compliance with the requirements of the European Capital 
Adequacy Directive (CAD).

CM-CIC Marchés is organized around three business lines: refi-
nancing, commercial, and proprietary operations.

Capital market transactions negotiated by CM-CIC Marchés are 
processed and reported in the balance sheets of BFCM (refinanc-
ing) or CIC (commercial and proprietary operations). Commercial 
transactions carried out by the regional banks are also recorded 
in CIC’s balance sheet. Lastly, market transactions may also be 
processed and recorded in the group’s branches in New York and 
Singapore. The London office no longer has any proprietary trad-
ing activities.

Refinancing	business
A dedicated treasury management team is responsible for refi-
nancing (i) retail banking operations and subsidiaries; (ii) corporate 
and specialized financing; (iii) proprietary transactions carried out 
by the CM-CIC trading desk; and (iv) instruments used to meet the 
group’s liquidity needs. The refinancing business seeks to diversify 
its investor base through teams based in Paris, Frankfurt and 
London.

The products concerned consist mainly of monetary instruments 
and futures used to hedge interest rate and exchange rates.

Commercial	business
The sales teams working out of Paris or the regions use a wide 
range of standardized tools and products. A dedicated technical 
desk responsible for designing, match funding and reversing 
positions (“CAR”) has been set up to optimize prices, preserve 
commercial margins and reverse positions on exchange rate and 
interest rate instruments.

Proprietary	operations	business
Proprietary operations comprise some ten business lines (mainly 
arbitrage-related), that can be combined into specific groups 
such as interest rate, equities, hybrid instruments, credit spreads 
and fixed income. These groups are themselves split into special-
ist areas, and are called upon to create value in a disciplined risk 
environment and to drive commercial development. 

description of internal control structures

In 2007, the internal control function pressed ahead with its drive 
to improve the group’s risk management organization and meth-
odologies.

All relevant methodologies and procedures are documented and 
regularly updated.

The role of internal control teams is to ensure that daily and 
periodic reports are consistently produced in a timely and reli-
able fashion. The reports contain full details of the results and 
risks relating to the group’s various activities. The internal control 
teams also prepare analyses of the reports for presentation to 
the management of each business line.

Internal control arrangements for the CIC group’s capital markets 
activities are as follows:

•  All capital markets activities (front office, control function, 
back office) are under the responsibility of a member of CIC’s 
Executive Board, who reports to CIC’s Executive Board and 
BFCM’s Board of Directors.

•  The front-office units that execute transactions are segregated 
from those responsible for the monitoring of risks and results 
(control function) and from those in charge of transaction vali-
dation, settlement and recording (back-office function).

•  Since 2007, internal control teams have operated under the 
responsibility of the group’s risk division, which provides risk 
oversight and has BFCM’s Board of Directors and CIC’s Executive 
Board validate the level of capital held by the bank.

•  The system of ongoing controls is based on first-tier controls 
carried out by three teams:

-  the risks and results team, which validates production and 
monitors results on a daily basis;

-  a team in charge of accounting and regulatory issues, respon-
sible for reconciling accounting and economic results and for 
providing oversight on regulatory matters;

-  a third team in charge of legal and market compliance, 
responsible for major legal issues.

•  Second-tier controls are performed by several teams:

-  the capital markets internal control department, which reports 
to the divisional ongoing control department, is tasked with 
performing ongoing second-tier controls on the group’s spe-
cialized businesses;

-  the CIC group’s lending department, which ensures compliance 
with lending procedures and monitors at-risk outstandings for 
each counterparty group;

-  the CIC group’s legal and tax department, which supervises the 
compliance team of CM-CIC Marchés;

-  the CIC group’s finance department, which supervises 
accounting procedures and templates and is responsible for 
accounting and regulatory issues.
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•  The CMCEE-CIC group’s periodic controls team comprises spe-
cialists who carry out periodic controls and compliance checks 
in respect of capital markets activities.

•  The back office is organized by product line. Teams based in 
Paris and Strasbourg handle all transaction administration.

•  Lastly, capital markets activities are overseen by two committees:

-  a Risk Committee that meets monthly to monitor strategy, 
results and risks in relation to the limits prescribed by the 
Executive Board, and to assess the risks incurred by the capi-
tal markets businesses and foreign branches; and

-  a Steering Committee that meets weekly to coordinate all 
operational aspects (information systems, budget, human 
resources and procedures).

Risk management

The system used to set exposure limits for market risk is based on:

•  potential loss limits;

•  internal rules and scenarios – including CAD ratios as well as 
historical VaR and stress tests (currently being developed), 
which convert exposures into potential losses.

The limits set are intended to cover various types of market risk 
(interest rate, currency, equity and counterparty risks). The 
aggregate limit is broken down into sub-limits for each desk. 
Netting between different types of risk is not permitted.

Risks are monitored based on first-tier indicators such as sensitivity 
to various market risk factors (mainly for traders), and second-tier 
indicators such as potential losses, to provide an accessible over-
view of capital markets exposures for decision-makers.

At December 31, 2007, regulatory capital allocated in respect of 
risks relating to the proprietary operations and commercial busi-
nesses was €470 million and €20 million respectively, compared to 
a capital consumption of €400 million and €11 million, respectively.

The principal trading desk risks are as follows:

•  Global macro risks: these involve directional risk-taking and 
relative-value arbitrage between different asset classes. The 
CAD measurement stood at €13.6 million at year-end. 

•  Credit and hybrid arbitrage: these positions correspond to either 
securities/CDS arbitrage operations, or to credit correlation 
positions. Amid particularly strained market conditions, the risk 
on the credit arbitrage portfolio remained broadly stable 
(around €30 million based on the CAD measurement). The ABS 
portfolio relating to CM-CIC Marchés continued to expand 
year-on-year (average of €76 million based on the CAD mea-
surement in the last quarter of 2007 versus €62 million in 
2006). The credit correlation business based solely on Itraxx/
CDX tranches hit a peak of €47 million in June before falling 
back to its early-2007 level of €30 million in December. 
Outstanding convertible bonds remained stable at €3.6 billion.

•  M&A and miscellaneous equities: the capital requirement gen-
erated by equity risk stood at €111 million at end-2007 and was 
64%-attributable to M&A strategies (takeovers and share 
swaps). Compliance with the CAD is particularly onerous in M&A, 
the related potential loss being about three times higher than 
that obtained using the group’s internal measurement approach. 
M&A outstandings stood at around €580 million at the end of 
December.

•  Fixed income: positions relate to yield-curve arbitrage, typically 
with an underlying security. There are also arbitrage transac-
tions involving OECD government securities with identical 
maturities but different issuers, or with the same issuers but with 
different maturities. At year-end, capital consumption based on 
the CAD measurement was on a par with its level at the begin-
ning of the year (€27 million). Commercial paper in respect of 
which the group has entered into swaps remained stable year-
on-year, at €12 billion.

The daily cash position of CM-CIC Marchés must not exceed a 
specific threshold and a warning will be issued in the event that an 
intermediate threshold is crossed. These limits are defined by 
management. The cash position is managed both individually and 
collectively with BFCM, the group’s refinancing arm. During the 
year, the daily cash position never exceeded the authorized 
threshold.

Credit derivatives

Credit derivatives are used by CM-CIC Marchés and much more 
infrequently by the group’s Singapore branch.

All CM-CIC Marchés credit derivatives are carried in its trading 
portfolio.

Credit derivatives are included in the credit/counterparty risk 
management and oversight process.

Trading desks are subject to exposure limits by issuer or counter-
party for all types of products. Outstanding amounts are 
monitored on a daily basis and exposure limits are reviewed peri-
odically by the Lending Committees and Capital Markets 
Committees.

European	capital	adequacy	ratio*
Since January 1, 1996, banks have been required to include 
market risks – corresponding mainly to interest rate, currency, 
equity and settlement/counterparty risks on trading portfolios – 
in the calculation of their capital adequacy ratio, in accordance 
with the terms of the European Capital Adequacy Directive 
(CAD).

The overall capital requirement is equal to the sum of the capital 
required to cover credit risks on total risk-weighted assets, 
excluding the trading portfolio, and that required to cover market 
risks on the trading portfolio, plus any additional requirement in 
respect of large exposures.

The CIC group calculates the capital requirement for market risk 
using the standard regulatory model.

The capital requirement is equal to 8% of weighted net risks.
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Principal amount in € millions
Dec.	31,	
2007

dec. 31, 
2006

Credit risk

• on customer transactions 8,045 6,547

• on interbank transactions 386 342

• on other transactions 413 387

Market risk 418 355

TOTAL	CAPITAL	REQUIREMENT 9,263 7,631

Total regulatory capital 10,982 10,421

o/w Tier 1 capital 9,488 8,523

Capital adequacy ratio (basis 8%) 119% 136%

Total capital adequacy ratio* 9.5% 10.9%

Tier 1 ratio* 8.2% 8.9%

* Regulatory capital divided by weighted net risks.

Credit risks on customer transactions rose 22.9%, reflecting a 
21.6% increase in total customer loans, excluding resale agree-
ments, and a 24.9% increase in home loans.

Credit risks on customer transactions represent 86.9% of total 
credit risks. CAD risks represent 4.5%.

The overall capital adequacy ratio must be above 8%.  
At December 31, 2007, the CIC group complied with all applicable 
regulatory ratios.

Operational	risk*
In the context of Basel II capital adequacy regulations, CIC has been 
implementing a comprehensive operational risk management 
system under the responsibility of senior management since 2002. 
Groupwide guidelines describe the risks concerned and the quanti-
tative evaluation methods to be used.

The remit of operational risk management teams covers CM4-CIC 
(banks, federations and business centers); and by delegation, the 
Crédit Mutuel-CIC group.

The system in place for measuring and monitoring operational risk 
is based on a common body of standards valid throughout the 
Crédit Mutuel-CIC group, on a risk map setting out an approach for 
identifying and modeling risks, and on the level of capital required to 
be held in respect of operational risk.

The Crédit Mutuel-CIC group has developed consistent, structured 
procedures for mapping each generic potential risk and for reporting 
risks for eight business lines and seven Basel II risk events. They also 
allow teams to compare loss experience (known risks) with potential 
risks.

Crédit Mutuel-CIC has opted for the advanced measurement 
approach (AMA) to operational risk. Only banking subsidiaries 
outside France (Belgium, Luxembourg, Switzerland, etc.) and 
factoring subsidiaries will continue to use the standard approach for 
the time being.

main objectives

The operational risk management policy being set up by the 
group is designed:

•  to contribute to the group’s effective management by control-
ling risks and the associated costs;

•  on a human front, to protect staff, develop responsibility, 
autonomy and control, and leverage skills groupwide;

•  from an economic standpoint, to protect margins by effectively 
managing operational risk across all activities, ensure returns 
on the investments made to achieve compliance with banking 
regulations, optimize capital allocated in respect of risk and 
adapt insurance policies to the risks identified;

•  from a regulatory standpoint, to respond effectively to Basel II 
capital requirements and supervisory authorities, develop a reli-
able system of internal control (CRBF 97.02), optimize disaster 
recovery plans for mission-critical operations (CRBF 2004-02), 
and adapt financial reporting (Third Pillar of Basel II and French 
NRE and LSF Acts).

Role and position of the operational  
risk management function

The operational risk management function coordinates and 
consolidates the entire procedure assisted by a dedicated team 
focused on groupwide issues, and also assists the operational risk 
managers in each regional group.

The regional operational risk management function implements 
the risk procedure and verifies that it is consistent with the overall 
risk management policy. It is assisted by the operational risk 
manager for the regional group.

operational risk measurement  
and control procedure

Risk maps broken down by business line (as defined by Basel II) 
and by type of risk, have been drawn up for all activities, with 
probability-based models culled from the work of outside experts. 
The models are validated by the Operational Risks Committee. 
Capital allocations are calculated at regional and national level.

Operational risk mitigation efforts include:

•  risk-reducing preventive action (costing less than the risk being 
dealt with) identified during the mapping process, which is 
implemented directly by line employees and by ongoing controls 
and quality assurance teams;

•  safeguard initiatives, which have emphasized disaster recovery, 
logistics and IT solutions for all mission-critical operations.

A holistic and consistent crisis management process, linked to 
the system for interbank operations, has been rolled out across 
the group.

Operational risk financing programs are reviewed as and when the 
results of the assessments of “net risks” are available (including 
any identified risk-reducing measures), based on the following 
principles:

•  Insurance is taken out for eligible serious or major risks and self-
insurance stepped up for losses below the deductibles of 
external insurers and for intragroup risks.
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•  Insurance is taken out for frequency risks when appropriate, or 
such risks are financed by withholding amounts on an operating 
account (expected loss).

•  Serious risks not eligible for insurance and the residual unin-
sured risk are covered by the regulatory capital reserve 
(unexpected loss).

•  Major risks arising from interbank exchange and payment 
systems are covered by liquidity reserves set up and allocated 
on a per-system basis.

Reporting and general oversight

The application of the operational risk management policy and 
risk profile is monitored using key indicators, thresholds and 
warnings covering the assessment of potential risks, changes in 
loss experience and the effectiveness of certain risk-reduction 
and financing measures. The group’s executive and governance 
bodies are regularly supplied with this risk data.

disaster recovery plans 

Disaster recovery plans are part of the safeguard measures put in 
place by the company to limit any losses resulting from opera-
tional risk.

Disaster recovery plan guidelines have been drawn up for use by 
the Crédit Mutuel-CIC group. These guidelines may be consulted 
by all teams concerned by disaster recovery plans and are appli-
cable at the level of the CM4-CIC group.

Plans fall into two categories:

•  Business-specific disaster recovery plans relate to a banking 
line of business calibrated to a business identified by Basel II.

•  Cross-functional disaster recovery plans are drafted for activities 
providing business support services. The plans cover logistics, HR 
and IT issues and can be split into three components:

•  Security plan: this is triggered immediately and involves measures 
designed to cope with emergencies and offer solutions.

•  Business continuity plan: this involves resuming business under 
adverse conditions in line with pre-defined procedures. 

•  Back-on-track plan: the preparation of this plan starts just after 
the launch of the business continuity plan. The time needed to 
implement this stage depends on the damage inflicted by the 
crisis.

organization of crisis management procedures

Crisis management procedures put in place at the level of the 
CM4-CIC group cover reporting obligations and identify the most 
efficient organization for handling security, business continuity 
and back-on-track plans. 

These procedures are based on :

•  a Crisis Committee which takes key decisions, prioritizes action 
plans and handles the internal and external reporting of events. 
This Committee is chaired by the CEO of the regional division or 
by the group CEO at national level;

•  a crisis unit which pools information, implements the decisions 
taken and provides follow-up;

•  a crisis liaison team for each business line, responsible for coordi-
nating management of the crisis on the ground together with the 
crisis unit. The main focus of the team’s work is putting in place a 
disaster recovery plan until business gets back to normal.

Insurance deducted from equity

The possibility of deducting insurance from equity under the 
advanced measurement approach is summarized in Article 371 – 1 
to 3 of the February 20, 2007 decree on regulatory capital require-
ments applicable to credit institutions and investment firms. At 
year-end, the CM4-CIC group complies with such provisions.

The group takes out insurance only with accredited insurers rated  
3 or above (equivalent to a BBB+/BBB- rating by long-term credit 
rating agencies). Policies spanning a term of one year or more 
require the group to give at least 90 days’ notice of cancellation 
and do not contain restrictive clauses other than statutory clauses 
relating to a failure to pay premiums or misrepresentations. Policies 
managed by captive insurers will not be deducted from equity.

training

In 2007 the CM4-CIC group launched a training initiative for all 
CIC and Crédit Mutuel branch directors on prudential procedures. 
The course informs trainees about types of risks, prevention and 
control measures and procedures for identifying and reporting 
any losses over €1,000.

operational risk loss experience for CIC in 2007

The annual cost amounted to €47.1 million in 2007, including 
€41.6 million of actual losses and €5.5 million of provisions (similar 
to 2006).

The cost of operational risk relates to:

• industrial relations: €23 million;

• fraud: €14 million;

•  legal issues: write-backs of provisions for prior year claims 
resulted in a positive €2.7 million;

• human/procedural errors: €11,8 million;

• natural disasters: €0.9 million.

Fraud committed by persons outside the group (often involving 
payment systems), involuntary errors and industrial relations 
continue to be the three main causes of losses.

Other	risks

legal risks

The CIC group is not exposed to any material legal risks.

Industrial and environmental risks

N/A. 
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TOTAL	ASSETS 250,909 214,313	

consolidAted bAlAnce sheet

ASSETS

(in € millions) notes Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Cash and amounts due from central banks 4 5,652 3,026 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   5 81,349 50,543 

Derivatives used for hedging purposes  6 2,783 1,207 

Available-for-sale financial assets 7 15,495 13,672 

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions 4 24,505 39,379 

Loans and receivables due from customers 8 109,787 90,312 

Remeasurement adjustment on interest rate risk hedged portfolios 9 106 83 

Held-to-maturity financial assets   10 578 675 

Current tax assets 11 432 356 

Deferred tax assets 12 235 192 

Accruals and other assets 13 7,311 12,383 

Investments in associates   14 872 878 

Investment property 15 15 13 

Property and equipment and finance leases (lessee accounting)   16 1,473 1,394 

Intangible assets 17 195 116 

Goodwill 18 121 84 
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LIABILITIES	AND	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY

(in € millions) notes Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Due to central banks 19 60 387 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 20 61,905 22,847 

Derivatives used for hedging purposes 6 2,644 1,338 

Due to credit institutions 19 59,094 80,654 

Due to customers 21 64,816 58,381 

Debt securities 22 40,961 26,203 

Remeasurement adjustment on interest rate risk hedged portfolios 9 201 121 

Current tax liabilities 11 141 165 

Deferred tax liabilities 12 233 251 

Accruals and other liabilities 23 7,785 11,628 

Provisions for contingencies 24 593 626 

Subordinated notes 25 3,535 3,840 

Shareholders’ equity 8,941 7,872

Attributable to equity holders of the parent 8,475 7,462 

- Capital stock 574 567 

- Additional paid-in capital 844 736 

- Consolidated reserves 5,416 4,332 

- Unrealized or deferred gains and losses 26 502 553 

- Net income for the year 1,139 1,274 

Minority interests 466 410 

TOTAL	LIABILITIES	AND	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY 250,909 214,313
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consolidAted income stAtement

(in € millions) notes	 2007 2006

Interest income 28 9,923 8,675)

Interest expense 28 (9,992) (8,109)

Commission income 29 2,084 1,923)

Commission expense 29 (527) (479)

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  30 2,474 2,083)

Net gain/(loss) on available-for-sale financial assets 31 186 217)

Income from other activities 32 86 57)

Expense on other activities 32 (41) (13)

Net	banking	income	 4,193 4,354)

Payroll costs 33a (1,613) (1,579)

Other general operating expenses 33c (928) (902)

Depreciation and amortization 34 (143) (134)

Operating	income	before	provisions 1,509 1,739)	

Net additions to/reversals from provisions for loan losses 35 (120) (80)

Operating	income	after	provisions 1,389 1,659)

Share of income/(loss) of associates 14 98 110)

Net gain/(loss) on disposals of other assets 36 13 10)

Income	before	tax 1,500 1,779)

Corporate income tax 37 (296) (445)

Net	income 1,204 1,334)

Minority interests 65 60 )

NET	INCOME 1,139 1,274)

Basic earnings per share (in €) 38 32.16 36.18)

Diluted earnings per share (in €) 38 32.16 36.18)
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consolidAted stAtement of chAnGes in shAreholders’ equity

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent minority 
interests

unrealized  
or deferred

gains and losses

(in € millions)
Capital 
stock

additional  
paid-in 
capital

Elimination 
of treasury

stock Reserves (1)

Cumulative
translation 
adjustment

on aFs
financial 
assets (2)

on 
hedging 

instruments

net 
income
for the 

year total

Equity	at	Jan.	1,	2006	 563 736 3,917) 19) 269 (3) 578) 6,079) 396)

Consolidated income  
for the year 1,274) 1,274) 60)

Appropriation of prior 
year earnings 578 (578)

Dividends paid (144) (144) (17)

Capital increase 4 51 55)

Elimination of treasury 
stock (55) (55)

Translation adjustments (30) (30)

Impact of remeasurement (1) (1)

Change in fair value  
of AFS financial assets (2) (2) 286 1) 285) (1)

Restructuring and 
internal asset sales  (1) (1)

Impact of changes  
in group structure (3) (3) (28)

Other movements 3 3)

Equity	at	Dec.	31,	2006 567 736 (55) 4,398 (11) 555 (2) 1,274) 7,462) 410)

Equity	at	Jan.	1,	2007 567 736 (55) 4,398) (11) 555 (2) 1,274) 7,462) 410)

Consolidated income  
for the year 1,139) 1,139) 65)

Appropriation of prior 
year earnings 1,274) (1,274)

Capital increase 7 108 115)

Dividends paid (156) (156) (26)

Translation adjustments (37) (37)

Change in fair value  
of AFS financial assets (2) (3) (51) (54) (15)

Restructuring and 
internal asset sales  (1) (1)

Impact of changes  
in group structure (2) (2) 32)

Other movements 9) 9)

Equity	at	Dec.	31,	2007 574 844 (55) 5,519) (48) 504) (2) 1,139) 8,475) 466)

(1)  At December 31, 2007, reserves comprised the legal reserve for €56 million, the special long-term capital gains reserve for €287 million, unappropriated retained 
earnings for €1,252 million, other reserves for €320 million and post-acquisition retained earnings for €3,604 million.

(2) AFS: Available for sale.
At December 31, 2007, CIC’s capital stock comprised 35,851,678 shares with a par value of €16, including 229,741 treasury shares.
At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, shareholders will be asked to approve the payment of a dividend of €4.80 per share in respect of 2007, representing a total 
dividend of €171 million.
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consolidAted stAtement of cAsh flows

(in € millions) 2007 2006

Net income 1,204 1,334

Corporate income tax 296 445

Income	before	tax 1,500 1,779

Net depreciation/amortization expense on property and equipment and intangible assets 149 130

Impairment of goodwill and other non-current assets 0 0

Net additions to provisions (221) (180)

Share of income/loss of associates (98) (110)

Net loss/gain from investing activities (109) (92)

(Income)/expense from financing activities 0

Other movements 389 995

Non-monetary	items	included	in	income	before	tax	and	other	adjustments 110 743

Cash flows relating to interbank transactions (7,752) 5,698

Cash flows relating to customer transactions (13,467) (11,462)

Cash flows relating to other transactions affecting financial assets or liabilities 22,337 3,460

Cash flows relating to other transactions affecting non-financial assets or liabilities 1,086 (1,188)

Taxes paid (467) (387)

Net	decrease/(increase)	in	assets	and	liabilities	from	operating	activities 1,737 (3,879)

CASH	FLOWS	FROM	(USED	IN)	OPERATING	ACTIVITIES	(A) 3,347 (1,357)

Cash	flows	relating	to	financial	assets	and	investments	(1)	 (414) 235

Cash	flows	relating	to	investment	property	 (3) 1

Cash	flows	relating	to	property	and	equipment	and	intangible	assets	 (212) (206)

CASH	FLOWS	FROM	(USED	IN)	INVESTING	ACTIVITIES	(B) (629) 30

Cash	flows	relating	to	transactions	with	shareholders	(2)	 (44) (156)

Other	net	cash	flows	relating	to	financing	activities	(3)	 (284) 939

CASH	FLOWS	FROM	(USED	IN)	FINANCING	ACTIVITIES	(C) (328) 783

IMPACT	OF	MOVEMENTS	IN	EXCHANGE	RATES	ON	CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS	(D) 12 43

Net	increase/(decrease)	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	(A+B+C+D) 2,402 (501)

Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities (A) 3,347 (1,357)

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities (B) (629) 30

Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities (C) (328) 783

Impact of movements in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (D) 12 43

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	beginning	of	year 1,846 2,347

Cash accounts and accounts with central banks and post office banks 2,639 2,621

Demand loans and deposits – credit institutions (793) (274)

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	end	of	year 4,248 1,846

Cash accounts and accounts with central banks and post office banks 5,592 2,639

Demand loans and deposits – credit institutions (1,344) (793)

CHANGE	IN	CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS 2,402 (501)

(1)  Cash flows relating to financial assets and investments 
This item reflects mainly the acquisition of shares in Banca Popolare di Milano and Véolia Environnement for a total amount of €470 million.

(2)  Cash flows relating to transactions with shareholders 
This item includes €156 million in dividends paid by CIC to its shareholders in respect of 2006. 
CIC increased its capital by €114 million further the exercising of the option of paying dividends in the form of shares.

(3)  other net cash flows relating to financing activities  
In 2007, the CIC group redeemed €80 million in subordinated notes, €13 million in bonds and €191 million in perpetual subordinated notes,  
representing a total amount of €284 million.
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>  notes	to	the	consolidated		
financial	statements

The notes are presented in millions of euros (€ millions).

Information required by IFRS 7 regarding the exposure to risks on 
financial instruments is provided in the risk section of the manage-
ment report.

Note	1	-		Summary	of	significant	accounting	
policies	and	presentation	methods

Pursuant to regulation (EC) 1606/2002 on the application 
of international accounting standards and regulation (EC) 
1725/2003 on the adoption of said standards, the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007 have 
been drawn up in accordance with IFRS as adopted for use by 
the European Union at the balance sheet date. These standards 
include IAS 1 to 41, IFRS 1 to 7 and any SIC and IFRIC interpre-
tations adopted at that date. The financial statements are 
presented in accordance with CNC recommendation 2004-R.03. 
In 2007, the European Union adopted interpretations IFRIC 10 – 
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment and IFRIC 11 – IFRS 2  
Group and Treasury Share Transactions. IFRIC 10 has been applied 
since January 1, 2007 and has no impact on the financial state-
ments. The following new standards and interpretations were also 
adopted but are not effective for 2007 financial statements and will 
not be early adopted by the group: IFRS 8 – Operating Segments 
is effective as from January 1, 2009; IFRIC 11 will be applied as 
from January 1, 2009 but will not impact the financial statements; 
and IFRIC 12 – Service Concession Arrangements will be effec-
tive for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008.  
The disclosures relating to risk management required by IFRS 7 
are set out in the group’s management report.

loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Loans and receivables include credit granted directly by 
the group or its share in syndicated loans, purchased loans and 
unlisted debt instruments. Loans and receivables are measured 
at fair value, which is usually the net amount disbursed at incep-
tion. They are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

The interest rates applied are deemed to represent market rates, 
since they are constantly adjusted in line with the interest rates 
applied by the large majority of other competitor banks.

Commission fees directly related to setting up the loan and 
treated as an additional component of interest are recognized 
over the life of the loan using the effective interest method and 
are shown under interest items in the income statement.

Impairment of loans and receivables,  
financing and guarantee commitments

Individual	impairment	of	loans
Impairment is recognized when there is objective evidence of a 
measurable decrease in value as a result of an event occurring 
after inception of a loan or group of loans, and which may lead 
to a loss. Loans are tested for impairment on an individual basis 
at each balance sheet date. The amount of impairment is equal 
to the difference between the carrying amount and the present 

value of the estimated future cash flows associated with the loan, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For variable-
rate loans, the last known contractual interest rate is used.

Loans on which one or more installments are more than three 
months past due (six months in the case of real estate loans and 
nine months for local authority loans) are deemed to represent 
objective evidence of impairment. Likewise, an impairment loss is 
recognized when it is probable that the borrower will not be able to 
repay the full amount due, when an event of default has occurred, 
or where the borrower is subject to court-ordered liquidation.

The impairment loss is recognized in the form of a provision. Any 
movements in the provision are included in net additions to provi-
sions for loan losses, except those relating to the unwinding of 
the discount, which are recognized in net banking income under 
interest income.

Provisions for individually assessed impairment of loans are 
deducted from assets, while impairment losses on financing and 
guarantee commitments are included in liabilities under provi-
sions for contingencies.

Collective	impairment	of	loans		
(portfolio-based	impairment)
Customer loans that are not individually impaired are risk-
assessed on the basis of loans with similar characteristics. This 
assessment draws upon internal and external rating systems, 
the estimated probability of default, the estimated loss rate, and 
the amount of loans outstanding. Portfolio-based impairment 
is deducted from the carrying amount of the assets concerned, 
while any movements in impairment are included in net additions 
to provisions for loan losses in the income statement.

leases

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee 
in return for a payment or a series of payments the right to use an 
asset for an agreed period of time.

A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset. Title may or may 
not eventually be transferred.

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease.

Finance	leases	–	lessor	accounting
In accordance with IAS 17, finance lease transactions with non-
group companies are included in the consolidated balance sheet 
in an amount corresponding to the net investment in the lease.

In the lessor’s financial statements, the analysis of the economic 
substance of the transactions results in the recognition of a 
financial receivable due from the customer. This amount is 
reduced in line with lease payments received, which are broken 
down between principal repayments and interest.

Finance	leases	–	lessee	accounting
In accordance with IAS 17, assets acquired under finance leases 
are included in property and equipment and an obligation in 
the same amount is recorded as a liability. Lease payments are 
broken down between principal repayments and interest.

Financial guarantees and financing commitments given

Contracts are classified as financial guarantees as defined by  
IAS 39 when they provide for specified payments to be made 
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified 
debtor fails to make payment when due.
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Financial guarantees given are measured at fair value on initial 
recognition and subsequently remeasured at the higher of the 
amount determined in accordance with IAS 37 and the amount 
initially recognized less cumulative amortization in accordance 
with IAS 18.

If financial guarantee contracts provide for payments in response 
to the change in a financial variable such as a credit rating, they 
are classified as derivatives within the meaning of IAS 39 and 
accounted for in accordance with this standard.

Financial guarantees that are not regarded as derivatives within 
the meaning of IAS 39 are not shown in the balance sheet. 
However, a provision is set aside when the counterparty is consid-
ered likely to default over the term of the contract.

purchased securities

Securities held by the group are classified in one of the three 
categories provided by IAS 39: financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, and 
available-for-sale financial assets.

held-to-maturity financial assets  

Classification
Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial 
assets listed on an active market, with fixed or determinable 
payments that the group has the positive intention and ability to 
hold to maturity, other than those that the group has designated 
at fair value through profit or loss or as available for sale. The 
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity are assessed at 
each balance sheet date.

Basis	for	recognition	and	measurement		
of	related	income	and	expenses
Held-to-maturity investments are recognized at fair value upon 
acquisition. Transaction costs are deferred and included in the 
calculation of the effective interest rate except when they are not 
material, in which case they are taken to income at inception. Held-
to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method, which builds in amor-
tization of premium and discount (corresponding to the difference 
between the purchase price and redemption value of the asset).

Income earned from this category of investments is included in 
”Interest income” in the income statement.

Should a credit risk arise, impairment on held-to-maturity 
financial assets is calculated in the same way as for loans and 
receivables.

available-for-sale financial assets

Classification
Available-for-sale financial assets are assets that are designated 
as available for sale or have not been classified as loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets or financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss.

Basis	for	recognition	and	measurement		
of	related	income	and	expenses
Available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value until 
disposal. Changes in fair value are shown on the “Unrealized or 
deferred gains and losses” line within a specific equity account. 
On disposal or recognition of a lasting impairment in value, the 
unrealized gains and losses recorded in equity are transferred to 
the income statement. Purchases and sales are recognized at the 
settlement date.

Income derived from fixed-income available-for-sale securities 
is recognized in the income statement under ”Interest income”, 
using the effective interest method. Dividend income relating to 
variable-income available-for-sale securities is taken to income 
under “Net gain/(loss) on available-for-sale financial assets”.

Impairment	of	available-for-sale	financial	assets
An impairment loss is recognized on available-for-sale financial 
assets when there is a lasting and/or material decline in their fair 
value in relation to their cost. Impairment losses on available-
for-sale financial assets comprising equity or similar instruments 
recognized in the income statement may not be reversed while 
the instruments are carried on the balance sheet. Impairment 
losses on variable-income securities are recorded in “Net gain/
(loss) on available-for-sale financial assets”. Any subsequent 
decline in value is also expensed.

Losses on the lasting decline in value of bonds classified in this 
category may be reversed and are recognized in “Net additions 
to provisions for loan losses” when they concern credit risk.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

Classification
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss comprise: 

a)  Financial instruments classified as held for trading, mainly 
including instruments: 

•  acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or 
repurchasing them in the near term;

•  which are part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments 
that are managed together and for which there is evidence of 
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; and

•  which represent derivatives not classified as hedges.

b)  Financial instruments designated at inception as at fair value 
through profit or loss in accordance with the option provided 
by IAS 39, for which application guidance was given in the 
amendment published in June 2005. The fair value option is 
designed to help entities produce more relevant information, 
by enabling:

•  certain hybrid instruments to be measured at fair value 
without separating out embedded derivatives;

•  a significant reduction in accounting mismatches regarding 
certain assets and liabilities; 

•  a group of financial assets and/or liabilities to be managed in 
accordance with a documented risk management or invest-
ment strategy. This category mainly includes securities held 
in the private equity portfolio and balance sheet items asso-
ciated with capital markets activities.

Basis	for	recognition	and	measurement		
of	related	income	and	expenses
Financial instruments included in this category are recognized in 
the balance sheet at fair value up to the date of their disposal. 
Changes in fair value are taken to the income statement under 
“Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss”. Income earned on fixed-income securities in this 
category is included in the income statement under “Interest 
income”. Purchases and sales of securities at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognized on the settlement date. Any changes 
in fair value between the transaction date and settlement date 
are taken to income. Fair value also incorporates an assessment 
of counterparty risk on these securities.
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Fair	value
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction. The fair value of an instrument upon 
initial recognition is generally its transaction price.

If the instrument is traded in an active market, the best estimate 
of fair value is the quoted price or market value.

The appropriate quoted market price for an asset held or liability 
to be issued is usually the current bid price, and for an asset to be 
acquired or liability held, the ask price.

When the bank has assets and liabilities with offsetting market 
risks, the net position is valued at the bid price for a net asset held 
or a net liability to be issued and at the ask price for a net asset to 
be acquired or liability to be held.

A market is deemed to be active if quoted prices are readily and 
regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring 
market transactions in very similar instruments carried out on an 
arm’s length basis.

If the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is 
established using a valuation technique.

Derivatives are remeasured based on available observable 
market data such as yield curves to which the bid/ask price is 
then applied.

A multi-criteria approach is adopted to determine the value of 
securities held in the private equity portfolio, backed by historical 
experience of valuing unlisted companies.

Financial instruments at fair value through  
profit or loss – derivatives 

A derivative is a financial instrument:

•  whose fair value changes in response to the change in a speci-
fied interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, 
foreign exchange rate, credit rating or credit index, or other 
variable – sometimes called the “underlying”;

•  which requires no initial net investment or an initial net invest-
ment that is smaller than would be required for other types of 
contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to 
changes in market factors;

•  which is settled at a future date.

Derivatives are classified as financial instruments held for trading 
except when they are part of a designated hedging relationship.

Derivatives are recorded on the balance sheet under financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair 
value and interest accrued or payable are recognized in “Net 
gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss”.

Derivatives qualifying for hedge accounting in accordance with 
IAS 39 are classified as fair value hedges or cash flow hedges, as 
appropriate. All other derivatives are classified as trading items, 
even if they were contracted for the purpose of hedging one or 
more risks.

Embedded	derivatives
An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined) 
instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract 
– with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined 
instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative.

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and 
accounted for as a derivative at fair value through profit or loss 
provided that they meet the following three conditions:

•  the hybrid (combined) instrument is not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss;

•  the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded deriva-
tive are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the host contract;

•  the separate measurement of the embedded derivative is suffi-
ciently reliable to provide useful information.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit  
or loss – derivatives – structured products

Structured products are products created by bundling basic 
instruments – generally options – to exactly meet client needs. 
CIC offers various categories of structured products based on plain 
vanilla options, binary options, barrier options, Asian options, look-
back options, options on several assets and index swaps.

There are three main methods of valuing these products: methods 
consisting of solving a partial differential equation, discrete time 
tree methods and Monte Carlo methods. CIC uses the first and 
third methods. The analytical methods used are those applied by 
the market to model the underlyings.

The valuation parameters applied correspond to observed values 
or values determined using a standard observed values model 
at the balance sheet date. If the instruments are not traded on 
an organized market, the valuation parameters are determined 
by reference to the values quoted by the most active dealers in 
the corresponding products or by extrapolating quoted values.  
All parameters are based on historical data. The parameters 
applied to measure the value of unquoted forward financial instru-
ments are determined using a system that provides a snapshot 
of market prices. Every day, at a fixed time, the bid and ask prices 
quoted by several market players, as displayed on the market 
screens, are recorded in the system. A single price is fixed for each 
relevant market parameter.

Certain complex financial instruments – mainly customized equity 
barrier options with single or multiple underlyings presenting low 
levels of liquidity and long maturities – are measured using internal 
models and valuation inputs such as long volatilities, correlations, 
and expected dividends payable where no observable data can 
be obtained from active markets. Upon initial recognition, these 
complex financial instruments are recorded in the balance sheet 
at their transaction price, which is deemed to be the best indication 
of fair value even though the result of the model-based valuation 
may differ. The difference between the price at which a complex 
instrument is traded and the value obtained from internal models, 
which generally represents a gain, is known as “day one profit”. 
IFRS prohibit the recognition of a margin on products valued using 
models and parameters that are not observable on active markets. 
The margin is therefore deferred. The margin realized on options 
with a single underlying and no barrier is recognized over the life 
of the instrument. The margin on products with barrier options is 
recognized upon maturity of the structured product, due to the 
specific risks associated with the management of these barriers.
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hedge accounting

IAS 39 describes three types of hedging relationship, which are 
designated on the basis of the type of risk being hedged. A fair 
value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value 
of a financial asset or liability and is mainly used to hedge the 
interest rate risk on fixed-rate assets and demand deposits, as 
permitted by the European Union. A cash flow hedge is a hedge of 
the exposure to variability in cash flows relating to a financial asset 
or liability, firm commitment or highly probable forecast transac-
tion. Cash flow hedges are used in particular to hedge interest 
rate risk on variable-rate assets and liabilities, including rollovers, 
and foreign exchange risk on highly probable foreign currency 
revenues. Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation are a 
special type of cash flow hedge.

At the inception of the hedge, the group documents the hedging 
relationship. This documentation describes the hedging strategy, 
as well as the type of risk covered, the hedged item and hedging 
instrument, and the methods used to assess the effectiveness of 
the hedging relationship.

Hedge effectiveness is assessed at the inception of the hedge and 
subsequently at least at each balance sheet date.

The ineffective portion of the hedge is recognized in the income 
statement under “Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss”.

Fair	value	hedges
In a fair value hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative 
instrument are taken to income under “Interest income/expense 
– derivatives designated as hedges” symmetrically with the 
change in interest income/expense of the hedged item.

In a fair value hedging relationship, the derivative instrument is 
measured at fair value through profit or loss under “Net gain/
(loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” 
symmetrically with the remeasurement of the hedged item to 
reflect the hedged risk. This rule applies when the hedged item 
is recognized at amortized cost or is classified as available-for-
sale. If the hedging relationship is fully effective, any changes in 
the fair value of the hedging instrument will offset changes in the 
fair value of the item hedged.

Hedges must be deemed to be highly effective to qualify for 
hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value or cash flows of the 
hedging instrument must offset changes in the fair value or cash 
flows of the item hedged within a range of 80%-125%.

If the hedging relationship no longer fulfils the hedge effective-
ness criteria, hedge accounting is discontinued on a prospective 
basis. The related derivatives are transferred to the trading book 
and accounted for using the treatment applied to this asset 
category. The carrying amount of the hedged item in the balance 
sheet is no longer adjusted to reflect changes in fair value and the 
cumulative adjustment recorded in respect of the transactions 
is amortized over the remaining life of the item hedged. If the 
hedged item no longer appears in the balance sheet, in particular 
due to prepayments, the cumulative adjustment is taken imme-
diately to income.

Fair	value	hedge	accounting	for	a	portfolio		
hedge	of	interest	rate	risk
In October 2004, the European Union amended IAS 39 to 
allow demand deposits to be included in portfolios of liabilities 
contracted at fixed rates. The group makes use of this option.

At each balance sheet date, CIC verifies that the hedging contracted 
for each portfolio of assets and liabilities is not excessive.

The maturity of the liability portfolio is modeled by Asset-Liability 
management.

Changes in fair value of a portfolio hedge of interest rate risk 
are recognized on a specific line of the balance sheet, under 
“Remeasurement adjustment on interest rate risk hedged port-
folios”, with the offsetting entry in income.

Cash	flow	hedges
In the case of cash flow hedges, the portion of the gain or loss on 
the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge 
is recognized directly in equity under “Unrealized or deferred gains 
and losses on cash flow hedges”, while the ineffective portion is 
included in “Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss”.

The amounts recognized in equity are reclassified into profit 
and loss under “Interest income/expense” in the same period or 
periods during which the cash flows attributable to the hedged item 
affect profit or loss. The hedged items continue to be accounted 
for using the treatment applicable to the asset category to which 
they belong.

If the hedging relationship no longer fulfils the hedge effective-
ness criteria, hedge accounting is discontinued. The cumulative 
amounts recognized in equity as a result of the remeasurement of 
the hedging instrument remain in equity until the hedged trans-
action itself impacts income, or until the transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, at which point they are transferred to the 
income statement. 

Regulated savings

Home savings accounts (comptes d’épargne logement - “CEL”) 
and home savings plans (plans d’épargne logement – “PEL”) are 
government-regulated retail products sold in France. Account 
holders receive interest on amounts paid into these accounts over 
a certain period (initial savings phase), at the end of which they are 
entitled to a mortgage loan (secondary borrowing phase). Home 
savings products generate two types of obligation for the bank:

•  an obligation to pay interest on paid-in amounts at a fixed 
rate (in the case of PEL accounts only, as interest accruing on 
CEL accounts is regularly revised on the basis of an indexation 
formula and is therefore treated as a variable rate);

•  an obligation to grant loans to customers at their request, at a rate 
set on inception of the contract (both PEL and CEL products).

The cost represented by these obligations has been estimated on 
the basis of behavioral statistics and market data. A provision is 
recognized in liabilities to cover the future costs relating to the risk 
that future loans will be granted at conditions that are potentially 
unfavorable to the bank, i.e., where the bank has offered higher 
interest rates than those paid on similar non-regulated savings 
products. This approach is managed based on generations of 
regulated PEL savings products with similar characteristics. The 
impacts on income are included in interest paid to customers.
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debt securities

Debt securities are initially recognized at fair value – which is 
generally the net amount received – and subsequently measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Certain “structured” debt instruments may contain embedded 
derivatives. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host 
contract when they meet the criteria for separate recognition 
and can be measured reliably.

The host contract is subsequently measured at amortized cost. 
Fair value is based on quoted market prices or valuation models.

property and equipment and intangible assets

Property and equipment and intangible assets shown in the 
balance sheet comprise assets used in operations and invest-
ment property. Assets used in operations are those used in the 
provision of services or for administrative purposes. They include 
assets other than property leased under operating leases. 
Investment property comprises property assets held to earn 
rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Investment property 
is accounted for at cost, in the same way as assets used in opera-
tions.

Assets are recognized at acquisition cost plus any costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management. Borrowing costs incurred in the construction or 
adaptation of property assets are not capitalized.

Subsequent to initial recognition, property and equipment and 
intangible assets are measured at amortized cost, which repre-
sents cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

The depreciable amount of an asset is its cost less its residual 
value net of costs to sell. Property and equipment and intangible 
assets are not presumed to have a residual value as their useful 
lives are generally the same as their economic lives.

Depreciation and amortization is calculated on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful life of the assets, based on the 
manner in which the economic benefits embodied in the assets 
are expected to be consumed by the entity. Intangible assets that 
have an indefinite useful life are not amortized. Depreciation and 
amortization on property and equipment and intangible assets is 
recognized in “Depreciation, amortization and impairment” in the 
income statement.

Where an asset consists of a number of components that may 
require replacement at regular intervals, or that have different 
uses or different patterns of consumption of economic bene-
fits, each component is recognized separately and depreciated 
using a method appropriate to that component. CIC has adopted 
the components approach for property used in operations and 
investment property. These items are depreciated over the 
following useful lives:

•  40-80 years for the shell;

• 15-30 years for structural components;

• 10-25 years for equipment;

• 10 years for fixtures and fittings.

Leasehold rights paid are not amortized but are tested for impair-
ment. New occupancy fees paid to the owner are amortized over 
the life of the lease as additional rent. Other intangible items 
(e.g., acquired customer contract portfolios) are amortized over 
a period of nine or ten years.

Depreciable and amortizable assets are tested for impairment 
when evidence exists at the balance sheet date that the items 
may be impaired. Non-depreciable and non-amortizable assets 
are tested for impairment at least annually.

If there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is compared with its carrying amount. If the asset is 
found to be impaired, an impairment loss is recognized in income, 
and the depreciable amount is adjusted prospectively. This loss 
is reversed in the event of a change in the estimated recover-
able amount or if there is no longer an indication of impairment. 
Impairment is recognized under “Depreciation, amortization and 
impairment” in the income statement.

Gains and losses on disposals of assets used in operations 
are recognized in the income statement in “Net gain/(loss) on 
disposals of other assets”.

Gains and losses on disposals of investment property are shown 
in the income statement under “Income from other activities” or 
“Expense on other activities”.

Corporate income tax

This item includes all current or deferred income taxes.

Current income tax is calculated based on applicable tax regula-
tions.

deferred taxes

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred taxes are recognized for 
temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities and their tax basis, except for goodwill and fair value 
adjustments on intangible assets that cannot be sold separately 
from the acquired business.

Deferred taxes are calculated by the liability method, based on 
the latest enacted tax rate.

Net deferred tax assets are recognized only in cases where their 
recovery is considered highly probable.

Current and deferred taxes are recognized as tax income or 
expense, except deferred taxes relating to unrealized or deferred 
gains and losses, which are taken directly to equity.

Non-recoverable taxes payable on probable or certain dividend 
payments by consolidated companies are taken into account.

provisions for contingencies

A provision for contingencies is recognized when it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle an obligation arising from a past event, and a reli-
able estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The 
amount of such obligations is discounted in order to determine the 
amount of the provision.

Movements in provisions for contingencies are classified by nature 
under the corresponding income/expense caption.
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Employee benefits

Employee benefits are accounted for in accordance with IAS 19. 
Where appropriate, a provision is set aside for pension obligations 
and included in “Provisions for contingencies”. Any movements in 
the provision are taken to income within “Payroll costs”.

Post-employment	benefits	covered		
by	defined	benefit	plans
These relate to pension, early retirement and supplementary 
pension schemes for which the group has a legal or constructive 
obligation to provide certain benefits to its employees.

These obligations are calculated using the projected unit credit 
method, which consists in attributing benefit to periods of service 
in line with the plan’s benefit formula, which is then discounted 
based on demographic and financial assumptions. The group 
uses the following assumptions to calculate its employee benefit 
obligations:

•  a discount rate determined by reference to the market yield on 
long-term government bonds (TEC 10) at the balance sheet 
date;

•  the expected salary inflation rate, measured based on a long-
term estimation of inflation and actual rises in salaries;

•  employee turnover, calculated for each age band;

•  retirement age, estimated by reference to applicable laws based 
on a maximum age of 65 at retirement;

•  the INSEE TH/TF 00-02 mortality table.

The effect of changes in these assumptions and experience 
adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous 
actuarial assumptions and actual outcomes) gives rise to actu-
arial gains and losses.

Plan assets are measured at fair value and the expected return on 
these assets is recognized in the income statement. The differ-
ence between the expected return on plan assets and the actual 
return gives rise to an actuarial gain or loss.

The group has chosen to immediately recognize the portion of 
actuarial gains and losses exceeding a pre-defined corridor (i.e., 
the greater of (i) 10% of the present value of the gross defined 
benefit obligation and (ii) 10% of the fair value of plan assets) in 
the income statement. These amounts are recognized in the form 
of provisions, with no deferral over the remaining active lives of 
employees.

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined 
benefit plan are recognized in the income statement when the 
curtailment or settlement occurs.

Supplementary	pensions	covered	by	pension	funds
Under the terms of the AFB transitional agreement dated 
September 13, 1993, the banking industry pension schemes were 
discontinued and bank employees joined the government-spon-
sored Arrco and Agirc schemes effective from January 1, 1994. 
The four pension funds to which CIC group banks contributed still 
exist and pay the various benefits not covered by the transitional 
agreement. In the event that fund assets are not sufficient to 
cover these benefit obligations, the banks are required to make 
additional contributions. The average contribution rate for the 
next ten years is capped at 4% of the payroll. A detailed actuarial 
valuation of the pension funds’ obligations is performed every 
two years, with the last one performed at the end of 2006.

Other	post-employment	benefits	covered		
by	defined	benefit	plans
Provisions are set aside in the financial statements of the indi-
vidual group companies for obligations in relation to retirement 
bonuses and supplementary pensions (including special retire-
ment regimes). The amount of these obligations corresponds to 
the discounted present value of the vested benefit entitlements 
of active employees. Staff turnover rates taken into account in 
the calculation correspond to the rates observed in each indi-
vidual group entity. Account is also taken of projected future 
salary levels and the related payroll taxes. At least 60% of the 
obligations of the group’s French banks relating to retirement 
bonuses are covered by insurance taken out with ACM Vie, a 
Crédit Mutuel group insurance company which is consolidated by 
CIC under the equity method.

Defined	contribution	post-employment	benefits	
Group entities pay into a number of pension schemes managed 
by third parties. Under these schemes, group entities have no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions, in 
particular where plan assets are inadequate to fund future obli-
gations.

As these schemes do not represent an obligation for the group, 
no provision is recorded and the related expenses are taken to 
income in the period in which the contribution is due.

Other	long-term	benefits
Other long-term benefits are employee benefits (other than 
post-employment benefits and termination benefits) which fall 
due more than 12 months after the end of the period in which 
the employees render the related services, such as long-service 
awards or time savings accounts (comptes épargne temps).

The group’s obligation in respect of other long-term benefits is 
measured using the projected unit credit method. However, actu-
arial losses are taken to income as and when they arise as the 
corridor approach is not permitted.

Employees are granted long-service awards after 20, 30, 35 and 
40 years of service. A provision is set aside for these awards.

Early	retirement	plan
A framework agreement for the implementation of a “CATS” early 
retirement plan within the CIC group was signed on June 27, 2001. 
CIC and most of the regional banks have implemented this 
agreement. Under this plan, beneficiaries may retire two to three 
years early and receive benefits of between 57.5% and 65% 
of their salary. Employees were entitled to sign up to this plan 
until March 31, 2006. The related total future expense is esti-
mated over the life of the obligation and a provision set aside 
on a straight-line basis between the date on which the agree-
ment came into force (i.e., date of approval by the Minister of 
Employment) and the date as of which employees could sign 
up to the plan. In view of the limited duration of the agreement, 
future cash flows have not been discounted and future salary 
increases have not been taken into account. The number of 
potential beneficiaries who retire early under the plan has been 
estimated on an entity-by-entity basis.
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Termination	benefits
These benefits are granted by the group following the decision 
to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal 
retirement date or an employee’s decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for such benefits. The related provisions 
are discounted when payment falls due more than twelve months 
after the balance sheet date.

Short-term	employee	benefits
Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than 
termination benefits) which fall due wholly within twelve months of 
the balance sheet date, such as wages and salaries, social secu-
rity contributions and certain bonuses.

An expense is recognized in respect of these benefits in the period 
in which the services giving rise to the benefits were provided to 
the entity.

debt/equity distinction

Financial instruments issued by the group are classified as debt 
instruments when the group has a contractual obligation to 
deliver cash to holders of the instruments and when payment of 
interest on these instruments is not discretionary. This is the case 
with subordinated notes issued by the group.

Conversion of assets and liabilities denominated  
in foreign currency

Assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the 
local currency are converted at the year-end exchange rate.

The resulting foreign currency gains and losses on monetary 
financial assets and liabilities are recognized in income under 
“Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss”.

Foreign currency gains and losses arising on the translation of 
non-monetary financial assets and liabilities are recognized in 
income if the items are classified at fair value through profit or 
loss under “Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss”, or under “Unrealized or deferred gains and 
losses” if they are classified as available-for-sale.

When consolidated foreign currency investments are financed 
by a loan taken out in the same currency, the loan concerned is 
covered by a cash flow hedge.

Differences arising from the retranslation at the year-end rate 
of opening capital stock, reserves and retained earnings are 
recorded as a separate component of shareholders’ equity, under 
”Translation adjustment”. The income statements of foreign 
subsidiaries are translated into euros at the average exchange 
rate for the year, and the resulting translation differences are 
recorded under “Cumulative translation adjustment”. On liquida-
tion or disposal of some or all of the interests held in a foreign 
entity, these translation differences are reclassified to income.

Insurance company contracts

The accounting policies specific to assets and liabilities arising on 
insurance contracts, including reinsurance contracts issued or 
written, and financial contracts with a discretionary participation 
feature (under which policyholders are entitled to a share in the 
financial income generated in addition to guaranteed remunera-
tion) are applied in accordance with IFRS 4.

Other assets held and liabilities issued by fully consolidated insur-
ance companies are accounted for in accordance with the rules 
applicable to the group’s other assets and liabilities. Accordingly, 
financial assets representing technical provisions related to 
unit-linked business are shown in “Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss”, and the corresponding assets and liabili-
ties are stated at the realizable value of the underlying items at 
the balance sheet date.

Contracts falling within the scope of IFRS 4 continue to be recorded 
and consolidated in accordance with French GAAP, and are recog-
nized and measured according to the same rules. However, a 
number of adjustments are made, in particular regarding the 
elimination of regulatory claims equalization provisions and 
the recognition of the deferred policyholders’ surplus reserve in 
line with French regulations applicable to asset valuation differ-
ences. The deferred policyholders’ surplus reserve relates mainly 
to unrealized gains and losses recognized in respect of assets in 
accordance with IAS 39. This corresponds to “shadow accounting” 
within the meaning of IFRS 4, since in order to reflect the share in 
these unrealized gains and losses, the discretionary participation 
feature is recognized in full under provisions rather than equity.

Besides movements in provisions reflected in liabilities, other 
transactions arising on these contracts are recognized and 
measured using the same rules. This includes mainly policy acqui-
sition costs, receivables and payables arising on the contracts, 
advances on policies and subrogations resulting from insurance 
and reinsurance contracts.

At the balance sheet date, an adequacy test is performed on the 
liabilities recognized on these contracts (net of other assets and 
liabilities such as deferred acquisition costs and acquired port-
folios). This test ensures that the recognized insurance liabilities 
are adequate to cover estimated future cash flows under insur-
ance contracts. If the test reveals that the technical provisions 
are inadequate, the deficiency is recognized in income. It may 
subsequently be reversed, where appropriate.

A capitalization reserve is set up in the individual financial statements 
of the group’s French companies on the sale of amortizable short-
term securities in order to defer part of the net realized gain and 
hence maintain the yield to maturity on the portfolio of admissible 
assets. In the consolidated financial statements, this capitalization 
reserve is eliminated. Changes during the year impacting the capi-
talization reserve and recorded against income in the individual 
financial statements, are eliminated in the consolidated income 
statement. In accordance with IAS 12, a deferred tax liability is recog-
nized in respect of the reclassification of the capitalization reserve 
within equity. However, when it is highly probable that this amount 
will be attributed to policyholders, notably in order to take account 
of policyholders’ rights under certain insurance portfolios held by 
a number of group entities, a deferred policyholders’ surplus is 
recorded following the restatement of the capitalization reserve.
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non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations

A non-current asset (or group of assets) is classified in this cate-
gory if it is held for sale and it is highly probable that the sale will 
occur within twelve months of the balance sheet date.

The related assets and liabilities are shown separately in the 
balance sheet, on the lines “Non-current assets held for sale” 
and “Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale”. 
Items in this category are measured at the lower of the carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depre-
ciated/amortized.

When assets held for sale or the associated liabilities become 
impaired, an impairment loss is recognized in the income state-
ment.

Discontinued operations include operations that are held for sale, 
operations that have been shut down, and subsidiaries acquired 
exclusively with a view to resale. All gains and losses related to 
discontinued operations are shown separately in the income 
statement, on the line “Post-tax gain/(loss) on discontinued 
operations and assets held for sale”.

use of estimates

Preparation of the financial statements requires the use of 
assumptions and estimates that are reflected in the measure-
ment of income and expense in the income statement and of 
assets and liabilities in the balance sheet, and in the disclosure of 
information in the notes to the financial statements.

This requires managers to draw upon their own experience, exer-
cise their judgment and make use of information available at the 
date of the preparation of the financial statements when making 
their estimates. This applies in particular to:

•  impairment losses recorded in respect of credit risks;

•  the use of internally developed models to measure positions 
in financial instruments that are not quoted on organized 
markets;

•  calculations of the fair value of unquoted financial instruments 
classified in “Available-for-sale financial assets”, “Financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss” or “Financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss”, and more generally, calcula-
tions of the fair value of financial instruments subject to a fair 
value disclosure requirement;

•  impairment tests performed on intangible assets;

•  the measurement of provisions for contingencies, including 
pension obligations and other employee benefits.

Basis of consolidation

Goodwill
In accordance with IFRS 3, assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities relating to an entity in which the group has acquired a 
controlling interest are measured at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Goodwill corresponds to the difference between the cost of 
shares in consolidated subsidiaries and the group’s equity in the 
underlying assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the date 
of acquisition after fair value adjustments. Goodwill is recog-
nized in assets, while negative goodwill is included immediately in 
income under “Goodwill fair value adjustments”.

If the group acquires additional shares in a company it already 
controls, the difference between the cost of the shares and the 
portion of consolidated equity acquired is included within consol-
idated equity.

Goodwill is presented on a separate line of the balance sheet, 
even when it relates to an equity-accounted company.

Goodwill is tested for impairment regularly and at least once 
a year. The tests are designed to identify whether goodwill has 
suffered a prolonged decline in value. If the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill has been 
allocated is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognized for the amount of the difference. Impairment losses 
on goodwill – which are taken to income – may not be reversed. 
In practice, cash-generating units are defined on the basis of the 
group’s business lines.

Fair	value	adjustments
At the date of acquisition of a new entity, the related assets, liabil-
ities and contingent liabilities used in operations are measured 
at fair value. Fair value adjustments, corresponding to the differ-
ence between the carrying amount and fair value, are recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements.

Intercompany	transactions	and	balances
Intercompany transactions and balances and gains on intercom-
pany sales are eliminated whenever the amounts involved are 
material with regard to the consolidated financial statements.

Intercompany receivables, payables, reciprocal commitments, 
and income and expenses between fully or proportionally consol-
idated companies are also eliminated.

Foreign	currency	translation
The balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries are translated into 
euros at the official year-end exchange rate. Differences arising 
from the retranslation at the year-end rate of opening capital 
stock, reserves and retained earnings are recorded as a separate 
component of equity, under “Translation adjustment”. The income 
statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into euros at 
the average exchange rate for the year, and the resulting differ-
ences are recorded under “Cumulative translation adjustment”. 
On liquidation or disposal of some or all of the interests held in a 
foreign entity, these amounts are reclassified to income.

As allowed by IFRS 1, the balance of cumulative translation adjust-
ments was reset to zero in the opening balance sheet.
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scope of consolidation

All material companies that are controlled exclusively by CIC are 
fully consolidated. Exclusive control is considered as being exer-
cised in cases where the group holds a majority of the shares, 
directly or indirectly, and either the majority of the voting rights 
or the power to appoint the majority of members of the board of 
directors, management board or supervisory board.

Special purpose entities (SPE) are consolidated if they meet the 
conditions for consolidation set out in SIC 12 (where the activi-
ties of the SPE are being conducted exclusively on behalf of the 
group according to its specific business needs; the group has the 
decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits 
of the activities of the SPE; the group has rights to obtain the 
majority of benefits; the group retains the majority of the residual 
or ownership risks related to the SPE or to its assets in order to 
obtain benefits from its activities).

Entities controlled exclusively by the group are included in the 
scope of consolidation when their full consolidation individually 
affects at least 1% of the main consolidated balance sheet and 
income statement items. Subsidiaries that are not consolidated 
must represent on aggregate less than 5% of the main consoli-
dated balance sheet and income statement items. However, 
smaller entities may be included in the consolidated group if (i) 
CIC considers they represent a strategic investment; (ii) one of 
their core businesses is the same as that of the group; or (iii) when 
they hold shares in consolidated companies.

Companies over which the group exercises significant influence 
are accounted for by the equity method (associates). Significant 
influence is considered as being exercised in cases where CIC 
holds at least 20% of the voting rights, directly or indirectly.

Companies that are 20%-50% owned by the group’s private 
equity businesses and over which the group has joint control or 
exercises significant influence are excluded from the scope of 
consolidation and accounted for under the fair value option.

Standards	and	interpretations	adopted	by	the	European	Union	but	not	yet	applicable

title of the standard date of application Impact of applicationIAS/IFRS

IFRS

IFRS 8
Operating Segments
(IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 – Segment Information)

Effective January 1, 2009  
Non-material impact on goodwill  
and on the presentation of business 
segments (at this stage)

IFRIC

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions Effective January 1, 2009  N/A
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Note	2	-	Analysis	of	assets,	liabilities	and	income	by	business	segment	and	geographic	area	

The bank carries out the following activities:

•  Retail banking, which comprises the regional bank network, the CIC network in the greater Paris region (Ile-de-France) and all specialist 
activities whose products are distributed via the network. These include equipment leasing, real estate leasing, factoring, fund manage-
ment, employee savings plans and real estate. The insurance business – which is accounted for by the equity method – is included in 
this business segment.

•  Financing and capital markets, which includes:
a) credit facilities for large corporates and institutional clients, specialized financing and international operations;
b) capital markets operations, spanning customer and proprietary transactions involving cash flow, interest rates, foreign currencies 

and equities, including brokerage services.

•  Private banking, which encompasses all banks engaged in wealth management, both within and outside France.

•  Private equity, which conducts proprietary transactions and includes financial engineering services. This business is carried out by dedi-
cated entities and the entire portfolio is accounted for under the fair value option.

•  Headquarters and holding company services, which encompass all unallocated activities.

Each consolidated company is included in only one business segment, corresponding to its core business in terms of contribution to CIC 
group results. The only exception is CIC, whose individual accounts are allocated on a cost accounting basis.

Analysis	of	assets	and	liabilities	by	business	segment

ASSETS

Dec.	31,	2007
Retail

banking

Financing
and	capital
markets

Private	
banking

Private	
equity

HQ	and	holding
company	
services Total

Cash and amounts due from central banks 290 5,023 339 0 0 5,652

Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss 328 79,113 214 1,627 67 81,349

Derivatives used for hedging purposes 2,575 71 137 0 0 2,783

Available-for-sale financial assets 306 3,246 10,631 6 1,306 15,495

Loans and receivables due from credit 
institutions 1,571 18,960 2,177 4 1,793 24,505

Loans and receivables due from customers 89,649 15,577 4,241 0 320 109,787

Held-to-maturity financial assets 139 415 24 0 0 578

Investments in associates 872 0 0 0 0 872

ASSETS

Dec.	31,	2006
Retail

banking

Financing
and capital

markets
private 
banking

private  
equity

hQ and holding
company 
services total

Cash and amounts due from central banks 241 2,537 248 0 0 3,026

Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss 271 48,443 297 1,367 165 50,543

Derivatives used for hedging purposes 1,112 5 90 0 0 1,207

Available-for-sale financial assets 360 2,492 9,803 28 989 13,672

Loans and receivables due from credit 
institutions 1,905 34,231 1,494 3 1,746 39,379

Loans and receivables due from customers 75,747 10,704 3,525 0 336 90,312

Held-to-maturity financial assets 282 390 3 0 0 675

Investments in associates 790 88 0 0 0 878

	Consolidated	finanCial	statements
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LIABILITIES	

Dec.	31,	2006
Retail

banking

Financing
and capital

markets
private 
banking

private  
equity

hQ and holding
company 
services total

Due to central banks 0 0 387 0 0 387

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 

149 22,648 49 0 1 22,847

Derivatives used for hedging purposes 1,073 9 256 0 0 1,338

Due to credit institutions 24,507 53,786 2,056 0 305 80,654

Due to customers 43,505 3,095 11,583 0 198 58,381

Debt securities 6,488 19,697 18 0 0 26,203

 

Financing and capital markets
Loans and credit facilities granted by the corporate financing division surged 23.8%, including a 45.5% jump in amounts due from custo-
mers (mainly investment loans), amounts due from key corporates (numerous cash facilities put in place), and specialized financing 
(LBOs, tax-driven lease arrangements and infrastructure built under public-private partnerships).

us real estate crisis
The bank’s New York branch holds a portfolio of residential mortgage-backed securities (RMBS) and asset-backed securities (ABS) worth 
€3.9 billion. 91% of the portfolio is rated triple-A – 33% by rating agencies and 58% by non-rating agencies. The portfolio’s exposure to 
subprime debt is €142 million, of which €67 million is rated triple-A. At December 31, 2007, these instruments were trading at a deep 
discount in an illiquid market, resulting in a net banking loss of €180 million. The entire portfolio was marked to market based on external 
data obtained from major US brokerage firms, or based on comparable securities listed on the market where no such price was available. 
The Statutory Auditors performed specific tests on the valuation of the portfolio. As the portfolio consists chiefly of gilt-edged securities 
(91% are rated triple-A), the group does not currently believe that it is exposed to a material risk of loss at maturity. The group has no 
exposure arising from collateralized debt obligations (CDOs), structured investment vehicles (SIVs) or asset-backed commercial paper 
(ABCP).

private equity
The 19% rise in this portfolio over the year reflects a €194 million increase in investments, to €426.5 million (compared with €220.5 million 
in 2006), while divestments rose by only €85 million.

private banking
Private banking operations posted a 14.9% rise in assets year-on-year spurred by a rise in operating loans granted to Banque du 
Luxembourg (up 20%) and Banque Transatlantique Belgium.

LIABILITIES	

Dec.	31,	2007
Retail

banking

Financing
and	capital
markets

Private	
banking

Private	
equity

HQ	and	holding
company	
services Total

Due to central banks 0 0 60 0 0 60

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 

138 61,690 71 6 61,905

Derivatives used for hedging purposes 2,465 28 151 0 0 2,644

Due to credit institutions 31,196 25,764 1,743 0 391 59,094

Due to customers 46,562 3,474 14,480 0 300 64,816

Debt securities 8,419 32,415 127 0 0 40,961
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Breakdown	of	income	by	business	segment

2007	
Retail	

banking

Financing		
and	capital	
markets

Private	
banking

Private	
equity

HQ	and	holding	
company	
services Total

Net	banking	income/(loss) 2,897 519 448 381 (52) 4,193

General operating expenses (2,079) (255) (261) (42) (47) (2,684)

Operating	income/(loss)	before	
provisions 818 264 187 339 (99) 1,509

Net additions to provisions for loan losses (106) (8) (6) (120)

Net gains on disposals of other assets (1) 108 3 111

Income/(loss)	before	tax 820 256 181 339 (96) 1,500

(1) Including net income from associates (companies accounted for by the equity method) and impairment losses charged against goodwill.

2006	
Retail	

banking

Financing		
and	capital	
markets

Private	
banking

Private	
equity

HQ	and	holding	
company	
services Total

Net	banking	income 2,809 681 400 272 192 4,354

General operating expenses (2,003) (301) (233) (34) (44) (2,615)

Operating	income	before	provisions 806 380 167 238 148 1,739

Net additions to/reversals from provisions 
for loan losses (106) 32 (5) (1) (80)

Net gains on disposals of other assets (1) 89 24 7 120

Income	before	tax 789 436 162 237 155 1,779

(1) Including net income from associates (companies accounted for by the equity method) and impairment losses charged against goodwill.

Financing and capital markets
Net banking income retreated 23.7% year-on-year. This showing reflects a 54.6% fall in net banking income generated by capital markets 
activities due to the impact of the US subprime crisis on the New York branch.

hQ and holding company services
The fall in net banking income reflects mainly the valuation of the conversion option embedded in Banca Popolare di Milano convertible 
bonds, at a negative €93 million at December 31, 2007 versus a positive €115 million at end-2006.
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Breakdown	of	assets	and	liabilities	by	geographic	area

ASSETS
Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

France

Europe	
excluding	
France

Other	
countries(1) Total	 France

Europe 
excluding 

France
other 

countries(1) total

Cash and amounts due from central 
banks 5,303 344 5 5,652 2,774 249 3 3,026

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 78,824 232 2,293 81,349 47,377 944 2,222 50,543

Derivatives used for hedging purposes 2,590 192 1 2,783 1,134 70 3 1,207

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,083 10,835 2,577 15,495 1,450 9,755 2,467 13,672

Loans and receivables due from credit 
institutions 20,879 2,241 1,385 24,505 35,370 3,076 933 39,379

Loans and receivables due from 
customers 101,593 5,715 2,479 109,787 83,533 4,589 2,190 90,312

Held-to-maturity financial assets 212 366 0 578 330 345 0 675

Investments in associates 834 0 38 872 756 88 34 878

(1) United States, Singapore and Tunisia (for the equity-accounted company).

LIABILITIES
Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

France

Europe	
excluding	
France

Other	
countries(1) Total	 France

Europe 
excluding 

France
other 

countries(1) total

Due to central banks 0 60 0 60 1 386 0 387

Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 57,846 3,900 159 61,905 17,863 4,926 58 22,847

Derivatives used for hedging purposes 2,482 162 0 2,644 1,101 236 1 1,338

Due to credit institutions 51,162 3,891 4,041 59,094 73,120 4,771 2,763 80,654

Due to customers 50,338 13,897 581 64,816 46,504 11,404 473 58,381

Debt securities 23,493 13,588 3,880 40,961 12,848 9,046 4,309 26,203

(1) United States, Singapore and Tunisia (for the equity-accounted company). 

Breakdown	of	income	by	geographic	area

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

France

Europe	
excluding	
France

Other	
countries(1) Total	 France

Europe 
excluding 

France
other 

countries(1) total

Net	banking	income/(loss) 3,891 405 (103) 4,193 3,917) 355) 82) 4,354)

General operating expenses (2,423) (214) (47) (2,684) (2,381) (189) (45) (2,615)
Operating	income/(loss)	before	
provisions 1,468 191 (150) 1,509 1,536) 166) 37) 1,739)

Net additions to/reversals from 
provisions for loan losses (113) (10) 3 (120) (78) (7) 5) (80)

Net gains on disposals of other assets (2) 105 0 6 111 93) 23) 4) 120)

Income/(loss)	before	tax 1,460 181 (141) 1,500 1,551) 182) 46) 1,779)

(1) United States, Singapore and Tunisia (for the equity-accounted company).
(2) Including net income from associates (companies accounted for by the equity method) and impairment losses charged against goodwill.
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Note	3	-	Scope	of	consolidation

Changes in the scope of consolidation during 2007 were as 
follows:

newly consolidated companies:

•  SwissFirst Bank Zurich: this entity was acquired in January 2007 
and subsequently merged into CIC Private Banking - Banque 
Pasche in the first half of 2007;

• SwissFirst Bank Liechtenstein;

• CM-CIC Bail Belgium;

• GPK Finance;

• CM-CIC Gestion.

deconsolidated companies:

•  Cigogne Fund;

•  Imofinance;

•  Valimar 3.

mergers:

•  CIC Crédit Fécampois was merged into CIC;

•  CIAL Invest was merged into CIC Banque CIAL;

•  CIC Banque CIAL was merged into CIC Banque SNVB;

•  CIC Nord Ouest Gestion and CIC Sud Est Gestion was merged 
into CM-CIC Gestion;

•  CM Participations was merged into CM-CIC Epargne Salariale.

Change in corporate name:

•  Mutuel Bank Luxembourg was renamed Banque Transatlantique 
Luxembourg;

•  CIC Lyonnaise de Participations was renamed CIC Vizille 
Participation;

• CIC Banque SNVB was renamed CIC Est;

• CIC Banque CIAL Suisse was renamed CIC Suisse;

• CIC Epargne Salariale was renamed CM-CIC Epargne Salariale.
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2007	 2006
Percent Method percent method

Company	 Currency
Voting	
rights Interest *	

voting 
rights Interest *

Consolidating	company:	CIC	(Crédit	Industriel	et	Commercial)

a. Banking network

Regional banks

CIC Banque CIO-BRO (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Banque BSD-CIN (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Banque CIAL m 100 100 FC

CIC Est (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Bonnasse Lyonnaise de Banque (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Crédit Fécampois m 89 89 FC

CIC Lyonnaise de Banque (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Société Bordelaise (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

B. Banking network subsidiaries

Banque de Tunisie TND 20 20 Em 20 20 EM

CIAL Invest (i) m 100 100 FC

CIC Nord Ouest Gestion (i) m 100 100 FC

CM-CIC Asset Management 24 24 Em 24 24 EM

CM-CIC Bail (i) 99 99 FC 99 99 FC

CM-CIC Bail Belgium 100 99 FC NC

CM-CIC Epargne Salariale (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CM-CIC Gestion 100 100 FC NC

CM-CIC Laviolette Financement (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CM-CIC Lease 54 54 FC 54 54 FC

Factocic 51 51 FC 51 51 FC

Imofinance (i) nC 100 100 FC

Saint-Pierre SNC (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

SNVB Financements (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Sofim (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Sud Est Gestion (i) m 100 100 FC

C. Financing and capital markets

Cigogne Fund nC 45 45 EM

Cigogne Management 60 54 FC 60 54 FC

CM-CIC Mezzanine 80 80 FC 80 80 FC

CM-CIC Securities (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

d. private banking

Banque Pasche (Liechtenstein) AG CHF 53 53 FC NC

Banque Pasche Monaco SAM 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Banque de Luxembourg 71 71 FC 71 71 FC

Banque Transatlantique Belgium 100 98 FC 100 98 FC

Banque Transatlantique Jersey GBP 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Banque Transatlantique Luxembourg 60 60 FC 60 60 FC

BLC Gestion (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Banque Transatlantique (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Private Banking - Banque Pasche CHF 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Suisse CHF 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Dubly-Douilhet 62 62 FC 62 62 FC

GPK Finance 87 87 FC NC

Pasche (International) Services Ltd Gibraltar GBP 100 100 FC 100 100 FC
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Pasche Bank & Trust Ltd Nassau CHF 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Pasche Finance SA Fribourg CHF 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Pasche Fund Management Ltd USD 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Pasche International Holding Ltd USD 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Serficom Family Office SA CHF 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Serficom Maroc Sarl MAD 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Transatlantique Finance (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

E. private equity

CIC Banque de Vizille 94 94 FC 94 94 FC

CIC Finance (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Investissement 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Investissement Alsace (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Investissement Est 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Investissement Nord 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Vizille Participation 100 97 FC 100 99 FC

Financière Ar Men 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Financière Voltaire (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

IPO 77 77 FC 77 77 FC

Sudinnova 50 47 FC 50 47 FC

Vizille Capital Finance 100 94 FC 100 94 FC

Vizille Capital Innovation 100 94 FC 100 94 FC

F. hQ, holding company services and logistics

Adepi (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Migrations (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

CIC Participations (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Cicor (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Cicoval (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Efsa (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Gesteurop (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Gestunion 2 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Gestunion 3 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Gestunion 4 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Impex Finance (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Marsovalor (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Pargestion 2 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Pargestion 3 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Pargestion 4 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Pargestion 5 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Placinvest (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Sofiholding 2 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Sofiholding 3 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Sofiholding 4 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Sofinaction (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Ufigestion 2 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Ufigestion 3 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Ugépar Service (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

Valimar 2 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

2007	 2006
Percent Method percent method

Company	 Currency
Voting	
rights Interest *	

voting 
rights Interest *
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2007	 2006
Percent Method percent method

Company	 Currency
Voting	
rights Interest *	

voting 
rights Interest *

Valimar 3 (i) nC 100 100 FC

Valimar 4 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

VTP1 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

VTP5 (i) 100 100 FC 100 100 FC

g. Insurance companies
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 
(GACM)** 

21 21 Em 21 21 EM

* Method: FC = full consolidation; EM = equity method; NC = not consolidated; M = merged.
** Based on the consolidated financial statements.
(i) = Members of the tax consolidation group set up by CIC.

Note	5	-	Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss		
Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 28,360 4,715

Financial assets held for trading 52,989 45,828

TOTAL	 81,349 50,543

notes to the bAlAnce sheet - Assets

Note	4	-		Cash,	amounts	due	from	central	banks,		
and	loans	and	receivables	due	from	credit	institutions

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Cash	and	amounts	due	from	central	banks

Central banks 5,331 2,752

Of which statutory reserves 1,030 715

Cash 321 274

TOTAL	 5,652 3,026

Loans	and	receivables	due	from	credit	institutions

Current accounts 2,415 2,404

Loans 18,853 12,412

Other receivables 1,794 1,791

Securities not quoted in an active market 330 292

Resale agreements 983 22,252

Individually-impaired receivables 12 20

Accrued interest 125 217

Provisions (8) (9)

TOTAL	 24,504 39,379

Including non-voting loan stock 191 216

Including subordinated loans (1) 871 830

(1) Including €750 million relating to transactions carried out with BFCM.

2007	 2006
Percent Method percent method

Company	 Currency
Voting	
rights Interest *	

voting 
rights Interest *
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Note	5a	-	Financial	assets	accounted	for	under	the	fair	value	option

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Securities

Government securities 145 864

Bonds and other fixed-income securities

- Quoted 991 1,828

- Not quoted 4 268

Equities and other variable-income securities

- Quoted 401 321

- Not quoted 1,318 1,045

Derivatives held for trading 0 0

Other financial assets

- Resale agreements 25,501 0

- Other loans and term deposits (0) 389

TOTAL	 28,360 4,715

Note	5b	-	Financial	assets	held	for	trading

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Securities

Government securities 20,355 21,649

Bonds and other fixed-income securities

- Quoted 26,371 19,244

- Not quoted 13 9

Equities and other variable-income securities

- Quoted 2,023 2,374

- Not quoted 0 0

Derivatives held for trading 4,227 2,552

TOTAL	 52,989 45,828

Financial assets held for trading relate to financial assets held in connection with capital markets activities.
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Note	5c	-		Analysis	of	derivative	instruments

 

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Notional	
amount Assets Liabilities

notional 
amount assets liabilities

Derivatives	held	for	trading

Interest rate derivatives

- Swaps 318,615 3,249 3,836 269,125 1,035 1,539

- Futures and forward contracts 22,678 11 8 16,726 8 0

- Options 6,236 175 145 2,559 122 127

Foreign currency derivatives

- Swaps 149,953 45 51 117,353 30 27

- Futures and forward contracts 11,461 30 4 9,146 494 450

- Options 34,079 79 75 43,360 17 16

Other derivatives

- Swaps 37,529 125 40 41,497 47 90

- Futures and forward contracts 2,718 0 6 4,136 0 1

- Options 13,885 513 523 19,398 799 792

Sub-total 597,154 4,227 4,688 523,300 2,552 3,042

Derivatives	used	for	hedging	purposes

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges

- Swaps 1,087 2,751 2,636 3,456 1,178 1,330

- Futures and forward contracts 0 0 0 0 0 0

- Options 21 26 45 16

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges

- Swaps 77 6 8 250 11 8

- Futures and forward contracts 0 0

- Options 0 0 0 2

Sub-total 1,185 2,783 2,644 3,751 1,207 1,338

TOTAL 598,339 7,010 7,332 527,051 3,759 4,380

Note	6	-		Derivatives	used	for	hedging	purposes

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006
	 Assets Liabilities assets liabilities

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges 6 8 13 8

Of which changes in value recognized in equity 6 8 13 8

Of which changes in value recognized in income

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges 2,777 2,636 1,194 1,330

TOTAL	 2,783 2,644 1,207 1,338

A fair value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a financial instrument attributable to a specific risk. Changes 
in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the hedged item attributable to the risk being hedged are taken to income.
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Note	7	-		Available-for-sale	financial	assets	

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Government securities 2,413 19

Bonds	and	other	fixed-income	securities

- Quoted 10,373 11,867

- Not quoted 563 122

Equities	and	other	variable-income	securities

- Quoted 106 214

- Not quoted 35 47

Long-term	investments

 - Investments in non-consolidated companies 834 664

 - Other long-term investments 846 411

 - Investments in affiliates 148 147

 - Cumulative translation adjustment 0 0

Accrued interest 177 181

TOTAL	 15,495 13,672

Of which unrealized gains/losses recognized directly in equity 468 516

Of which provisions for impairment (70) (67)

Of which listed investments in non-consolidated companies 735 549

Long-term investments comprise:

Investments in non-consolidated companies totaling €834 million
These are mainly equity investments in BMCE Casablanca for €393 million, in Banca Popolare di Milano for €175 million, in Banca Di 
Legnano for €80 million, and in Foncières des Régions for €77 million.

other long-term investments totaling €846 million
These are mainly shares held in Véolia Environnement for €634 million and in NYSE Euronext for €73 million.

Note	7a	-		List	of	main	investments	in	non-consolidated	companies

% held
shareholders’ 

equity total assets
net banking 

income or sales Net	income

Veolia Environnement Quoted < 5% 6,553 40,124 28,620 995

Crédit logement Not quoted < 5% 1,395 10,348 142 66

NYSE Euronext (1) Quoted < 5% 9,384 16,618 4,158 643

Banca Popolare di Milano (2) Quoted < 5% 3,052 40,181 1,660 404

Foncière des Régions Quoted < 5% 4,059 10,683 552 729

BMCE Bank Quoted < 10% 633 7,636 324 75

Banca di Legnano (3) Not quoted < 10% 1,263 4,056 N/A 134

(1) Amounts for 2007 in USD.
(2) The CIC group directly and indirectly holds 4.52% of Banca Popolare di Milano (BPM). 
(3) Banca di Legnano is 93.51%-owned by BPM and 6.49%-owned by the CIC group.

The figures above relate to financial year 2006 (excluding those for the percent interest held).
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Note	8	-	Loans	and	receivables	due	from	customers

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Performing	loans

Commercial loans 4,100 4,300

Of which factoring accounts 1,766 1,529

Other loans and receivables

- Home loans 49,063 39,489

- Other loans and miscellaneous receivables 47,539 38,736

- Resale agreements 1,280 583

Accrued interest 289 207

Securities not quoted in an active market 162 116

Individually-impaired receivables 3,052 3 212

Provisions for individual impairment (1,934) (2,060)

Provisions for collective impairment (77) (69)

Sub-total 103,474 84,514

Finance	leases	(net	investment)

Equipment 4,297 3,754

Real estate 1,987 2,007

Individually-impaired finance lease receivables 109 127

Provisions for individual impairment of finance lease receivables (79) (90)

Sub-total 6,314 5,798

TOTAL	 109,788 90,312

Including non-voting loan stock 0 0

Including subordinated loans 21 87

Loans and receivables due from customers surged 21.6% year-on-year, including a rise of €9,574 million or 24.2% in home loans and a 
rise of 22.7% in other loans and miscellaneous receivables.

Changes in other loans and miscellaneous receivables reflect treasury facilities (up €4.4 billion), other capital asset loans (up €1.3 billion) 
and uses of new revolving credit facilities (up €1 billion).

Securities purchased under resale agreements rose €697 million.

Finance	lease	transactions Jan. 1, 2007 acquisitions disposals other dec. 31, 2007

Gross 5,888 994 (471) (18) 6,393

Impairment of non-recoverable rent (90) (20) 31 0 (79)

Net 5,798 974 (440) (18) 6,314

Analysis	of	future	minimum	lease	payments	receivable		
under	finance	leases

1 year  
or less

more than  
1 year and less 

than 5 years
more than  

5 years total

Future minimum lease payments receivable 1,827 3,687 867 6,381

Present value of future lease payments 1,658 3,480 850 5,988

Unearned	finance	income 169 207 17 393
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Note	9	-		Remeasurement	adjustment	on	interest	rate	risk	hedged	portfolios

Dec.	31,	2007 Dec.	31,	2006
Change in fair valueAssets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Fair value of portfolio interest rate risk 106 201 83 121 23 80

Note	10	-	Held-to-maturity	financial	assets

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Securities

Government securities 139 215

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 436 457

Accrued interest 6 6

TOTAL	GROSS 581 678

Provisions for impairment (3) (3)

TOTAL	NET 578 675

Held-to-maturity financial assets relate to securities with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the group has the posi-
tive intention and ability to hold to maturity.

Note	10a	-	Movements	in	provisions	for	impairment

dec. 31, 2006 additions Reversals other Dec.	31,	2007

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions (9) (2) 3 0 (8)

Loans and receivables due from customers (2,219) (576) 699 6 (2,090)

Available-for-sale securities (67) (5) 5 (3) (70)

Held-to-maturity securities (3) 0 0 0 (3)

TOTAL (2,298) (583) 707 3 (2,171)

Note	11	-	Current	or	payable	taxes

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Assets 432 356

Liabilities 141 165

Current income tax expense is calculated based on the tax rules and tax rate applicable in each country where the group has operations 
for the period in which the related revenue was earned.
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Note	12	-	Deferred	taxes

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Deferred tax assets dealt with though income 199 190

Deferred tax assets dealt with through equity 36 2

Deferred tax liabilities dealt with through income 159 164

Deferred tax liabilities dealt with through equity 74 87

Breakdown	of	main	deferred	taxes	by	type
Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Assets Liabilities assets liabilities

Temporary	differences	on:

Provisions 52 81

Leasing reserves (difference between book depreciation  
and amortization of the net investment in the lease)

(121) (74)

Income from flow-through entities (29) (25)

Remeasurement of financial instruments 155 (170) 107 (121)

Accrued expenses and accrued income 92 (28)

Tax loss carryforwards 131

Other temporary differences 16 (58) 106 (48)

Netting (375) 375 (104) 104

Total	deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities 71 (31) 190 (164)

Deferred taxes are calculated using the balance sheet liability method.

The deferred tax rate for French companies is 34.43%, corresponding to the statutory tax rate. 

Note	13	-		Accruals	and	other	assets

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Accruals

Collection accounts 162 6,188

Currency adjustment accounts 6 5

Accrued income 493 468

Other accruals 2,205 1,149

Sub-total 2,866 7,810

Other	assets

Securities settlement accounts 70 625

Miscellaneous receivables 4,373 3,944

Inventories and similar 0 0

Other 2 4

Sub-total 4,445 4,573

TOTAL	 7,311 12,383

Outstanding guarantee deposits relating to CIC trading desks and shown on the line “Miscellaneous receivables” amount to €663 million, 
with the balance of the account corresponding primarily to interbank payment system suspense accounts.

The accruals account is also composed mainly of suspense accounts relating to interbank payment systems, in particular SIT.

Accrued expenses and accrued income consist of payroll costs and general operating expenses, and do not include loans and borrowings on 
which interest not yet due is recognized as related accrued interest.
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Note	14	-		Investments	in	associates		
Share	of	net	income/(loss)	of	associates

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006
Share-
holding Reserves

Net	
income

share-
holding Reserves

net 
income

ACM group – Not quoted 20.52% 734 91 20.52% 666 82

Cigogne Fund – Not quoted 44.58% 65 23

Banque de Tunisie – Quoted 20.00% 33 5 20.00% 30 4

CM-CIC Asset Management – Not quoted 23.52% 7 2 23.52% 7 1

TOTAL 774 98 768 110

Cigogne Fund was deconsolidated as of December 31, 2007.

At end-2007, the fair value of Banque de Tunisie shares was €81 million.

Note	15	-		Investment	property

Jan. 1, 2007 Increases decreases
other 

movements dec. 31, 2007

Historical cost 27 2 (1) 0 28

Depreciation and impairment (14) 0 1 (0) (13)

Net 13 2 (0) 0 15

The fair value of investment property carried at amortized cost is comparable to its carrying amount.

Note	16	-	Property	and	equipment

Jan. 1, 2007 Increases decreases
other 

movements dec. 31, 2007

Historical	cost

Land used in operations 295 4 (0) 10 309

Buildings used in operations 1,640 161 (23) 115 1,893

Other property and equipment 732 58 (51) (95) 644

TOTAL	 2,667 223 (74) 30 2,846

Depreciation	and	impairment

Land used in operations 0 0 0 0 0

Buildings used in operations (753) (91) 16 (83) (911)

Other property and equipment (520) (48) 34 72 (462)

TOTAL	 (1,273) (139) 50 (11) (1,373)

Net 1,394 84 (24) 19 1,473

Of	which	property	held	under	finance	leases

Land used in operations 45 0 0 0 45

Buildings used in operations 47 (2) 0 (3) 42

TOTAL	 92 (2) 0 (3) 87

Analysis	of	future	minimum	lease	payments	due		
under	finance	leases

1 year  
or less

more than  
1 year and less  

than 5 years
more than 

5 years total

Future minimum lease payments 14 28 0 42

Present value of future lease payments 14 27 0 41

Finance	costs	not	recognized 0 1 0 1
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Note	17	-	Intangible	assets

Jan. 1, 2007 Increases decreases
other 

movements dec. 31, 2007

Historical	cost

Internally developed intangible assets 0 0 0 0 0

Purchased intangible assets 159 22 (3) 61 239

- Software 1 0 (1) 0 0

- Other 158 22 (2) 61 239

TOTAL	 159 22 (3) 61 239

Amortization	and	impairment

Internally developed intangible assets

Purchased intangible assets (43) (9) 8 0 (44)

- Software (1) (0) 1 (0) (0)

- Other (42) (9) 7 (0) (44)

TOTAL	 (43) (9) 8 0 (44)

Net 116 13 5 61 195

Other movements in purchased intangible assets include goodwill arising on the first-time consolidation of GPK Finance (€10 million),  
as well as SwissFirst Bank Zurich and SwissFirst Bank Liechtenstein (€60 million).

Note	18	-	Goodwill

Jan. 1, 2007 Increases decreases
other 

movements dec. 31, 2007

Gross value 126 37 0 (42) 121

Impairment (42) 0 0 42 0

Carrying	amount 84 37 0 0 121

Jan. 1, 2007 Increases decreases
other 

movements dec. 31, 2007

ACM group 54 54

IPO 21 21

CIC Banque Transatlantique 6 6

CIC Private Banking - Banque Pasche 3 32 35

GPK Finance 0 5 5

TOTAL 84 37 0 0 121

Goodwill concerning CIC Private Banking - Banque Pasche arose on the acquisition of SwissFirst Bank Zurich (€24 million) and SwissFirst 
Bank Liechtenstein (€8 million). SwissFirst Bank Zurich subsequently merged with CIC Private Banking - Banque Pasche.

Banque Transatlantique’s acquisition of GPK Finance generated goodwill of €5 million.
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notes to the bAlAnce sheet – liAbilities

Note	19	-		Due	to	central	banks	
Due	to	credit	institutions

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Due	to	central	banks

Central banks 60 387

TOTAL	 60 387

Due	to	credit	institutions

Current accounts 2,298 1,601

Other borrowings 45,896 36,569

Repurchase agreements 10,472 41,827

Accrued interest 428 657

TOTAL	 59,094 80,654

Note	20	-		Financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Financial liabilities held for trading 17,314 17,850

Financial liabilities accounted for under the fair value option 44,591 4,997

TOTAL	 61,905 22,847

Note	20a	-		Financial	liabilities	held	for	trading

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Short sales of securities

- Bonds and other fixed-income securities 11,102 13,208

- Equities and other variable-income securities 897 940

Debts in respect of securities sold under repurchase agreements

Derivatives held for trading 4,687 3,042

Other financial liabilities held for trading

Debts in respect of borrowed securities 628 660

TOTAL	 17,314 17,850



113FInanCIal statEmEnts 

Note	20b	-	Financial	liabilities	accounted	for	under	the	fair	value	option

Dec.	31,	2007	 dec. 31, 2006
Carrying	
amount

Amount	due	
at	maturity Difference

Carrying 
amount

amount due 
at maturity difference

Securities issued

- Bonds 0 0

- Certificates of deposit 0 0

- Other, of which interbank securities 1,759 1,759 1 2,475 2,479 (4)

Debts in respect of securities sold under 
repurchase agreements 40,350 40,369 (19) 0 0 0

Subordinated notes 0 0

Payables

- Interbank items 2,481 2,481 0 2,521 2,605 (84)

- Due to customers 1 1 (0) 1 1 (0)

Other liabilities accounted for under  
the fair value option

TOTAL 44,591 44,610 (19) 4,997 5,085 (88)

Note	21	-	Due	to	customers

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Regulated savings accounts

- Demand 13,606 13,110

- Term 7,572 8,113

Accrued interest 29 32

Sub-total 21,207 21,255

Current accounts 24,514 22,769

Term deposits and borrowings 17,736 13,273

Repurchase agreements 924 1,015

Accrued interest 435 69

Sub-total 43,609 37,126

TOTAL	 64,816 58,381

Note	22	-	Debt	securities

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Retail certificates of deposit 38 32

Interbank instruments and money market securities 40,468 25,743

Bonds 126 46

Accrued interest 329 382

TOTAL	 40,961 26,203

Interbank instruments and money market securities increased by €14.7 million at December 31, 2007 compared with December 31, 2006.
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Note	23	-	Accruals	and	other	liabilities

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Accruals

Accounts unavailable due to recovery procedures 176 6,254

Currency adjustment accounts 523 427

Accrued expenses 634 560

Other accruals 4,898 1,525

Sub-total 6,231 8,766

Other	liabilities

Securities settlement accounts 159 706

Outstanding amounts payable on securities 47 35

Miscellaneous creditors 1,348 2,121

Sub-total 1,554 2,862

TOTAL 7,785 11,628

Further details of accruals and other liabilities are provided in Note 13.

Currency adjustment accounts correspond to exchange differences on forward exchange transactions reported in off-balance sheet items.

Note	24	-		Provisions	for	contingencies		

Jan. 1, 2007 additions

Reversals 
(utilized 

provisions)

Reversals 
(surplus 

provisions)
other 

movements dec. 31, 2007

Provisions	for	counterparty	risks

 On signature commitments 97 43 (1) (55) 3 87

 On financing and guarantee commitments 13 2 (6) 0 (9) 0

 On country risks 1 0 0 (1) (0) 0

 Provisions for risks on miscellaneous receivables 53 9 (0) (18) 2 46

 Other provisions for counterparty risks 3 1 7 (8) (2) 1

Other	provisions		
(excluding	counterparty	risks)

 Provisions for pension costs 153 7 (7) (37) 0 116

 Provisions for claims and litigation 17 1 (6) (1) (0) 11

 Provisions for home savings accounts and plans 69 8 0 (9) 0 68

 Provisions for taxes 119 27 (15) (2) (13) 116

 Provisions for miscellaneous contingencies 101 22 (26) (26) (29) 42

 Other provisions for contingencies and charges(1) 0 59 0 (0) 47 106

TOTAL 626 179 (54) (157) (1) 593

(1) Other provisions for contingencies and charges include provisions set aside in respect of economic interest groupings (EIG) for €40 million and tax-driven provisions 
relating to future payments for €42 million.
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Note	24a	-	Pensions	and	other	employee	benefit	obligations	

Jan. 1, 2007 additions Reversals
other 

movements dec. 31, 2007

Defined	benefit	plans	not	covered	by	pension	funds	

Retirement bonuses 52 5 (21) 0 36

Top-up payments 52 1 (6) (0) 47

Obligations for long-service awards (other long-term benefits) 32 1 (5) 0 28

Sub-total 136 7 (32) 0 111

Supplementary	defined	benefit	pensions	covered	by	group	
pension	funds

Provision for pension fund shortfalls 9 0 (5) (0) 4

Sub-total 9 0 (5) (0) 4

Obligations	relating	to	early	retirement	plans

Obligations 8 0 (7) 0 1

Sub-total 8 0 (7) 0 1

TOTAL 153 7 (44) 0 116

Assumptions regarding the estimated retirement age of employees were revised in light of the Social Security Finance Act for 2007,  
and accounted for the majority of provisions reversed over the period.

Assumptions	used Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Discount rate 4.4% 3.8%

Salary inflation rate 2.8% 2.8%

Five-year	summary	of	projected	benefit	obligations,		
fair	value	of	fund	assets,	and	funded	status	of	plans	(excluding	subsidiaries	outside	France)

Group	pension	funds	 dec. 31, 2003 dec. 31, 2004 dec. 31, 2005 dec. 31, 2006 Dec.	31,	2007

Obligations 249 141 130 64 64

Fund assets 179 101 109 71 71

Deferred actuarial gains and losses 17 (4) 12 12 9

Provisions 87 36 33 5 2
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Group	pension	funds

Pension		
fund	shortfalls

Jan. 1,  
2007

discounting 
impact

Interest 
income

Change in 
accounting 

method
partial 

settlement

actuarial 
gains and 

losses

payments 
made to 

beneficiaries
subsidies 
received

dec. 31, 
2007

Obligations 64 3 3 (6) 64

Fund assets 71 3 1 (7) 3 71
Deferred actuarial gains 
and losses 12 (3) 9

Provision 5 3 (3) 0 (1) 1 (3) 2

Foreign	subsidiaries 4 2

TOTAL	 9 4

Under the terms of the AFB transitional agreement dated September 13, 1993, the banking industry pension schemes were discontinued 
and bank employees joined the government-sponsored Arrco and Agirc schemes effective from January 1, 1994. The pension funds to 
which CIC group banks contributed still exist and pay the various benefits not covered by the transitional agreement. In the event that 
fund assets are not sufficient to cover these benefit obligations, the banks are required to make additional contributions. The average 
contribution rate for the next ten years is capped at 4% of the payroll. A detailed actuarial valuation of the pension funds’ obligations is 
performed every two years, with the last one performed at the end of 2006.

Fund assets comprise €26 million in equities, €8 million in bonds and €8 million in CIC mutual retirement funds. The balance of the assets 
is made up of cash. At December 31, 2007, fund assets comprise 16,223 CIC shares, compared with 16,000 CIC shares at end-2006.

Note	24b	-	Provisions	for	risks	arising	from	commitments	on	home	savings	accounts	and	plans

Home	savings	accounts	and	plans Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Amounts outstanding under home savings plans

Contracted between 0 and 4 years ago 522 798

Contracted between 4 and 10 years ago 2,369 2,962

Contracted more than 10 years ago 2,931 2,603

Total 5,822 6,363

Amounts outstanding under home savings accounts 739 768

TOTAL 6,561 7,131

Home	savings	loans Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Balance of home savings loans giving rise to provisions for risks reported in assets 222 234
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Provisions Jan. 1, 2007 net additions other movements dec. 31, 2007

For home savings accounts 20 3 23

For home savings plans 42 (2) 40

For home savings loans 7 (2) 5

TOTAL	 69 (1) 68

Breakdown	by	maturity

Contracted between 0 and 4 years ago 3 22

Contracted between 4 and 10 years ago 5 1

Contracted more than 10 years ago 34 17

TOTAL	 42 40

Home savings accounts (“CEL”) and home savings plans (“PEL”) are government-regulated retail products sold in France. Account 
holders receive interest on amounts paid into these accounts over a certain period (initial savings phase), at the end of which they are 
entitled to a mortgage loan (secondary borrowing phase). Home savings products generate two types of obligation for the bank:

•  an obligation to pay interest on paid-in amounts at a fixed rate (in the case of PEL accounts only, as interest accruing on CEL accounts 
is regularly revised on the basis of an indexation formula and is therefore treated as a variable rate);

•  an obligation to grant loans to customers at their request, at a rate set on inception of the contract (both PEL and CEL products).

The cost represented by these obligations has been estimated on the basis of behavioral statistics and market data.

A provision is recognized in liabilities to cover the future costs relating to the risk that future loans will be granted at conditions that are 
potentially unfavorable to the bank, i.e., where the bank has offered higher interest rates than those paid on similar non-regulated savings 
products. This approach is managed based on generations of regulated PEL savings products with similar characteristics. The impacts on 
income are included in interest paid to customers.

The decrease in provisions for risks in 2006 reflects the flattening of the yield curve, the fall in amounts held in home savings products, 
and an adjustment to the margins expected on deposits and loans.

Note	25	-	Subordinated	debt

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Subordinated notes 847 927

Non-voting loan stock 156 156

Perpetual subordinated notes 1,607 1,797

Other debt 877 906

Accrued interest 48 54

TOTAL	 3,535 3,840

Subordinated debt fell €305 million between December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007, due mainly to changes in the following items:

subordinated notes
Subordinated notes decreased by €80 million further to the redemption of subordinated debt that had fallen due.

perpetual subordinated notes
This item decreased by €190 million further to the redemption of perpetual subordinated notes issued in 1997.
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Subordinated	debt	representing	more	than	10%	of	total	subordinated	debt	at	December	31,	2007

Main	subordinated		
debt	issues date of issue amount Currency Rate maturity

Early  
redemption 

feature

Early  
redemption 
conditions

Subordinated notes 07/19/01 300m EUR (a) 07/19/2013

Subordinated notes 09/30/03 350m USD (b) 09/30/2015

Non-voting loan stock 05/28/85 137m EUR (c) (d)

Perpetual subordinated notes 06/30/06 400m EUR (e)

Perpetual subordinated notes 06/30/06 1,100m EUR (f)

(a) T3-month Euribor +89.5 basis points.
(b) 6-month USD Libor +55 basis points.
(c) Minimum 85% (TAM+TMO)/2 - Maximum 130% (TAM+TMO)/2.
(d) Repayable at borrower’s discretion as from May 28, 1997 at 130% of the face value incremented at the rate of 1.5% for the following years.
(e) 6-month Euribor +167 basis points.
(f) 6-month Euribor +107 basis points for the first ten years, then Euribor +207 basis points (in the absence of early redemption).
(e) and (f) Subscribed by the parent companies BFCM and CFCMCEE.

Perpetual subordinated notes – totaling €400 million and €1,100 million – are financial instruments reported in liabilities because payment 
of the related interest may only be discontinued in certain predefined situations outside the control of the issuer.

Note	26	-	Unrealized	or	deferred	gains	and	losses

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Unrealized	or	deferred	gains	and	losses*	relating	to:

Available-for-sale financial assets (1) 504 555

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges (2) (2)

Property assets (IAS 16)

Other

TOTAL	 502 553

* Amounts net of tax.
(1)  Available-for-sale financial assets include unrealized or deferred gains on equities (€558 million) and unrealized or deferred losses on bonds (€54 million).

Note	27	-	Commitments	given	and	received

Commitments	and	guarantees	given Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Financing	commitments	given

To credit institutions 1,069 1,308

To customers 23,080 22,321

Guarantees	given

To credit institutions 1,033 795

On behalf of customers 10,339 9,384

Commitments	and	guarantees	received Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Financing	commitments	received

From credit institutions 4 1

Guarantees	received

From credit institutions 18,491 15,302

	Consolidated	finanCial	statements
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Note	28	-	Interest	income	and	expense

2007 2006
Income Expense Income Expense

Credit institutions and central banks 2,040 (4,465) 2,083 (3,651)

Customers 6,716 (3,285) 5,498 (2,818)

Of which finance leases 2,113 (1,815) 1,934 (1,691)

Financial assets/liabilities accounted for under the fair value option 0

Derivatives used for hedging purposes 501 (510) 507 (530)

Available-for-sale financial assets 641 553

Held-to-maturity financial assets 25 34

Debt securities (1,679) (1,056)

Subordinated notes (53) (54)

TOTAL 9,923 (9,992) 8,675 (8,109)

Note	29	-	Commission	income	and	expense

2007 2006
Income Expense Income Expense

Credit institutions 8 (5) 6 (3)

Customers 611 (12) 601 (7)

Securities transactions 598 (24) 542 (17)

Derivative instruments 4 (10) 7 (9)

Currency transactions 18 (5) 24 (9)

Financing and guarantee commitments 3 (4) 2 (4)

Services provided 842 (467) 741 (430)

TOTAL 2,084 (527) 1,923 (479)

2007 2006

Commissions on financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value through profit or loss  
(including demand accounts) 635 613

Commissions for management services provided to third parties 453 418

Note	30	-	Net	gain/(loss)	on	financial	instruments	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss

2007 2006

Derivatives held for trading 2,554 1,752

Instruments accounted for under the fair value option (154) 298

Ineffective portion of hedges 26 25

Foreign exchange gain 48 8

TOTAL 2,474 2,083

notes to the income stAtement
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Note	30a	-	Ineffective	portion	of	hedges

2007 2006

Change in fair value of hedged items (174) (192)

Change in fair value of hedging instruments 200 217

TOTAL 26 25

Note	31	-	Net	gain/(loss)	on	available-for-sale	financial	assets

2007 2006

Dividends
Capital	gains	
and	losses Impairment Total dividends

Capital gains 
and losses Impairment total

Government securities,  
bonds and other fixed-income 
securities 

3 1 4 (1) (1)

Equities and other variable-
income securities 4 30 0 34 10 85 2 97

Long-term investments 55 96 (3) 148 45 82 (6) 121

Other 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL	 59 129 (2) 186 55 166 (4) 217

Note	32	-	Income/expense	on	other	activities

2007 2006

Income	from	other	activities

Investment property 0 0

Rebilled expenses 0 (2)

Other income 86 59

Sub-total 86 57

Expense	on	other	activities

Investment property (1) (1)

Other expenses (40) (12)

Sub-total (41) (13)

TOTAL 45 44

Note	33	-	General	operating	expenses

2007 2006

Payroll costs (1,613) (1,579)

Other expenses (928) (902)

TOTAL (2,541) (2,481)
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Note	33a	-	Payroll	costs

2007 2006

Wages and salaries (989) (974)

Payroll taxes (420) (424)

Employee benefits (10) (4)

Employee profit-sharing and incentive bonuses (110) (112)

Payroll-based taxes (97) (91)

Other 13 26

TOTAL (1,613) (1,579)

Profit-sharing and incentive bonuses accruing to French employees totaled €104 million in 2007.

Note	33b	-	Average	number	of	employees

2007 2006

Banking staff 14,185 14,472

Managerial grade staff 8,701 8,540

TOTAL 22,886 23,012

In 2007, the group’s average headcount was made up of 21,538 employees in France and 1,348 in other countries. The number of employ-
ees in France fell by 1.2% (268 people), while the headcount in other countries was up 11.7% (141 people) over the same period.

The acquisition of SwissFirst Bank Zurich and SwissFirst Bank Liechtenstein by CIC Private Banking - Banque Pasche increased average 
headcount by 34 people.

Note	33c	-	Other	general	operating	expenses

2007 2006

Other taxes and duties (117) (118)

External services (824) (796)

Rebilled expenses 14 12

Other miscellaneous expenses (1) (0)

TOTAL (928) (902)

Note	34	-		Movements	in	depreciation,	amortization		
and	provisions	for	impairment	of	property	and	equipment	and	intangible	assets

2007 2006

Depreciation	and	amortization

Property and equipment (140) (132)

Intangible assets (3) (2)

Impairment

Property and equipment (0) (0)

Intangible assets (0) (0)

TOTAL (143) (134)
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Note	35	-	Net	additions	to	provisions	for	loan	losses

additions Reversals

loan losses 
covered by 
provisions

loan losses not 
covered by 
provisions

Recovery of 
loans written off 

in prior years
Total	
2007

total  
2006

Credit institutions (2) 1 0 (1) 0 (2) 2

Customers

- Finance leases (2) 6 (3) (4) 1 (2) (5)

- Other customer items (548) 657 (237) (29) 19 (138) (68)

Sub-total (552) 664 (240) (34) 20 (142) (71)

Held-to-maturity financial assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1)

Available-for-sale financial assets 0 0 (2) 0 0 (2) 1

Other, including financing and  
guarantee commitments 

(69) 93 0 (0) 0 24 (9)

TOTAL (621) 757 (242) (34) 20 (120) (80)

Note	36	-	Net	gain/(loss)	on	disposals	of	other	assets

2007 2006

Property and equipment and intangible assets 13 10

- Losses on disposals (12) (7)

- Gains on disposals 25 17

Gains and losses on disposals of investments in consolidated companies 0 0

TOTAL 13 10

Gains and losses on disposals break down as follows:

• €16 million in gains on disposals of land and buildings (1);

• €3 million in losses on the specialized ship financing transactions.

(1) Including €5 million corresponding to the deferred recognition of the capital gain on properties sold under a leaseback agreement, in accordance with IAS 17.
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Note	37	-	Corporate	income	tax

2007 2006

Current taxes (353) (393)

Deferred tax income and expense 49 (64)

Adjustments in respect of prior periods 8 12

TOTAL (296) (445)

Reconciliation	between	corporate	income	tax	recorded	in	the	accounts	and	the	theoretical	tax	charge	 2007	

Theoretical	tax	rate 34.4%

Impact of preferential “SCR” and “Sicomi” rates -5.1%

Impact of reduced rate on long-term capital gains -1.8%

Impact of different tax rates paid by foreign subsidiaries -1.2%

Permanent differences -3.3%

Tax income on interest-free loans -0.9%

Other -1.0%

Effective	tax	rate 21.1%

Taxable income * 1,403

Tax	charge (296)

* Sum of pre-tax income of fully consolidated companies.

CIC has set up a tax group with its main subsidiaries (more than 95%-owned) and the regional banks.

Each regional bank that is part of the overall tax group forms a sub-group that includes its own subsidiaries. The companies included in 
the tax group are shown with an (i) in front of their name in the list of consolidated companies.

Note	38	-	Earnings	per	share

2007 2006

Net income 1,139 1,274

Number of shares at beginning of year 35,208,166 35,208,166

Number of shares at end of year 35,621,937 35,208,166

Weighted average number of shares 35,415,052 35,208,166

Basic	earnings	per	share 32.16 36.18

Weighted average number of shares assuming full dilution 0 0

Diluted	earnings	per	share 32.16 36.18

CIC’s capital stock amounts to €573,626,848, made up of 35,851,678 shares with a par value of €16, including 229,741 treasury shares.

Note	39	-	Fair	value	of	financial	instruments	carried	at	amortized	cost

The estimated fair values presented are calculated based on observable parameters at December 31, 2007, and are obtained by 
computing estimated discounted future cash flows using a risk-free yield curve. For asset items, the yield curve factors in a credit spread 
calculated for the CM4-CIC group as a whole which is revised on a yearly basis. 

The financial instruments discussed in this note relate to loans and borrowings. They do not include non-monetary items (e.g. equities), 
trade accounts payable, other asset accounts, or other liabilities and accruals. Non-financial instruments are not discussed in this 
section.

The fair value of financial instruments repayable on demand and regulated customer savings deposits equals the amount that may be 
requested by the customer, i.e., the carrying amount. 

Certain group entities may also apply assumptions whereby fair value is deemed to equal the carrying amount for those contracts indexed 
to a floating rate, or whose residual life is one year or less. 
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Excluding held-to-maturity financial assets, financial instruments carried at amortized cost are not sold or are not intended to be sold 
prior to maturity. Accordingly, capital gains and losses are not recognized.

However, if financial instruments carried at amortized cost were to become the object of a sale transaction, the price of such sale may 
differ significantly from the fair value calculated at December 31.

Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Assets

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions 24,505 24,605

Loans and receivables due from customers 109,787 107,693

Held-to-maturity financial assets 578 579

Liabilities

Due to credit institutions 59,094 59,110

Due to customers 64,816 64,181

Debt securities 40,961 40,866

Subordinated notes 3,535 3,591

Note	40	-	Related	party	transactions

Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006
Associates	

(accounted	for	
by	the	equity	

method)
Parent	

company

associates 
(accounted for 
by the equity 

method)
parent 

company

Assets

Loans, advances and securities

- Loans and receivables due from credit institutions 0 16,454 0 10,462

- Loans and receivables due from customers 3 36 0 44

- Securities transactions 0 15 0 15

Other assets 9 0 8 0

TOTAL 12 16,505 8 10,521

Liabilities

Deposits

- Due to credit institutions 0 36,216 0 27,715

- Due to customers 52 0 56 0

Debt securities 0 132 0 117

Other liabilities 0 13 0 7

TOTAL 52 36,361 56 27,839

Financing	and	guarantee	commitments

Financing commitments given 8 34 0 0

Guarantee commitments given 14 118 0 30

Financing commitments received 0 0 0 0

Guarantee commitments received 0 560 0 520
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2007	 2006 

Income	statement	items	related	to	transactions		
carried	out	with	related	parties

Associates	
(accounted	for	
by	the	equity	

method)
Parent	

company

associates 
(accounted for 
by the equity 

method)
parent 

company

Interest received 4 473 0 410

Interest paid (1) (1,334) (1) (879)

Commissions received 378 3 330 9

Commissions paid 0 (6) (9) (4)

Other income and expenses 21 (32) 11 (18)

General operating expenses (22) (218) 1 (213)

TOTAL 380 (1,114) 332 (695)

The parent company is BFCM, the majority shareholder of CIC and the entities controlling BFCM (Crédit Mutuel CEE).

Transactions carried out with the parent company mainly cover loans and borrowings taken out for the purposes of treasury manage-
ment, as BFCM is the group’s refinancing vehicle, as well as IT services billed with the Euro Information entities.

Companies accounted for by the equity method include Banque de Tunisie, CM-CIC Asset Management and Groupe des Assurances du 
Crédit Mutuel.

Relations with the group’s key executives

The members of the Executive Board, together with the Chairman & CEO of CIC Banque BSD-CIN and the head of the CIC Ile-de-France 
branch network, are responsible for determining the CIC group’s overall business strategy. 

Part of the remuneration received by some of the group’s key executives relates to their status as employees or corporate officers of 
Crédit Mutuel. Remuneration accruing to other executives relates exclusively to their activities within the CIC group.

Executive remuneration is set by the Supervisory Board based on recommendations made by a special three-member committee. 
Remuneration comprises a fixed and a variable component. The fixed portion is determined in light of market rates of pay for positions 
carrying equivalent responsibilities. The variable portion is determined based on a specific percentage and approved by the meeting of 
the Supervisory Board following the Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the year in respect of which the 
variable remuneration is paid.

The group’s key executives are also entitled to the same welfare and top-up pension benefits as all employees, in respect of either Crédit 
Mutuel (for those carrying out part of their activities therein) or in respect of CIC. However, executives who are paid for exercising their 
corporate office but who are not eligible for statutory profit-sharing bonuses, incentive payments and retirement bonuses on account of 
their position, will be awarded compensation upon their departure from the group (indemnité compensatrice) pursuant to a decision of 
BFCM’s Board of Directors in July 2007. This compensation is determined by analogy with the provisions applicable to profit-sharing 
bonuses, incentive payments and retirement bonuses accruing to employees who do not hold a corporate office to whom the same 
conditions apply. In accordance with these arrangements, BFCM has booked a provision totaling €999 thousand for Étienne Pfimlin and 
€1,652 thousand for Michel Lucas.

However, the group’s key executives do not have any other specific benefits. They have not been awarded any CIC shares or share 
equivalents.

They are entitled to attendance fees in consideration for their functions within the group, but not for the offices they hold within group 
companies or other entities.

The group’s key executives may have been granted credit notes or loans by group banks, subject to the same terms and conditions as 
those offered to all of the group’s employees. The outstanding principal on loans taken out by the group’s key executives amounted to 
€509 thousand at December 31, 2007.

In accordance with a decision of the Shareholders’ Meeting, no attendance fees were paid to the members of the Supervisory Board  
in 2007.

Total	remuneration	paid	to	the	group’s	key	executives	
(in € thousands)

Fixed
salary

variable
salary

Benefits-
in-kind total

Key executives 2,196 730 36 2,962 
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The Statutory Auditors have audited the financial statements of 
the bank and issued an unqualified opinion. The Statutory Auditors’ 
report includes an observation in respect of the incomplete nature 
of the Executive Board report on the accounts of CIC.

Executive Board report  
on the accounts of CIC

The financial statements of the bank are prepared in accor-
dance with CRB standard 91-01 issued by the Comité de la 
Réglementation Bancaire (French banking standards committee 
– CRB), as amended by CRC standard  2000-03 issued by the 
Comité de la Réglementation Comptable (French accounting 
standards committee – CRC).

Changes in accounting policies in 2007 were as follows:

•  opinion no. 2007-B of May 27, 2007 issued by the Emerging 
Issues Taskforce of the Conseil National de la Comptabilité 
(French National Accounting Board-CNC) relating to the recog-
nition of tax credits associated with interest-free loans for 
first-time homeowners.

•  CRB standard 90-01 of February 23, 1990, as amended by CRC 
standard 2005-01 of November 3, 2005 relating to the recog-
nition of securities transactions.

The impact on retained earnings at January 1, 2007 was €4.1 million.

CIC corrected an accounting error on the application of CRC 
standard 2002-10 relating to the amortization, depreciation and 
impairment of assets, applicable as of January 1, 2005 within the 
scope of a change in accounting policy. This correction relating 
to the impact of the standard’s first-time application was recog-
nized in retained earnings for an amount of €4.2 million.

Highlights	of	the	year
In 2007, CIC carried out the following transactions:

•  Crédit Fécampois was merged into CIC, leading to the recogni-
tion of a merger loss within intangible assets for an amount of 
€1.5 million;

•  Credinservice was merged into CIC, leading to the recognition of 
a merger premium of €0.2 million;

•  Complete transfer of Dynavente Plus’ assets and liabilities to 
CIC, with no material impact on CIC’s accounts.

US	real	estate	crisis
The bank’s New York branch holds a portfolio of residential mort-
gage-backed securities (RMBS) and asset-backed securities 
(ABS) worth €3.9 billion. 91% of the portfolio is rated triple-A, of 
which 33% by rating agencies and 58% by non-rating agencies. 
The portfolio’s exposure to subprime debt is €142 million, of which 
€67 million is rated triple-A. The entire portfolio was marked to 
market based on external data obtained from major US brokerage 
firms, or on comparable securities listed on the market where no 
such price was available. The Statutory Auditors performed 
specific tests on the valuation of the portfolio. As the portfolio 
consists chiefly of gilt-edged securities (91% are rated triple-A), 
the CIC group does not currently believe that it is exposed to a 
material risk of loss at maturity. The group has no exposure arising 
from collateralized debt obligations (CDOs), structured invest-
ment vehicles (SIVs) or asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP).
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The	CIC	greater	Paris	region	network
The greater Paris region network was made up of 262 branches at 
December 31, 2007. 

At that date, the number of clients totaled 623,068, including 
522,722 personal banking clients.

Outstanding loans rose 24.1% to €13.8 billion. Home loans were 
the main growth driver, posting a 28.2% increase.

Overall, customer deposits advanced 14.7%.

Financing	and	capital	markets
Outstanding loans in financing and capital markets leapt by 
38.3% in 2007 on the back of an increase in investment loans (up 
68.5%).

2007	results
Net banking income grew from €1,333 million to €1,215 million in 
2007.

Net commission income came in at €243 million.

Dividends received from subsidiaries and affiliates totaled €508 million 
(€294 million in 2006), the majority of which derived from regional 
banks.

General operating expenses fell by 6.2%.

The average number of full-time equivalent employees in 2007 
was 4,482.

Operating income before provisions came to €576 million, 
compared with €652 million a year earlier.

Net additions to provisions for loan losses amounted to €59 million 
compared with €18 million in 2006.

Net gains on disposals of fixed assets amounted to €51 million.

CIC’s total tax charge includes corporate income tax payable on 
CIC’s net income and the net benefit from tax consolidation. 

CIC ended the year with net income of €546 million (including a 
€170.4 million loss recorded by foreign subsidiaries) compared 
with €619 million in 2006. 

Shareholders’ equity amounted to €3,930 million at December 31, 2007.

Details of executive compensation are provided on page 70 of the 
Executive Board report on the consolidated financial statements.

Information relating to CIC’s share ownership structure as well as 
changes during the year and dividends paid are provided on 
pages 157 to 162 of the Legal Information section of this report, 
under “Additional information”.

The operations of CIC’s subsidiaries are described on pages 132 
to 140.

ExECutIvE BoaRd REpoRt on thE aCCounts oF CIC 
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Financial statements

bAlAnce sheet

ASSETS
(in € millions) Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Cash, central banks and postal checking accounts 5,061 2,577

Government securities 20,470 22,457

Interbank loans and advances 51,824 41,370

Customer transactions 33,387 21,892

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 30,866 24,202

Equities and other variable-income securities 1,978 2,419

Shares in subsidiaries and other long-term investments 988 545

Investments in affiliates 2,550 2,485

Lease financing

Intangible assets 101 108

Property and equipment 540 544

Unpaid capital

Own shares 9 9

Other assets 3,864 3,285

Accruals and other assets 4,584 4,583

off bAlAnce sheet items

(in € millions) Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Commitments	and	guarantees	received

Financing	commitments	received

Commitments received from banks 4

Guarantees	received

Guarantees received from banks 16,175 12,047

Securities	commitments	received

Optional repurchase agreements

Other commitments and guarantees received 818 359

TOTAL	ASSETS 156,222 126,476
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LIABILITIES	AND	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY
(in € millions) Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Central banks and postal checking accounts

Due to credit institutions 76,878 62,386

Customer transactions 15,404 11,793

Debt securities 34,183 22,180

Other liabilities 13,883 16,704

Accruals and other liabilities 7,764 5,594

Provisions 566 486

Subordinated debt 3,235 3,535

General banking risks reserve 379 379

Shareholders’ equity 3,930 3,419

- Capital stock 574 567

- Additional paid-in capital 844 736

- Reserves 662 662

- Revaluation reserve 44 44

- Untaxed provisions 28 30

- Retained earnings 1,232 761

- Net income for the year 546 619

off bAlAnce sheet items

(in € millions) Dec.	31,	2007 dec. 31, 2006

Commitments	and	guarantees	given

Financing	commitments	given

Commitments given to banks 1,273 1,401

Commitments given to customers 12,519 12,264

Guarantees	given

Guarantees given on behalf of banks 501 461

Guarantees given on behalf of customers 6,249 5,968

Securities	commitments	given

Optional reselling agreements

Other commitments and guarantees given 1,481 555

TOTAL	LIABILITIES	AND	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY 156,222 126,476
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income stAtement

(in € millions) 2007 2006

Interest income 5,582 4,106

Interest expense (7,470) (4,906)

Income from variable-income securities 508 294

Commission income 360 347

Commission expense (117) (99)

Net gains on trading account securities 2,361 1,475

Net gains on securities held for sale (27) 114

Other banking income 19 10

Other banking expense (1) (8)

Net	banking	income 1,215 1,333

Payroll costs (364) (416)

Other general operating expenses (235) (227)

Depreciation and amortization (39) (38)

General	operating	expenses (639) (681)

Operating	income	before	provisions 576 652

Net additions to provisions for loan losses (59) (18)

Operating	income	after	provisions 517 634

Net gains on disposals of fixed assets 51 39

Income	before	non-recurring	items 568 673

Net non-recurring income 0

Corporate income tax (20) (51)

Net allocation to general banking risks reserve

Net allocation to untaxed provisions (2) (3)

NET	INCOME 546) 619
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five-yeAr finAnciAl summAry

Caption 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

1.	At	December	31

Capital stock (in €) 563,330,656 563,330,656 563,330,656 567,006,336 573,626,848

Number of shares issued 35,208,166 35,208,166 35,208,166 35,437,896 35,851,678

“A“ series common shares 35,208,166 35,208,166 35,208,166 35,437,896 35,851,678

“D“ series preferred shares - - - - -

Preferred investment certificates - - - - -

Ordinary investment certificates - - - - -

2.	Results	of	operations	(in	€	thousands)

Banking income 3,942,663 4,052,927 3,174,371 6,337,241 8,813,597

Net income before tax, employee profit-sharing, depreciation, 
amortization, provisions and net non-recurring items

486,685 492,031 608,727 737,154 662,756

Corporate income tax 18,132 56,881 227,268 51,383 19,951

Employee profit-sharing for the year 12,328 13,125 9,439 6,107 5,654

Net income 227,399 527,795 96,882 618,624 546,302

Dividends 115,483 133,087 144,353 156,990 172,088

3.	Earnings	per	share	(in	€)

Income after tax and employee profit-sharing,  
but before depreciation, amortization and provisions

13.84 15.09 23.22 21.64 18.43

Net income 6.48 14.99 2.75 17.46 15.24

Dividend per “A“ series share 3.28 3.78 4.10 4.43 4.80

Dividend per “D“ series share and investment certificates - - - - -

4.	Employee	information	(excluding	foreign	branches)

Number of employees (average full-time equivalents) 4,164 4,394 4,460 4,365 4,223

Total payroll 173,709,290 173,239,934 181,061,113 177,083,626 207,103,823

Total benefits (Social Security, etc.) 89,652,736 97,182,075 98,960,725 113,637,482 103,361,020
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Company and address Capital stock

shareholders’ 
equity less capital, 

excluding 2007 
income

percent 
interest

Book value of shares loans and 
advances 

granted by CIC
guarantees 
given by CIC

last published 
net sales

last published net 
income/(loss)

dividends 
received by 
CIC in 2007at cost net

Detailed	information	about	investments	in	French	and	foreign	companies	
with	a	carrying	value	representing	more	than	1%	of	CIC’s	capital	stock

 

A/SUBSIDIARIES	(50% to 100%-owned by CIC)  

A.1	BANKS  

CIC Banque CIo-BRo - 2, avenue Jean-Claude Bonduelle, 44000 Nantes - Siren no. 855 801 072 83,780,000 325,981,000 100.00 366,582,523 366,582,523 443,962,000 86,285,000 128,287,917

CIC Banque Bsd-CIn - 33, avenue Le Corbusier, 59800 Lille - Siren no. 455 502 096 230,000,000 157,941,000 100.00 313,939,359 313,939,359 427,840,000 64,329,000 66,499,952

CIC Est - 31, rue Jean Wenger-Valentin, 67000 Strasbourg - Siren no. 754 800 712 225,000,000 139,077,000 100.00 231,131,343 231,131,343 649,219,000 245,253,000 119,779,846

CIC Banque transatlantique - 26, avenue Franklin D. Roosevelt, 75008 Paris - Siren no. 302 695 937 22,129,350 53,872,000 100.00 94,663,861 94,663,861 62,127,000 18,622,000 15,047,815

CIC société Bordelaise - Cité Mondiale, 20, quai des Chartrons, 33000 Bordeaux - Siren no. 456 204 809 155,300,000 51,078,000 100.00 220,670,272 220,670,272 100,000,000 186,464,000 15,682,000 21,741,966

CIC lyonnaise de Banque - 8, rue de la République, 69001 Lyon - Siren no. 954 507 976 260,840,262  177,038,000 100.00 341,810,017 341,810,017 533,415,000 122,376,000 105,177,312

Cm-CIC mezzanine - 4, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 452 714 124 00016 28,186,296 2,572,243 80.00 22,571,496 22,571,496 3,676,308 4,029,097 2,400,000

Cm-CIC Epargne salariale - 12, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 692 020 878 13,524,000 2,048,395 99.94 31,957,272 31,957,272 30,916,043 5,535,842 0

Cm-CIC Bail - 12, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 642 017 834 18,928,276 26,199,000 60.70 79,039,770 79,039,770 1,645,009,020 6,558,060 0

Cm-CIC lease - - 48, rue des Petits Champs, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 332 778 224 64,399,232 50,793,608 27.88 22,309,854 22,309,854 403,078,874 19,168,688 3,792,627

Cm-CIC securities - 6, avenue de Provence, 75009 Paris - Siren no. 467 501 359 19,704,678 7,802,322 100.00 38,690,139 38,690,139 79,068,000 6,782,000 4,222,332

	A.2	OTHER  

CIC Finance - 4 et 6, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 562 118 299 115,016,688 185,934,779 55.51 180,518,370 180,518,370 84,190,603 137,474,729 5,414,323

Institut de participations de l’ouest “Ipo“ - 32, avenue Camus, 44000 Nantes - Siren no. 319 658 530 83,721,420 105,724,081 54.18 131,486,762 131,486,762 39,694,759 30,570,540 5,609,755

adepi - 6, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 331 618 074 244,192,608 350,716,379 100.00 474,936,885 474,936,885 19,212,518 18,828,268 0

CIC participations - 4, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 349 744 193 8,375,000 9,735,389 100.00 40,267,900 40,267,900 2,465,571 1,267,814 0

CIC associés - 60, rue de la Victoire, 75009 Paris - Siren no. 331 719 708 15,576,000 2,828,405 100.00 19,787,882 18,496,500 1,227,391 1,372,591 0

CIC migrations - 6, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 395 064 769 00015 37,800 2,076 100.00 10,619,034 4,436,532 519,300 (417) 0

B/AFFILIATES (10% to 50%-owned by CIC)

Banque marocaine du Commerce Extérieur - 140, avenue Hassan II, 20000 Casablanca (Morocco)* 1,587,514,000 MAD 4,628,119,000 MAD 9.99 70,154,915 70,154,915 3,155,347,000 MAD 829,110,000 MAD 3,196,279

Banque de tunisie - 2, rue de Turquie, 1001 Tunis (Tunisia) 75,000,000 TND 224,900,000 TND 20.00 28,246,446 28,246,446 172,399,000 TND 85,767,000 TND 1,869,815

groupe sofemo - 34, rue du Wacken, 67000 Strasbourg - Siren no. 339 943 680 11,050,000 9,100,249 33.30 7,820,000 7,820,000 41,501,816 2,629,373 289,800

General	information	on	other	subsidiaries	and	affiliates  

SUBSIDIARIES  

French subsidiaries 114,088,926 111,432,784 4,136,280

Foreign subsidiaries 1,357,474 1,357,474 0

AFFILIATES  

French companies 9,199,184 6,664,719 2,813,052

Foreign companies    88,995,582 88,995,582     7,048,535

* Figures at June 30, 2007. 

Investments in subsidiaries  
and affiliates at December 31, 2007
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MAD/€ exchange rate at December 31, 2007: €11.3627.
TND/€ exchange rate at December 31, 2007: €1.798470.

Company and address Capital stock

shareholders’ 
equity less capital, 

excluding 2007 
income

percent 
interest

Book value of shares loans and 
advances 

granted by CIC
guarantees 
given by CIC

last published 
net sales

last published net 
income/(loss)

dividends 
received by 
CIC in 2007at cost net

Detailed	information	about	investments	in	French	and	foreign	companies	
with	a	carrying	value	representing	more	than	1%	of	CIC’s	capital	stock

 

A/SUBSIDIARIES	(50% to 100%-owned by CIC)  

A.1	BANKS  

CIC Banque CIo-BRo - 2, avenue Jean-Claude Bonduelle, 44000 Nantes - Siren no. 855 801 072 83,780,000 325,981,000 100.00 366,582,523 366,582,523 443,962,000 86,285,000 128,287,917

CIC Banque Bsd-CIn - 33, avenue Le Corbusier, 59800 Lille - Siren no. 455 502 096 230,000,000 157,941,000 100.00 313,939,359 313,939,359 427,840,000 64,329,000 66,499,952

CIC Est - 31, rue Jean Wenger-Valentin, 67000 Strasbourg - Siren no. 754 800 712 225,000,000 139,077,000 100.00 231,131,343 231,131,343 649,219,000 245,253,000 119,779,846

CIC Banque transatlantique - 26, avenue Franklin D. Roosevelt, 75008 Paris - Siren no. 302 695 937 22,129,350 53,872,000 100.00 94,663,861 94,663,861 62,127,000 18,622,000 15,047,815

CIC société Bordelaise - Cité Mondiale, 20, quai des Chartrons, 33000 Bordeaux - Siren no. 456 204 809 155,300,000 51,078,000 100.00 220,670,272 220,670,272 100,000,000 186,464,000 15,682,000 21,741,966

CIC lyonnaise de Banque - 8, rue de la République, 69001 Lyon - Siren no. 954 507 976 260,840,262  177,038,000 100.00 341,810,017 341,810,017 533,415,000 122,376,000 105,177,312

Cm-CIC mezzanine - 4, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 452 714 124 00016 28,186,296 2,572,243 80.00 22,571,496 22,571,496 3,676,308 4,029,097 2,400,000

Cm-CIC Epargne salariale - 12, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 692 020 878 13,524,000 2,048,395 99.94 31,957,272 31,957,272 30,916,043 5,535,842 0

Cm-CIC Bail - 12, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 642 017 834 18,928,276 26,199,000 60.70 79,039,770 79,039,770 1,645,009,020 6,558,060 0

Cm-CIC lease - - 48, rue des Petits Champs, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 332 778 224 64,399,232 50,793,608 27.88 22,309,854 22,309,854 403,078,874 19,168,688 3,792,627

Cm-CIC securities - 6, avenue de Provence, 75009 Paris - Siren no. 467 501 359 19,704,678 7,802,322 100.00 38,690,139 38,690,139 79,068,000 6,782,000 4,222,332

	A.2	OTHER  

CIC Finance - 4 et 6, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 562 118 299 115,016,688 185,934,779 55.51 180,518,370 180,518,370 84,190,603 137,474,729 5,414,323

Institut de participations de l’ouest “Ipo“ - 32, avenue Camus, 44000 Nantes - Siren no. 319 658 530 83,721,420 105,724,081 54.18 131,486,762 131,486,762 39,694,759 30,570,540 5,609,755

adepi - 6, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 331 618 074 244,192,608 350,716,379 100.00 474,936,885 474,936,885 19,212,518 18,828,268 0

CIC participations - 4, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 349 744 193 8,375,000 9,735,389 100.00 40,267,900 40,267,900 2,465,571 1,267,814 0

CIC associés - 60, rue de la Victoire, 75009 Paris - Siren no. 331 719 708 15,576,000 2,828,405 100.00 19,787,882 18,496,500 1,227,391 1,372,591 0

CIC migrations - 6, rue Gaillon, 75002 Paris - Siren no. 395 064 769 00015 37,800 2,076 100.00 10,619,034 4,436,532 519,300 (417) 0

B/AFFILIATES (10% to 50%-owned by CIC)

Banque marocaine du Commerce Extérieur - 140, avenue Hassan II, 20000 Casablanca (Morocco)* 1,587,514,000 MAD 4,628,119,000 MAD 9.99 70,154,915 70,154,915 3,155,347,000 MAD 829,110,000 MAD 3,196,279

Banque de tunisie - 2, rue de Turquie, 1001 Tunis (Tunisia) 75,000,000 TND 224,900,000 TND 20.00 28,246,446 28,246,446 172,399,000 TND 85,767,000 TND 1,869,815

groupe sofemo - 34, rue du Wacken, 67000 Strasbourg - Siren no. 339 943 680 11,050,000 9,100,249 33.30 7,820,000 7,820,000 41,501,816 2,629,373 289,800

General	information	on	other	subsidiaries	and	affiliates  

SUBSIDIARIES  

French subsidiaries 114,088,926 111,432,784 4,136,280

Foreign subsidiaries 1,357,474 1,357,474 0

AFFILIATES  

French companies 9,199,184 6,664,719 2,813,052

Foreign companies    88,995,582 88,995,582     7,048,535

* Figures at June 30, 2007. 
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business And results of subsidiAries And AffiliAtes

Regional	banks(1)

CIC	Banque	BSD-CIN

2007 2006

Financial data in € millions
French	
GAAP

Consolidated
IFRS

 French
gaap*

 Consolidated
IFRs**

Number of FTE employees at December 31  2,904    2,904    2,899    2,899   

Total assets  14,985    15,179    13,730    13,807   

Shareholders’ equity and general banking risks reserve  487    650    439    546   

Customer deposits  7,232    7,231    6,796    6,798   

Customer loans  12,834    12,786    10,628    10,600   

Net	income*** 	64			 	82			 	71			 	111			

* CIC Banque BSD and CIC Banque CIN merged on December 29, 2006, with retroactive effect from January 1, 2006.

** The consolidated financial statements for 2006 do not take account of the merger with CIC Banque CIN (as it does not have retroactive 
effect under IFRS). The notes to the 2006 consolidated financial statements included a comparative income statement. When the impact 
of the merger was taken into account, net income came out at €57 million for 2006.

*** In order to permit meaningful year-on-year comparisons, the effective date of the BSD-CIN merger and asset-for-share exchange in 
the 2006 financial statements was January 1, 2006. 

CIC	Est

2007
Financial data in € millions French	GAAP*

Number of FTE employees at December 31  4,279   

Total assets  22,045   

Shareholders’ equity and general banking risks reserve  639   

Customer deposits  9,761   

Customer loans  17,027   

Net	income 	245			

* CIAL and SNVB merged on December 31, 2007, with retroactive effect from January 1, 2007.  
The name of the new entity is CIC Est.

The 2007 consolidated financial statements do not take account of the merger with CIC Banque CIAL (as it does not have retroactive 
effect under IFRS). The notes to the consolidated financial statements include a comparative income statement. When the impact of the 
merger is taken into account, net income comes out at €243.6 million for 2007, compared to €257.3 million for 2006.

The financial statements for both entities (under French GAAP) are presented in the 2006 Annual Report (refer to page 62 “Documents 
available to the public”).

(1)  Customer deposits do not include certificates of deposit or repurchase agreements.  
Customer loans include lease financing transactions but exclude resale agreements.
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CIC	Lyonnaise	de	Banque

2007 2006

Financial data in € millions
	French	
GAAP	

	Consolidated
IFRS

 French
gaap

 Consolidated
IFRs

Number of FTE employees at December 31  3,907    4,206    3,990    4,197   

Total assets  21,452    26,110    18,723    21,862   

Shareholders’ equity and general banking risks reserve  586    961    566    899   

Customer deposits  8,645    10,391    7,912    9,200   

Customer loans  16,746    19,183    14,166    16,059   

Net	income 	122			 	169			 	105			 	174			

CIC	Société	Bordelaise

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions 	French	GAAP  French gaap

Number of FTE employees at December 31  1,424    1,232   

Total assets  6,042    5,014   

Shareholders’ equity and general banking risks reserve  224    228   

Customer deposits  2,419    2,174   

Customer loans  4,957    4,086   

Net	income 	16			 	22			

CIC	Banque	CIO-BRO

2007 2006

Financial data in € millions
	French
GAAP

	Consolidated
IFRS

 French
gaap*

 Consolidated
IFRs

Number of FTE employees at December 31  3,092    3,092    3,241    3,241   

Total assets  16,510    16,737    15,714   15,907

Shareholders’ equity and general banking risks reserve  505    629    544    665   

Customer deposits  7,451    7,452   7,236    7,236   

Customer loans  14,608    14,576    12,555    12,531   

Net	income** 	86			 	92			 	128			 	128			

* CIC Banque CIO and CIC Banque BRO merged on December 28, 2006, with retroactive effect from January 1, 2006.

** In order to permit meaningful year-on-year comparisons, the effective date of the merger in the 2006 financial statements was 
January 1, 2006. CIC Banque CIO-BRO’s published consolidated net income was €75.3 million in 2006.
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Specialist	subsidiaries	-	Retail	banking

CM-CIC	Epargne	Salariale

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions 	French	GAAP  French gaap

Number of employees at December 31 125 107

Total assets 89 54

Shareholders’ equity 21 11

Assets under management (excluding current bank accounts) 4,146 2,984

Net	income 5.5 3.6

CM-CIC	Bail

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions 	IFRS  IFRs

Number of employees at December 31 108 99

Total assets 4,511 4,351

Shareholders’ equity 215 211

Outstanding lease financing 4,183 3,629

Net	income 4.2 18.1

CM-CIC	Laviolette	Financement

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions 	French	GAAP  French gaap

Number of employees at December 31 102 98

Total assets 240 212

Shareholders’ equity and general banking risks reserve 6 5

Net factored receivables 1,418 1,259

Net	income 1.9 1.0



137InvEstmEnts In suBsIdIaRIEs and aFFIlIatEs at dECEmBER 31, 2007 

CM-CIC	Lease

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions 	IFRS  IFRs

Number of employees at December 31 47 46

Total assets 2,034 2,042

Shareholders’ equity 99 96

Outstanding lease financing 1,956 1,994

Net	income 16.8 12.0

Factocic

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions 	French	GAAP  French gaap

Number of employees at December 31 210 194

Total assets 1,894 1,682

Shareholders’ equity and general banking risks reserve 116 105

Factored receivables 8,888 7,753

Net	income 17.2 19.3

Specialist	subsidiary	-	Financing	and	capital	markets

CM-CIC	Securities

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions 	French	GAAP  French gaap

Number of employees at December 31 273 262

Total assets 828 1,249

Customer assets in custody 20,605 21,012

Net	income 6.8 4.7
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Specialist	subsidiaries	-	Private	banking

CIC	Banque	Transatlantique(1)

2007 2006

Financial data in € millions
	French
GAAP

	Consolidated
IFRS	

 French
gaap

 Consolidated
IFRs

Number of employees at December 31 238 301 218 259

Total assets 1,316 1,641 1,135 1,300

Shareholders’ equity and general banking risks reserve 104 116 100 110

Customer funds invested in group savings products 6,439 8,898 5,344 7,176

Customer deposits 981 1,154 836 954

Customer loans 690 904 650 722

Net	income 18.6 21.3 15.0 17.6

(1)  Customer deposits do not include certificates of deposit or repurchase agreements. 
Customer loans include lease financing transactions but exclude resale agreements.

CIC	Suisse

Key figures prepared under local accounting standards 2007 2006
Financial data in CHF millions 	Individual  Individual

Number of employees at December 31 274 267

Total assets 2,859 2,646

Shareholders’ equity 185 178

Assets in custody 5,838 5,649

Net	income 14.7 14.7

CIC	Private	Banking	-	Banque	Pasche

Key figures prepared under local accounting standards 2007 2006
Financial data in CHF millions Consolidated Consolidated

Number of employees at December 31 152 84

Total assets 1,695 493

Total customer funds (assets in custody and deposits) 7,406 2,098

Net	income 10.4 6.5

Banque	de	Luxembourg

Key figures prepared under local accounting standards 2007 2006
Financial data in € millions Individual Individual

Number of employees at December 31 695 655

Total assets 14,319 12,741

Shareholders’ equity and general banking risks reserve* 578 572

Assets in custody 55,811 52,764

Net	income 71.7 69.2

* Shareholders’ equity includes untaxed provisions.
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Dubly-Douilhet	SA

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions French	GAAP French gaap

Number of employees at December 31 37 36

Total assets 46 47

Shareholders’ equity 10 10

Assets in custody 964 889

Net	income 2.8 2.2

Specialist	subsidiaries	-	Private	equity

CIC	Banque	de	Vizille

2007 2006

Financial data in € millions
Consolidated*

IFRS
Consolidated*

IFRs

Number of employees at December 31 42 39

Total assets 649 498

Shareholders’ equity 545 482

Value of portfolio 613 430

Net	income 64.2 48.5

* Banque de Vizille SA, Vizille Capital Innovation, Vizille Capital Finance and Sudinnova. 

IPO

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions French	GAAP	 French gaap 

Number of employees at December 31 15 15

Total assets 224 195

Shareholders’ equity 220 191

Value of portfolio 278 218

Net	income 30.6 36.3
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CIC	Finance

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions French	GAAP French gaap

Number of employees at December 31 33 36

Total assets 500 361

Shareholders’ equity 438 312

Value of portfolio 764 696

Net	income 137.5 15.9

and its subsidiaries:

CIC	Investissement	

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions French	GAAP French gaap

Total assets 252 190

Shareholders’ equity 233 188

Value of portfolio 264.8 192

Net	income 25 49.5

CIC	Investissement	Est

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions French	GAAP French gaap

Total assets 133 114

Shareholders’ equity 130 110

Value of portfolio 80 71

Net	income 20.0 10.9

CIC	Investissement	Nord

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions French	GAAP French gaap

Total assets 89 77

Shareholders’ equity 86 74

Value of portfolio 100 75

Net	income 12.3 7.7

CIC	Investissement	Alsace

2007 2006
Financial data in € millions French	GAAP French gaap

Total assets 40 38

Shareholders’ equity 40 36

Value of portfolio 26 18

Net	income 3.2 7.5
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Combined Ordinary and 
Extraordinary Shareholders’ 
Meeting of May 22, 2008

Executive	Board’s	report	to	the	Combined	
Ordinary	and	Extraordinary	Shareholders’	
Meeting	of	May	22,	2008
We have called this Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary 
Shareholders’ Meeting to discuss the matters included on the 
agenda that are the subject of the resolutions submitted for your 
approval. The business activities and results of the bank and the 
CIC group for 2007 are discussed in the Executive Board reports 
provided with the statutory and consolidated financial state-
ments that have been made available or provided to you. These 
reports also include details of business developments since the 
beginning of the year and prospects for the full year.

A.	Ordinary	Shareholders’	Meeting		

I	-		Changes	in	accounting	methods	starting	
from	January	1,	2007	

(first resolution)

The French National Accounting Council (Conseil national de la 
comptabilité) recently clarified the terms and conditions for 
recognition of the tax credit related to interest-free refundable 
advances granted by credit institutions that have entered into an 
agreement with the French State for the acquisition or construc-
tion of homes for first home owners. In accordance with the 
provisions of French Decree No. 2005-69 of January 31, 2005 
and the order of the same date, the absence of interest received 
by credit institutions is offset by a tax credit which is itself liable 
for tax. This tax credit and the tax charge relating thereto must be 
spread over the term of the advances granted. The first-time 
application of this method is retrospective and its impact amounts 
to €1,798,059.59.

CRC (French accounting standards committee) standard No. 
2005-01 with regard to the recording of securities transactions 
amended standard No. 90-01. Some securities have had to be 
reclassified in different categories, and their inclusion in the new 
category is made on the basis of the carrying amount determined 
by applying the specific rules of valuation that apply to the new 
category. The difference in valuation amounts to a total of 
€2,297,706.35.

These amounts are to be credited to retained earnings in accor-
dance with Article 314-1 of CRC standard No. 99-03 relating to 
the general chart of accounts.

2	-		Approval	of	the	financial	statements	for		
the	fiscal	year	ended	December	31,	2007		

(second and third resolutions)

The financial statements of CIC, which were approved by the 
Executive Board at its February 18, 2008 meeting, show income 
of €546,302,199.09. The Executive Board report provided with 
the financial statements gives details of the various elements 
that make up this income.

The consolidated financial statements of the CIC group show net 
income of €1,139 million. The related Executive Board report 

shows how this income was generated and how the group’s various 
businesses and entities contributed to such income.

You have been given the opportunity to review the reports of the 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board enclosed with the Executive 
Board report regarding internal control and the functioning of the 
Supervisory Board, the Supervisory Board’s report, and the 
Statutory Auditors’ reports.

We ask you to approve the statutory and consolidated financial 
statements as presented to you.

3	-	Appropriation	of	income
(fourth and fifth resolutions)

a) dividend:

Income for the fiscal year amounts to €546,302,199.09. After 
taking into account positive retained earnings of €1,227,295,604.80, 
and after allocation of the impact of the change in accounting 
method referred to above, the amount to be allocated by the 
Shareholders’ Meeting comes to €1,777,693,569.83.

An amount of €1,029,619.60 should first of all be allocated to the 
legal reserve to raise it to 10% of the share capital as it stands 
following the capital increase resulting from the payment of 2006 
dividends in shares. An amount of €146,000 should then be allo-
cated to the special reserve provided for by Article 238 bis AB of 
the French Tax Code. This corresponds to the tax-deductible 
amount relating to corporate sponsorship activities.

Like last year, the implementation of new capital adequacy ratios 
on the back of the Basel II agreement and the strong increase in 
loans to individuals on account of the network development plan 
that has been in place for several years have led the Executive 
Board to pursue its policy of increasing the share of income allo-
cated to the reserves with a view to strengthening CIC’s 
shareholders’ equity. Despite the fall in income, the Executive 
Board intends to pay the shareholders a reasonable rise in the 
dividend; it proposes that you increase such dividend to €4.80, 
i.e. up 8.35% on 2006. The proposed increase is in line with those 
for previous years. The balance would be allocated to the retained 
earnings account.

The Executive Board therefore suggests that you:

•  distribute a dividend of €172,088,054.40 to holders of “A” series 
shares in respect of fiscal year 2007;

•  enter the available balance, i.e., €1,604,429,895.83, in the retained 
earnings account.

Accordingly, each share will carry a dividend of €4.80. The ex divi-
dend date for the shares will be May 26, 2008 and the dividends 
will be paid by June 30, 2008 at the latest, this interval being 
required to exercise the option relating to payment of dividends 
in shares. As provided under the tax regime applicable to distribu-
tions, it is specified that the entire dividend distributed is eligible 
for the 40% tax abatement mentioned in point 2 of Article 158 (3) 
of the French Tax Code.

In accordance with the provisions of French law, the Shareholders’ 
Meeting is reminded that:

•  for 2006, a dividend of €156,989,879.30 was distributed, repre-
senting €4.43 per share eligible for the 40% tax abatement 
mentioned in point 2 of Article 158 (3) of the French Tax Code;

•  for 2005, a dividend of €144,353,480.60 was distributed, repre-
senting €4.10 per share eligible for the 40% tax abatement 
mentioned in point 2 of Article 158 (3) of the French Tax Code;
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•  for 2004, a dividend of €133,086,867.48 was distributed, repre-
senting €3.78 per share eligible for the 50% tax abatement 
mentioned in point 2 of Article 158 (3) of the French Tax Code.

(fourth resolution)

b) options for payment of dividends in shares:

Again with an eye to bolstering CIC’s shareholders’ equity, and 
pursuant to the last paragraph of Article 30 of the bylaws, the 
Executive Board proposes offering shareholders the option of 
receiving payment of the dividend in the form of “A” series shares, 
in accordance with the following terms and conditions:

•  the option would apply to the entire dividend payment;

•  the option would have to be exercised between May 30 and June 
13, 2008 inclusive, to enable the dividend to be paid or the 
shares to be delivered by June 30, 2008 at the latest;

•  the issue price of the shares to be created to pay the dividend 
would be equal to 90% of the average share price over the last 
twenty trading sessions before this Shareholders’ Meeting, less 
the net amount of the dividend, in accordance with Article 
L.232-19 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce). 
The Executive Board will be entitled to round up the issue price 
to the nearest whole number;

•  the cum-dividend date of the shares will be January 1, 2008;

•  fractions of shares will give rise to a cash payment.

The Executive Board suggests that you authorize it to carry out 
the operations required for the exercise of the option and the 
performance of the resulting capital increase.

(fifth resolution)

4	-		Agreements	mentioned	in	Article	L.225-86	
of	the	French	Commercial	Code

(sixth resolution)

In the Statutory Auditors’ special report, the Auditors list the 
regulated agreements governed by Article L.225-86 of the 
French Commercial Code that were entered into or that remained 
in effect during 2007 with the Supervisory Board’s consent.

5	-		Authorization	for	the	Executive	Board		
to	buy	back	the	bank’s	“A”	series	shares

(seventh resolution)

We ask you to cancel the authorization previously given to the 
Executive Board to trade in CIC’s “A” series shares on the stock 
exchange with immediate effect and to give it a new authorization 
for this purpose. It must be stressed that the legal framework for 
such transactions is laid down in Articles L.225-209 et seq. of the 
French Commercial Code, and in Title IV of Book II of the general 
regulation of the Autorité des marchés financiers, and in its 
implementing instructions. Within this framework, CIC wishes to 
trade on the stock exchange as follows:

•  shares will be traded in accordance with the liquidity agreement 
entered into by CIC with the CM-CIC Securities firm of stockbro-
kers, in the capacity of investment service provider, which is the 
trader;

•  the provisions of this liquidity agreement comply with the AFEI’s 
code of ethics;

•  shares will be traded freely by the firm of stockbrokers with the 
sole aim of ensuring the liquidity and regular listing of CIC’s 
shares on the Paris stock exchange;

•  bearing in mind that, according to the regulatory framework, it is 
only necessary to set a maximum purchase price in order to 
expressly cap the corresponding commitment, the maximum 
purchase price will be set at €450, a price level that remains 
uncharged as compared to the prior authorization;

• the shares held within this context will not be cancelled;

•  the maximum number of shares that may be purchased within 
this context is 100,000, i.e., 0.28% of the capital at the begin-
ning of this Shareholders’ Meeting, a percentage that remains 
unchanged as compared to the prior authorization, it being 
specified that the maximum commitment that may result from 
the use of this amount in full, taking into account the price limit 
set, will remain unchanged at €45 million;

•  CIC will provide the AMF with the statistics relating to the trading 
of these shares every month and with a statement every six 
months.

For information purposes, as of December 31, 2007, in connec-
tion with the agreement, CIC held 6,234 ”A” series CIC shares after 
purchasing 26,298 shares and selling 25,461 shares in 2007. As 
of March 31, 2008, it held 5,200 shares.

6	-		Ratification	of	the	cooptation	of	a	member	
of	the	Supervisory	Board		

(eighth resolution)

Pursuant to Article 12 of the bylaws, the Supervisory Board 
coopted Jean-Luc Menet to replace Bernard Daurensan, who 
resigned, at its December 13, 2007 meeting. His term of office will 
expire at the time when his predecessor’s term of office would 
have expired, i.e. at the close of this Shareholders’ Meeting called 
to approve the financial statements for fiscal year 2007.

The Executive Board suggests that you ratify this cooptation.

7	-		Renewal	of	the	terms	of	office	of	members	
of	the	Supervisory	Board

(ninth to twenty-fourth resolutions)

Pursuant to paragraph II of Article 12 of the bylaws, the duration of 
the terms of office of the members of the Supervisory Board is five 
years. The duties of members other than those elected by the 
employees terminate at the end of the Ordinary Shareholders’ 
Meeting held during the year in which their term of office expires and 
having approved the financial statements for the past fiscal year.

The terms of office of sixteen members appointed by the 
Shareholders’ Meeting of May 15, 2003, or the members coopted 
by the Board to replace members who resigned during their term 
of office, therefore expire at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting. This concerns the following persons:

•  Étienne Pflimlin, born on October 16, 1941, residing at 27, rue de 
Constantine, 75007 Paris, Chairman of the Confédération 
Nationale du Crédit Mutuel, du Crédit Mutuel Centre-Est Europe 
and Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel, appointed by the 
Shareholders’ Meeting on May 15, 2003;

•  Gérard Cormorèche, born on July 3, 1957, residing at 2192, 
chemin des Rosarges, Les Echets, 01700 Miribel, Chairman of 
Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est, appointed by the Shareholders’ 
Meeting on May 15, 2003;

•  Gérard Bontoux, born on March 7, 1950, residing at 1, impasse 
des Pins, 31880 La Salvetat Saint-Gilles, Chairman of Crédit 
Mutuel Midi-Atlantique, appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting 
on May 15, 2003;
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•  Luc Chambaud, born on March 24, 1956, residing at 14, rue 
Antoine Galland, 14000 Caen, Chief Executive Officer of Crédit 
Mutuel de Normandie, coopted by the Supervisory Board on 
December 16, 2004;

•  Maurice Corgini, born on September 27, 1942, residing at 8, rue 
des Abbayes, 25110 Baume-les-Dames, director of Banque 
Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel, appointed by the Shareholders’ 
Meeting on May 15, 2003;

•  François Duret, born on March 18, 1946, residing at Sermonville, 
28700 Garancières-en-Beauce, Chairman of  Crédit Mutuel du 
Centre, coopted by the Supervisory Board on February 22, 2007;

•  Pierre Filliger, born on November 27, 1943, residing at 14, allée Léo 
Delibes, 13500 Martigues, Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Méditerranéen, 
appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of May 15, 2003;

•  Jean-Louis Girodot, born on February 10, 1944, residing at 5, rue 
Dufrenoy, 75116 Paris, Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France, 
appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of May 15, 2003;

•  Daniel Leroyer, born on April 15, 1951,  residing at 65, avenue du 
Président Coty, 61600 La Ferté-Macé, Chairman of Crédit 
Mutuel Maine-Anjou, Basse-Normandie, coopted by the 
Supervisory Board on May 19, 2005;

•  Roberto Mazzotta, born on November 3, 1940, residing at Via 
San Pietro all’Orto, 20121 Milan (Italy), Chairman of Banco 
Popolare di Milano (Milan - Italy), appointed by the Shareholders’ 
Meeting of May 15, 2003;

•  Jean-Luc Menet, born on February 2, 1951, residing at 6, rue du 
Maine, 44000 Nantes, Chief Executive Officer of Crédit Mutuel 
Océan, coopted by the Supervisory Board on December 13, 2007;

•  André Meyer, born on March 31, 1934, residing at  7, Quartier 
Central, 67140 Stotzheim, director of the Confédération 
Nationale du Crédit Mutuel, appointed by the Shareholders’ 
Meeting of May 15, 2003;

•  Paul Schwartz, born on January 29, 1937, residing at 66, rue J.J. 
Kieffer, 57230 Bitche, director of the Confédération Nationale 
du Crédit Mutuel, appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of 
May 15, 2003;

•  Alain Têtedoie, born on May 16, 1964, residing at 5, rue des 
Péniches, 44450 Saint-Julien de Concelles, Chairman of Crédit 
Mutuel Loire-Atlantique Centre-Ouest, coopted by the 
Supervisory Board on September 7, 2006;

•  Philippe Vasseur, born on August 31, 1943, residing at 70, La Place, 
62130 Ramecourt, Chairman of Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe, 
appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of May 15, 2003;

•  Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel, having its registered office 
at 34, rue du Wacken, 67000 Strasbourg, appointed by the 
Shareholders’ Meeting of May 15, 2003.

It is proposed that the Shareholders’ Meeting renew each of these 
terms of office for a period of five years which will expire at the 
close of the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve 
the financial statements for fiscal year 2012.  

(This is the purpose of the next 16 resolutions: from nine to 
twenty-four)
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B.	Extraordinary	Shareholders’	meeting		

Amendment	of	Article	12	of	the	bylaws	
(twenty-fifth resolution)

French Act No. 2004-575 of June 21, 2004 on confidence in the 
digital economy made it possible to use electronic voting in 
professional elections. It has appeared appropriate to transpose 
this system to the election of employee representatives on the 
Supervisory Board. For this purpose, it is proposed that the share-
holders amend § III of Article 12 of the bylaws by offering an 
alternative between the usual method of a ballot in a sealed 
envelope, which has been the method used up until now, and 
electronic voting.

The use of electronic voting will be subject to the signing of a prior 
agreement with the representative trade unions. In this case, voting 
may take place in the workplace or at a distance and votes may be 
cast over a period of several days (8 at most). The electronic voting 
system must ensure the confidentiality of the data transmitted and 
the secure addressing of the means of authentication, signatures, 
recording and counting of votes; an external service provider may 
be asked to design and set-up the system.

The choice of either of the voting procedures will exclude the other 
in order to avoid any difficulty in checking signatures and recording 
votes. If an agreement is not reached on electronic voting with the 
representative trade unions, voting would take place by secret 
ballot in a sealed envelope.

However, in both cases, to deal with specific situations, a process of 
voting by mail may also be put in place.

All the other conditions of the vote would be decided on by the 
Executive Board after consulting the representative trade unions.

C.		Resolution	tabled	at	both	the	Ordinary		
and	Extraordinary	Shareholders’	Meeting

The twenty-sixth resolution concerns powers to be given.
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Supervisory	Board’s	report	to	the	
Shareholders’	Meeting	of	May	22,	2008
The Supervisory Board met at regular intervals as required by 
French law and was able to fulfill its duties and responsibilities 
completely based on the business reports presented by the 
Executive Board at each meeting.

The main business developments in 2007 and details of the 
components of income are presented in the documents making up 
or commenting on the financial statements of the bank and the 
consolidated financial statements (balance sheet, income state-
ment, notes to the financial statements and Executive Board 
report) presented by the Executive Board. At its February 21, 2008 
meeting, the Supervisory Board reviewed these documents, veri-
fied the accounts to which they relate and heard the observations 
of the Statutory Auditors. The Supervisory Board has no additional 
observation to make in this respect.

The Supervisory Board recommends that you approve CIC’s 
income and the other resolutions submitted to you.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Executive Board 
and all employees of the bank for their work and the results 
achieved throughout the year, despite the difficult context of the 
financial crisis which took hold in the summer of 2007. They 
testify to the positive impact of the restructuring operations as 
well as to the undeniable vibrancy of the Group, within the frame-
work of the coherent group of complementary entities formed 
with Crédit Mutuel.

The Supervisory Board

Report	of	the	Chairman	of	the	Supervisory	
Board	to	the	Shareholders’	Meeting	of	
May	22,	2008	on	the	preparation	and	
organization	of	the	Board’s	work
(Article L.225-68 of the French Commercial Code (Code de 
commerce), arising from Article 117 of the French Financial 
Security Act 2003-706 of August 1, 2003)

The Supervisory Board meets every quarter, in accordance with 
legal requirements, based on a predefined schedule that allows it 
to examine the Executive Board’s report and focus its discussions 
on one or more previously-determined subjects:

•  two meetings are devoted to reviewing CIC’s financial state-
ments: in February for the annual financial statements and in 
August for the interim financial statements. The Statutory 
Auditors attend these two meetings in order to report to the 
Board on their audits and, if applicable, present the issues raised 
in the course of the closing process;

•  one meeting is held in December, dealing with the budget and 
with medium-term forecasts;

•  during the meeting of the Supervisory Board in May, the head of 
group internal audit reports annually to the Board on internal 
control, risk measurement and monitoring, and compliance with 
the code of ethics, for both CIC and CIC group activities. An 
interim report is presented at the December meeting.

More specifically, at its meeting on August 29, 2007, the Board 
was informed of the organization of risk monitoring at the level of 
the CM-CIC group. Following this, on December 13, 2007, it desig-
nated from among its members the persons who would be 
members of:

•  the CM-CIC group risk monitoring committee (Gérard Bontoux 
and François Duret);

•  the CM-CIC group audit committee (Pierre Filliger and Daniel 
Leroyer).

They will be required to report to the Board on the performance of 
their duties.

The CM-CIC group ethics manual was presented to the Board at 
its meeting on December 13, 2007 and approved at its meeting 
on February 21, 2008.

Information packs are prepared and sent to the members of the 
Supervisory Board in advance of each meeting, containing all 
necessary information about matters on the agenda.

Detailed minutes of each meeting are drawn up, recording the 
decisions and votes of each member present.

In 2007, the attendance rate of members at Supervisory Board 
meetings was between 55% and 85%.

The Supervisory Board has set up a special three-member 
Remunerations Committee (Etienne Pflimlin, André Meyer and Paul 
Schwartz), which meets at least once a year to review the situation 
and compensation of the members of the Executive Board and 
make any relevant recommendations to the Board. The Committee 
recommends the variable portion of remuneration to be granted to 
each member of the Executive Board at the Supervisory Board 
meeting following the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting called to 
approve the financial statements for the year in respect of which 
the variable remuneration is paid. The variable portion is deter-
mined based on a specific, discretionary percentage.

Supervisory Board and Executive Board members are reminded, 
on a regular basis, of the rules applicable to persons holding priv-
ileged information. They have also been informed that they must 
disclose any trading in CIC shares by themselves or persons 
closely related to them to the Autorité des marchés financiers 
and to CIC.

The Supervisory Board has not drawn up any internal rules. The 
assessment of its work is documented in the general report it 
presents every year to the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting and in 
this report of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board on the prep-
aration and organization of the Board’s work.

Etienne Pflimlin

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Statutory	Auditors’	report	on		
the	consolidated	financial	statements
Year	ended	December	31,	2007

This is a free translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ report 
issued in the French language and is provided solely for the conve-
nience of English speaking readers. The Statutory Auditors’ report 
includes information specifically required by French law in such 
reports, whether qualified or not. This information is presented below 
the opinion on the consolidated financial statements and includes an 
explanatory paragraph discussing the auditors’ assessments of 
certain significant accounting and auditing matters. These assess-
ments were considered for the purpose of issuing an audit opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole and not to 
provide separate assurance on individual account captions or on 
information taken outside of the consolidated financial statements.

This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in 
accordance with, French law and professional auditing standards 
applicable in France.

To the Shareholders,

Following our appointment as Statutory Auditors by your 
Shareholders’ Meeting, we have audited the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements of CIC for the year ended 
December 31, 2007.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by 
the Executive Board. Our role is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit.

I.	Opinion	on	the	consolidated	financial	statements
We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards 
applicable in France. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting prin-
ciples used and significant estimates made in the preparation of 
the financial statements, as well as evaluating the overall presen-
tation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial position 
of the group at December 31, 2007, and of the results of its opera-
tions for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS as adopted 
by the European Union.

II.	Justification	of	our	assessments
In accordance with the requirements of Article L.823-9 of the 
French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) relating to the 
justification of our assessments, we bring to your attention the 
following matters:

•  the group records provisions to cover the credit risks inherent 
to its business, as described in Note 1 to the consolidated 
financial statements. We examined the control systems appli-
cable for the monitoring of credit risk, the assessment of the risk 
of non-recovery and the determination of individual and collec-
tive impairment provisions to cover these risks;

•  the group uses internal models and methods to value financial 
instruments that are not listed on organized markets, as well as 
to book certain provisions, as described in Note 1 to the consol-
idated financial statements. We examined the control systems 
applicable to the verification of these models and the determi-
nation of the criteria used;

•  the group records provisions for employee benefit commit-
ments, as described in Notes 1 and 24 to the consolidated 
financial statements. As part of our audit, we reviewed the 
assumptions and calculation methods used;

•  Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements presents the 
CIC group’s exposure to the effects of the financial crisis as well 
as the adjustments in value and the impairment losses resulting 
from its assessments and valuations at December 31, 2007. We 
examined the group’s methods of reporting these exposures 
and the control systems applicable to the valuation of these 
exposures as well as the appropriateness of the information 
provided in the above-mentioned note.

These assessments were made in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, and there-
fore contributed to the formation of the opinion we formed which 
is expressed in the first part of this report.

III.	Specific	verification
In accordance with professional standards applicable in France, 
we have also verified the information given in the group’s man-
agement report. We have no matters to report as to its fair 
presentation and its consistency with the consolidated financial 
statements.

Neuilly-sur-Seine, April 30, 2008

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

Agnès Hussherr – Jacques Lévi

Ernst & Young et Autres

Olivier Durand

The Statutory Auditors
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Statutory	Auditors’	special	report	on		
regulated	agreements	and	commitments	
with	third	parties
Year	ended	December	31,	2007

This is a free translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ special 
report on regulated agreements and commitments issued in the 
French language and is provided solely for the convenience of English 
speaking readers. This report should be read in conjunction with, and 
construed in accordance with, French law and professional auditing 
standards applicable in France.

To the Shareholders,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of CIC, we hereby report to 
you on the regulated agreements and commitments with third 
parties.

1	-		Agreements	and	commitments	authorized	
during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2007

Pursuant to Article L.225-88 of the French Commercial Code 
(Code de commerce), we have been informed of agreements and 
commitments authorized by the Company’s Supervisory Board.

Our responsibility does not include identifying any undisclosed 
agreements or commitments. We are required to report to share-
holders, based on the information provided, about the main terms 
and conditions of agreements and commitments that have been 
disclosed to us, without commenting on their relevance or 
substance. Under the provisions of Article R.225-58 of the French 
Commercial Code, it is the responsibility of shareholders to deter-
mine whether the agreements are appropriate and should be 
approved.

We performed our assignment in accordance with professional 
standards applicable in France. These standards require that we 
perform procedures to verify that the information given to us 
agrees with the underlying documents.

1.1  Financial guarantee agreements and agreements 
for the provision of resources to Cm-CIC Covered 
Bonds

The Crédit Mutuel-CIC group wished to considerably increase its 
medium- to long-term funding base in response to requirements 
brought about by its expansion. In this context, a project was 
undertaken to refinance certain property loans.

Since 2007, this refinancing has been carried out by CM-CIC 
Covered Bonds, a subsidiary of BFCM, whose sole activity is the 
refinancing of the CM-CIC group via the issue of covered bonds 
within the scope of a Euro Medium Term Notes issue program.  

The income from these bonds enables CM-CIC Covered Bonds to 
sustain the CM-CIC group’s traditional refinancing channels by 
granting loans to BFCM.

Thus, at its May 31, 2007 meeting, CIC’s Supervisory Board autho-
rized the Executive Board to:
•  enter into the financial guarantee agreement by which CIC allo-

cated a portion of its property loan portfolio in guarantee of 
commitments in favor of CM-CIC Covered Bonds (this guar-
antee is interest free);

•  enter into the outsourcing agreement and agreement for the 
provision of resources to CM-CIC Covered Bonds. 

Corporate officers concerned: Banque Fédérative du Crédit 
mutuel, philippe vidal.

1.2  Caisse de refinancement de l’habitat (CRh) 
refinancing handled by BFCm

CIC decided to have BFCM handle the refinancing granted by CRH.

With this in mind, at its August 29, 2007 meeting, CIC’s Supervisory 
Board authorized the Executive Board to:

• authorize BFCM to act on behalf of CIC in its dealings with CRH;

•  grant BCFM, through CIC, a guarantee in favor of CRH based on its 
mortgage loan portfolio;

•  sell, to BFCM, CIC’s 891,346 CRH shares, which carry 1,005 voting 
rights, for a total of €14.1 million.

Corporate officers concerned: Étienne pflimlin, michel lucas, 
gérard Cormorèche, maurice Corgini, Jean louis girodot.

1.3  overdraft agreement between CIC  
and CIC société Bordelaise

At its December 13, 2007 meeting, CIC’s Supervisory Board autho-
rized the signature of an overdraft agreement between CIC and CIC 
Société Bordelaise, for an amount of €100 million (interest free), to 
strengthen CIC Société Bordelaise’s working capital, which became 
negative due to investments made to expand its network.  

Corporate officers concerned: Jean-Jacques tamburini, 
Étienne pflimlin.

1.4  agreements for financing the development plans 
of CIC lyonnaise de Banque, CIC Bonnasse 
lyonnaise de Banque and CIC société Bordelaise

To help these companies finance new branch openings, CIC’s 
Supervisory Board, at its December 13, 2007 meeting, authorized 
the signature of agreements to finance the development plans of 
CIC Lyonnaise de Banque, CIC Bonnasse Lyonnaise de Banque and 
CIC Société Bordelaise. These agreements covered:

• real estate investment incentives;

• payment of new branches’ payroll costs, up to certain limits;

• business development subsidies.

These aids come in three forms: (i) five- to ten-year interest free 
investment loans; (ii) direct payments; and (iii) subsidies.

Corporate officers concerned: Jean-Jacques tamburini, 
Étienne pflimlin, Rémy Weber, Christian klein, michel lucas.

2	-		Agreements	and	commitments	entered	into	
in	previous	years	which	remained	in	effect	
during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2007

Pursuant to the French Commercial Code, we were informed that the 
following agreements and commitments approved during previous 
years, remained in force during the year ended December 31, 2007.
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2.1  guarantee granted by CIC to Euroclear with 
respect to the functioning of Cigogne Fund 
accounts opened by the Bank of luxembourg  
with Euroclear

Cigogne Fund is a Luxembourg-based hedge fund. The Bank of 
Luxembourg, in its capacity as custodian and administrator of the 
Cigogne Fund, opened an account with Euroclear Bank.

At its December 14, 2006 meeting, CIC’s Supervisory Board 
authorized the signature of an agreement with Euroclear with a 
view to:

• opening a credit line for USD 1 billion in favor of Cigogne Fund;

•  granting a guarantee to Euroclear for the same amount, for the 
functioning of Cigogne Fund accounts opened by the Bank of 
Luxembourg with this sub-custodian.

2.2  subordinated loan granted by CIC to CIC Banque 
Bsd-CIn

CIC’s Supervisory Board approved a subordinated loan to Banque 
Scalbert Dupont (now CIC Banque BSD-CIN) on March 7, 2002, 
with a view to financing its development plan. The loan amounted 
to €50 million and was granted in April 2002.

The life of the loan is ten years and the interest rate is 1% with a 
variable rate after the third year indexed on growth of operating 
income before provisions.

In 2007, interest received by CIC in respect of this subordinated 
loan to CIC Banque BSD-CIN amounted to €502,740.

An addendum was signed on December 20, 2007, to enable the 
prepayment of the subordinated loan in December 2007. The 
addendum was authorized by CIC’s Supervisory Board on 
December 13, 2007.

2.3  agreement on managing insurance policies of the 
CIC group

This agreement, authorized by CIC’s Supervisory Board on  
May 30, 2002 and signed on January 2, 2002, is aimed at defining 
internal rules for pooling premiums and for handling claims of the 
CIC group banks, subsidiaries and business centers. The agreement 
applies to all losses occurring as from January 1, 2002. The agree-
ment does not, however, apply to the following entities: CM-CIC 
Securities, CIC’s branches in London, New York and Singapore, and 
the foreign subsidiaries of the group banks.

As part of its process of updating the group’s professional liability 
insurance program, on September 11, 2003 the Supervisory 
Board authorized the Executive Board to sign and implement 
amendments to the management agreement relating to profes-
sional liability insurance contracts.

CIC paid €11 million in connection with the amendments to this 
agreement in 2007.

2.4  premiums and claims pooling agreement  
for CIC group insurance policies

All the terms and provisions of the premiums and claims pooling 
agreement for CIC group insurance policies, signed by the CIC 
group banks in May 1997 and amended by addendum in December 
1998 were replaced – effective from January 1, 2000 – by an 
agreement signed on May 10, 2000, which was authorized by the 
Supervisory Board on March 16, 2000.

The agreement applies to all losses that occurred prior to January 1, 2003, 
and in 2007 represented a credit of €2,099 for CIC.

2.5  secondment agreement

At its September 12, 2002 meeting, CIC’s Supervisory Board 
authorized the Executive Board to establish an agreement 
between CIC and Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est 
Europe, providing for the full-time secondment of Alain Fradin to 
CIC in the capacity of Executive Board member. In accordance 
with this agreement, the compensation paid by Caisse Fédérale 
du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (salary and payroll charges) 
to Alain Fradin is repaid in full to Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel 
Centre Est Europe by CIC.

In 2007, CIC paid a gross taxable amount of €620,473 to Caisse 
Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe in connection with 
this agreement.

2.6  secondment agreements concerning CIC group 
bank Chief Executive officers

In accordance with CIC group policy, the Chief Executive Officers 
of the group’s banks are on the payroll of CIC, and are seconded 
as corporate officers to the various banks.

The Supervisory Board authorized the signature of the second-
ment agreements between CIC and the banks concerned on 
September 15, 1999, September 12, 2002, and April 28, 2004.

For 2007, CIC invoiced a total gross taxable amount of €3,180,708 
to the entities concerned.

2.7  agreement entered into between Factocic  
and the banks of the CIC group

Due to the significant role played by the network of CIC banks as 
referral agents, the shareholders of Factocic have agreed upon a 
new compensation system. This system offers more incentives for 
referral agents and is geared to the threefold aim of winning 
market share, fostering customer loyalty and achieving earnings 
growth. On May 30, 2001, CIC’s Supervisory Board authorized the 
Executive Board to sign the above agreement.

This was carried out on July 4, 2001. The agreement provides for 
performance-related top-up commissions in addition to ordinary 
commissions, as well as additional ”loyalty” commissions for 
contracts with a term of more than 12 months.

An addendum was attached to this agreement in 2002 concerning 
the implementation of a specific procedure for any referral busi-
ness exceeding €15 million. A further addendum was then signed 
in 2003 relating to the treatment of factoring agreements 
entered into with major corporate clients.

In 2006, a further addendum was attached to the agreement 
concerning new commercial agreements.

In 2007, CIC received net fees and commissions of €1,028,591.

2.8  tax consolidation agreements

•  agreements signed by CIC in its capacity as parent 
company of the tax group

On June 28, 1995, a master tax consolidation agreement was 
signed between CIC (formerly Compagnie Financière de CIC et  
de l’Union Européenne), parent company of the tax group,  
and eight regional banks, in their capacity as parent company  
of the subgroups. Similar agreements were signed with three 
other regional banks and five joint subsidiaries, which joined  
the tax group as of January 1, 1996. In 2001, another agreement 
was signed with CIC Banque Transatlantique, with effect from 
January 1, 2002.
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Two addenda were attached to the agreement in 1996 and in 1998 
concerning payment of the surtaxes due by companies subject to 
corporate income tax. By virtue of the December 31, 1999 merger 
between Compagnie Financière de CIC et de l’Union Européenne 
and CIC, the CIC tax group was extended to include the entities that 
were previously members of the CIC Paris tax sub-group. Pursuant 
to approval by the Supervisory Board on December 19, 2001, a 
third addendum was attached to the agreement for the purpose of 
deleting Article I-2 of the master agreement, relating to the 
payment date of taxes arising from the disposal of fixed assets 
owned by the group. An addendum relating to the withdrawal  
of BLC from the tax group was authorized by the Supervisory  
Board on December 17, 2002 and signed on December 18, 2002. 
Also on December 18, 2002, a tax consolidation agreement was 
signed with CIC Epargne Salariale, effective from January 1, 2002, 
following authorization received from the Supervisory Board on 
December 17, 2002.
On December 18, 2003, the Supervisory Board authorized an 
addendum related to the tax consolidation of CIC Capital Privé, 
SNC EL Chapulin 389, SNC EL Chapulin 706, SCI des Succursales 
and SCI 28 Opéra, effective from January 1, 2004, and of CIC 
Asset Management, effective from January 1, 2003.
At its meeting of December 16, 2004, the Supervisory Board 
authorized the signature of an addendum whereby CIC Nord 
Ouest Gestion and Sofim became members of the tax group, 
effective January 1, 2004 and January 1, 2005, respectively.
At its meeting of December 15, 2005, the Supervisory Board 
authorized the signature of agreements whereby the following 
entities became members of the CIC sub-group:
•  SNC Corentin, Siméon and Louis-Philippe, effective from 

January 1, 2006;
• Cicotitires and Gesteurop, effective from January 1, 2005;
•  Finances et Stratégies, CIC Régions Finance, Est Gestion, CIC 

Ouest Gestion, CIC Nord Ouest Gestion, Sud Est Gestion and 
GSO Finance, effective from January 1, 2006.

At its meeting of December 14, 2006, the Supervisory Board 
authorized:

•  a fourth addendum regarding the modification of the annual 
flat-rate tax, which shall henceforth be considered as a charge 
deductible from taxable income;

•  the signature of agreements whereby 37 simplified joint stock 
companies became members of the CIC tax sub-group, effec-
tive from January 1, 2007: Sofiholding 3, Gestunion 3, Cicoval, 
Efsa, Marsovalor, Ugepar Services, Impex Finance, VTP5, 
Sofinaction, Gestunion 2, Pargestion 2, Sofiholding 2, Ufigestion 
2, Valimar 2, Pargestion 3, Pargestion 4, Gestunion 4, Sofiholding 
4, Pargestion 5, Valimar 4, Valimar 3, Ufigestion 3, Caroline 1 to 
15 (15 companies);

•  the signature of agreements whereby Apolline Bail, Finances et 
Stratégies, and CM-CIC Gestion became members of the CIC tax 
sub-group, effective from January 1, 2006;

•  the withdrawal of CIC Finance from the CIC tax sub-group.

Under these agreements, each regional bank and CIC (formerly 
Compagnie Financière de CIC et de l’Union Européenne) forms a 
sub-group for tax consolidation purposes. Each sub-group 
retains the benefit of any tax savings arising from tax consolida-
tion and any gains realized at consolidated level are used to 
strengthen the subsidiaries’ shareholders’ equity or to finance 
joint projects.

The master tax consolidation agreement has six addenda, two of 
which (numbers 1 and 3) relate to the payment, within the CIC tax 
group, of the surtaxes due by companies subject to corporate 
income tax. Two others concern the withdrawal of CIC Bonnasse 
Lyonnaise de Banque and Banque Régionale de l’Ain, sub-group 
parent companies, in 1997 and 1999 respectively, due to their 
joining the CIC Lyonnaise de Banque tax group. A fifth addendum 
was signed in 2001 for the purpose of deleting Article II-2 of the 
master agreement, relating to the payment date of taxes arising 
from the disposal of fixed assets owned by the group. On 
December 14, 2006, the Supervisory Board authorized a sixth 
addendum regarding the modification of the annual flat-rate tax, 
which shall henceforth be considered as a charge deductible from 
taxable income.

In addition, an agreement specifically concerning “joint subsid-
iaries” was signed on December 24, 1996. An addendum was 
attached to this agreement in 1999 relating to the withdrawal of 
UBR from the tax group. In 2001, a third addendum was signed 
concerning the withdrawal of Adepi and Fidecic from the tax group 
and tax consolidation agreements set up with Intersem and 
Aidexport. In 2002, CIC’s Supervisory Board authorized the with-
drawal of CIC Epargne Salariale, effective from January 1, 2002. It 
also authorized Est Gestion to join the tax group as from the 
same date. 

In 2003, CIC’s Supervisory Board authorized the withdrawal of CIC 
Asset Management, effective from January 1, 2003. At its meeting 
of December 15, 2005, the Supervisory Board authorized the with-
drawal of Cicotitres and Gesteurop effective from January 1, 2005, 
and of CIC Régions Finances, Est Gestion, CIC Ouest Gestion and 
CIC Nord Ouest Gestion effective from January 1, 2006. These 
companies joined the CIC sub-group.

At its meeting of December 14, 2006, CIC’s Supervisory Board 
authorized CIC Finance to join the tax group, effective from January 
1, 2006. It also authorized the withdrawal of Sofim, CIC Nord Ouest 
Gestion and CIC Ouest Gestion, effective from January 1, 2006.

At its December 13, 2007 meeting, CIC’s Supervisory Board 
authorized CM-CIC Gestion to join the tax group, effective from 
January 1, 2007.

At its meeting of February 21, 2008, the Supervisory Board 
reclassified this tax consolidation agreement as a standard 
agreement.

•  agreement between CIC, as parent company  
of the sub-group, and its direct subsidiaries

CIC (formerly Compagnie Financière de CIC et de l’Union 
Européenne), in its capacity as parent company of the sub-group, 
signed an agreement on June 30, 1995 with its direct subsidiaries 
other than regional banks.
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At its meeting of December 13, 2007, the Supervisory Board 
authorized:

•  agreements whereby 24 simplified joint stock companies (Caroline 
16 to 39) became members of the tax consolidation agreement 
and of the CIC tax sub-group, effective from January 1, 2008;

•  the withdrawal of CM-CIC Gestion from the CIC tax sub-group, 
effective from January 1, 2007.

At its February 21, 2008 meeting, the Supervisory Board reclassi-
fied the master tax consolidation agreement as a standard 
agreement.

2.9  agreement with Cm-CIC asset management

As part of the pooling of CIC group fund management activities, a 
marketing agreement was signed on December 20, 2000, 
amended by a first addendum on February 14, 2001, between CIC 
and CM-CIC Asset Management. This agreement specifies the fee 
to be paid to CIC for marketing CM-CIC Asset Management funds 
to its customer base. Since January 1, 2001, the fee has been set 
at 85% of net commission income received by CM-CIC Asset 
Management (except for certain funds). Under an addendum to 
this marketing agreement – authorized on April 28, 2004 by CIC’s 
Supervisory Board – the fee was set at 95%.

CIC received €28.6 million in related net fees and commission in 
2007.

2.10  agreements between CIC  
and CIC Banque scalbert dupont,  
CIC Banque CIn and CIC Crédit Fécampois

Agreements were signed between CIC and CIC Banque Scalbert 
Dupont on June 1, 2002, and between CIC and CIC Banque CIN and 
CIC Crédit Fécampois on December 1, 2002. These agreements 
were approved by CIC’s Supervisory Board on March 6, 2003.

Under the terms of the agreements, CIC provides trading services 
for capital markets transactions carried out on behalf of the 
clients of CIC Banque Scalbert Dupont, CIC Banque CIN and CIC 
Crédit Fécampois. The trading orders are forwarded to CIC which 
executes the trades in its own name on behalf of the banks’ 
clients, acting as a del credere commission agent in compliance 
with Article 132-1 of the French Commercial Code. CIC guarantees 
settlement and delivery of the transactions but the banks 
continue to bear the counterparty risk in respect of their clients.

CIC Banque CIN and CIC Banque Scalbert Dupont merged on 
December 29, 2006 to become CIC Banque BSD-CIN. Crédit 
Fécampois was merged into the CIC on May 31, 2007.

CIC will receive a del credere commission equal to 25% of the net 
profit on each transaction. 

CIC received €1,256,973 in related net fees and commission in 
2007. 

Neuilly-sur-Seine, April 23, 2008 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

Agnès Hussherr – Jacques Lévi

Ernst & Young et Autres

Olivier Durand

The Statutory Auditors
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We performed our procedures in accordance with French profes-
sional standards. These standards require that we perform 
procedures to assess the fairness of the information set out in the 
Chairman’s report on internal control procedures relating to the 
preparation and processing of financial and accounting informa-
tion. These procedures mainly consisted of:

•  obtaining an understanding of the internal control procedures 
relating to the preparation and processing of financial and 
accounting information on which the information presented in 
the Chairman’s report and existing documentation are based;

•  obtaining an understanding of the work performed to support the 
information given in the report and of the existing documentation;

•  determining if any material weaknesses in internal control relating 
to the preparation and processing of financial and accounting 
information that we may have identified during the course of our 
work are properly described in the Chairman’s report.

On the basis of our work, we have no matters to report on the infor-
mation given on internal control procedures relating to the 
preparation and processing of financial and accounting informa-
tion, set out in the Chairman of the Supervisory Board’s report, 
prepared in accordance with Article L.225-68 of the French 
Commercial Code.

Neuilly-sur-Seine, April 30, 2008

Statutory	Auditors’	report,	prepared	in	
accordance	with	Article	L.225-235	of	the	
French	Commercial	Code,	on	the	report	
prepared	by	the	Chairman	of	the	Supervisory	
Board	on	the	internal	control	procedures	
relating	to	the	preparation	and	processing		
of	financial	and	accounting	information.
Year	ended	December	31,	2007

This is a free translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ report 
issued in the French language and is provided solely for the conve-
nience of English speaking readers. This report should be read in 
conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and 
professional auditing standards applicable in France.

To the Shareholders,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of CIC and in accordance 
with Article L.225-235 of the French Commercial Code (Code de 
commerce), we hereby report to you on the report prepared by 
the Chairman of your Company in accordance with Article 
L.225-68 of the French Commercial Code for the year ended 
December 31, 2007.

It is the Chairman’s responsibility to describe in his report the 
preparation and organization of the Supervisory Board’s work and 
the internal control procedures implemented by the Company.

It is our responsibility to report to you on the information set out 
in the Chairman’s report on internal control procedures relating 
to the preparation and processing of financial and accounting 
information.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

Agnès Hussherr – Jacques Lévi

Ernst & Young et Autres

Olivier Durand

The Statutory Auditors
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Statutory	Auditors’	report	on	the	data		
used	to	determine	interest	payable	on		
non-voting	loan	stock
Year	ended	December	31,	2007

This is a free translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ report 
issued in the French language and is provided solely for the conve-
nience of English speaking readers. This report should be read in 
conjunction with, and construed in accordance with, French law and 
professional auditing standards applicable in France.

To the holders of CIC non-voting loan stock,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of CIC, and pursuant to Article 
L.228-37 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), we 
present below our report on the data used to determine interest 
payable on non-voting loan stock. 

On April 30, 2008, we prepared our reports on the financial state-
ments of the bank and the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2007.

The data used to calculate the interest payable on non-voting 
loan stock were determined by the Company’s senior executives. It 
is our responsibility to comment on their conformity with the issue 
agreement and their consistency with the Company’s financial 
statements. 

The interest computation method provided for at the time of issue 
of non-voting loan stock in May 1985 can be summarized as 
follows:

•  component equal to 40% of the annual monetary reference 
rate, or “TAM”;

•  component equal to 43% of the TAM rate multiplied by a partic-
ipation ratio (PR). For the interest due on May 28, 2008, the 
participation ratio is as follows:

PR 2008 = PR 2007 x 2007 adjusted consolidated net income
 2006 adjusted consolidated net income

The issue agreement sets a cap and a floor on interest payments, 
as follows:

•  floor: 85% x (TAM + fixed-rate bond index, or “TMO”)/2;

• cap: 130% x (TAM + TMO)/2.

The agreement further stipulates that the participation ratio (PR) 
corresponding to the ratio between 2006 and 2007 consoli-
dated net income will be adjusted to take into account changes in 
shareholders’ equity, group structure or consolidation methods 
between the two years.

Since 2005, CIC publishes its financial statements under IFRS. In 
accordance with the resolution submitted for your approval, the 
calculation of interest is based on consolidated net income for 
2006 and 2007, as determined by applying the same accounting 
procedures and consolidation methods based on a comparable 
group structure and comparable shareholders’ equity, giving a 
participation ration (PR) of 27,495 for 2007 versus 30,795 for 
2006.

The interest rate obtained by applying the above formula stands 
at 50.26% before application of the cap. The floor and cap rates 
are 3.69% and 5.64%, respectively.

Therefore, in accordance with the provisions of the issue agree-
ment, the gross interest paid in 2008 will amount to €8.61 per 
stock.

We performed our work in accordance with French professional 
standards. These standards require that we carry out the neces-
sary procedures to verify the conformity and consistency of the 
data used to calculate the interest due on non-voting loan stock 
with the issue agreement and the audited financial statements of 
the bank and the group.

We have no matters to report concerning the conformity and 
consistency of the data used to calculate the interest due on 
non-voting loan stock.

Neuilly-sur-Seine, April 14, 2008 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

Agnès Hussherr – Jacques Lévi

Ernst & Young et Autres

Olivier Durand

The Statutory Auditors
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Resolutions

A.	Ordinary	Shareholders’	Meeting	

First resolution

Changes	in	accounting	methods	starting		
from	January	1,	2007	
After reviewing the terms of the Executive Board’s report to the 
Shareholders’ Meeting, its management report, the attached 
reports of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board regarding 
internal control and the functioning of the Board, the Supervisory 
Board’s report, the Statutory Auditors’ report and the annual 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, 
the Shareholders’ Meeting notes the two changes in accounting 
method that were effective from January 1, 2007: the first relating 
to recognition of the tax credit related to interest-free refund-
able advances for the acquisition or construction of homes for 
first home owners, which has an impact of €1,798,059.59 and the 
second relating to the recording of securities transactions, which 
has an impact of  €2,297,706.35.

These amounts will be credited to retained earnings.

second resolution

Approval	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	bank		
for	the	fiscal	year	ended	December	31,	2007
After reviewing the terms of the Executive Board’s report to the 
Shareholders’ Meeting, its management report, the attached 
reports of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board regarding 
internal control and the functioning of the Board, the Supervisory 
Board’s report, the Statutory Auditors’ report and the annual 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, 
the Shareholders’ Meeting approves said annual financial state-
ments as presented to it, which show net after-tax income of 
€546,302,199.09.

third resolution  

Approval	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements		
for	the	fiscal	year	ended	December	31,	2007
After reviewing the terms of the Executive Board’s report to the 
Shareholders’ Meeting, its management report, the attached reports 
of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board regarding internal control 
and functioning of the Board, the Supervisory Board’s report, the 
Statutory Auditors’ report and the consolidated financial statements 
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, the Shareholders’ 
Meeting approves said annual financial statements as presented to 
it, which show net after-tax income of €1,139  million.

Fourth resolution

Appropriation	of	income
The Shareholders’ Meeting notes that:

•  retained earnings amount to €1,227,295,604.80;

•  due to the effect of the changes in accounting methods 
approved under the first resolution, retained earnings are to be 
credited for an amount of €4,095,765.94;

•  income for the fiscal year amounts to: €546,302,199.09;

•  as a result, distributable income amounts to: €1,777,693,569.83;

and decides to allocate this amount as follows:

•  allocation to the legal reserve: €1,029,619.60;

•  allocation to the special reserve provided for by Article 238 bis AB 
of the French Tax Code for €146,000;

•  dividend for “A” series shares in respect of 2007 in the amount 
of €172,088,054.40;

•  remaining balance to be entered in the retained earnings 
account in the amount of €1,604,429,895.83.

As a result, the Shareholders’ Meeting sets the dividend to be 
paid for each “A” series share at €4.80. However, the dividend 
that should be allocated to shares that are not eligible for divi-
dends under French law will be paid into retained earnings.

The ex dividend date will be May 26, 2008 and the dividends will 
be paid by June 30, 2008 at the latest.

The total dividend distributed is eligible for the 40% tax abate-
ment mentioned in point 2 of Article 158 (3) of the French Tax 
Code.

In accordance with the provisions of French law, the Shareholders’ 
Meeting is reminded that:

•  for 2004, a dividend of €133,086,867.48 was distributed, repre-
senting €3.78 per share eligible in full for the 50% tax abatement 
mentioned in point 2 of Article 158 (3) of the French Tax Code.

•  for 2005, a dividend of €144,353,480.60 was distributed, repre-
senting €4.10 per share eligible in full for the 40% tax abatement 
mentioned in point 2  of Article 158 (3) of the French Tax Code.

•  for 2006, a dividend of €156,989,879.30 was distributed, 
representing €4.43 per share eligible in full for the 40% tax 
abatement mentioned in point 2 of Article 158 (3) of the French 
Tax Code.

Fifth resolution

Payment	of	the	dividend	in	shares
After noting that the share capital is fully paid up and reviewing 
the terms of the Executive Board’s report, and pursuant to the 
last paragraph of Article 30 of the bylaws, the Shareholders’ 
Meeting decides to offer all shareholders the choice between 
receiving payment of the dividend in cash or in shares.

The period during which the option may be exercised runs from 
May 30, 2008 to June 13, 2008 inclusive. During this period 
shareholders may choose to receive their payment in shares by 
simple request to the relevant paying agent. This option applies 
to the entire dividend distributed.

Cash dividends will be paid on June 30, 2008 at the latest, after 
the option exercise period has expired.

If the shareholder has not requested payment of the dividend in 
shares by June 13, 2008 at the latest, he/she will receive payment 
of his/her dividend in cash.

The issue price of the shares to be created to pay the dividend will 
be equal to 90% of the average share price over the last twenty 
trading sessions before this Shareholders’ Meeting, less the net 
amount of the dividend, in accordance with Article L.232-19 of 
the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce). The Executive 
Board will be entitled to round up the issue price to the nearest 
whole number.
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The cum-dividend date of the shares will be January 1, 2008.

If the amount of the dividend to be received by a shareholder 
does not correspond to a whole number of shares, the dividend 
will be rounded down to the nearest whole number and the differ-
ence will be paid in cash.

Full powers shall be given to the Executive Board, or to any person 
to whom the Executive Board may delegate such powers, to 
perform all operations relating to the exercise of the option and 
the resulting capital increase, and in particular to record such 
capital increase and amend the bylaws accordingly.

sixth resolution

Agreements	mentioned	in	Article	L.225-86		
of	the	French	Commercial	Code	
After reviewing the terms of the Statutory Auditors’ special report 
on the transactions and agreements mentioned in Article 
L.225-86 of the French Commercial Code, and deliberating on 
the basis of this report, the Shareholders’ Meeting approves the 
transactions and agreements referred to therein.

seventh resolution

Authorization	for	the	Executive	Board	to	buy	back		
the	bank’s	“A”	series	shares
After reviewing the terms of the Executive Board’s report, as well 
as its special report on the operations performed within the scope 
of the 2007/2008 share repurchase program and the descrip-
tion of the proposed share repurchase program for 2008/2009, 
the Shareholders’ Meeting:

•  cancels, with immediate effect, the authorization given to the 
Executive Board under the eighth resolution of the May 31, 2007 
Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting to 
trade in the bank’s “A” series shares in order to stabilize the 
market price thereof;

•  within the scope of the provisions of Articles L.225-209 et seq. 
of the French Commercial Code, and Title IV of Book II of the 
general regulation of the Autorité des marchés financiers and 
its implementing instructions, authorizes the Executive Board, 
with immediate effect, to trade in the bank’s “A” series shares on 
the stock exchange under the following conditions:

-  shares must be purchased and sold pursuant to a liquidity 
agreement entered into with an investment service provider 
in accordance with the regulations in force;

-  these operations will be carried out by the service provider 
with a view to ensuring the liquidity and regular listing of CIC 
shares on the Paris stock exchange;

-  the maximum purchase price is set at €450 per share;

-  the maximum number of shares that may be purchased is set 
at 100,000, representing a maximum potential commitment 
of €45 million;

-  shares held in connection with the liquidity agreement will not 
be cancelled.

This authorization will remain in effect until October 31, 2009 
inclusive.

The Shareholders’ Meeting grants full powers to the Executive 
Board to enter into all agreements, carry out all formalities, and, 
in general, take all the necessary steps within the aforementioned 
framework.

Eighth resolution

Ratification	of	the	cooptation	of	a	member		
of	the	Supervisory	Board
Pursuant to Article 12 of the bylaws, the Shareholders’ Meeting 
ratifies the Supervisory Board’s cooptation of Jean-Luc Menet on 
December 13, 2007 to replace Bernard Daurensan, who has 
resigned. His term of office will expire at the close of this 
Shareholders’ Meeting.

ninth resolution

Renewal	of	Étienne	Pflimlin’s	term	of	office
After noting that Étienne Pflimlin’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

tenth resolution

Renewal	of	Gérard	Cormorèche’s	term	of	office
After noting that Gérard Cormorèche’s term office as member of 
the Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012

Eleventh resolution

Renewal	of	Gérard	Bontoux’s	term	of	office
After noting that Gérard Bontoux’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term 
of office for a period of five years, until the close of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve the financial state-
ments for 2012.

twelfth resolution

Renewal	of	Luc	Chambaud’s	term	of	office
After noting that Luc Chambaud’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

thirteenth resolution

Renewal	of	Maurice	Corgini’s	term	of	office
After noting that Maurice Corgini’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

Fourteenth resolution

Renewal	of	François	Duret’s	term	of	office
After noting that François Duret’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.
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Fifteenth resolution

Renewal	of	Pierre	Filliger’s	term	of	office
After noting that Pierre Filliger’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

sixteenth resolution

Renewal	of	Jean-Louis	Girodot’s	term	of	office
After noting that Jean-Louis Girodot’s term office as member of 
the Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

seventeenth resolution

Renewal	of	Daniel	Leroyer’s	term	of	office
After noting that Daniel Leroyer’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

Eighteenth resolution

Renewal	of	Roberto	Mazzotta’s	term	of	office
After noting that Roberto Mazzotta’s term office as member of 
the Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

nineteenth resolution

Renewal	of	Jean-Luc	Menet’s	term	of	office
After noting that Jean-Luc Menet’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

twentieth resolution  

Renewal	of	André	Meyer’s	term	of	office
After noting that André Meyer’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

twenty-first resolution

Renewal	of	Paul	Schwartz’s	term	of	office
After noting that Paul Schwartz’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

twenty-second resolution

Renewal	of	Alain	Têtedoie’s	term	of	office
After noting that Alain Têtedoie’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

twenty-third resolution

Renewal	of	Philippe	Vasseur’s	term	of	office
After noting that Philippe Vasseur’s term office as member of the 
Supervisory Board expires at the close of this Shareholders’ 
Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to renew this term of 
office for a period of five years, until the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for 2012.

twenty-fourth resolution

Renewal	of	Banque	Fédérative	du	Crédit	Mutuel’s		
term	of	office
After noting that Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel’s term office 
as member of the Supervisory Board expires at the close of this 
Shareholders’ Meeting, the Shareholders’ Meeting decides to 
renew this term of office for a period of five years, until the close 
of the Shareholders’ Meeting called to approve the financial 
statements for 2012.
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B.	Extraordinary	Shareholders’	Meeting	

twenty-fifth resolution  

Amendment	of	Article	12	of	the	bylaws	
The last five paragraphs of § III of Article 12 of the bylaws will be 
deleted and replaced by the following provisions:

“The election shall take place:
•  either by secret ballot in a sealed envelope, in which case it will 

take place on the same day in the workplace during working 
hours;

•  or electronically after reaching an agreement with the repre-
sentative trade unions, in which case it may take place in the 
workplace or at a distance, and votes may be cast over a period 
which may not exceed eight days. An external service provider 
may be asked to design and set up the electronic voting system. 
The system must ensure confidentiality of the data transmitted 
as well as secure addressing of the means of authentication, 
signatures, recording and counting of votes.

In both cases, a process of voting by mail may also be set up to 
deal with specific cases.

The conditions of voting shall be decided on by the Executive 
Board after consulting the representative trade unions.”

C.		Resolution	tabled	at	both	the	Ordinary		
and	Extraordinary	Shareholders’	Meeting

twenty-sixth resolution

Powers
The Shareholders’ Meeting gives full powers to the bearer of a 
copy or excerpt of the minutes of this meeting to carry out all 
filings, publications and other formalities prescribed by law.
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Additional information

Capital	markets

General	information	about	the	capital	

amount and composition of capital

At December 31, 2007, CIC’s capital amounted to €573,626,848 
divided into 35,851,678 “A” series ordinary shares with a par value 
of €16 each, all fully paid up.

As authorized by the May 26, 1999 Combined Ordinary and 
Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting, the Executive Board 
converted the bank’s capital into euros following its decision of 
June 19, 2001. At that time, in accordance with the authorization 
granted, the par value of each share was changed to €16 from 
FRF 100, resulting in a capital increase of €26,435,111.72.

During 2003, Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel transferred to CIC 
705,000 shares in Fédébail, representing 94% of that company’s 
capital. The consideration for this transfer – which was approved by 
the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of May 15, 2003 – was 
granted through the issue of 199,330 new CIC shares with a par 
value of €16 to BFCM. Following this transaction, CIC’s capital 
increased from €560,141,376 to €563,330,656.

Within the context of the restructuring of the group’s capital markets 
business, CIC Banque CIAL contributed its capital markets business 
to CIC. This contribution was approved by the September 7, 2006 
Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting and 229,730 CIC shares 
created pursuant to a capital increase were allocated in consider-
ation for the contribution. In accordance with the tax ruling issued 
within the scope of Article 115 of the French Tax Code, these shares 
were granted free of charge to CIC by CIC Banque CIAL at the end of 
the year. Accordingly, the CIC now holds 229,730 of its own shares.

During 2007, Crédit Fécampois was merged into CIC (10th and 
11th resolutions of the May 31, 2007 Combined Ordinary and 
Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting). The shareholders of Crédit 
Fécampois other than CIC were granted CIC shares issued by 
means of an increase in the capital in consideration for the shares 
they contributed within the scope of this merger, CIC waiving the 
right to receive its own shares. 5,850 new shares were issued 
corresponding to a share capital increase of €93,600.

The May 31, 2007 Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary 
Shareholders’ Meeting offered the shareholders the option of 
payment of the dividend in shares and gave full powers to the 
Executive Board for this purpose. The Executive Board set the 
issue price of the shares at €277 per share, a price which corre-
sponds to a par value of €16 and a share premium of €261. The 
option for payment in shares was exercised for 25,512,894 
coupons, corresponding to the creation of 407,932 new shares 
and leading to a capital increase of €6,526,912. The increase in 
capital was carried out on June 29, 2007.

authorized capital and expiration date  
of the authorization

Under its fifteenth to eighteenth resolutions, the May 31, 2007 
Shareholders’ Meeting authorized the Executive Board to 
increase the capital with or without preferential subscription 
rights or to make a public exchange offer. These authorizations 
are valid for a twenty-six month period. The overall limit set for all 
these capital increases was €150 million; in addition, if the 
Executive Board were to issue debt securities convertible, 
redeemable or otherwise exercisable for shares in the bank, the 
total nominal amount of such securities would in turn be capped 
at one billion six hundred million euros.

These authorizations were not used in 2007. They are valid until 
July 31, 2009.

securities not carrying the right to a stake in equity

None

Changes in control and changes in capital

The bylaws do not contain any provision that would have the 
effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control.

The bylaws do not contain any provision that provides for stricter 
conditions than those provided for by law with regard to changes 
in capital.
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Changes in capital  

2003 2004
number  

of shares 
amount  

in €
number  

of shares 
amount  

in €

At January 1 35,008,836 560,141,376 35,208,166 563,330,656

Capital increase in cash

o/w additional paid-in capital

Share contribution 199,330 3,189,280

Capital increase  
by capitalizing reserves

TOTAL	CAPITAL
AT	DECEMBER	31 35,208,166 563,330,656 35,208,166 563,330,656

2005 2006 2007
number  

of shares 
amount  

in €
number  

of shares 
amount  

in €
Number		
of	shares	

Amount		
in	€

At January 1 35,208,166 563,330,656 35,208,166 563,330,656 35,437,896 567,006,336

Capital increase in cash 407,932 112,997,164

o/w additional paid-in capital  (106,470,252)

Share contribution 229,730 3,675,680 5,850 93,600

Capital increase  
by capitalizing reserves

TOTAL	CAPITAL
AT	DECEMBER	31 35,208,166 563,330,656 35,437,896 567,006,336 35,851,678 573,626,848

number 
of shares

% 
capital

voting 
rights % 

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 25,374,376 70.78 25,374,376 71.24

Ventadour Investissement 7,407,901 20.66 7,407,901 20.80

Caisse Centrale de Crédit Mutuel 355,686 0.99 355,686 1.00

Banca Popolare di Milano 352,082 0.98 352,082 0.99

Crédit Mutuel du Nord 300,425 0.84 300,425 0.84

Cie Financière du Crédit Mutuel 268,758 0.75 268,758 0.75

Crédit Mutuel Maine-Anjou,  
Basse-Normandie 246,401 0.69 246,401 0.69

Crédit Mutuel Océan 246,378 0.69 246,378 0.69

Crédit Mutuel Centre 202,100 0.56 202,100 0.57

FCPE ACTICIC  
(current and former employees) 159,225 0.44 159,225 0.45

Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique  
Centre-Ouest 123,240 0.35 123,240 0.35

Crédit Mutuel de Normandie 24,637 0.07 24,637 0.07

Public, other shareholders 552,524 1.54 552,524 1.55

Treaury stock (own shares held and 
shares held in connection with the 
liquidity agreement)

235,975 0.66 - -

TOTAL 35,851,678 100 35,615,703 100

Details of CIC shares purchased and sold by the 
bank on the market are given on page 160.

The 235,975 shares held by CIC at December 31, 2007 
(including 229,741 own shares held and 6,234 
held in connection with the liquidity agreement) 
are stripped of voting rights but do not have a 
material impact on the ownership structure or 
the allocation of voting rights between share-
holders as set out opposite.

ownership structure at december 31, 2007
(shareholders holding more than 0.5% of the capital, or supervisory Board members)
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Changes in ownership structure over the past three years

number 
of shares %

number 
of shares %

Number	
of	shares %

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 24,931,049 70.81 24,953,024 70.41 25,374,376 70.78

Ventadour Investissement 7,768,401 22.06 7,407,901 20.90 7,407,901 20.66

Caisse Centrale de Crédit Mutuel 350,088 0.99 350,088 0.99 355,686 0.99

Banca Popolare di Milano - 0 352,082 0.99 352,082 0.98

Crédit Mutuel du Nord 304,871 0.87 300,425 0.85 300,425 0.84

Cie Financière du Crédit Mutuel 264,650 0.75 268,758 0.76 268,758 0.75

Crédit Mutuel Maine-Anjou, Basse-Normandie 242,523 0.69 242,523 0.68 246,401 0.69

Crédit Mutuel Océan 242,500 0.69 242,500 0.68 246,378 0.69

Crédit Mutuel Centre 202,100 0.57 202,100 0.57 202,100 0.56

FCPE ACTICIC (current and former employees) 203,885 0.58 185,548 0.52 159,225 0.44

Crédit Mutuel Loire-Atlantique Centre-Ouest 123,240 0.35 123,240 0.35 123,240 0.35

Crédit Mutuel de Normandie 24,250 0.07 24,250 0.07 24,637 0.07

Public, other shareholders 546,609 1.56 550,637 1.55 552,524 1.54

Treaury stock (own shares held and shares  
held in connection with the liquidity agreement) 4,000 - 234,820 0.66 235,975 0.66

TOTAL 35,208,166 100 35,437,896 100 35,851,678 100

at dec. 31, 2005 at dec. 31, 2006 At	Dec.	31,	2007

Following the agreements entered into on September 11, 2001 between CIC, BFCM, GAN and Groupama, GAN’s 23% stake in CIC was 
acquired by Ventadour Investissement, a wholly-owned BFCM subsidiary.

In accordance with its contractual commitments, each year BFCM acquires the shares sold by current and former employees of the CIC 
group who took part in the 1998 privatization. 463,394 CIC shares were sold in July 2003 following the expiration of the 5-year vesting 
period. BFCM moreover received 199,330 new CIC shares in consideration for the transfer of 705,000 Fédébail shares, as approved by the 
Shareholders’ Meeting of May 15, 2003.

On February 28, 2006, pursuant to the strategic partnership agreement entered into with the CIC, Banca Popolare di Milano acquired 
352,082 CIC shares that were sold to it by Ventadour Investissement.

On September 7, 2006, the CIC Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting approved the contribution of CIC Banque CIAL’s capital market busi-
ness and the issue of 229,730 CIC shares in consideration for such contribution. At the end of the year, these shares were awarded free of 
charge to CIC, within the scope of Article 115 of the French Tax Code.

On May 31, 2007, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of CIC approved the merger with Crédit Fécampois. In consideration for the 
contribution of their shares within the scope of the merger, the minority shareholders of Crédit Fécampois received 5,850 newly issued 
shares, while the CIC waived the right to receive its own shares.

The May 31, 2007 Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting offered the shareholders the option of receiving payment 
of the dividend in shares and gave full powers to the Executive Board for this purpose. The Executive Board set the issue price of the shares 
at €277 per share, which corresponds to a par value of €16 and a share premium of €261. The option for payment in shares was exercised 
for 25,512,894 coupons, corresponding to the creation of 407,932 new shares and leading to a capital increase of €6,526,912. The 
increase in capital was carried out on June 29, 2007.
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Market	for	CIC	shares

CIC	“A”	series	ordinary	shares
CIC ordinary shares, or “A” series shares, have been listed on the 
Paris stock exchange since June 18, 1998.

CIC’s bylaws do not contain any clauses restricting the sale of “A” 
series shares. However, shareholders that increase or reduce 
their interest by 0.5% or more of the bank’s capital are required to 
disclose their new interest (Article 9 (6) of the bylaws, see page 
50 of the chapter on “Corporate governance”).

The May 31, 2007 Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary 
Shareholders’ Meeting, in its eighth resolution, renewed the 
authorization for an investment service provider to trade on the 
stock exchange within the scope of a liquidity agreement. Within 
the scope of this agreement, in 2007, CIC:

•  purchased 26,298 CIC “A” series shares at an average price per 
share of €283.35;

•  sold 25,461 CIC “A” series shares at an average price per share 
of €280.87.

At December 31, 2007, CIC held 6,234 CIC “A” series shares with a 
par value of €16 each and an average unit value of €250.

At the Combined Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders’ 
Meeting called for May 22, 2008, shareholders will be asked to 
renew this authorization. 

Pursuant to Article 6 (1) of the bylaws, the bank’s capital is made 
up of a single class of shares, namely “A” series shares, with a par 
value of €16 each, all fully paid up.

Once 10% of capital has been allocated to the legal reserve, which 
is the case, the income for the fiscal year, plus any retained earn-
ings brought forward from the prior year, can be distributed in full 
to the shareholders by the Shareholders’ Meeting, subject to the 
application of the relevant rules of tax law (Article 30 of the 
bylaws).

The shares issued by the bank do not carry any special rights, 
privileges or restrictions. 

Controlling shareholders

At December 31, 2007, Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel 
(BFCM), which is 94.6%-owned by Caisse Fédérale de Crédit 
Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CFCMCEE), held 91.4% of the capital of 
CIC, both directly (70.8%) and through its subsidiary Ventadour 
Investissement. It therefore exercises control over CIC. 

BFCM’s business covers the following main areas:

•  it acts as a holding company of the CM4-CIC group, owns a 
portfolio of interests in four main business segments: banking 
and financial services, insurance, real estate and technology;

•  it performs financial management, treasury and refinancing 
services for the group;

•  it also offers lending, financial engineering, fund flow manage-
ment and securities dealing services to a client base of major 
companies and institutional investors.

CM4 (Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe/Sud-Est/Ile-de-France/
Savoie-Mont Blanc) pursues a four-pronged strategy providing 
for the simultaneous development of retail banking, bancassur-
ance, e-banking and mutual banking services. The strategy is now 
being implemented jointly with CIC, by leveraging synergies and 
optimizing technical resources, while maintaining each network’s 
specific identity, market approach and structure. 

Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CMCEE) is the largest of the 18 
Crédit Mutuel regional groups. Along with Crédit Mutuel du 
Sud-Est, Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France and Crédit Mutuel Savoie-
Mont Blanc, it has 1,334 local branches in its territory.

With consolidated balance sheet assets of €413 billion at 
December 31, 2007, the CM4-CIC group manages €364.8 billion 
worth of customer savings, including €109.5 billion in deposits, 
€204.9 billion in bank-type savings products and €50.4 billion in 
insurance-type savings products. It moreover granted loans 
totaling €182.2 billion.

market data – CIC “a” series ordinary shares 

 

number  
of shares 

traded 

average 
monthly 

value  
(in € millions) 

share price

low
in €

high
in €

January 2006 38,249 6.110 156.00 166.90
February 2006 8,577 1.469 162.20 184.50
March 2006 16,810 3.142 172.00 203.50
April 2006 5,169 0.969 183.00 196.10
May 2006 5,569 1.029 180.10 189.00
June 2006 6,309 1.139 175.30 187.00
July 2006 4,343 0.796 170.60 189.90
August 2006 12,792 2.452 182.60 197.00
September 2006 32,677 6.674 192.00 213.00
October 2006 17,256 3.670 205.50 220.00
November 2006 17,397 4.302 219.90 259.00
December 2006 43,648 11.553 246.00 289.50

 

number  
of shares 

traded 

average 
monthly 

value  
(in € millions) 

share price

low
in €

high
in €

January 2007 45,375 12.983 268.00 315.00
February 2007 48,929 14.182 291.00 330.00
March 2007 15,792 4.805 293.51 323.50
April 2007 44,370 13.276 280.60 308.99
May 2007 27,528 8.579 302.10 322.80
June 2007 123,659 36.469 288.76 308.50
July 2007 22,849 6.738 278.70 300.00
August 2007 29,495 7.938 255.50 294.59
September 2007 9,367 2.341 238.00 278.88
October 2007 6,502 1.660 246.99 263.00
November 2007 13,097 3.044 215.62 253.00
December 2007 152,170 36.045 230.11 250.00
January 2008 12,454 2.774 205.30 249.99
February 2008 12,445 2.544 190.00 214.00
March 2008 6,664 1.284 182.10 210.00
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Financial	information
Over the last twelve months, the CIC group has not been the sub-
ject of any government, court or arbitration proceedings that 
could have or may recently have had a major impact on its finan-
cial situation or profitability.

There has been no major change in the bank’s business or finan-
cial situation since December 31, 2006.

Investments
The only investments made by the CIC group in 2007 concerned 
financial investments (see the Executive Board’s report on the 
consolidated financial statements, pages 66 and 70 and note 7a 
to the consolidated financial statements, page 106).

Property,	plant	and	equipment
The information on property, plant and equipment is set out in the 
notes to the financial statements (note 16, page 110).

Related	party	transactions	and	information	
on	shareholdings
This information is contained in:

•  note 3 to the financial statements – scope of consolidation 
(pages 100-103);

•  note 40 to the financial statements – related party balance 
sheet items (page 124-125);

•  the table “information regarding subsidiaries and sharehold-
ings” (pages 132-133);

•  the section entitled “business activities and results of subsidiar-
ies and shareholdings” (pages 134-140).

Dividends	and	dividend	policy

Outstanding	shares	and	securities

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Number of “A” series shares 35,208,166 35,208,166 35,208,166 35,208,166 35,621,937

Net dividend on “A” series shares (in €) 3.28 3.78 4.10 4.43 4.80

TOTAL	DIVIDEND	PAYOUT	(IN	€	MILLIONS) 115.5 133 144.3 156 171

Consolidated net income (in € millions) 462 532 578 1,274 1,139

Payout ratio 25.0% 25.0% 25.0% 12.2% 15.0%

The share capital is divided into 35,851,678 shares, including 229,741 shares of treasury stock. The amount of the dividend allocated to 
treasury stock is recorded directly in the “retained earnings” account;

Non-voting	loan	stock
The non-voting loan stock issued in 1985 by Compagnie 
Financière de Crédit Industriel et Commercial, which has since 
become Crédit Industriel et Commercial, entitles holders to an 
annual coupon made up of fixed and variable components.

Coupons are payable on May 28 of each year. This year’s coupon 
is therefore payable on May 28, 2008. The coupon rate cannot 
be less than 85%, or more than 130%, of the sum of the annual 
monetary reference rate (TAM) plus the fixed-rate bond index 
(TMO), divided by 2.

•  The fixed-rate bond index (TMO) is the arithmetic mean of the 
monthly average yields on the settlement dates for subscrip-
tions of government-guaranteed bonds and equivalents. It is 
established by France’s National Institute of Statistics and 
Economic Studies (INSEE) for the period from April 1 to March 31 
prior to each maturity date.

•  The annual monetary reference rate (TAM) is the compounded 
yield that would be earned on a monthly investment reinvested 
each month at the average monthly money market rate calcu-
lated by the French Banking Association (AFB) during the twelve 
months up to March.

Since January 1, 1999, this rate has been calculated by com-
pounding the EONIA (Euro Overnight Index Average) instead of 
the average monthly money market rate.

The fixed component of the coupon is 40% of the annual mone-
tary reference rate, as defined above. The variable component is 
43% of the annual monetary reference rate, as defined above, 
multiplied by the “participation ratio” (PR).

The participation ratio used to calculate the variable component 
of the coupon due in May 2008 – PR 2008 – is equal to:

2007 PR x 2007 income as defined in the issue contract 
 2006 income as defined in the issue contract

The contract defines income as consolidated income adjusted 
for changes in shareholders’ equity, changes in CIC group struc-
ture and changes in consolidation methods.  

CIC group adjusted consolidated net income for 2007, as determined 
by applying the same accounting procedures and consolidation 
methods on a comparable group structure basis, amounted to 
€1,138,829 thousand as opposed to €1,273,731 thousand for 2006.

2008 PR is equal to:

2007 PR x €1,138,829 thousand  
€1,275,531 thousand

i.e. 30.795 x 0.89283 = 27.495.

2007 coupon

The coupon rate calculated from the income shown above, includ-
ing both the fixed and variable components, came to 50.26%, 
which exceeds the cap provided for in the issue contract.

Consequently, under the terms of the issue contract, the coupon 
rate paid to holders of non-voting loan stock in May 2008 will be 
capped at 130% of the sum of the annual money reference rate 
(TAM) plus the fixed-rate bond index (TMO) divided by 2.

The coupon rate will be 5.648% on the basis of an annual monetary 
reference rate of 4.1117% and an average fixed-rate bond index of 
4.5792%. This means that the gross coupon due in May 2008 will 
amount to €8.61 for each stock with a face value of €152.45.
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General information

Legal	information	about	CIC		
(see also “Corporate governance” section)

Name	and	registered	office
The bank’s name is:  

Crédit	Industriel	et	Commercial
abbreviated to: CIC 

This abbreviation can be used on its own.

Its registered office is located at:  
6, avenue de Provence, 75009 Paris

Telephone: +33 1 45 96 96 96

Applicable	legislation	and	legal	form
Bank organized as a French société anonyme (corporation) 
governed by the Companies Act of July 24, 1966 (Act no. 66-537) 
and the Banking Act of January 24, 1984 (Act no. 84-46). The 
bank has a two-tier management structure, with a Supervisory 
Board and an Executive Board.

Company	governed	by	French	law

Incorporation date and expiration date

The bank was incorporated on May 7, 1859. Its term will expire on 
December 31, 2067, unless it is dissolved or its term is extended 
before that date.

Purpose	(summary of article 5 of the bylaws)

The purpose of the bank in France and abroad is in particular:

•  to carry out all banking operations and related operations;

•  to provide all investment services and related services;

•  insurance broking in all businesses;

•  realtor activity;

•  all professional training activities relating to the above matters;

•  to acquire, hold and manage interests in all banking, financial, 
real estate, industrial and commercial companies in France and 
abroad.  

Registration	number	and	APE	business		
identifier	code
542 016 381 Paris Trade and Companies Registry

Business identifier code: 651 C

Coupon payments since 2004 (year paid)

Coupon tam % tmo %
Coupon 
rate %

gross 
coupon

2004 12.774 2.1932 4.4008 4.286 €6.53

2005 14.764 2.1058 4.2433 4.127 €6.29

2006 14.667 2.2233 3.6233 3.798 €5.79

2007 30.795 3.2286 4.1900 4.822 €7.35

2008 27.495 4.1117 4.5792 5.648 €8.61

non-voting loan stock price movements since 2003

high 
€

low 
€

Close 
€

2003 146.00 130.00 150.00

2004 175.00 145.00 172.00

2005 179.80 179.80 179.80

2006 185.00 175.00 183.50

2007 186.00 176.50 183.00

On October 18, 1999, CIC non-voting loan stock with a face value 
of FRF 1,000 was converted into stock with a face value of 
€152.45.
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The bank became the parent company for the group and took the 
name Compagnie Financière de Crédit Industriel et Commercial. 

In 1985, GAN acquired an interest in Compagnie Financière de 
CIC. GAN’s interest then increased as the interests of the Suez 
group and the government decreased.

In 1987, the government transferred its remaining shares in the 
regional banks to Compagnie Financière de CIC, which has owned 
the entire capital of its banking subsidiaries since then. 

In 1990, Compagnie Financière de CIC merged with Banque de 
l’Union Européenne to form Compagnie Financière de CIC et de 
l’Union Européenne, which operated under the business name 
of”Union Européenne de CIC”.

On April 27, 1998, GAN sold a 67% interest in Compagnie 
Financière de CIC et de l’Union Européenne to Banque Fédérative 
du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM), in connection with the privatization of 
the CIC group launched by the government on August 1, 1996.

On December 31, 1999, Compagnie Financière de CIC et de l’Union 
Européenne merged with its wholly-owned subsidiary, Crédit Industriel 
et Commercial. The merger was backdated to January 1, 1999 for 
legal and accounting purposes and was carried out using the sim-
plified procedure. The merged company took the name Crédit 
Industriel et Commercial and transferred its head office to 6, avenue 
de Provence, Paris.

Following the agreements signed on September 11, 2001, between 
CIC, BFCM, GAN and Groupama, GAN’s 23% stake in CIC was 
acquired by Ventadour Investissement, a wholly-owned BFCM 
subsidiary.

Legal	documents	relating	to	the	bank
The bylaws, minutes of Shareholders’ Meetings and reports can 
be consulted at the registered office located at 6, avenue de 
Provence, 75009 Paris (Corporate Secretary’s office).

Fiscal	year
January 1 to December 31.

Income	appropriation (article 30 of the bylaws)

Income for the year corresponds to total revenues less general 
operating expenses and other expenses of the bank, including 
depreciation, amortization and provisions. 

At least 5% of net income for the year, less any losses brought 
forward from prior years, is credited to the legal reserve until 
such time as the legal reserve represents one-tenth of the bank’s 
capital.

The balance remaining after performing all necessary alloca-
tions to the long-term capital gains reserves and adding any 
retained earnings brought forward from prior years, corresponds 
to income available for appropriation.

The Shareholders’ Meeting may appropriate all or part of this 
amount to any revenue reserves or to retained earnings. Any 
balance remaining after these appropriations is distributed to 
shareholders pro rata to their interests in the bank’s capital.

Dividends are paid on the date set by the Shareholders’ Meeting 
or, failing that, on the date chosen by the Executive Board. 

The Shareholders’ Meeting may decide to offer each shareholder 
the option of receiving all or part of the dividend or any interim 
dividend either in cash or in the form of shares.

Dependence
The CIC group is not dependent on any patents, licenses or indus-
trial, commercial or financial supply agreements for the conduct 
of its business.

Background
The bank was founded on May 7, 1859 under the name of “Société 
Générale de Crédit Industriel et Commercial”. 

Since its formation, it has overseen the establishment of regional 
banks in France’s leading cities. It opened its first foreign branch 
in London, in 1895.

In 1918 and 1927, the bank acquired interests in several regional 
and local banks, including Banque Dupont, Banque Scalbert, 
Société Normande de Banque et de Dépôts, Crédit Havrais, Crédit 
Nantais, Crédit de l’Ouest and Banque Régionale de l’Ouest. It 
built up a group of affiliated banks, which was extended further 
during the economic crisis of the 1930s.

In 1968, the CIC group became a member of the Suez-Union des 
Mines group.

In 1982, most of the banks in the CIC and Compagnie Financière 
de Suez group were nationalized.

In 1984, after the French government had given the bank full 
ownership of Banque de l’Union Européenne and enough shares 
in the regional banks for it to control 51% of their share capital, 
the banking businesses were spun off into a subsidiary created for 
this purpose, named CIC Paris. 
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The historical financial information presented in this document 
with respect to the year ended December 31, 2007 was covered in 
the reports prepared by the Statutory Auditors which are shown 
in pages 146 to 152. The Statutory Auditors’ general report 
includes an observation with respect to the incomplete nature of 
the management report. 

Paris, April 30, 2008

Michel Lucas
President of the Executive Board 

Statutory	Auditors
The Statutory Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit and Ernst 
& Young et Autres, are members of the French National Institute 
of Accountants of Versailles.

Principal	Statutory	Auditors
Name: PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit
Address: 63, rue de Villiers – 92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine cedex
Represented by Jacques Lévi and Agnès Hussherr
First appointment began on May 25, 1988
Length of current appointment: six years from May 11, 2006
This appointment expires at the close of the Shareholders’ Meeting 
called to approve the financial statements for the  year ending 
December 31, 2011.

Name: Ernst & Young et Autres
Address: 41, rue Ybry – 92576 Neuilly-sur-Seine 
Represented by Olivier Durand
First appointment began on May 26, 1999
Length of current appointment: six years from May 19, 2005
This appointment expires at the close of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the year 
ending December 31, 2010.

Alternate	Statutory	Auditors
Etienne Boris, Pascal Macioce.

Person responsible for  
the registration document 
(document de référence) 
and Statutory Auditors

Person	responsible	for	the	registration	
document

Person	in	overall	charge	of	the	registration	
document	
Michel Lucas, President of the Executive Board.

Declaration	by	the	person	responsible		
for	the	registration	document
I hereby declare that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure 
that such is the case, the information contained in the registra-
tion document is, to the best of my knowledge, in accordance 
with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

I further declare that, to the best of my knowledge, the financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the assets 
and liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the bank and 
the entities in the consolidation taken as a whole, and that the 
management report provided in the “Financial Information» 
section (pages 64-81 for the consolidated financial statements 
and pages 126-127 for the bank’s financial statements) provides a 
true and fair view of the development and performance of the busi-
ness, profit or loss and financial position of the bank and the entities 
in the consolidation taken as a whole as well as a description of the 
main risks and uncertainties that they face.          

I obtained a statement from the Statutory Auditors at the end of 
their engagement, in which they state having verified the information 
relating to the financial position and the financial statements set out 
in this document, and having read the whole of the document. 

Statutory	Auditors’	fees

PricewaterhouseCoopers		
Audit

Ernst	&	Young		
et	Autres

Amount % Amount %
(in	€	millions) 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Audit

Statutory audit and contractual audits

 - CIC 0.57 0.58 22% 21% 0.57 0.58 22% 25%

 - Fully consolidated subsidiaries 1.88 1.73 71% 64% 1.50 1.63 58% 70%

Other engagements 

 - CIC

 - Fully consolidated subsidiaries 0.06 0.01 2% 0% 0.51 0.10 20% 4%

Sub-total 2.51 2.32 95% 85% 2.58 2.31 100% 99%

Other	services	performed	by	the	networks		
for	the	fully	consolidated	subsidiaries

 - Legal and tax advisory services 0.05 0.05 2% 2%

 - Other 0.09 0.34 3% 13% 0.02 1%

Sub-total 0.14 0.39 5% 15% 0.02 1%

TOTAL 2.65 2.71 100% 100% 2.58 2.33 100% 100%
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This	registration	document	was	filed	with	the	Autorité	des	marchés	financiers	on	April	30,	2008,		
pursuant	to	Article	212-13	of	the	AMF’s	General	Regulations.	

It	may	only	be	used	in	connection	with	a	financial	transaction	if	it	is	accompanied	by	a	memorandum	approved	by	the	AMF.

In accordance with Article 28 of European regulation no. 809-2004 on prospectuses and Article 212-11 of the general regulations issued 
by the French Financial Markets Authority (Autorité des marchés financiers – AMF), the following are incorporated by reference:

•  the consolidated financial statements, management report and Statutory Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2006, presented on pages 56 to 119 and page 140 respectively of registration document (document de 
référence) D. 07-0417, filed with the Autorité des marchés financiers on May 4, 2007;

•  the consolidated financial statements, management report and Statutory Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2005, presented on pages 64 to 118 and page 137 respectively of registration document (document de 
référence) D. 06-0314, filed with the Autorité des marchés financiers on April 24, 2006;

The chapters of registration documents D. 07-0417 and D. 06-0314 not referred to above are either not relevant for the investor, or are 
covered elsewhere in this registration document.
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